Adapted sports: Wheeled-mobility, exercise and health

Edited by

Dirkjan Veeger, Riemer J. K. Vegter, Victoria Louise Goosey-Tolfrey and Christof A. Leicht

Published in Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences Frontiers in Sports and Active Living





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-423-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-423-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Adapted sports: Wheeledmobility, exercise and health

Topic editors

Dirkjan Veeger — Delft University of Technology, Netherlands Riemer J. K. Vegter — University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands Victoria Louise Goosey-Tolfrey — Loughborough University, United Kingdom Christof A. Leicht — Loughborough University, United Kingdom

Citation

Veeger, D., Vegter, R. J. K., Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., Leicht, C. A., eds. (2022). *Adapted sports: Wheeled-mobility, exercise and health*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-423-9

🐉 **frontiers** | Research Topics

Table of contents

05	Editorial: Adapted sports: Wheeled-mobility, exercise and
	health

Riemer J. K. Vegter, DirkJan H. E. J. Veeger, Vicky L. Goosey-Tolfrey and Christof A. Leicht

08 Physiological Considerations to Support Podium Performance in Para-Athletes

Cameron M. Gee, Melissa A. Lacroix, Trent Stellingwerff, Erica H. Gavel, Heather M. Logan-Sprenger and Christopher R. West

19 Shoulder Tendon Adaptations Following a Graded Exercise Test to Exhaustion in Highly Trained Wheelchair Rugby Athletes With Different Impairments

> Fransiska Marie Bossuyt, Barry S. Mason, Simon Briley, Thomas J. O'Brien, Michael L. Boninger, Ursina Arnet and Victoria Louise Goosey-Tolfrey

28 Objective Measurement of Ball-Handling Proficiency in Wheelchair Sports: A Systematic Review Viola C. Altmann, Barry S. Mason, Tijmen Geurts,

Sanne A. J. H. van de Camp and Yves C. Vanlandewijck

39 Learning of Wheelchair Racing Propulsion Skills Over Three Weeks of Wheeling Practice on an Instrumented Ergometer in Able-Bodied Novices

Rick de Klerk, Gabriëlle van der Jagt, Dirkjan Veeger, Lucas van der Woude and Riemer Vegter

- 49 Effect of Haptic Training During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion on Shoulder Joint Reaction Moments Rachid Aissaoui and Dany Gagnon
- 59 A Scoping Review on Shoulder Injuries of Wheelchair Tennis Players: Potential Risk-Factors and Musculoskeletal Adaptations

Laura Mayrhuber, Thomas Rietveld, Wiebe de Vries, Lucas H. V. van der Woude, Sonja de Groot and Riemer J. K. Vegter

- 71 Effect of Fatiguing Wheelchair Propulsion and Weight Relief Lifts on Subacromial Space in Wheelchair Users Ursina Arnet, Michael L. Boninger, Ann Cools and Fransiska M. Bossuyt
- 82 Characterizing the Thermal Demands and Mobility Performance During International Wheelchair Rugby Competition

Erica H. Gavel, Melissa A. Lacroix, Vicky L. Goosey-Tolfrey and Heather M. Logan-Sprenger

90	How Was Studied the Effect of Manual Wheelchair
	Configuration on Propulsion Biomechanics: A Systematic
	Review on Methodologies

Capucine Fritsch, Yoann Poulet, Joseph Bascou, Patricia Thoreux and Christophe Sauret

- 109 Impact of Sprinting and Dribbling on Shoulder Joint and Pushrim Kinetics in Wheelchair Basketball Athletes Félix Chénier, Ilona Alberca, Dany H. Gagnon and Arnaud Faupin
- 118 Influence of Wheelchair Type on Kinematic Parameters in Wheelchair Rugby

Sadate Bakatchina, Thierry Weissland, Florian Brassart, Ilona Alberca, Opale Vigie, Didier Pradon and Arnaud Faupin

- 127 Impact of Holding a Badminton Racket on Spatio-Temporal and Kinetic Parameters During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion Ilona Alberca, Félix Chénier, Marjolaine Astier, Marion Combet, Sadate Bakatchina, Florian Brassart, Jean-Marc Vallier, Didier Pradon, Bruno Watier and Arnaud Faupin
- 135 Case Report: Training Monitoring and Performance Development of a Triathlete With Spinal Cord Injury and Chronic Myeloid Leukemia During a Paralympic Cycle Oliver J. Quittmann, Benjamin Lenatz, Patrick Bartsch, Frauke Lenatz, Tina Foitschik and Thomas Abel
- 147 Development of Tests for Arm Coordination Impairment in Paralympic Classification

Viola C. Altmann, Nadine Hendriks, Eline A. Lammens and Mariska Janssen

156 Prediction of Propulsion Kinematics and Performance in Wheelchair Rugby

David S. Haydon, Ross A. Pinder, Paul N. Grimshaw, William S. P. Robertson and Connor J. M. Holdback

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Reuben Escorpizo, University of Vermont, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Riemer J.K. Vegter r.j.k.vegter@umcg.nl

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

RECEIVED 09 August 2022 ACCEPTED 12 September 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

CITATION

Vegter RJK, Veeger DHEJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL and Leicht CA (2022) Editorial: Adapted sports: Wheeled-mobility, exercise and health. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:1015179. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.1015179

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Vegter, Veeger, Goosey-Tolfrey and Leicht. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Adapted sports: Wheeled-mobility, exercise and health

Riemer J.K. Vegter^{1,2*}, DirkJan H.E.J. Veeger³, Vicky L. Goosey-Tolfrey² and Christof A. Leicht²

¹Center for Human Movement Sciences, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ²Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, School of Sport, Exercise & Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ³Department of Biomechanical Engineering, Delft University of Technology, Delft, Netherlands

KEYWORDS

wheeled mobility, paralympic sport, upper body, overuse injuries, wheelchair propulsion, kinetics, kinematics, classification

Editorial on the Research Topic Adapted sports: wheeled-mobility, exercise and health

by Vegter RJK, Veeger DHEJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL and Leicht CA. (2002) Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3: 1015179. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.1015179

Introduction

Persons that use a manual wheelchair depend on their upper body for daily mobility as well as for the sports they participate in. Numerous adapted sports exist. In some sports, modified wheelchairs are used for propulsion (e.g., wheelchair tennis, basketball, rugby and racing), others rely on other forms of cyclic upper-body exercise, like arm cranking movements (e.g., handcycling). Different adapted sports can also have an important impact on the upper body without a wheelchair involved, such as archery, paracanoe or swimming. What differentiates the abovementioned adapted sports from most able-bodied sports is the focus on the upper body for propulsion, which may result in different biomechanical and physiological responses when compared with the lower body.

The current Research Topic of Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences focuses on the performance and health aspects of participating in adapted sports and exercise for manual wheelchair users. 68 authors contributed to this special issue with 15 articles. They are spanning three broad topic areas:

- (1) Shoulder-related responses and injuries resulting from upper-body exercise and wheelchair propulsion.
- (2) Applied wheelchair sport research on wheelchair propulsion kinetics and kinematics.
- (3) Elite sport and performance, considerations related to Paralympic sports specific classification.

Shoulder-related responses and injuries resulting from upper-body exercise and wheelchair propulsion

The studies in this topic area put a spotlight on the shoulder as an anatomical structure that must cope with the very specific strains experienced during upper-body exercise, and more specifically, wheelchair propulsion. They provide new knowledge regarding activities that may be particularly stressful to the shoulder and surrounding structures and highlight factors that may help reduce strain, and as a result, minimise the risk for shoulder injury.

Bossuyt et al. investigated the acute shoulder tendon adaptations following maximal exercise in wheelchair rugby athletes. They provide evidence for exercise-mediated fluid inflow into the tendon, possibly because of the overload and acute inflammation. Arnet et al. demonstrated the benefits of fitness (assessed as anaerobic capacity) in the stabilisation of the shoulder during lifts, as it helped maintain the acromiohumeral distance following lifting. Aissaoui and Gagnon performed wheelchair propulsion training with haptic biofeedback with the aim to increase mechanical effectiveness and found the tangential push-rim force component to increase substantially, whilst also slightly increasing shoulder moments. Chénier et al. investigated sprinting with and without dribbling in wheelchair basketball, reporting higher speeds and shoulder loads when sprinting without dribbling. Finally, Mayrhuber et al. present a scoping review on shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis. They identify possible risk factors as overhead movements, repetitive activation of the anterior muscle chain and internal rotators, as well as a higher spinal cord injury level.

Applied wheelchair sports research on wheelchair propulsion kinetics and kinematics

Wheelchair sports and disability characteristics come in many shades, which results in a wide range of movement patterns. Kinetic and kinematic analysis allows to quantify impacts of equipment setup, practice and training interventions, with the aim to improve performance and avoid injury.

Three studies in this topic area investigate wheelchair-sport specific skills. Alberca et al. compared the impact of holding a badminton racket on wheelchair propulsion, reporting patterns associated with reduced propulsion effectiveness and higher injury risk. De Klerk et al. investigated wheelchair racing propulsion acquisition skills during three weeks of wheeling practice, reporting pronounced improvements in metabolic strain, push and cycle times. In a systematic review, Altman et al. identify tests for throwing maximal distance, throwing precision, and dribbling the ball to determine ballhandling proficiency in wheelchair sports.

A systematic review by Fritsch et al. outlines the methodologies used to study the impact of manual wheelchair configuration on biomechanical outcome measures. An applied example of a study using such methods is presented by Bakatschina et al., comparing kinematic variables between offensive and defensive wheelchair rugby wheelchairs in ablebodied participants. Perhaps surprisingly, they found that higher sprint velocities were achieved in defensive wheelchairs, indicating that that the higher performance observed in offensive vs. defensive wheelchair rugby players is a result of differences in disability, not wheelchair type. Staying within the sport of wheelchair rugby, Haydon et al. attempted to develop an algorithm to predict the impact of changing wheelchair setup on performance outcomes. Their on-court performance prediction was accurate for some, but less so for others, leading them to provide suggestions to improve accuracy further (e.g., inclusion of athlete activity limitations).

Elite sports and performance, considerations related to Paralympic sports specific classification

Sound sports specific classification procedures are the basis for fair competition in Paralympic sports. Classification is an evolving field (as is the whole field of Paralympic sports), therefore adaptations to, or at times, completely new classification tests are required. Altman et al. investigated a test to determine arm coordination impairment (the spiral test). They found it useful and reliable to differentiate arm coordination impairment in people without impairment, making it a promising option for Paralympic classification.

The three other studies in the topic area of elite sport assess performance, and more specifically, how performance may be impacted by disability type and sport. Gee et al. provide an overview of the altered physiological response to exercise in disability and offer physiological considerations to benefit Paralympic performance, whilst highlighting research gaps. Gavel et al. address one of those gaps, namely the thermoregulatory response in National team wheelchair rugby players during international competition, relating thermal strain to movement time. Quittman et al. round this topic area off with a case report of a paratriathlete undergoing chronic myeloid leukaemia treatment, which dramatically reduced markers of physical capacity.

Future perspectives

The articles in this special issue cover a range of approaches including experimental studies, systematic reviews, and a case study. Whilst broad in the topic areas covered, many provide evidence helping to maximise performance and/or minimise injury risk in sports suitable for manual wheelchair users. On the other hand, almost all presented articles show the continued need for research and are often only a starting point for gaining new knowledge about the multi-disciplinary impact of wheelchair sports on wheelchair users. Both the shown difficulty of measuring larger groups of participants, because of the relatively small and heterogeneous population, and the lack of strong longitudinal research designs hamper the level of evidence. One solution might be increased international collaboration between researchers, health and sports professionals, applying open science principles. Of course, at times this can be at odds with the competitive nature of top-level athletes. However, hesitancy to participate in such research may be overcome if overarching research questions are formulated with a goal to further professionalize adapted wheelchair sports as a whole. Buying into the research process by athletes, coaches and health professionals may further be facilitated by feeding back findings to the base, highlighting the relevance and applicability to the various stakeholders. In this context, the presentation of these 15

articles should be followed up with activities to engage lay audiences. Findings may be made palatable by presentations, summary videos or visual overviews aimed at specific target groups. Whatever the format, what unites the findings is their root in scientific principles. We are therefore grateful for this showcasing opportunity of the already high-quality research performed in this relative niche research area of adapted wheelchair sports—it certainly holds scope for further study.

Author contributions

RV and CL drafted the editorial. All authors approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.





Physiological Considerations to Support Podium Performance in Para-Athletes

Cameron M. Gee¹, Melissa A. Lacroix², Trent Stellingwerff^{1,3}, Erica H. Gavel^{2,4}, Heather M. Logan-Sprenger^{2,4} and Christopher R. West^{3,5,6,7*}

¹ Athletics Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada, ² Canadian Sport Institute-Ontario, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Canadian Sport Institute-Pacific, Victoria, BC, Canada, ⁴ Faculty of Health Science, Ontario Tech University, Oshawa, ON, Canada, ⁵ Faculty of Medicine, International Collaboration on Repair Discoveries, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁶ Department of Cellular and Physiological Sciences, University of British Columbia, Kelowna, BC, Canada, ⁷ Centre for Chronic Disease Prevention and Management, University of British Columbia, Kelowna, BC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christof A. Leicht, Loughborough University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Kristin L. Jonvik, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Norway Elizabeth Broad, Independent Researcher, Huskisson, Australia

> ***Correspondence:** Christopher R. West westchri@mail.ubc.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 28 June 2021 Accepted: 27 October 2021 Published: 16 November 2021

Citation:

Gee CM, Lacroix MA, Stellingwerff T, Gavel EH, Logan-Sprenger HM and West CR (2021) Physiological Considerations to Support Podium Performance in Para-Athletes. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:732342. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.732342 The twenty-first century has seen an increase in para-sport participation and the number of research publications on para-sport and the para-athlete. Unfortunately, the majority of publications are case reports/case series or study single impairment types in isolation. Indeed, an overview of how each International Paralympic Committee classifiable impairment type impact athlete physiology, health, and performance has not been forthcoming in the literature. This can make it challenging for practitioners to appropriately support para-athletes and implement evidence-based research in their daily practice. Moreover, the lack of a cohesive publication that reviews all classifiable impairment types through a physiological lens can make it challenging for researchers new to the field to gain an understanding of unique physiological challenges facing para-athletes and to appreciate the nuances of how various impairment types differentially impact para-athlete physiology. As such, the purpose of this review is to (1) summarize how International Paralympic Committee classifiable impairments alter the normal physiological responses to exercise; (2) provide an overview of "quick win" physiological interventions targeted toward specific para-athlete populations; (3) discuss unique practical considerations for the para-sport practitioner; (4) discuss research gaps and highlight areas for future research and innovation, and (5) provide suggestions for knowledge translation and knowledge sharing strategies to advance the field of para-sport research and its application by para-sport practitioners.

Keywords: adapted sports, physical activity, disability, paralympics, exercise

INTRODUCTION

Health and exercise performance have traditionally been considered on a continuum in which the athlete, viewed as the epitome of human physiological performance, is at one end and individuals with disability, traditionally medicalized as a condition to be treated, at the other (1). The para-athlete and the Paralympic Games, encompassing the wider Paralympic Movement, have challenged such dogma. While athletes with disabilities were not unheard of (2), it was the Stoke Mandeville Games (established in 1948) and Paralympic Games (retroactively established in 1960) that have most rapidly advanced para-sport and the Movement (3).

The International Paralympic Committee (IPC; established 1989), recognized as the global governing body of the Movement (4), operates under the vision of enabling para-athletes to achieve sporting excellence. In doing so, the IPC has a classification code that governs the process by which athletes are categorized into a number of groups on the basis of common properties (5). The system aims to determine who is eligible to compete at the Paralympic Games, while ensuring that it is not the degree of impairment but sporting excellence that ultimately determines which athlete or team is victorious (6). Presently, there are 10 eligible impairment types: impaired muscle power, impaired passive range of movement, limb deficiency, ataxia (uncoordinated movement), athetosis (involuntary movements), hypertonia (increased muscle tension), short stature, leg length difference, vision impairment, and intellectual impairment (7).

Though research studies dating back to the 1970s and 1980s have documented exercise responses and the unique physiology of "active" individuals with an impairment, it is only in the last 30 years that research into the "para-athlete" has started to emerge as a field of its own. For example, a search of PubMed databases indicates that in 1990 there were 57 articles on "disability sport" and that by 2020 this number had increased more than twenty-fold. Despite the expansion in research and many excellent para-sport research groups globally there still exists a relative paucity of para-sport research and evidence-based practice-particularly in the physiology domain. There is currently no complete overview of how the different classifiable impairment types impact the physiological response to exercise. Therefore, practitioners within the para-sport field may have trouble incorporating data from isolated case studies and/or studies that focus on a single disability type to develop a comprehensive understanding of how various impairments impact the physiological response to exercise. This lack of cohesive understanding can prevent new practitioners from providing appropriate and timely support of para-athletes and may result in researchers having to spend additional time sourcing background material, rather than designing studies to advance the field.

The present review was written as part of a collaborative effort between Own the Podium and members of the Own the Podium Paralympic Professional Development Working Group that is made up of practitioners, athletes, and academics in Canada. The purpose of this review was to provide a comprehensive overview of the physiological considerations that should be taken into account when supporting para-athletes in applied sports performance roles. Nevertheless, the content of this review is structured in such a way that it will benefit researchers and clinicians who want to gain an overview of para-sport physiology as well those wanting to develop interventions to improve the health and performance of para-athletes. Within this review we discuss the neural control of the physiological response to exercise and the current state of research aimed at enhancing exercise performance in athletes with classifiable impairments under the major sub-groups of limb deficiency, cerebral palsy, SCI, and other classifiable neurological impairments. Whilst athletes with visual and intellectual impairments have practical and biomechanical considerations, they are not expected to exhibit an altered physiological response to exercise or energy requirements and hence are omitted from this review for brevity. Finally, we discuss research gaps and areas of interest for future research and innovation.

NEUROANATOMY OF IMPAIRMENT GROUPS

Given that many of the abovementioned impairments impact neurological function, it follows that the degree of function is highly variable across impairment groups. This can result in some para-athletes exhibiting an unaffected cardiorespiratory, metabolic, and thermoregulatory response to exercise (e.g., visual impairment), and others exhibiting a severely attenuated cardiorespiratory, metabolic, and thermoregulatory response to exercise compared to able-bodied athletes (e.g., cervical SCI). As such, we believe that para-sport researchers and practitioners should familiarize themselves with fundamental neuroanatomy so as to develop appropriate individualized interventions and understand unique practical considerations of the paraathlete. Figure 1A provides a general guide to neuroanatomy of the autonomic pathways regulating the thermoregulatory and cardiovascular response to exercise. Figure 1B gives an overview of the autonomic and somatic pathways that regulate the ventilatory and skeletal muscle response to exercise. Below we discuss how various impairments may impact the physiological response to exercise in relation to these pathways. It should be noted, however, that there may be a large degree of variability between athletes with the same impairment depending on where the specific lesion (e.g., SCI or cerebral palsy) or injury (e.g., limb deficiency) is located.

PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSE TO EXERCISE ACROSS IMPAIRMENT GROUPS

The cardiac (8), vascular (9), ventilatory (10), metabolic (11), and thermoregulatory (12, 13) response to exercise in able-bodied individuals has been reviewed extensively elsewhere and are only referred to here for comparison. Briefly, at the onset of exercise, the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Figure 1A) is activated to increase cardiac output and blood pressure to meet the oxygen demands of exercising musculature. Simultaneously, activity of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) is gradually withdrawn (14), though present to maximal exercise (14), and increased drive to respiratory muscles (Figure 1B) increases tidal volume to facilitate oxygen supply to, and carbon dioxide removal from, the arterial blood. There also exists a complex interplay between peripheral reflexes (i.e., the baroreflex, chemoreflex and exercise pressor reflex) that provide afferent feedback to the brainstem to "fine-tune" cardiorespiratory, metabolic, and thermoregulatory function (15).

Spinal Cord Injury

The physiological effects of exercise following SCI have been studied extensively and, for further detail, we refer

Gee et al.



overridden by central command and therefore affected by impairments in motor pattern generation (e.g., cerebral palsy); (Right) pathways providing neural drive to upper and lower limb skeletal muscles. **(C)** Summary of common impairment types among para-athletes and which nervous system/s that the impairment may affect. CNX, tenth cranial nerve; CVLM, caudal ventrolateral medulla; IML, intermediolateral cell column; nAmb, nucleus ambiguus; NTS, nucleus tractus solitaries; POA, preoptic area of the anterior hypothalamus; PNS, parasympathetic nervous system; RVLM, rostral ventrolateral medulla; rVRG, rostral ventral respiratory group; SNS, sympathetic nervous system.

readers to several excellent reviews (16-18). In short, the physiological response to exercise following SCI is highly variable and dependent upon the severity and level of the injury. Following a "functionally complete" cervical SCI there is altered cardiovascular and sudomotor function, characterized by a reduced peak heart rate (19), an inability to augment stroke volume (20), exercise-induced hypotension (21), and an impaired sweat response that alters evaporative heat loss (22). Whilst the afferent arms for the three major reflexes are intact, the efferent outflow from the brainstem down the spinal cord does not pass through the injury site, and therefore reduces the ability of these reflexes to modulate descending sympathetic circuitry. Interestingly, our group has found that some athletes who have a "functionally complete high-level SCI" can still present with functional sparing in the descending sympathetic fibers (since these fibers are anatomically distinct from the motor/sensory pathways on which the assessment of functional completeness is based) (23). Across sports, we have found that these athletes will consistently out-perform those who do not have functional sparing of these fibers as they can reach a higher exercising heart rate, stroke volume, cardiac output and oxygen uptake (23). In the respiratory system, although neural drive to the diaphragm remains at least partly intact via the phrenic nerve, athletes with complete cervical SCI have severely impaired expiratory function due to the loss of neural drive to expiratory muscles (24), which leads to dynamic hyperinflation during higher intensity exercise (25, 26) that can increase dyspnea and have implications for cardiovascular function.

Among athletes who have sustained a complete SCI at the thoracic level, the physiological response to exercise is highly dependent upon the level of the injury. Athletes with complete high-level SCI (i.e., above sixth thoracic spinal level) will have a loss of the ability to vasoconstrict major splanchnic vascular beds, sweat below the level of the lesion, and are likely to have impaired expiratory function (17). However, they may be able to appropriately elevate their heart rate (23) and increase stroke volume (27) *via* direct cardiac sympathetic excitation during exercise. Athletes with complete lower-level thoracic SCI (i.e., below sixth thoracic spinal level) have intact sympathetic drive to the heart and should be able to vasoconstrict and sweat above the level of their injury. The primary muscle of active expiration, the rectus abdominus, should maintain a degree of neural drive and as such these athletes have greater preservation of expiratory function along with practically normal inspiratory function (17).

With respect to alterations at the muscle, it is now relatively well established that SCI causes a fiber type shift in the inactive limbs toward a Type II (i.e., "fast-twitch") phenotype (28) due to decreases in mitochondrial size and density (29). Despite less favorable conditions for oxygen extraction by the upper limb muscles (30), upper body endurance exercise does appear to result in a number of beneficial adaptations for oxygen offloading including a muscle fiber type shift toward a greater density of type I fibers (i.e., "slow-twitch") as well as increased capillarisation and glycolytic enzymes (31). For instance, trained athletes with SCI have significantly higher levels of the oxidative enzymes citric synthase and 3-hyrdroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase than untrained and able-bodied individuals, with lower activity of the glycolytic enzyme 6-phophofructokinase reflecting a greater dependence on fat oxidation during exercise (31).

The impact of different levels of complete SCI (i.e., injury to descending sympathetic pathways) on peak physiological responses to exercise is summarized in **Table 1**.

TABLE 1 Peak physiological responses to arm exercise following complete
spinal cord injury relative to able-bodied athletes.

	Tetraplegia (C5–C8)	High paraplegia (T1–T6)	Low paraplegia (T7–T12)
Heart rate	\downarrow	\downarrow or =	1
	(19)	(23)	(32)
Stroke volume	\downarrow	\downarrow or =	\downarrow
	(20)	(33)	(32)
Cardiac output	\downarrow	\downarrow or =	?
	(20)	(33)	
Blood press	\downarrow	?	?
	(21)		
Catecholamine release	\downarrow	\downarrow	\uparrow
	(34)	(34)	(34)
Sweat response	\downarrow	\downarrow	?
	(35)	(35)	
Respiratory frequency	=	=	=
	(26)		
Tidal volume	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
	(26)		
Minute ventilation	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
	(26)		
Oxygen uptake	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
	(36)	(36)	(32)

↓, decreased; =, no change; ↑, increased; ?, unknown.

Limb Deficiency

Athletes with limb deficiency, free of other disease or disability, are expected to have an intact central nervous system (CNS) and therefore an unaffected cardiorespiratory and autonomic response to exercise. However, athletes with a limb deficiency (specifically lower limb deficiency performing upper body exercise) can often experience elevated blood lactate concentrations due to a reduced total body mass and high muscle activation in the upper body (37). Due to movement inefficiency, lower limb amputation can increase the energy cost of lower-limb exercise and increase metabolic demand for a given task (38). The limited research available suggests that improving movement efficiency and decreasing the metabolic cost of exercise among lower-limb amputees (38) will likely enhance aerobic exercise capacity.

Athletes with limb deficiency may experience greater thermal strain due to a reduced surface area for evaporative heat loss. Depending on the location of the limb deficiency, and the athletes' use of prostheses, the prostheses may act as an effective insulator and further impair thermoregulation in the remaining limb that is covered by the device. There may also be increased sweat accumulation, and skin breakdown with the use of prosthetics, which may further enhance thermal strain and discomfort. There is evidence that individuals with large surface area of skin grafts may be at higher risk for thermal stress due to the reduction of sweat gland responsiveness and permanent impairment of cutaneous vasodilator capacity of the grafted skin (39).

Cerebral Palsy

Cerebral palsy is the result of a non-progressive lesion in the developing brain characterized by movement impairments and reduced muscle strength. Among elite level soccer players and cyclists for instance, which are some of the best studied athletes with cerebral palsy, isometric knee extensor strength can be impaired between 31 and 47% (40). Though not in elite athletes, others have shown that voluntary activation can be as low as onethird that of able-bodied individuals (41), suggesting impaired neural recruitment, and that perhaps voluntary strength training may be less effective in this impairment group. In children with cerebral palsy several studies have attributed part of the reduced muscle strength to a type 1 fiber type predominance (41), however we are not aware of such studies in adult or athletic populations. Increased intramuscular fat as well as atrophy and decreased muscle size in the paretic limbs have also been identified as outcomes of cerebral palsy (42).

Athletes with cerebral palsy may present with limited exercise capacity (43) and are at a high risk of musculoskeletal injury, and may additionally experience reduced range of motion, increased muscle stiffness, spasticity, and pain among other medical challenges (44). How the autonomic nervous system functions to meet the physiological response to exercise has not been well-studied (45), however the neural pathways outlined in Figure 1 are expected to remain intact unless there is damage to the hypothalamus-this is also likely true of paraathletes with movement impairments due to acquired brain injuries. Due to impaired co-ordination of movement and the metabolic cost of exercise, metabolic heat production has been found to be higher in children with cerebral palsy compared to able-bodied children for a given workload (46). Others have suggested that this movement inefficiency, coupled with increased muscle tone, may impede the skeletal muscle pump (47) and limit venous return and left-ventricular stroke volume. In children with cerebral palsy, aerobic exercise training may improve movement efficiency and decrease the metabolic cost of exercise-whether this is true for highly-trained athletes, or whether they have reached a "peak" movement efficiency relative to their impairment is unknown. Finally, lung volumes appear to be smaller in adults with cerebral palsy, however it is not known if this is true among athletes (48).

Other Classifiable Neurological Impairments

Due to the heterogeneity of how other neurological impairments impact the physiological response to exercise, here we only outline the known physiological effects of select impairments not detailed above.

Multiple sclerosis is an autoimmune disease that degrades the myelin sheath of axons within the CNS (49). The most well-known physiological consequence of multiple sclerosis is impaired thermoregulation and occurs when the lesion impacts thermoregulatory centers such as the hypothalamus (50) and is further compounded by reduced sweat gland output in response to thermal stress (51). Other common symptoms of multiple sclerosis relate to muscle weakness, spasticity and fatigue. Athletes with spina bifida are often included in studies with athletes with SCI, with the primary difference being that it is a congenital birth defect rather than an acquired injury. Spina bifida is most common in the lumbar or sacral spine, in which case sympathetic function is preserved, but may occur in the cervical spine in rare cases (52). Similar to SCI, the effect of spina bifida on physiological responses to exercise is likely a function of the severity of the impairment (i.e., spina bifida occulta, meningocele, or myelomeningocele).

Neurological conditions that effect peripheral nerves (e.g., Charcot-Marie Tooth disease, Guillain Barre syndrome) primarily effect motor and sensory function, including those responsible for pulmonary function, but have the potential to also cause autonomic neuropathy (53).

ENERGY AVAILABILITY AND RELATIVE ENERGY DEFICIENCY IN SPORT IN PARA-ATHLETES

Energy availability (EA) represents the amount of energy left over for optimal physiological function after exercise energy expenditure (EEE) is subtracted from energy intake (EI), and corrected for fat free mass (FFM) (54). It is well established that chronic low EA (LEA) results in myriad negative health, psychological and performance outcomes and is the underpinning etiology of Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S) (55). However, laboratory and clinical quantification of EA is impressively difficult, and challenged by methodological considerations that introduce risk for significant under- or overestimation of EI (56) and/or EEE (57); although to our knowledge this has primarily been only examined in able bodied athletes. Indeed, we are not aware of studies that have utilized the "gold-standard" approach of double-labeled water to assess total daily energy expenditure (TDEE). Within TDEE, there is significant work to be done to better understand the EEE demands in para-athletes, of which most data is predominantly in wheelchair athletes. However, even our understanding of EEE in wheelchair athletes is limited. For example, our current compendium of energy costs of physical activities for individuals who use manual wheelchairs is now 10 years old and, despite identifying 266 studies, only 11 studies met the inclusion criteria (58). Only four of these studies included para-athletes, of which 91 were male and 6 female. Given the progress of wheelchair technology advances utilized by modern para-athletes, which would potentially impact gross efficiency outcomes of EEE, much more data needs to be developed to accurately estimate EEE. Therefore, the accurate appreciation of EEE in most classifications of para-athletes remains to be elucidated.

Since the assessment of EA is challenging in evaluating LEA, more chronic indicators of LEA tend to be used for RED-S diagnosis in able-bodied athletes (59), and common outcomes include: clinically low hormones involved in the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal-adrenal (HPGA)-axis; amenorrhea; clinically low bone mineral density (BMD); restricted eating leading to disordered eating or eating disorders; increased risk of injuries; poor training adaptations and performance outcomes. However a validated RED-S diagnosis tool in able and para-athletes remains to be developed.

Within para-sport, several recent reviews have highlighted that depending on the impairment many para-athletes have significant challenges with optimizing EI, coupled with potentially altered aspects of EEE, EA, and FFM and thus may be especially at risk for LEA and RED-S (60). Despite over 70 papers published since the 1980's on either RED-S or the Female Athlete Triad in able-bodied athletes (55, 61), we are only aware of three recent publications that have assessed the risk of LEA and/or other chronic indicators of RED-S in para-athletes (62, 63). Depending which assessment tool was used, there were indications of \sim 73% of elite female athletes with SCI having LEA (62), which was significant more than male athletes with SCI. In another study, 78% of female athletes with SCI were deemed at "risk" for LEA using the LEA in Females Questionnaire (LEAF-Q), although in this study EA assessments were not compromised (63). Taken together and similar to the able-bodied literature, there are considerable discrepancies in RED-S assessment across various tools/parameters, and much more research is required. Among a cohort of male and female track and field para-athletes with cerebral palsy, vision impairment, or limb deficiency >82% had reduced EA and approximately one-third had LEA (64).

The actual prevalence of RED-S may be profound, as a recent survey study in 260 elite para-athletes demonstrated that \sim 32% had elevated disordered eating questionnaire scores, ~45% of premenopausal females had oligomenorrhea/amenorrhea, ~55% had reported low BMD, but $< \sim 10\%$ had awareness of the RED-S (65). Indeed, athletes with SCI may be especially at risk. For example, wheelchair athletes often have significant lower body muscle atrophy resulting in lower whole-body FFM, which may artificially elevate EA calculations compared to able-bodied athletes. Additionally, \sim 50% of male athletes with SCI have low testosterone (66), due either to altered HPGA-axis outcomes related to SNS dysfunction and/or aspects of LEA. It is important to note that as of yet, no clinical and laboratory normative LEA data has been published in para-athletes linked to adverse clinical outcomes. Therefore, we have to encourage much more research to develop RED-S specific data and assessment tools in these unique para-athlete populations.

PHYSIOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS TO OPTIMIZE PERFORMANCE

Elite able-bodied athletes and their support staff constantly strive to gain a competitive advantage within the rules of their sport to enhance performance. Two of the more common physiological performance enhancing strategies used by able-bodied athletes may include altitude training (67) and heat acclimation training (68). Although there are extensive research and review articles on these, and other, interventions for the able-bodied athlete, there is often little to no research on how these interventions may affect elite para-athletes—while some may be beneficial, some may be detrimental to performance and/or health. In recent years there have been a number of studies that highlight the impacts of respiratory muscle training (69, 70), abdominal binding (71), and heat acclimation (72, 73) in

para-athletes (see 23). However, there remains a large gap in the research and applied knowledge for how these protocols may translate to benefit para-athletes in all impairment groups.

TABLE 2 | Key physiological interventions specific to para-athletes.

Key interventions	Existing evidence by athlete group	Considerations for other para-athlete groups that may benefit
Respiratory muscle training	In able-bodied endurance athletes, IMT appears to benefit performance by delaying diaphragm fatigue, offsetting the respiratory muscle metaboreflex, and attenuating respiratory discomfort (10, 74)	 Among endurance athletes with minimal impairment to cardiorespiratory function (i.e., limb deficiency, intellectual and visual impairment), competing in para-sports with high ventilatory demand, there is likely potential benefit from similar IMT protocols as those applied to able-bodied athletes
	In athletes with cervical SCI, pressure threshold IMT (69), and combined IMT and EMT (70) (30 repetitions performed twice daily on 5 days/week) appear to ↑ respiratory muscle strength and aerobic exercise capacity	 No respiratory muscle training program has been assessed in athletes with cerebral palsy. However, it is plausible that strengthening the respiratory muscles could elicit functional and structural adaptations that benefit trunk stability and movement patterns—as has been observed in children with cerebral palsy (75)
		 Combined IMT and EMT has not been examined in athletes with multiple sclerosis or muscular dystrophy, however evidence from the non-athletic population suggests it can reduce self-reported fatigue and the severity of breathlessness, respectively (76, 77)
Abdominal binding	In athletes with cervical SCI, can prevent exercise induced hypotension, prevent pooling of blood in the abdomen and acutely ↑ resting cardiac output (78), ↓ exercising lung volumes (25), and enhance both lab- (25) and field-based (71) exercise performance	• The efficacy of abdominal binding among athletes with other impairments has yet to be assessed however, theoretically, it may improve central hemodynamics in athletes with paraplegia who have impaired neural drive to the rectus abdominus (see Figure 1B) and may enhance stability among athletes with impaired muscle power or co-ordination of the trunk musculature
Heat acclimation	In able-bodied athletes, or para-athletes with an intact SNS: ↓heart rate, ↑cutaneous blood flow and sweat rates, ↓core temperature and improved exercise performance Secondary benefits, may include ↑ plasma volume and ↑stroke volume (68)	 There is potential for athletes with minimal impairment to autonomic pathways, vasomotor and sweat control to benefit from similar physiological responses to heat acclimation as shown in able-bodied literature. Such athletes would likely benefit most from protocols similar to those that have been most effective in able-bodied athletes (79)
		 Some athletes with a SCI and MS have significant challenges in the heat due to poor sweat rates and poor thermoregulation and therefore need enhanced monitoring around optimizing hydration practices. Athletes with MS are especially more sensitive to heat, and need heat mitigating strategies. As such, we suggest that these athletes are closely supervised by a practitioner if undergoing heat acclimation training
	In athletes with high risk of thermal strain and/or impaired SNS, potential improvements in heat tolerance, pacing strategies, and ↑ in plasma volume	 Heat acclimation/acclimatization may be recommended to improve performance and heat tolerance for athletes competing in hot-humid environments, sports requiring a high aerobic demand and athletes with a high risk of thermal strain
	In athletes with MS, the physiological response and performance benefits of heat acclimation may not outweigh the negative impacts it has on symptoms (50)	 Symptoms including early onset of fatigue associated with MS may be exacerbated by as little as a 0.5°C increase in core temperature in 60–80% of MS patients. In athletes with MS it is important to limit their exposure to the heat, however, more research is needed to better understand if their symptoms and heat tolerance may improve with heat acclimation training
Altitude Training	Living and/or training at altitude can enhance aerobic exercise capacity, primarily <i>via</i> augmentation of red blood cell count, in elite and sub-elite able-bodied athletes (67)	 Among endurance athletes with minimal impairment to cardiorespiratory function (i.e., limb deficiency, intellectual and visual impairment), competing in para-sports with high aerobic demand (e.g., track event of 5,000 m and greater or their equivalent), there is likely potential benefit from similar altitude training protocols as those proven effective for able-bodied athletes. However, this remains to be established in para-athletes
		 Given the risks associated with low oxygen availability at altitude and the limited research in para-athletes with oxygen transport limitations we suggest para-athletes are closely supervised by a practitioner if undergoing altitude training
	In able-bodied athletes, the use of sildenafil, has been shown to ↑ exercising peak power output and peak oxygen uptake at high altitudes above 4,000 m	 The use of sildenafil would not be recommended prior to competition and athletes who are prescribed sildenafil (commonly used to treat erectile dysfunction in athletes with SCI) should be aware of the potential negative effects on exercise performance
	In athletes with SCI, best evidence suggests that sildenafil does not enhance exercise capacity compared to placebo at sea level or altitude (80)	 No major global able-bodied or para-athletes specific competitions are held at altitudes above 4,000 m

CP, cerebral palsy; EMT, expiratory muscle training; IMT, inspiratory muscle training; MS, multiple sclerosis; SCI, spinal cord injury; SNS, sympathetic nervous system.

ABLE 3 Practical and special considerations for supporting para-athletes.

Special training considerations	Specific sub-factors related to para-athletes	Physiological and applied practical considerations
Environmental conditions	Medications, sleep deprivation and fitness levels may impact an athlete's heat tolerance	 Medication use and sleeping habits should be monitored when the athlete is traveling or competing in a warm environment. Ensure athletes aerobically fit to tolerate training/competing in the heat
	Equipment interactions and sweat hygiene	 Maintain consistent prosthetic hygiene to decrease risk of infections, skin breakdown due to accumulation of sweat or contact with sports equipment especially during hot humid conditions where sweat rates may be higher
		Trial equipment and prosthetic fit prior to competing in altered environmental conditions
	Early onset of fatigue ↓ in performance in hot or cold environments	• Use of cooling strategies in warm environments (slushies, ice vests, cold water immersion, cold spray, menthol) is recommended for all athletes with impairments (81)
		Heat acclimation training to improve heat tolerance (refer to Table 2)
		Warming strategies in cold environments (warm fluids, extra layers, heated garments). Consider the effects of decrease blood flow, and sensation
	Pace awareness and perception of effort are exacerbated in the heat (43, 46)	 Athletes with CP, intellectual impairment or VI who compete without a guide, should practice pacing outcomes in the target weather conditions prior to competition to establish a pre-determined pacing strategy based on the ambient conditions
	↑ Risk of thermal strain; ↓ evaporative or convective heat loss, ↑ metabolic heat, ↓ vasomotor and sweat control	 Athletes with a SCI, limb deficiency, CP, VI, short stature, or other neurological conditions would benefit from individualized internal and external cooling strategies (pre, per and/or post cooling based on the sport)
		 Consider the cost benefit of the added thermal strain when using additional clothing garments, equipment and wearable devices
	Cold environments may impact athletes with muscle stiffness, nerve pain, changes in vasomotor and sudomotor tone	 Ensure the temperature in the gym and training facilities are a neutral temperature. If you are training or competing in cold environments, ensure the athlete has a good warm up and potentially look to pre warming techniques to minimize the cold related symptoms
Monitoring	Pace awareness and perception of effort (43, 46)	• In athletes with an intellectual impairment, using RPE scales may not be appropriate
		• For athletes with intellectual or visual impairment, consider strategic use of a pacer in practice, followed by trialing without the use of a pacer in practice, to mimic race/competition demands
	RPE for monitoring	• May consider using a differentiated approach for RPE relative to central (cardiorespiratory), peripheral (blood lactate), and overall (central + peripheral) feeling of effort (82)
	Impaired peak heart rates	 In athletes with impaired SNS function, monitor training using heart rates based on the individual athletes peak exercising heart rates
	Impaired skin conductivity	• In athletes with skin grafts or neurological conditions it may not be appropriate to use finger or wrist worn heart rate monitors due to decrease skin conductivity
	↓ Blood lactate clearance	 Athletes with a lower limb deficiency performing upper body exercise may have reduce blood lactate clearance due to a decrease in total body mass and increased activation of upper body musculature
Training considerations	Consider ADL's (transferring, driving, pushing, cooking, bowel routines etc.)	• ADL's should be a consideration in programming overall training workloads, as these may influence fatigue and readiness for training to a greater extent than able-bodied athletes
		• In athletes with SCI, lower limb deficiency, and VI the workload completed in training can have a big impact on what the athletes can do for the remainder of their day as well.
	↑ in spasticity following maximal exertion due to an overexcitability of the stretch reflex Sensitivity to the stresses incurred by training sessions with high anaerobic content	 For athletes with hypertonia, ensure appropriate recovery times and balanced training with high intensity/ high anaerobic efforts when planning training phases. May be at risk of increased hypertonia, pain, stiffness, and clonus
Travel	Sleep disorders, altered distribution of melatonin and temperature regulation throughout the day	 Jet lag and travel fatigue may be exacerbated in athletes with sleep disorders and athletes with VI due to an already disrupted circadian rhythm. Establish a travel plan, a sleep schedule and periodized training upon arrival pre-event following long haul trips
		• In athletes with intellectual and visual impairments, and some athletes with a SCI, sleep medications and poor sleep impact on circadian rhythms and optimal hormone regulation (e.g., lowered testosterone, increased cortisol), which can impact on eating behaviors and body composition outcomes
	Athletes may dehydrate themselves during travel and may go multiple days without emptying their bowels	 Establish an individualized hydration plan during travel and upon arrival. Consider the athleter bowel routines when planning training schedule upon arrival Wheelchair users are at increased risk for dehydration, especially when traveling, due to accessibility challenges

(Continued)

Special training considerations	Specific sub-factors related to para-athletes	Physiological and applied practical considerations
	\uparrow stiffness or spasticity with long international travel	• Symptoms may be exacerbated with long haul travel for athletes with increased spasticity, decreased range of motion and movement
		 Promote movement during travel as much as possible, bring their own seat cushions for the plane and encourage weight shift. Focus on mobility and light movement in the first few days of arrival, allow time for the athletes to lay and stretch out upon arrival
	Stump volumes change due to the accumulation of fluid if the prosthetic limb is removed in flight	Awareness and regular stump care. Proper fitting of prosthetics and having alternative training strategies when tissue health is compromised

ADL, activity of daily living; CP, cerebral palsy; RPE, rate of perceived exertion; SCI, spinal cord injury; VI, visually impaired.

It is beyond the scope of this review to fully review these interventions. Nevertheless, some key interventions and practical considerations to working with para-athletes are highlighted in **Tables 2** and **3**, respectively.

FUTURE AREAS OF RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

The Tokyo 2020 Summer Paralympic Games featured 4,403 athletes from 162 participating countries who competed in a total of 539 events were contested across 22 sports (83). Despite growing interest and participation in Paralympic sport, along with the influx of published articles on disability sport over the last quarter century, there remains a lack of evidencebased physiological interventions to improve performance in the para-athlete, especially those without SCI. This is in part due to the barriers associated with conducting research on small heterogenous cohorts of para-athletes. For example, Stephenson et al. (73) conducted a heat acclimatization intervention in seven elite para-triathletes across five different impairment groups. While conducting such a research study is commendable from a logistical perspective, the heterogeneity of the cohort makes it difficult to form conclusions as to how the intervention may be applied to para-athletes with various impairments. To overcome these limitations, practitioners often rely on knowledge transfer from experience, colleagues, and anecdotal evidence through case study approaches to inform their practice. Current practice is often adapted based on able-bodied research, yet there is little validated data on how many of the interventions, protocols, training methods and assessment tools used by practitioners directly translate to support athletes in all impairment groups or across athletes with varying severities of impairment (i.e., SCI level, hemiplegia vs. diplegia, level of amputation). Furthermore, there is a distinct lack of published data on the physiological demands of para-sports from which practitioners can base physiological interventions and training programs. This includes simple, relatively non-invasive data such as game duration/intensity profiles integrated with heart rate, oxygen consumption, and/or lactate profiles.

Thermoregulation is an area that has been relatively well researched in para-athletes. However, the majority of research focuses on athletes with a SCI due to the known higher risk of thermal strain in this population (22). Therefore, we can only hypothesize as to whether other impairment groups would experience increased thermal strain relative to able-bodied athletes, or would benefit from cooling strategies and/or heat acclimation training. The current literature on heat acclimation is limited in elite para-athletes (72, 73). This not only highlights the difficulty in recruiting large homogeneous samples of para-athletes but emphasizes the need to determine impairment specific physiological responses, adaptations, and performance outcomes to training in the heat for practitioners to individualize training preparation for Paralympic athletes.

Para-Athlete Physiology

Competing in the heat is not the only environmental condition that impacts para-athletes. We believe that further research should also examine the impact air quality, cold environments, and altitude on performance. In particular, altitude training is a common intervention adopted by elite able-bodied endurance athletes (84), but we are unaware of any altitude training interventions in para-athletes whom commonly compete at moderate altitudes. Additionally, the areas of travel and immune function are only starting to emerge in conversation and the scientific literature (85) and warrant further research.

It is understood that elite para-athletes have a high prevalence of injury and illness (86), and is therefore imperative for the integrated support staff to first support the para-athletes health and well-being for them to train and perform at the highest level. There is a plethora of data indicating the negative health, psychological and performance impacts that LEA has on able-bodied athletes (87), however, future research is critical to understanding the prevalence and consequences of LEA and metabolic considerations across all impairment groups. Currently, a challenge for practitioners is the accuracy and validity of assessment tools available for monitoring EA, as all practical methods were developed with no consideration of athletes with an impairment. Even though many para-athletes may be at high risk for developing RED-S, we have no normative data or valid assessment tools to accurately monitor resting metabolic rate, EE, and RED-S in athletes with an impairment.

CONCLUSIONS

The present review has outlined the neurophysiology of the most common impairment groups and the practical considerations when supporting para-athletes along with performance enhancing interventions. We acknowledge that a highly individualized approach to supporting para-athletes is needed due to the variability not only between but within impairment groups and emphasize the need to further enhance our approach to providing practitioners with evidence-based research. We suggest that this may be achieved by various knowledge translation strategies, including (i) modules to educate current and future practitioners in the para-sport field, (ii) encouraging para-sport practitioners to publish and/or present on unique field observations, and/or (iii) the sharing of data between sport systems including cross collaborative projects between research groups from different nations as well as sports with para-athletes of similar impairment groups.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors provided substantial contributions to the conception and design of the work and drafting the work or revising it critically. Final approval of the version submitted/published and consent for publication has been agreed by all authors.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. World Report on Disability. (2011). Available online at: https://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/report.pdf (accessed October 6, 2021).
- The Atlantic. How a Guy With a Wooden Leg Won 6 Olympic Medals. (2012). Atl. Available online at: https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/ 2012/08/how-a-guy-with-a-wooden-leg-won-6-olympic-medals/260988/ (accessed September 22, 2020).
- Legg D, Steadward R. The history of the paralympic games. In: D. Legg and K. Gilbert, editors. *Paralympic Legacies*. Champaign, IL: Commonground Publishing (2011), p. 13–20. doi: 10.18848/978-1-86335-897-2/CGP
- 4. IPC. *Handbook Paralympic Games Chapter*. (2015). Available online at: www.paralympic.org (accessed September 21, 2020).
- Tweedy SM, Vanlandewijck YC. International Paralympic Committee position stand—background and scientific principles of classification in Paralympic sport. Br J Sports Med. (2011) 45:259–69. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2009.065060
- 6. IPC. Athlete Classification Code Rules, Policies and Procedures for Athlete Classification. (2013). Available online at: www.paralympic.org (accessed September 21, 2020).
- 7. International Standard for Eligible Impairments (2016). Available online at: www.paralympic.org (accessed *September* 21, 2020).
- Janicki JS, Sheriff DD, Robotham JL, Wise R. Cardiac output during exercise: contributions of the cardiac, circulatory, and respiratory systems. *Comprehen Physiol.* (2011) 2011:649–704. doi: 10.1002/cphy.cp120115
- Rowell LB. Reflex control of regional circulations in humans. J Auton Nerv Syst. (1984) 11:101–14. doi: 10.1016/0165-1838(84)90069-9
- Sheel AW, Romer LM. Ventilation and Respiratory Mechanics. Compr Physiol. (2012) 2:1093–142. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c100046
- Hargreaves M, Spriet LL. Skeletal muscle energy metabolism during exercise. Nat Metab. (2020) 2:817–28. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-0251-4
- Reilly T, Drust B, Gregson W. Thermoregulation in elite athletes. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. (2006) 9:666– 71. doi: 10.1097/01.mco.0000247475.95026.a5
- Morrison SF, Nakamura K. Central neural pathways for thermoregulation. Front Biosci. (2011) 16:74–104. doi: 10.2741/3677
- White DW, Raven PB. Autonomic neural control of heart rate during dynamic exercise: revisited. J Physiol. (2014) 592:2491– 500. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.271858
- Rowell LB, O'Leary DS. Reflex control of the circulation during exercise: chemoreflexes and mechanoreflexes. J Appl Physiol. (1990) 69:407–18. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1990.69.2.407
- Price MJ. Thermoregulation during exercise in individuals with spinal cord injuries. Sports Med. (2006) 36:863– 79. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200636100-00005

FUNDING

CG and EG were supported in the writing of this manuscript by funding from Own the Podium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Own the Podium and members of the Own the Podium Paralympic Professional Development Working Group (Lindsay Musalem, Heather Hynes, Dr. Steven Dilkas, Dr. Francois Prince, Patricia Roney, Dr. Jared Fletcher, Tessa Gallinger, Dr. Sommer Christie, Dr. Andy Van Neutegem, Dr. Jane Labreche, Michelle Killins, and Phil Dunne) for their support in reviewing the manuscript.

- Schilero GJ, Spungen AM, Bauman WA, Radulovic M, Lesser M. Pulmonary function and spinal cord injury. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2009) 166:129– 41. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2009.04.002
- Krassioukov A, West C. The role of autonomic function on sport performance in athletes with spinal cord injury. *PMandR.* (2014) 6:S58– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2014.05.023
- Gee CM, Currie KD, Phillips AA, Squair JW, Krassioukov AV. Spinal cord injury impairs cardiovascular capacity in elite wheelchair rugby athletes. *Clin* J Sport Med. (2020) 30:33–9. doi: 10.1097/JSM.00000000000561
- Hostettler S, Leuthold L, Brechbühl J, Mueller G, Illi SK, Spengler CM. Maximal cardiac output during arm exercise in the sitting position after cervical spinal cord injury. J Rehabil Med. (2012) 44:131–6. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0913
- Claydon VE, Hol AT, Eng JJ, Krassioukov A. Cardiovascular responses and postexercise hypotension after arm cycling exercise in subjects with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2006) 87:1106– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.05.011
- Griggs KE, Leicht CA, Price MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Thermoregulation during intermittent exercise in athletes with a spinal-cord injury. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2015) 10:469–75. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0361
- West CR, Gee CM, Voss C, Hubli M, Currie KD, Schmid J, et al. Cardiovascular control, autonomic function, and elite endurance performance in spinal cord injury. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* (2015) 25:476–85. doi: 10.1111/sms.12308
- De Troyer A, Estenne M, Heilporn A. Mechanism of active expiration in tetraplegic subjects. N Engl J Med. (1986) 314:740– 4. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198603203141203
- West CR, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Campbell IG, Romer LM. Effect of abdominal binding on respiratory mechanics during exercise in athletes with cervical spinal cord injury. J Appl Physiol. (2014) 117:36–45. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00218.2014
- Gee CM, Eves ND, Sheel AW, West CR. How does cervical spinal cord injury impact the cardiopulmonary response to exercise? *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2021) 293. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2021.103714
- Hopman MT, Oeseburg B, Binkhorst RA. Cardiovascular responses in persons with paraplegia to prolonged arm exercise and thermal stress. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1993) 25:577–83. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199305000-00008
- Burnham R, Martin T, Stein R, Bell G, MacLean I, Steadward R. Skeletal muscle fiber type transformation following spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (1997) 35:86–91. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3100364
- Gorgey AS, Witt O, O'Brien L, Cardozo C, Chen Q, Lesnefsky EJ, et al. Mitochondrial health and muscle plasticity after spinal cord injury. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2019) 119:315–31. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-4039-0
- Calbet JAL. Why do arms extract less oxygen than legs during exercise? AJP Regul. Integr Comp Physiol. (2005) 289:R1448– 58. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00824.2004

- Schantz P, Sjöberg B, Widebeck AM, Ekblom B. Skeletal muscle of trained and untrained paraplegics and tetraplegics. *Acta Physiol Scand.* (1997) 161. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201X.1997.201371000.x
- Hopman MT, Pistorius M, Kamerbeek IC, Binkhorst RA. Cardiac output in paraplegic subjects at high exercise intensities. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol.* (1993) 66:531–5. doi: 10.1007/BF00634305
- Jehl JL, Gandmontagne M, Pastene G, Eyssette M, Flandrois R, Coudert J. Cardiac output during exercise in paraplegic subjects. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol.* (1991) 62:256–60. doi: 10.1007/BF00571549
- 34. Schmid A, Huonker M, Barturen JM, Stahl F, Schmidt-Trucksäss A, König D, et al. Catecholamines, heart rate, and oxygen uptake during exercise in persons with spinal cord injury. J Appl Physiol. (1998) 85:635– 41. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1998.85.2.635
- Griggs KE, Havenith G, Price MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Infographic. Thermoregulatory impairment in athletes with a spinal cord injury. *Br J Sports Med.* (2018) 53:1305–6. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099853
- Simmons O, Kressler J, Nash M. Reference fitness values in the untrained spinal cord injury population. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2014) 95:2272– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.06.015
- Paulson T, Goosey-Tolfrey V. Applying strength and conditioning practices to athletes with a disability. In: A. Turner, editor. *Routledge Handbook* of Strength and Conditioning. Abingdon: Routledge (2019), p. 38– 48. doi: 10.4324/9781315542393-4
- Ward KH, Meyers MC. Exercise performance of lower-extremity amputees. Sport Med. (1995) 20:207–14. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199520040-00001
- Crandall CG, Davis SL. Cutaneous vascular and sudomotor responses in human skin grafts. J Appl Physiol. (2010) 109:1524– 30. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00466.2010
- 40. De Groot S, Janssen TWJ, Evers M, Van Der Luijt P, Nienhuys KNG, Dallmeijer AJ. Feasibility and reliability of measuring strength, sprint power, and aerobic capacity in athletes and non-athletes with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2012) 54:647–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04261.x
- Stackhouse SK, Binder-Macleod SA, Lee SCK. Voluntary muscle activation, contractile properties, and fatigability in children with and without cerebral palsy. *Muscle Nerve*. (2005) 31:594–601. doi: 10.1002/mus.20302
- Runciman P, Tucker R, Ferreira S, Albertus-Kajee Y, Derman W. Effects of exercise training on performance and function in individuals with cerebral palsy: a critical review. *South African J Res Sport Phys Educ Recreat*. (2016) 38:177–93.
- Runciman P, Tucker R, Ferreira S, Albertus-Kajee Y, Derman W. Paralympic athletes with cerebral palsy display altered pacing strategies in distancedeceived shuttle running trials. *Scand J Med Sci Sport.* (2016) 26:1239– 48. doi: 10.1111/sms.12575
- 44. Runciman P, Derman W. The athlete with cerebral palsy: challenges for the team physician. *Aspetar Sport Med J.* (2018) 7:142–7.
- Dan B. Understanding the autonomic nervous system in cerebral palsy. *Dev* Med Child Neurol. (2017) 59:668. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13440
- Maltais D, Wilk B, Unnithan V, Bar-Or O. Responses of children with cerebral palsy to treadmill walking exercise in the heat. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36:1674–81. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000142312.43629.D8
- Griggs KE, Stephenson BT, Price MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Heat-related issues and practical applications for Paralympic athletes at Tokyo 2020. *Temperature*. (2020) 1:37–35. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2019.1617030
- Lampe R, Blumenstein T, Turova V, Alves-Pinto A. Lung vital capacity and oxygen saturation in adults with cerebral palsy. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2014) 8:1691–7. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S72575
- 49. Goldenberg MM. Multiple sclerosis review. Pharm Therap. (2012) 37:175-84.
- Davis SL, Wilson TE, White AT, Frohman EM. Thermoregulation in multiple sclerosis. J Appl Physiol. (2010) 109:1531– 7. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00460.2010
- Allen DR, Huang M, Parupia IM, Dubelko AR, Frohman EM, Davis SL. Impaired sweating responses to a passive whole body heat stress in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurophysiol*. (2017) 118. doi: 10.1152/jn.00897.2016
- Asakawa H, Yanaka K, Narushima K, Meguro K, Nose T. Anomaly of the axis causing cervical myelopathy: case report. J Neurosurg. (1999) 11:60– 7. doi: 10.3171/spi.1999.91.1.0121
- Zochodne DW. Autonomic involvement in Guillain–Barre syndrome: a review. Muscle Nerve. (1994) 17:1145–55. doi: 10.1002/mus.880171004

- Loucks AB, Kiens B, Wright HH. Energy availability in athletes. J Sports Sci. (2011) 29:S7–15. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.588958
- Mountjoy M, Sundgot-Borgen JK, Burke LM, Ackerman KE, Blauwet C, Constantini N, et al. IOC consensus statement on relative energy deficiency in sport (RED-S): 2018 update. *Br J Sports Med.* (2018) 28:316– 31. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099193
- Capling L, Beck KL, Gifford JA, Slater G, Flood VM, O'Connor H. Validity of dietary assessment in athletes: a systematic review. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1313. doi: 10.3390/nu9121313
- O'Driscoll R, Turicchi J, Beaulieu K, Scott S, Matu J, Deighton K, et al. How well do activity monitors estimate energy expenditure? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the validity of current technologies. *Br J Sports Med.* (2020) 54:332–40. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099643
- Conger S, Bassett D. A compendium of energy costs of physical activities for individuals who use manual wheelchairs. *Adapt Phys Activ Q.* (2011) 28:310–25. doi: 10.1123/apaq.28.4.310
- Mountjoy M, Sundgot-Borgen J, Burke L, Carter S, Constantini N, Lebrun C, et al. Relative energy deficiency in sport (RED-S) clinical assessment tool (CAT). Br J Sports Med. (2015) 49:421–3. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094873
- 60. Blauwet CA, Brook EM, Tenforde AS, Broad E, Hu CH, Abdu-Glass E, et al. Low energy availability, menstrual dysfunction, and low bone mineral density in individuals with a disability: implications for the para athlete population. *Sport Med.* (2017) 47:1697–708. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0696-0
- Joy E, De Souza MJ, Nattiv A, Misra M, Williams NI, Mallinson RJ, et al. 2014 female athlete triad coalition consensus statement on treatment and return to play of the female athlete triad. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2014) 13:219–32. doi: 10.1249/JSR.00000000000077
- 62. Egger T, Flueck JL. Energy availability in male and female elite wheelchair athletes over seven consecutive training days. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3262. doi: 10.3390/nu12113262
- Pritchett K, DiFolco A, Glasgow S, Pritchett R, Williams K, Stellingwerff T, et al. Risk of low energy availability in national and international level Paralympic athletes: an exploratory investigation. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:979. doi: 10.3390/nu13030979
- Joaquim DP, Juzwiak CR, Winckler C. Os atletas do atletismo paralímpico têm baixa energia disponível? *Rev Bras Cineantropometria e Desempenho Hum.* (2018) 20:71–81. doi: 10.5007/1980-0037.2018v20n1p71
- Brook EM, Tenforde AS, Broad EM, Matzkin EG, Yang HY, Collins JE, et al. Low energy availability, menstrual dysfunction, and impaired bone health: a survey of elite para athletes. *Scand J Med Sci Sport.* (2019) 29:678– 85. doi: 10.1111/sms.13385
- 66. Sullivan SD, Nash MS, Tefera E, Tinsley E, Blackman MR, Groah S. Prevalence and etiology of hypogonadism in young men with chronic spinal cord injury: a cross-sectional analysis from two university-based rehabilitation centers. *PM&R*. (2017) 9:751–60. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.11.005
- Bonetti DL, Hopkins WG. Sea-level exercise performance following adaptation to hypoxia: a meta-analysis. Sport Med. (2009) 39:107– 27. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200939020-00002
- Tyler CJ, Reeve T, Hodges GJ, Cheung SS. The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* (2016) 46:1699–724. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0538-5
- West CR, Taylor BJ, Campbell IG, Romer LM. Effects of inspiratory muscle training on exercise responses in Paralympic athletes with cervical spinal cord injury. Scand J Med Sci Sports. (2014) 24:764–72. doi: 10.1111/sms.12070
- Gee CM, Williams AM, Sheel AW, Eves ND, West CR. Respiratory muscle training in athletes with cervical spinal cord injury: effects on cardiopulmonary function and exercise capacity. *J Physiol.* (2019) 597:3673– 85. doi: 10.1113/JP277943
- West CR, Campbell IG, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Mason BS, Romer LM. Effects of abdominal binding on field-based exercise responses in Paralympic athletes with cervical spinal cord injury. J Sci Med Sport. (2014) 17:351– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.06.001
- Castle PC, Kularatne BP, Brewer J, Mauger AR, Austen RA, Tuttle JA, et al. Partial heat acclimation of athletes with spinal cord lesion. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2013) 113:109–15. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2417-6
- Stephenson BT, Tolfrey K, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Mixed active and passive, heart rate-controlled heat acclimation is effective for paralympic and able-bodied triathletes. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:1214. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01214

- McConnell AK, Romer LM. Respiratory muscle training in healthy humans: resolving the controversy. *Int J Sports Med.* (2004) 25:284– 93. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-815827
- Keles MN, Elbasan B, Apaydin U, Aribas Z, Bakirtas A, Kokturk N. Effects of inspiratory muscle training in children with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. *Brazilian J Phys Ther.* (2018) 22:493– 501. doi: 10.1016/j.bjpt.2018.03.010
- Gozal D, Thiriet P. Respiratory muscle training in neuromuscular disease: long-term effects on strength and load perception. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1999) 31:1522–7. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199911000-00005
- Ray AD, Udhoji S, Mashtare TL, Fisher NM. A combined inspiratory and expiratory muscle training program improves respiratory muscle strength and fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2013) 94:1964– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2013.05.005
- West CR, Campbell IG, Shave RE, Romer LM. Effects of abdominal binding on cardiorespiratory function in cervical spinal cord injury. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2012) 180:275–82. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2011.12.003
- Racinais S, Alonso J-M, Coutts AJ, Flouris AD, Girard O, González-Alonso J, et al. Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. *Sports Med.* (2015) 45:925–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0343-6
- Perret C, Van Biesen D, Strupler M, Pit-Grosheide P, Vanlandewijck Y. Effect of sildenafil citrate on exercise capacity in athletes with spinal cord injury. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2020) 15:971–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.20 19-0421
- Pritchett K, Broad E, Scaramella J, Baumann S. Hydration and cooling strategies for paralympic athletes: applied focus: challenges athletes may face at the upcoming Tokyo Paralympics. *Curr Nutr Rep.* (2020) 9:137–46. doi: 10.1007/s13668-020-00317-1
- Paulson TA, Bishop NC, Eston RG, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Differentiated perceived exertion and self-regulated wheelchair exercise. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2013) 94:2269–76. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2013. 03.018
- International Paralympic Committee. *Tokyo 2020 Announces Paralympic Competition Schedule*. (2020). Available online at: https://www.paralympic.org/news/tokyo-2020-announces-paralympic-competition-schedule (accessed November 30, 2020).

- Koehle MS, Cheng I, Sporer B. Canadian academy of sport and exercise medicine position statement: athletes at high altitude. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2014) 24:120–7. doi: 10.1097/JSM.00000000000024
- Leicht CA, Bishop NC, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Mucosal immune responses to treadmill exercise in elite wheelchair athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2011) 43:1414–21. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820ac959
- Derman W, Schwellnus M, Jordaan E, Blauwet CA, Emery C, Pit-Grosheide P, et al. Illness and injury in athletes during the competition period at the London 2012 Paralympic Games: development and implementation of a webbased surveillance system (WEB-IISS) for team medical staff. *Br J Sports Med.* (2013) 47:420–5. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092375
- Logue DM, Madigan SM, Melin A, Delahunt E, Heinen M, Mc Donnell SJ, et al. Low energy availability in athletes 2020: an updated narrative review of prevalence, risk, within-day energy balance, knowledge, and impact on sports performance. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:835. doi: 10.3390/nu12030835

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer EB declared a past co-authorship with one of the authors TS to the handling editor.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Gee, Lacroix, Stellingwerff, Gavel, Logan-Sprenger and West. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Shoulder Tendon Adaptations Following a Graded Exercise Test to Exhaustion in Highly Trained Wheelchair Rugby Athletes With Different Impairments

Fransiska Marie Bossuyt^{1,2*}, Barry S. Mason³, Simon Briley³, Thomas J. O'Brien³, Michael L. Boninger⁴, Ursina Arnet¹ and Victoria Louise Goosey-Tolfrey³

¹ Shoulder, Health and Mobility Group, Swiss Paraplegic Research, Nottwil, Switzerland, ² Human Performance Laboratory, Faculty of Kinesiology, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ³ Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, School of Sport, Exercise, and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Winand H. Dittrich, FOM University of Applied Sciences for Economics and Management, Germany

Reviewed by:

Chandrasekaran Jayaraman, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, United States Omid Jahanian, Mayo Clinic, United States Santiago Navarro-Ledesma, Universidad de Granada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Fransiska Marie Bossuyt fransiska.bossuyt@paraplegie.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 08 August 2021 Accepted: 13 December 2021 Published: 18 January 2022

Citation:

Bossuyt FM, Mason BS, Briley S, O'Brien TJ, Boninger ML, Arnet U and Goosey-Tolfrey VL (2022) Shoulder Tendon Adaptations Following a Graded Exercise Test to Exhaustion in Highly Trained Wheelchair Rugby Athletes With Different Impairments. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:755466. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.755466 **Objective:** This study aimed to identify acute changes in biceps and supraspinatus tendon characteristics before and after a graded exercise test to exhaustion (GXT) in highly trained wheelchair rugby (WR) athletes. A secondary aspect was to define chronic tendon adaptations related to the impairment of the athlete and the occupation of the tendon within the subacromial space (occupation ratio).

Methods: Twelve WR athletes with different impairments (age = 32 ± 6 years; body mass = 67.2 ± 11.2 kg; 9.0 ± 3.6 years competing) volunteered for this study. Performance Corrected Wheelchair Users Shoulder Pain Index was used to quantify shoulder pain. Quantitative Ultrasound Protocols (QUS) were used to define supraspinatus and biceps tendon thickness, echogenicity, and echogenicity ratio of both dominant and non-dominant shoulder before and after the GXT including 22 ± 3.1 min submaximal propulsion and 10.2 ± 1.7 min maximal propulsion on a treadmill. Furthermore, the acromio-humeral distance (AHD) defined from ultrasound (US) images was used to calculate the occupation ratios.

Results: A mixed-effect multilevel analysis that included shoulder as grouping variable, demonstrated a significant reduction in the echogenicity of the biceps following GXT whilst controlling for impairment [spinal cord injury (SCI) and non-SCI] and the occupation ratio ($\beta = -9.01$, SE $\beta = 2.72$, p = 0.001, 95% CI = [-14.34; -3.68]). This points toward fluid inflow into the tendon that may be related to overload and acute inflammation. In addition, persons with a SCI (n = 8) had a thicker supraspinatus tendon in comparison to persons with non-SCI (n = 3) which may be related to chronic tendon adaptations ($\beta = -0.53$ mm, SE $\beta = 0.26$, p = 0.038, 95% CI = [-1.04; -0.03]). Finally, a greater occupation ratio was associated with signs of tendinopathy (i.e., greater biceps and supraspinatus tendon thickness, and lower supraspinatus echogenicity and echogenicity ratio).

19

Conclusion: Acute biceps tendon adaptations in response to the GXT in highly trained WR athletes were evident with chronic adaptations in the supraspinatus tendon being related to the impairment of the athlete. Ultrasound can be used to monitor tendon adaptations in WR athletes for medical diagnosis to assist the scheduling and type of training.

Keywords: ultrasound, exercise test to exhaustion, para-athlete, supraspinatus tendon, biceps tendon, sports and exercise medicine

INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair rugby (WR) is a fast-paced, paralympic sport played by athletes with a variety of health conditions, with impaired trunk and upper limb function (1). Elite WR players push at high speeds with frequent stops and starts during both competition and training (2, 3). With overhead activities such as passing and catching, also a common feature of WR (4), the demands placed on the shoulder and the potential risk of injury and shoulder pain are likely to be elevated (5, 6). Indeed, 9 out of 12 tetraplegic WR-athletes reported some shoulder pain during activity in the past week (7) and 7 out of 8 elite WR players reported pain after exercise (8). However, the extent of the demands during WR and the risk of pain and pathology in WR athletes remains unclear (9, 10).

Musculoskeletal ultrasound (US) has become a popular tool for identifying musculoskeletal pathologies and monitoring tendon health, due to its low cost, ease of use, and non-invasive approach (11-14). Research using US and MRI has indicated that wheelchair users with a spinal cord injury (SCI) experience a number of shoulder pathologies, with tendinopathies or chronic tendon degeneration of the bicipital and supraspinatus tendons amongst the most common (15-17). Supraspinatus and biceps tendinopathy has also been associated with impingement due to a reduction in the sub-acromial space and therefore a greater occupation ratio [i.e., thickness of the tendon relative to the acromio-humeral distance (AHD)] (18), which naturally occurs during overhead and propulsion activities (18-20). Previous research identified differences in the occupation ratio between persons with subacromial impingement syndrome and healthy controls which further underscored the value of not only investigating tendon thickness and AHD separately (21, 22). Subsequently, ample research has utilized US to establish the thickness and structure of the supraspinatus and biceps tendon, as well as the AHD to quantify the subacromial space, in manual wheelchair users with SCI (20, 23-25). However, previous research has primarily focused on SCI wheelchair users and to date, only one study investigated shoulder tendon characteristics in a sample of WR athletes including persons with a tetraplegia (n = 11), paraplegia (n = 21), and non-SCI (n = 2) (26). While it is valuable to investigate homogeneous samples of persons with similar injuries, the lack of research on wheelchair users with non-SCI impairments causes a gap in the literature.

Monitoring tendon adaptations in response to acute loading is needed to better understand the development of tendon degeneration, and ultimately to be able to intervene and prevent injuries. Previous studies have therefore identified acute tendon adaptations pre- and post-fatiguing wheelchair propulsion performed in the users' daily chair (25, 27). More specifically, a 15-min fatigue protocol in combination with treadmill propulsion at different power outputs, and maximum sprint and strength tests, induced an acute reduction in supraspinatus tendon thickness in a population-based sample of 50 wheelchair users with SCI when controlling for fatigue and subject characteristics (25). However, the 15-min fatigue protocol in itself did not induce significant shoulder tendon changes in 60 wheelchair users of which 80% were athletes (27). Furthermore, a graded treadmill-based propulsion test to maximum exhaustion did not induce significant changes in shoulder tendons in 15 wheelchair users (28). Progressing to wheelchair basketball and WR game play, van Drongelen et al. (26) noted a significant decrease in mean echogenicity ratio of the biceps tendon representing potential fluid inflow into the tendon following these sporting activities. That said, the acute changes following the repetitive activities apparent in these sports differed based on the amount of playing time. Moreover, a lower echogenicity ratio was observed both at the onset and following the competitive games in players who reported shoulder pain.

To date, no study has investigated shoulder tendon adaptations following repetitive activity up to maximum exhaustion, when the musculoskeletal system is unstable and particularly prone to tissue adaptations (29), in highly trained WR athletes with different physical impairments. Subsequently, the aims of the current study were (1) to identify acute changes in biceps and supraspinatus tendon characteristics following a graded exercise test to exhaustion (GXT) in highly trained WR athletes, and (2) to define differences in chronic tendon adaptations related to the impairment of the athlete and the occupation ratio. We thereby also investigated a potential association between changes in shoulder tendon characteristics and shoulder pain.

METHODS

Participants

Twelve highly trained National level WR players consisting of 11 males and one female player (age = 32 ± 6 years; body mass = 67.2 ± 11.2 kg) provided their informed consent to participate in the current quasi-experimental study with a repeated measures design. The study was approved by the local ethical advisory committee. Participants were grouped according to those who had a tetraplegic (complete lesion level between cervical vertebrae

C5 and C7) SCI (n = 8) and those who had a non-spinal impairment (cerebral palsy, critical care polyneuropathy, brachial plexus nerve injury, and Roberts syndrome: non-SCI; n = 4). All participants with SCI were 17 years or older when they sustained their injury.

Experimental Design

The assessments are partly included in the annual monitoring programme of the WR athletes and briefly described below. The additional assessments that are included in the annual monitoring programme (e.g., 30 s Wingate test on a dual roller wheelchair ergometer aimed to determine anaerobic capacity) will be presented elsewhere. Body mass and mass of the daily and rugby chair were obtained to the nearest 0.1 kg with seated balance scales (Seca, Birmingham, UK). Participants completed the Wheelchair Users Shoulder Pain Index (WUSPI), with a performance-corrected version (PC-WUSPI) used to indicate the magnitude of shoulder pain (30, 31). The Upper Extremity Pain Symptom Questionnaire (PSQ) was used as an auxiliary questionnaire to the PC-WUSPI to identify the presence of pain and establish whether shoulder pain was unilateral or bilateral (32). The continuous GXT was performed in participants customized rugby wheelchairs (Rugby chair mass: 17.0 ± 1.4 kg, handrim diameter: 0.54 ± 0.01 m, chamber: $18.1 \pm 1.8^{\circ}$) on a motor driven treadmill (HP Cosmos, Traunstein, Germany). Musculoskeletal US examinations were taken to determine (2) the characteristics of the supraspinatus and biceps tendons of both dominant and non-dominant side pre- and post- the GXT, and (3) the AHD pre- the GXT.

Ultrasound

Two images of the biceps and supraspinatus tendon of both the dominant and non-dominant side were taken in a randomized order at two different time points following previously validated Quantitative Ultrasound Protocols (QUS) (13, 14) with an US device (Legic E9, GE Healthcare, USA). Quantitative Ultrasound Protocols has been used previously before and after fatiguing tasks (25-27) and allows limited error in probe location between measuring time points because of the use of a steel marker taped to the skin that allows to identify the region of interest (ROI). The QUS images were taken before any tasks took place (duration ca. 30 min) (pre-exercise; time point 0) and after the GXT (duration ca. 15 min) (post-exercise; time point \sim 1 h 45 min). For the longitudinal images of the biceps tendon, participants were seated in their rugby wheelchairs with their arms at 0° abduction and 90° elbow flexion with the palm facing upwards (Figure 1B) (13, 14, 25). To take transverse images of the supraspinatus tendon, the participants were asked to externally rotate the shoulder and place the palm flat on the back of the wheelchair (Figure 1A) (13, 14, 25). Additionally, three images of the AHD were taken pre-exercise in a seated position with the arms at 0° abduction and 90° elbow flexion with the thumbs facing upwards (Figure 1C) (33).

All US images were analyzed in a randomized order by the same examiner requiring 20 min per image (FMB). Using the ROI, tendon images were analyzed to calculate tendon thickness (mean distance between horizontal tendon borders),



C Acromio-humeral distance





echogenicity (mean grayscale of the ROI), and echogenicity ratio (echogenicity relative to the mean grayscale of the muscle above the tendon). The shortest distance between the anterior, inferior edge of the acromion and the head of the humerus was used to define AHD. The mean of each repeated variable at the respective time point was used for further analysis. Tendon occupation ratios were calculated as a percentage of the tendon thickness relative to the AHD.

Graded Exercise Test to Exhaustion

Immediately after the pre-exercise US measures, participants completed a 10 min self-selected warm-up in their own rugby wheelchairs at speeds lower than the subsequent incremental exercise test. Following 5 min passive rest, participants completed a submaximal incremental exercise test. In brief, participants completed 3-min blocks of exercise, where speed was increased by 0.2 m/s (m.s⁻¹) for low functioning participants [World WR (1) classification <2.0] or 0.3 m.s⁻¹ for higher functioning participants (WWR classification \geq 2.0) for determination of

speed at blood lactate threshold. The starting speed was individualized according to functional capacity (SCI or non-SCI), WWR classification, and previous test results (where available), with the goal to obtain similar total test durations for all participants (34). Termination of the submaximal test occurred when blood lactate concentration exceeded 4 mmol/l and/or a Rate of Perceived Exertion (RPE) of 17 was reached (34, 35). One investigator (TJO'B) gave all verbal encouragement which included specific quotes such as "Come on, keep pushing," "Keep pushing all the way to the end," "You're doing great, maximum effort," with these quotes kept consistent between participants. Following \sim 30 min passive rest, participants completed the GXT with speed increments of 0.1 ms⁻¹ every minute to determine maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}) (Metalyzer® 3B, Cortex Biophysik GmbH, Leipzig, Germany) (34). Starting speed for this test was based on visual determination of their blood lactate threshold from the submaximal test. Strong verbal encouragement was given throughout until they could not maintain the speed of the treadmill, which terminated the test. Following completion of the exercise protocol, post-exercise US measurements were completed.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted with STATA software (version 14, StatCorp, LP, College Station TX, USA). Subject characteristics between SCI and non-SCI participants were compared using independent sample *t*-tests. The intraclass correlation (ICC) of the repeated US measures (i.e., at each time point of data collection, we collected two images of the biceps tendon and two images of the supraspinatus tendon) were calculated with a two-way random effects model (absolute agreement, random effects: participant ID and measure) to confirm good reliability between measurements at a single time point (36). Ultrasound measures with a poor reliability (ICC <0.5) would be removed from further analyses (36). Ultrasound data from all shoulders were included into a mixed-effect multilevel analysis to identify the association between dependent variables (tendon characteristic) and time point (pre- or postexercise; acute adaptations), whilst controlling for impairment (SCI and non-SCI; chronic adaptations) and the occupation ratio. Shoulder (dominant or non-dominant) was included as a grouping variable (random intercept). Normality of the residuals was confirmed with Histogram, Quantile normal plots, and Shapiro-Francia tests. Likelihood-ratio tests after estimation of the unadjusted and adjusted model were used to confirm the significance of the random intercept. Pearson's correlations were used to explore the relationship between shoulder pain (PSQ scores) and tendon characteristics from all shoulders preand post-exercise. Correlations were described as negligible (<0.3), low (0.3–0.5), moderate (0.5–0.7), and high (>0.7) (37). Statistical significance was accepted as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

The physical characteristics of participants are presented in Table 1. No significant difference existed between SCI and

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of participants and their wheelchair (whc) stratified by impairment.

	Total (n = 12)	SCI (n = 8)	Other $(n = 4)$	p
Age (years)	31.8 ± 5.6	31.8 ± 6.3	31.8 ± 4.8	
Height (cm)	170 ± 22.1	177.3 ± 14.1	155.5 ± 30.1	
Body mass (kg)	66.3 ± 12.1	68.4 ± 11.6	62.1 ± 13.9	
Years whc use	14.8 ± 8.3	12.6 ± 6.5	19.3 ± 10.8	
Years competing	9.0 ± 3.6	9.8 ± 4.0	7.5 ± 2.4	
Court hours per week	8.4 ± 2.8	8.1 ± 2.9	9 ± 3.2	
Gym hours per week	4.5 ± 2.3	3.4 ± 1.5	6.5 ± 2.4	0.02*
Other sports e.g., swimming, handbike hours per week	2.2 ± 1.8	1.9 ± 1.6	2.8 ± 2.2	
Total training hours per week	15.1 ± 4.9	13.5 ± 3.8	18.3 ± 6.6	
Rugby chair mass (kg)	17.0 ± 1.4	16.7 ± 1.3	17.6 ± 1.4	
Tire pressure (psi)	148 ± 36	161 ± 38	123 ± 36	0.07
VO2peak (ml/kg/min)	25.26 ± 7.88	22.08 ± 7.34	31.62 ± 4.60	0.04*

An * and bold values are marked from the independent sample t-tests with significant p-values ($\alpha = 0.05$).

non-SCI except that persons with SCI had a lower VO_{2peak} (p = 0.04) and spent less time in the gym (p = 0.02).

The ICC of the repeated measures ranged between 0.71 and 0.99 representing high correlations for AHD and all investigated tendon characteristics; except for the post-measurements of the supraspinatus echogenicity on the dominant side (ICC = 0.52) representing a moderate correlation.

Changes in Tendon Characteristics Following Graded Exercise Test to Exhaustion (Acute Adaptations)

The only tendon characteristic to significantly change postexercise was the echogenicity of the biceps tendon which significantly reduced post-exercise ($\beta = -9.01$, SE $\beta = 2.72$, p = 0.001, 95% CI = [-14.34; -3.68]) (**Table 2**; Figure 2). More specifically predictive margins of biceps tendon echogenicity changed from 105.14 before GXT (SE = 5.79, 95% CI = [93.79; 116.49]) to 98.11 following GXT (SE = 5.83, 95% CI [86.69; 109.53]) (p < 0.001). No further adaptations were observed over time.

Association Between Tendon Characteristics, Impairment, and Occupation Ratio (Chronic Adaptations)

Persons with a non-SCI had a thinner supraspinatus tendon ($\beta = -0.53 \text{ mm}$, SE $\beta = 0.26$, p = 0.038, 95% CI = [-1.04; -0.03]) in comparison to SCI (**Table 2**; **Figure 2**). More specifically, predictive margins for supraspinatus thickness for persons with SCI were 4.19 mm (SE = 0.14, 95% CI = [3.91; 4.47]), while for

	Р	re	Post		Mixed model		
	SCI	Non-SCI	SCI	Non-SCI	Time	SCI	Interaction
					P-value	P-value	P-value
Acromio-humeral distance (mm)	11.9 (2.1)	10.6 (1.2)					
Biceps tendon							
Thickness (mm)	2.7 (0.5)	3.3 (1.0)	2.7 (0.4)	3.6 (1.0)	0.867	0.766	0.158
Occupation ratio (%)	23.1 (3.2)	32.0 (12.1)					
Echogenicity	100.2 (19.6)	111.3 (18.1)	98.0 (17.3)	107.5 (16.6)	0.001*	0.335	0.222
Echo ratio	2.3 (0.6)	1.9 (0.6)	2.2 (0.6)	2.0 (0.7)	0.607	0.524	0.536
Supraspinatus tendon							
Thickness (mm)	4.3 (0.6)	3.6 (0.5)	4.2 (0.7)	3.7 (0.4)	0.387	0.038*	0.219
Occupation-ratio (%)	36.5 (7.05)	34.8 (6.9)					
Echogenicity	98.8 (10.4)	98.2 (9.0)	96.6 (11.4)	93.5 (9.2)	0.323	0.643	0.504
Echo ratio	1.2 (0.2)	1.3 (0.3)	1.3 (0.2)	1.3 (0.5)	0.181	0.808	0.454

TABLE 2 | Unadjusted characteristics [mean (SD)] of the biceps and supraspinatus tendon pre- and post- a fatiguing bout of exercise, the occupation ratio, and acromio-humeral distance (AHD) in WR players with SCI and Non-SCI.

Significant p-values (alpha = 0.05) from the mixed-effects multilevel analysis are marked with bold values and an *.

persons with non-SCI this was 3.74 mm (SE = 0.20, 95% CI = [3.35; 4.14]) (p < 0.001). In addition, it was found that biceps and supraspinatus tendon thickness were positively associated with the occupation ratio (biceps thickness: $\beta = 0.07$, SE $\beta = 0.01$, p < 0.001, 95% CI = [0.05; 0.09]; supraspinatus thickness: $\beta = 0.06$, SE $\beta = 0.01$, p < 0.001, 95% CI = [0.05; 0.09]; our application thickness: $\beta = 0.06$, SE $\beta = 0.01$, p < 0.001, 95% CI = [0.04; 0.08]). Alternatively, for the supraspinatus, echogenicity ($\beta = -0.78$, SE $\beta = 0.21$, p < 0.001, 95% CI = [-1.19; -0.37]), and echogenicity ratio ($\beta = -0.02$, SE $\beta = 0.01$, p = 0.002, 95% CI = [-0.03; -0.01]), were negatively associated with the occupation ratio.

Shoulder Pain

Of the 12 participants, seven reported no shoulder pain (PC-WUSPI mean = 0.07 ± 0.19), whereas five reported shoulder pain (PC-WUSPI mean = 15.5 ± 14.0 ; range 7.9–40.4). Of these participants, two experienced unilateral and three experienced bilateral shoulder pain. Furthermore, the group of participants with shoulder pain consisted of three persons with SCI (PC-WUSPI mean = 20.5 ± 17.2 ; range 10.3-40.4), and two persons with a non-SCI (PC-WUSPI mean = 7.8 ± 0.1 ; range: 7.8-7.9). No relationships between tendon characteristics and shoulder pain were observed pre-exercise (**Table 3**). Post-exercise it was revealed that decreased echogenicity of the supraspinatus tendon was correlated with increased pain.

DISCUSSION

This novel study demonstrated significant adaptations in tendon characteristics in 12 highly trained WR athletes with different impairments. Acute adaptations were demonstrated in the reduction in the echogenicity of the biceps tendon immediately following the GXT, pointing toward fluid inflow into the tendon (darker tendon). Chronic tendon adaptations are associated with the impairment of the athlete, athletes with SCI presented significantly thicker supraspinatus tendon as compared to athletes with non-SCI. In addition, a greater occupation ratio was positively associated with signs of chronic tendon degeneration. Finally, shoulder pain was only associated to supraspinatus echogenicity following the GXT. Overall, these findings are in line with the high metabolic activity of human tendons (38).

Acute Tendon Adaptations

The significant acute reduction in the echogenicity of the biceps tendon following the GXT may be related to acute overload and inflammation referred to as reactive tendinopathy which differs from normal tendon adaptation to tensile load (39). With insufficient time to recover, such acute overload, can lead to chronic tendon degeneration or degenerative tendinopathy (39, 40).

In accordance with the present results, an earlier study that employed the same QUS demonstrated a reduction in echogenicity ratio of the biceps tendon in response to a competitive wheelchair basketball or WR game (26). Importantly, however, although the current study reported a reduction in the echogenicity, there was no change in the echogenicity ratio. This suggests that there was a reduction in both the grayscale of the biceps tendon and the muscle above the tendon and may be caused by an overall fluid shift to the arm impacting both muscle and tendon simultaneously. This on its turn, would be related to fluid mobilization rather than inflammation. As a result of the GXT, different changes in the muscle above the tendon may have occurred in the present study due to the potential for more rest in between propulsion bouts, and different movements when compared to actual game play (E.G. turning and ball handling) (26). Nevertheless, both studies support the notion that there are acute adaptations in the biceps tendon grayscale following straining propulsion in WR athletes that could play a role in the development of shoulder pathology and pain in this population.



In line with the work of van Drongelen et al. (26), we did not demonstrate an increase in biceps tendon thickness following the GXT which is expected to coincide with acute overload. The current study investigated changes in the biceps and supraspinatus tendon in response to exercise including 22 \pm 3.1 min submaximal propulsion and 10.2 \pm 1.7 min maximal propulsion, and the study of van Drongelen et al. (26) investigated changes following game play varying between 10 and 70 min depending on the participants time on court. The duration of the activities in both studies may not have been long enough to induce an increase in tendon thickness. Like wheelchair propulsion, swimming is a repetitive sport that places great demands on the shoulder tendon structures while the AHD is reduced. To this effect, an acute increase in supraspinatus tendon thickness has been reported immediately post a high intensity swim training (3.5 km in 2 h) with smaller, but still significant increases in thickness in response to high volume swim trainings (7 km in 2 h) in eight state and national level swim athletes (41). Further research is needed to determine a potential increase in biceps tendon thickness with longer bouts of intense propulsion activity. Nevertheless, findings of this study support the added value of investigating the gray-scale of the tendon, which may be more sensitive to acute changes in reactive tendinopathy, rather than focussing on changes in tendon thickness only.

In contrast to earlier findings (25), this study did not present acute changes in the supraspinatus tendon following repetitive propulsion activity. More specifically, 15-min maximum voluntary propulsion resulted in a significant reduction in supraspinatus tendon thickness (25). A reduction in tendon thickness, a typical response to tensile loading, can be related to alignment of the tendon collagen fibers in the direction of the applied stress (42). A possible explanation for the different results may be related to the higher and complete lesion level of the persons with SCI in the current study [tetraplegia, 100% complete injury; (25): paraplegia, 78% incomplete], and GXT, which is likely to cause greater loads on the shoulder muscles and tendons and subsequently result in a different tendon response. In addition, the small sample size [n = 12; (25): n = 50] should be acknowledged and differences in wheelchair characteristics of the rugby and daily chair [rugby chair mass: 17.0 ± 1.4 kg with camber: $18.1 \pm 1.8^{\circ}$ vs. daily chair mass of Bossuyt et al. (25): 14.5 \pm 2.1 kg with camber 0°], and subsequent altered position are likely to place different demands on the shoulder tendons. For example, fatiguing propulsion in wheelchair users' daily chair caused greatest signs of neuromuscular fatigue in the pectoralis, deltoideus, and upper trapezius (43) while current results and those of van Drongelen et al. (26) suggest that fatiguing propulsion in the rugby chair places greater demands on the biceps brachii tendon. This underlines the importance of the task-dependency of musculoskeletal loading and subsequent tendon adaptations.

Chronic Tendon Adaptations

This study demonstrated that WR athletes with SCI had a thicker supraspinatus tendon in comparison to WR athletes with a different impairment. Increased tendon thickness may relate to chronic adaptations that causes tendon hypertrophy and strengthened the tendon by increasing its stiffness (12), or may be caused by chronic inflammation and indicate the presence of pathology (39). Interestingly, persons with SCI spent a significantly lower amount of time in the gym compared to non-SCI. With the lack of trunk function in the SCI group compared to the non-SCI group, it may be plausible that daily tasks (such as propelling and transferring into their wheelchair) may further increase the loads on shoulder tendons in SCI. Thus, despite the reduced gym exposure, hypertrophic adaptations may persist. Interestingly, values for the supraspinatus tendon thickness of

Wheelchair Rugby Athletes' Shoulder Tendons	dons
---	------

TABLE 3 Association between acromio-humeral distance (AHD), tendon
characteristics, and shoulder pain.

	Pre		Post	
	r	р	r	р
AHD (mm)	0.311	0.139		
Biceps tendon				
Thickness (mm)	-0.205	0.400	-0.205	0.400
Occ ratio (%)	-0.315	0.189		
Echogenicity	-0.043	0.861	0.151	0.563
Echo ratio	0.335	0.160	0.035	0.889
Supraspinatus tendon				
Thickness (mm)	0.055	0.799	-0.112	0.602
Occ ratio (%)	-0.196	0.359		
Echogenicity	-0.279	0.186	-0.434	0.034*
Echo ratio	-0.115	0.594	-0.022	0.918

An * and bold values are marked from the Pearson's correlations with significant p-values ($\alpha=0.05).$

persons with a tetraplegia in the current study remain lower as compared to those reported previously in a sample of persons with a paraplegia (25). Persons with SCI also had a significantly lower $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ further demonstrating differences in functioning between the two groups. Therefore, the previously established differences in volume of activity during rugby games based on functioning of the athletes may play a role in the different tendon adaptations (2).

While the percentage of athletes with shoulder pain in both groups was not markedly different (SCI: 3/8 athletes with pain, non-SCI: 2/4 athletes with pain) the average PC-WUSPI was higher in the SCI group than in the non-SCI group, PC-WUSPI remained below a score of 10. This could also be related to the lack of trunk support in the persons with a tetraplegic SCI thereby increasing loads on the shoulder. However, none of the US measures pre the GXT correlated with pain in the WR athletes which may be due to the small sample size in this study as this reduces the power of the study and increases the risk of type II error. A positive correlation between supraspinatus tendon thickness (defined with QUS) and supraspinatus pathology [Ultrasound Shoulder Pathology Rating Scale (USPRS)] has been established in wheelchair users with SCI (14). However, as far as we are concerned, no previous study compared tendon characteristics in wheelchair athletes with different impairments. In order to better understand the presented chronic adaptations, further imaging is needed to identify potential differences in tendon stiffness, and or inflammatory markers between wheelchair users with SCI and non-SCI impairments. The current findings demonstrate the need for an individualized approach and differentiation between impairments when monitoring tendon adaptations.

A greater occupation ratio for the biceps and supraspinatus was consistently associated with tendon characteristics that have been correlated with increased signs of tendinopathy in wheelchair users with SCI via the USPRS tendon grade (i.e., greater biceps and supraspinatus tendon thickness, and lower supraspinatus echogenicity and echogenicity ratio) (14). Interestingly, the occupation ratio of the supraspinatus remains smaller as compared to able-bodied persons with and without subacromial impingement syndrome (21, 22). It should be considered that the measures used to calculate the occupation ratio (i.e., supraspinatus and biceps tendon thickness and AHD) were taken from different US images with a different position for the supraspinatus tendon thickness. Nevertheless, our results are in line with previous studies that reported a greater occupation ratio in persons with subacromial impingement syndrome vs. healthy controls (21, 22) and support that a smaller space between the tendon and the acromion, or a greater occupation ratio, may be related to signs of chronic tendon degeneration. Therefore, the occupation ratio could be an interesting measure to include in the yearly screening of WR athletes.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

While a strength of this study was that our WR players had similar training histories and measures were taken at the same time-point within their training program, the small sample and heterogeneous nature of their injuries and functional capacities limits the generalizability of our findings. More specifically, the small sample size reduces the power of our study and increases the risk of type II errors. To account for the applied nature of this study, we chose a method that was easy and low-cost so it could be included in the monitoring program of WR athletes in the future. That said, it must be noted that the US images are limited in resolution and only allow two-dimensional measurements. Furthermore, it is important to acknowledge that without prior US imaging experience, it does require time and effort ($\sim 25 \text{ h}$) to become proficient in taking and analyzing images following the QUS. The use of US elastography, a promising tool to define mechanical properties of the tendon including tendon stiffness, could have provided a more comprehensive understanding of the presented tendon adaptations. We are aware that we did not include a matched-control group, yet this may have been difficult due to the aforementioned heterogenous sample. Differences in hydration level could have impacted the US images and our overall results. Although we did not quantify the hydration level of each individual participant, the athletes, who receive educational support in terms of nutrition and hydration, were asked to arrive to the laboratory in a hydrated state. Furthermore, given the design of our study, the athletes acted as their own controls. We feel to advance our current knowledge it would be helpful to include multiple time-points following a rest period to observe changes in tendon adaptations following rest. It could also be of great benefit to include QUS measures to monitor tendon health longitudinally. Such assessments would allow to gain a better understanding of chronic tendon adaptations and asymmetries in WR athletes and the development of chronic degeneration in this population.

CONCLUSION

There are acute biceps tendon adaptations in response to a GXT in highly trained WR athletes. The presented chronic tendon adaptations are associated with the impairment of the athlete (SCI vs. non-SCI) and the occupation ratio and may

play a role in the high prevalence of shoulder problems in this population. Including such assessment methods in screening of wheelchair athletes may provide further insights into the longterm consequences of the reported changes and allow us to better understand and monitor shoulder health as well as to improve injury prevention.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because the participants did not consent to sharing their data when they entered the study. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to fransiska.bossuyt@paraplegie.ch.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Reference number SSEHS-2626 approved by Regulatory, Compliance and Safety Administrator Loughborough University. The patients/participants

REFERENCES

- WWR. International Rules for the Sport of Wheelchair Rugby. (2021). Available online at: https://worldwheelchair.rugby/wp-content/uploads/2021/ 09/210204-Wheelchair-Rugby-International-Rules-WWR.pdf (accessed December 19, 2021).
- Rhodes JM, Mason BS, Perrat B, Smith MJ, Malone LA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Activity profiles of elite wheelchair rugby players during competition. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10:318–24. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0203
- Rhodes JM, Mason BS, Paulson TAW, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. A comparison of speed profiles during training and competition in elite wheelchair rugby players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2017) 12:777–82. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0218
- Mason BS, Altmann VC, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Understanding the impact of trunk and arm impairments on wheelchair rugby performance during competition. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14:612–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0204
- Lukasiewicz AC, McClure P, Michener L, Pratt N, Sennett B. Comparison of 3-dimensional scapular position and orientation between subjects with and without shoulder impingement. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. (1999) 29:574–583; discussion 84–6. doi: 10.2519/jospt.1999.29.10.574
- Ludewig PM, Cook TM. Alterations in shoulder kinematics and associated muscle activity in people with symptoms of shoulder impingement. *Phys Ther*. (2000) 80:276–91. doi: 10.1093/PTJ/80.3.276
- Juul-Kristensen B, Bech C, Liaghat B, Cools AM, Olsen H, Søgaard K, et al. Assessment of shoulder rotation strength, muscle co-activation and shoulder pain in tetraplegic wheelchair athletes - a methodological study. J Spinal Cord Med. (2020) 2020:1–10. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2020.1803659
- Miyahara M, Sleivert GG, Gerrard DF. The relationship of strength and muscle balance to shoulder pain and impingement syndrome in elite quadriplegic wheelchair rugby players. *Int J Sports Med.* (1998) 19:210– 4. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971906
- Fullerton HD, Borckardt JJ, Alfano AP. Shoulder pain: a comparison of wheelchair athletes and nonathletic wheelchair users. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1958–61. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000099082.54522.55
- Heyward OW, Vegter RJK, de Groot S, van der Woude LHV. Shoulder complaints in wheelchair athletes: a systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0188410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188410
- 11. Ozçakar L, Carli AB, Tok F, Tekin L, Akkaya N, Kara M. The utility of musculoskeletal ultrasound in rehabilitation settings. *Amer*

provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FMB, BSM, SB, UA, and VLG-T initiated this study. FMB, BSM, SB, MLB, UA, and VLG-T contributed to the conception and design of the study. FMB, BSM, SB, and TJO'B performed the data collection and were responsible for the data analyses. FMB and BSM performed statistical analyses and drafted the paper. FMB finalized the paper. All authors interpreted the data, critically revised the paper, read, and approved the final paper.

FUNDING

This study has been financed by the Peter Harrison Foundation and financial support of the Institute of Advanced Studies (IAS) at Loughborough University. The study was also financed by the Swiss Paraplegic Research supported by the Swiss Paraplegic Foundation.

J Phys Med Rehabil. (2013) 92:805–17. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e31829 71269

- Bohm S, Mersmann F, Arampatzis A. Human tendon adaptation in response to mechanical loading: a systematic review and meta-analysis of exercise intervention studies on healthy adults. *Sports Med.* (2015) 1:7. doi: 10.1186/s40798-015-0009-9
- Collinger JL, Gagnon D, Jacobson J, Impink BG, Boninger M. Reliability of quantitative ultrasound measures of the biceps and supraspinatus tendons. *Acad Radiol.* (2009) 16:1424–32. doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2009.05.001
- Collinger JL, Fullerton B, Impink BG, Koontz AM, Boninger ML. Validation of grayscale-based quantitative ultrasound in manual wheelchair users: relationship to established clinical measures of shoulder pathology. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2010) 89:390–400. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181d8a238
- Brose SW, Boninger ML, Fullerton B, McCann T, Collinger JL, Impink BG, et al. Shoulder ultrasound abnormalities, physical examination findings, and pain in manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2008) 89:2086–93. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.05.015
- Jahanian O, Van Straaten MG, Goodwin BM, Lennon RJ, Barlow JD, Murthy NS, et al. Shoulder magnetic resonance imaging findings in manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. (2020) 2020:1– 11. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2020.1834774
- Arnet U, de Vries WH, Eriks-Hoogland I, Wisianowsky C, van der Woude LHV, Veeger DHEJ, et al. MRI evaluation of shoulder pathologies in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury and the relation to shoulder pain. (2021) J Spinal Cord Med. 22:1–14. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2021.1881238
- Michener LA, McClure PW, Karduna AR. Anatomical and biomechanical mechanisms of subacromial impingement syndrome. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. (2003) 18:369–79. doi: 10.1016/s0268-0033(03)00047-0
- Morrow MM, Kaufman KR, An KN. Scapula kinematics and associated impingement risk in manual wheelchair users during propulsion and a weight relief lift. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. (2011) 26:352–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.12.001
- Mozingo JD, Akbari-Shandiz M, Murthy NS, Van Straaten MG, Schueler BA, Holmes DR III, et al. Shoulder mechanical impingement risk associated with manual wheelchair tasks in individuals with spinal cord injury. *Clin Biomech* (*Bristol, Avon*). (2020) 71:221–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2019.10.017
- Navarro-Ledesma S, Fernandez-Sanchez M, Luque-Suarez A. Differences in supraspinatus occupation ratio between the symptomatic, the contralateral asymptomatic shoulder and control subjects: a cross-sectional study. *Medicine*. (2021) 100:e24734. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000024734

- Michener LA, Subasi Yesilyaprak SS, Seitz AL, Timmons MK, Walsworth MK. Supraspinatus tendon and subacromial space parameters measured on ultrasonographic imaging in subacromial impingement syndrome. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* (2015) 23:363–9. doi: 10.1007/s00167-013-2542-8
- 23. Gil-Agudo A, Mozos MS, Crespo-Ruiz B, del-Ama AJ, Pérez-Rizo E, Segura-Fragoso A, et al. Shoulder kinetics and ultrasonography changes after performing a high-intensity task in spinal cord injury subjects and healthy controls. *Spinal Cord.* (2017) 55:625. doi: 10.1038/sc.2016.179
- Hogaboom NS, Diehl JA, Oyster ML, Koontz AM, Boninger ML. Ultrasonographic median nerve changes after repeated wheelchair transfers in persons with paraplegia: relationship with subject characteristics and transfer skills. *PM R.* (2016) 8:305–13. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.08.001
- Bossuyt FM, Boninger ML, Cools A, Hogaboom N, Eriks-Hoogland I, Arnet U. Changes in supraspinatus and biceps tendon thickness: influence of fatiguing propulsion in wheelchair users with spinal cord. *Injury Spinal Cord.* (2020) 58:324–33. doi: 10.1038/s41393-019-0376-z
- van Drongelen S, Boninger ML, Impink BG, Khalaf T. Ultrasound imaging of acute biceps tendon changes after wheelchair sports. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2007) 88:381–5. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.11.024
- Collinger JL, Impink BG, Ozawa H, Boninger ML. Effect of an intense wheelchair propulsion task on quantitative ultrasound of shoulder tendons *PM R.* (2010) 2:920–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.06.007
- Leclerc M, Gauthier C, Brosseau R, Desmeules F, Gagnon DH. Changes to biceps and supraspinatus tendons in response to a progressive maximal treadmill-based propulsion aerobic fitness test in manual wheelchair users: a quantitative musculoskeletal ultrasound study. *Rehabil Res Pract.* (2021) 2021:6663575. doi: 10.1155/2021/6663575
- Pol R, Hristovski R, Medina D, Balague N. From microscopic to macroscopic sports injuries. applying the complex dynamic systems approach to sports medicine: a narrative review. *Brit J Sports Med.* (2019) 53:1214– 20. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097395
- Curtis KA, Roach KE, Applegate EB, Amar T, Benbow CS, Genecco TD, et al. Reliability and validity of the wheelchair user's shoulder pain index (WUSPI). *Paraplegia.* (1995) 33:595–601. doi: 10.1038/sc.1995.126
- Curtis KA, Drysdale GA, Lanza RD, Kolber M, Vitolo RS, West R, et al. Shoulder pain in wheelchair users with tetraplegia and paraplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1999) 80:453–7. doi: 10.1016/s0003-9993(99)90285-x
- 32. van Drongelen S, de Groot S, Veeger HE, Angenot EL, Dallmeijer AJ, Post MW, et al. Upper extremity musculoskeletal pain during and after rehabilitation in wheelchair-using persons with a spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2006) 44:152–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101826
- Mackenzie TA, Bdaiwi AH, Herrington L, Cools A. Inter-rater reliability of real-time ultrasound to measure acromiohumeral distance. *PM R.* (2016) 8:629–34. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.11.004
- Leicht CA, Griggs KE, Lavin J, Tolfrey K, Goosey-Tolfrey V. Blood lactate and ventilatory thresholds in wheelchair athletes with tetraplegia and paraplegia. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2014) 114:1635–43. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-2886-x

- Borg G. Psychophysical scaling with applications in physical work and the perception of exertion. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. (1990). 16(Suppl 1):55– 8. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1815
- Koo TK, Li MY. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. J Chiropr Med. (2016) 15:155– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012
- Hinkle DE, Wiersma W, Jurs SG. Applied Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences, 5th ed. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin (2003).
- Magnusson SP, Narici MV, Maganaris CN, Kjaer M. Human tendon behaviour and adaptation, *in vivo. J Physiol.* (2008) 586:71–81. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.139105
- Cook JL, Purdam CR. Is tendon pathology a continuum? A pathology model to explain the clinical presentation of load-induced tendinopathy. *Brit J Sports Med.* (2009) 43:409–16. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.051193
- Magnusson SP, Langberg H, Kjaer M. The pathogenesis of tendinopathy: balancing the response to loading. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2010) 6:262– 8. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2010.43
- 41. Porter KN, Talpey S, Pascoe D, Blanch PD, Walker HM, Shield AJ. The effect of swimming volume and intensity on changes in supraspinatus tendon thickness. *Phys Ther Sport*. (2021) 47:173–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ptsp.2020.12.002
- Pearson SJ, Engel AJ, Bashford GR. Changes in tendon spatial frequency parameters with loading. J Biomech. (2017) 57:136– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2017.03.017
- Bossuyt FM, Arnet U, Cools A, Rigot S, de Vries W, Eriks-Hoogland I, et al. Compensation strategies in response to fatiguing propulsion in wheelchair users: implications for shoulder injury risk. *Amer J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2020) 99:91–8. doi: 10.1097/PHM.000000000 001267

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bossuyt, Mason, Briley, O'Brien, Boninger, Arnet and Goosey-Tolfrey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Objective Measurement of Ball-Handling Proficiency in Wheelchair Sports: A Systematic Review

Viola C. Altmann^{1,2*}, Barry S. Mason¹, Tijmen Geurts³, Sanne A. J. H. van de Camp³ and Yves C. Vanlandewijck^{4,5}

¹ Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ² Klimmendaal, Rehabilitation Centre, Arnhem, Netherlands, ³ Department of Rehabilitation, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, Katholieke Universiteit (KU) Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ⁵ Swedish School of Sport and Health Sciences (GIH), Stockholm, Sweden

Background: In Paralympic sports, classification of athletes based on the impact of impairments on the ability to perform is needed, to prevent a one-sided and predictable outcome of the competition in which the least impaired athlete has the best chance to win. Classification is developing from expert opinion based to evidence based. In wheelchair court sports, there is evidence to support the impact of impairment on wheeled mobility, but not on ball handling. To assess the impact of impairment on the ability to perform ball-handling activities, standardised tests for ball handling are needed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dirkjan Veeger, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Charles Sebiyo Batcho, Laval University, Canada Mario Inacio, University Institute of Maia, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Viola C. Altmann research@altmannen.nl orcid.org/0000-0002-0671-8115

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 20 October 2021 Accepted: 21 December 2021 Published: 25 January 2022

Citation:

Altmann VC, Mason BS, Geurts T, Camp SAJHvd and Vanlandewijck YC (2022) Objective Measurement of Ball-Handling Proficiency in Wheelchair Sports: A Systematic Review. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:798675. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.798675 **Purpose:** To assess if reliable and valid standardised tests for the measurement of ball-handling proficiency in a wheelchair or able-bodied court sports exist; to assist in the development of Evidence-Based Classification (EBC) in wheelchair court sports according to the guidelines of the International Paralympic Committee (IPC).

Methods: The review was conducted according to the Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) statement. Search terms used were "wheelchair," "ball," "ball sports," "test," and "performance." Databases searched were Medline, Embase, PubMed, and Sport Discus. Study quality was assessed using the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology checklist.

Results: Twenty-two articles were included. Foundational Movement Skills in ball-handling proficiency were assessed. Tests for throwing maximal distance showed sufficient reliability and validity. Precision in throwing showed low-to-moderate reliability and conflicting results in validity. Throwing techniques differed between studies. Dribbling the ball showed high reliability, but conflicting results in validity.

Conclusions: Tests for throwing maximal distance, throwing precision, and dribbling the ball can be used in standardised tests for activity limitation in wheelchair court sports. However, tests need to be adapted and standardised and then reassessed for reliability and validity in athletes with and without arm impairment.

Keywords: wheelchair, ball handling performance, wheelchair sports, classification, sport specific activities, systematic review

INTRODUCTION

The Paralympic Games are the third-largest sporting event in the world and provide an excellent platform to enhance participation and inclusion of persons with impairments in society (1). However, the value and the success of the Paralympic Games would become questionable, and the goal of participation would not be achieved if athletes who win the competition are simply the least impaired athletes. To prevent this, classification systems grouping athletes with impairments with a similar impact on performance in sports have been developed and applied since the start of the Paralympic Games (2). Typically, these classification systems were developed based on expert opinion by volunteer classifiers with a medical background and/or sportspecific expertise (3). The success of an athlete in competition can depend for a significant part on the class in which the athlete is competing. With the increasing professionalism of the Paralympic movement and the Paralympic athletes, a classification system based on expert opinion was no longer sufficient to support the value and success of the Paralympic Games, both for the athletes and society (4).

In 2007, the International Paralympic Committee (IPC) published the IPC Classification Code and International Standards to provide a structure for classification principles for all Paralympic Sports. In this Code, international sports federations were charged with the development of Evidence-Based Classification (EBC) systems through research (5). EBC means that the methods used to allocate sports classes must be based on scientific research, which demonstrates that the aim of classification, to group athletes for competition based on impairment severity with a similar impact on sport-specific performance, is achieved. The development of EBC systems requires four steps: (1) defining eligible impairment types per sport, (2a) developing valid and reliable measures of impairment, (2b) developing valid and reliable measures of determinants of sport-specific performance, and (3) assessing the relationship between impairment and performance determinants to define sports classes. Both the measures of impairment and performance determinants should be highly standardised, objective/instrumented, and ratio scaled where possible (6).

There are three wheelchair team court sports, wheelchair rugby (7), wheelchair basketball (8), and the newly developed sport wheelchair handball (9). The eligible impairment types for these three sports are neuromusculoskeletal impairments (strength, range of motion, coordination, and limb deficiency). Furthermore, these three sports have many commonalities in the activities that determine proficiency in the game. Based on the concept of Fundamental Motor Skills (10), these activities consist of locomotor skills, i.e., wheeled mobility, which is specific for wheelchair sports, and object control, i.e., ball handling, which shows much overlap with able-bodied sports. The term object control/ball handling is elaborated in the model of Foundational Movement Skills and consists of throwing with several techniques, bouncing/dribbling, and catching (11). Despite all commonalities, the classification systems of each of these sports, such as the eligibility criteria, the number of classes, and the criteria that define these sports classes, are completely different (12-14). Of the three classification systems, only the wheelchair rugby classification system is partially evidence-based (15). The evidence that is generated to support wheelchair rugby classification can potentially benefit the development towards EBC in wheelchair basketball and wheelchair handball. So far, wheelchair rugby classification is supported by evidence for trunk impairment in strength, range of movement and coordination (16, 17), and arm strength impairment (18). However, the relationship of these impairments with performance is only determined for wheeled mobility and not for ball handling (16-18). Therefore, in the interest of continuing the development towards EBC for all three wheelchair team court sports, step 2b develops valid and reliable measures of determinants of sportspecific performance, needs to be completed with tests for ballhandling proficiency. The definition we will use for ball handling in this study is based on the Foundational Movement Skills and consists of throwing with several techniques, bouncing/dribbling, and catching. These activities need specifications for wheelchair court sports. In wheelchair court sports, ball handling is restricted to handling a round ball with a size that is suitable for oneand two-handed direct manual ball handling without a device (like a bat or a stick). For throwing, both maximal distance and precision will be included as important aspects for proficiency.

The present study aimed to identify standardised tests for proficiency in ball handling according to the previously mentioned definition in team court sports (both Olympic and Paralympic) from the literature. The second aim was to assess if there is any evidence for the reliability and/or validity of these tests. The third aim was to determine if any or a combination of these tests can serve as a standardised test for ball-handling proficiency for the future development of EBC in wheelchair court sports.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This systematic review was conducted and reported according to the consensus statement for the Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) (19), because based on the research question, the authors mainly expected to find observational studies. Two researchers performed the article search independently (TG and SC).

Data Sources

Original articles were searched in Medline (1946–2020), Embase (1974–2020), PubMed (1989–2020), and Sport Discus (1949–2020). The following search terms were used for able-bodied sports: ball sports, performance, test, and arm or trunk. For wheelchair sports, wheelchair, ball, and performance were used as search terms. Search terms were linked with the Boolean AND. The search was extended using the option "related articles" in all databases. First, the title and abstract of the related articles were screened. If the title and the abstract met the inclusion criteria, the article was added to the numbers of identified records. In addition, the grey literature was also explored to ascertain whether any other articles outside the original search matched the criteria.

Study Selection

Inclusion criteria for articles were (1) the outcome measures were ball handling with a round ball with a size that is suitable for one- and two-handed direct manual ball handling without a device and were presented in objective, quantitative data, (2) assessment for reliability was done, i.e., test-retest or inter-rater reliability and/or assessment of validity was done by the following comparisons: (a) between athletes playing a sport at different competition levels, (b) athletes with differences in age, (c) athletes with different physical characteristics of the arm or trunk (able-bodied sports), or (d) comparisons between participants with different levels of impairment (wheelchair sports), and (3) articles were written in English. Furthermore, for studies about able-bodied sports, (4a) participants were experienced athletes without impairments. Moreover, for wheelchair sports, (4b) the participants were experienced (sport) wheelchair users. To identify eligible articles, two reviewers independently screened the title and the abstract. If one reviewer found an article, both researchers screened for inclusion criteria. If the abstract met the criteria, then both researchers assessed the full text of the article. The article was assessed by a third researcher (VA) when there was a disagreement between the two reviewers. In this case, the third party had the final vote. If an article was found in more than one database, it was only included once.

Quality Assessment

The methodological quality of each study was assessed independently by two reviewers (TG and SC) using the Strengthening The Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist for reports of observational studies (20). The STROBE checklist has 22 items, which were either scored as present ("1") or absent ("0"). If one of the items had any sub-items, one point was awarded if the study met half or more of these sub-items. When disagreement existed on any item of the STROBE checklist, the same consensus procedure applied for inclusion criteria was used with three authors (TG, SC, and VA). The STROBE recommendations do not provide a guideline for including meaningful studies in a systematic review. However, in a study performed on the methodological quality of observational studies published in high-quality journals, an average of 69% of the STROBE items were reported (21). Consistent with this study and with others using quantitative cut-off scores for observational studies, we decided that a minimum of 15 reported items (69%) indicated "good quality," whereas 14 reported items or less indicated "moderate-to-low quality." Only studies with "good quality" were included in the discussion.

RESULTS

Search Results

Figure 1 shows the number of articles found following each step of the search strategy. After database searching and searching additional sources, the researchers found 301 potentially relevant studies. After assessment for the inclusion criteria based on screening of titles and the abstracts, and if indicated, assessment of the full article, the researchers reached a consensus that 30

articles were eligible for methodological quality assessment. Most articles were excluded because the outcome measures were not based on ball handling as defined in the present study (handling a round ball with a size that is suitable for one- and two-handed direct manual ball handling without a device), or because there was no assessment of validity or reliability.

Methodological Quality

The results of the quality assessment of the 30 articles that were eligible based on the inclusion criteria are shown in **Table 1**.

Findings of the Review

Twenty-two articles fulfilled the predetermined minimum of 15 reported items on the STROBE checklist (see **Table 1**) (22–51). They all had a cross-sectional design. Twelve high-quality studies were about able-bodied sports, 11 about handball (23, 29, 31, 34–36, 42–48), and 1 about basketball (32). Two articles (23, 24) were about the same study, of which only one was "high quality." 10 high-quality studies were about wheelchair sports, 9 about wheelchair basketball, (26, 35, 37–40, 46, 49, 51) and 1 about wheelchair rugby (49). Wheelchair athletes had health conditions, such as spinal cord injury, spina bifida, cerebral palsy, neuromuscular conditions, and congenital and acquired amputations, leading to all eligible impairment types for wheelchair rugby, wheelchair basketball, and wheelchair handball (strength impairment, coordination impairment, impaired range of movement, and limb deficiency).

In all but one study, throwing for accuracy and distance using different throwing techniques was assessed. The most frequently used outcome parameters for throwing were ball velocity (12 tests) and throwing distance (13 tests). For accuracy, 12 studies used the number of scores on the target; the target was usually a basketball bucket. Only one study measured throwing accuracy in continuous data, the surplus in centimetres by which a projected target was missed, but this study was rated as moderate-poor quality (24). In 10 studies, (26, 32, 33, 37, 38, 41, 46, 47, 49, 51) running or pushing with the ball, such as the dribbling rules of the game, was assessed. In addition, in four of these studies, picking up the ball from the floor during wheelchair pushing was assessed (33, 37, 38, 49). All these tests involved running or wheeling, and the time for completion of the test was used as the outcome parameter. In only one study catching was included (50).

Test-retest reliability was included in seven studies (37, 38, 40, 43, 45, 48, 50). For outcomes of these studies, see **Table 2**.

Test-retest reliability was high for all tested items of ball proficiency, except for throwing accuracy.

All but one study included a measure for validity. For outcomes of these studies, see **Table 3**.

The groups that were compared were either based on performance (competition divisions, player ranking by experts, or national vs. international players) or on impairment classes. For maximal throwing distance, there was a difference between groups in almost all studies. The only exceptions were national vs. international athletes in one study and impairment classes in one out of five studies. No differences between groups were found in many studies for throwing accuracy and ball handling while



running or pushing. There were no differences between groups in one study for catching the ball due to an important ceiling effect.

DISCUSSION

Summary of the Evidence

In this systematic review, we synthesised the evidence on the reliability and validity of standardised tests for ball-handling proficiency in court sports, available in the literature. As anticipated, all studies identified were observational studies. In the studies about wheelchair sports, all impairment types that are eligible for wheelchair rugby, wheelchair basketball, and wheelchair handball were included. The evidence indicated that tests for maximal throwing were both reliable (37, 38, 40, 43, 45, 48, 50) and valid (23, 26, 29, 31, 33–37, 39, 42–44, 46, 49) in relation to competition level, anthropometric data, and impairment classes. Tests for throwing accuracy lacked reliability (38, 45, 48), and validity showed conflicting results (26, 38, 50,

TABLE 1 | Study participants, interventions, comparisons, and STROBE scores.

References	Participants	Intervention	Comparison	Total score STROBE	Methodological quality
Barfield et al. (22)	WC rugby 10 WRP national team and 10 WRP not national team	Long pass Short pass Slalom with ball	WRP national team, WRP not national team	13	Moderate-poor
Bayios et al. (23)	<i>AB handball</i> 15 FD, 12 SD male HP and 15 PE students	Throwing on the spot and with cross-over step and vertical jump shot	FD, SD, PE students	15	High
Bayios et al. (24)	<i>AB handball</i> 15 FD, 12 SD, 15 PE students	Ball throw on the spot and with cross-over step	FD, SD, PE students	13	Moderate-poor
Borges et al. (25)	<i>WC handball</i> 21 WHP Low point (1.0–1.5) 7 athletes Midpoint (2.0–2.5) 6 athletes High point (3.0–4.0) 9 athletes	Slalom with ball	Low, mid and high point WHP	14	Moderate-poor
Cavedon et al. (26)	WC basketball Class A (0.5) 18 athletes Class B (1.0–1.5) 16 athletes Class C (2.0–2.5) 8 athletes Class D (3.0–4.0) 9 athletes	Maximal pass, pass for accuracy, spot shot, lay-ups, 20 m sprint with ball	FAC 1 vs. 2 vs. 3 vs. 4	19	High
Cerrah (27)	<i>AB soccer</i> 14 male soccer players	Throwing the ball in while standing and running	Isokinetic strength of the arms (shoulder and elbow) and the trunk flexion and extension	12	Moderate- poor
Costa e Silva (28)	<i>WC handball</i> 29 WHP Group 1 (1.0–1.5) 6 players Group 2 (2.0–2.5) 8 players Group 3 (3.0–3.5) 6 players Group 4 (4.0–5.0) 9	Throwing against the wall and catching Slalom with the ball	Group 1, 2, 3 and 4	10	Moderate- poor
Debanne et al. (29)	<i>AB handball</i> 12 high national, 17 high regional and 13 local male HP	Standing overarm throw	No group comparisons	17	High
Erculj et al. (30)	AB basketball 23 division A European players 25 division B European players	Basketball throw Medicine ball (2 kg) throw	Division A vs. division B players	8	Moderate- poor
Fieseler et al. (31)	<i>AB handball</i> 12 FD, 34 TD male HP	Throws with run-up or jump overarm throw with and without precision	FD vs. TD	20	High
Garcia-Gil et al. (32)	AB basketball 41 FD female BP from 4 teams in first division national league Spain with varying placements	Dribbling test	4 FD teams with varying placements	17	High
Gil et al. (33)	WC basketball 13 WBP Class 1.0, 1 athlete; class 1.5 1 athlete; class 2.0 3 athletes; class 2.5 1 athlete; class 3.0 2 athletes; class 3.5 2 athletes; class 4.0 2 athletes; class 4.5 1 athlete	Pick-up the ball, maximal pass with basketball and medicine ball (5 kg), 20 m sprint with the ball	Athlete class and injury type (SCI or non-SCI), years of experience in WC and years of experience in WC basketball	19	High
Gorostiaga et al. (34)	<i>AB handball</i> 15 FD and 15 SD male HP	Standing throw and 3-step running throw	FD vs. SD And correlation with arm strength and power production	18	High
Granados et al. (35)	<i>AB handball</i> 16 FD and 15 SD female HP	Standing throw and 3-step running throw	FD vs. SD	18	High
Granados et al. (36)	<i>AB handball</i> 16 national and 14 international female HP	Standing throw and 3-step running throw	National vs. international	20	High
Granados et al. (37)	<i>WC basketball</i> 19 FD and TD WBP	Anthropometric and performance values. Ball pick-up, maximal pass with	FD vs. TD	18	High

(Continued)

References	Participants	Intervention	Comparison	Total score STROBE	Methodological quality
		two arm overhand with basketball and medicine ball (5 kg), 20-m sprint with ball including dribble			
De Groot et al. (38)	WC basketball 19 WBP Class 1.5, 2 athletes Class 2.0, 2 athletes Class 2.5, 3 athletes Class 3.5, 1 athlete Class 4.0, 5 athletes Class 4.5, 6 athletes	Pass for accuracy, free-throw shooting, 20 m sprint with the ball, maximal pass, lay-ups, pick-up the ball, spot shot,	Premier league vs. tournament A vs. tournament B. Trial 1 vs. 2.	18	High
Marszalek et al. (39)	<i>WC basketball</i> 29 class A (1.0–2.5), 29 athletes class B (3.0–4.5) 32 athletes	Basketball chest pass test	Class A vs. class B	16	High
Marszalek et al. (40)	WC basketball 9 WBP	Two handed pass basketball and medicine ball (3 kg)	The first vs. second repetition of the tests	16	High
Molik et al. (41)	WC basketball 109 WBP Class 1, 26 athletes Class 2, 25 athletes Class 3, 24 athletes Class 4, 16 athletes Class 4.5, 18 athletes	Two handed chest pass Slalom with the ball	Differences between athlete classes	12	Moderate-poor
Moss et al. (42)	<i>AB Handball</i> 47 non-elite, 44 elite and 29 top-elite female youth HP	Standing throw and 3-step running throw	Top-elite, elite and non-elite	17	High
Ortega et al. (43)	<i>AB Handball</i> 13 elite, 16 U18 and 16 U16 male HP	3 step running throw and jump throw	Elite, U18 and U16	18	High
Saavedra et al. (44)	AB Handball 23 A-team, 16 U19, 20 U17 and 21 U15 national team female HP	Standing throw	A-team, U19, U17, U15	16	High
Schwesig et al. (45)	<i>AB Handball</i> 30 male TD HP	Bal throwing with cross-step and throwing time	No group comparisons	18	High
Tachibana et al. (46)	<i>WC basketball</i> Class 1 (1.0–1.5) 7 athletes Class 2 (2.0–2.5) 7 athletes Class 3 (3.0–3.5) 5 athletes Class 4 (4.0–4.5) 8 athletes	Figure of eight with ball, pass for distance in chest-pass, baseball-pass and hook-pass	Wheelchair basketball class	18	High
Visnapuu et al. (47)	AB Handball 34 10–11 year, 39 12–13 year, 39 14–15 year and 21 16–17 year old male HP	30 m dribble test, handball throw from sitting position, passing on speed and precision	10–11, 12–13, 14–15 and 16–17 years old	14	Moderate-poor
Wagner et al. (48)	AB Handball 5 FD, 12 FoD and SiD male HP	Game based performance test including catching and passing ball as fast as possible	2 tests separated by 7 days	18	High
Yanci et al. (49)	<i>WC basketball</i> 14 males, 2 females Category A (class 1.0–2.5) 7 athletes Category B (class 3.0–4.5) 9 athletes	Pick-up the ball, maximal pass, 5 and 20 m sprint with ball	FAC A (1.0 to 2.5) vs. FAC B (3.0 to 4.5)	16	High
Yilla et al. (50)	WC rugby 65 WRP with quadriplegia. 60 had spinal cord injuries, 2 poliomyelitis, 1 muscular dystrophy, 1 charcot-marie-tooth syndrome, 1 cerebral palsy	Pass for accuracy, catching, pass for distance	The first vs. second repetition of the tests Players rank, determined by experts	18	High
Yüksel et al. (51)	WC basketball 12 FD, 9 SD WBP	Pass for distance, lay-up tests, zone shot test, slalom with ball, pass for accuracy test	FD vs. SD	16	High

STROBE, strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology; WC, wheelchair; AB, able bodied; FD, first division; SD, second division; TD, third division; FoD, fourth division; SiD, sixth division; HP, handball players; BP, basketball players; WBP, wheelchair basketball players; WRP, wheelchair rugby players; WHP, wheelchair handball players; FAC, functional ability class; U, under (age limit); PE, Physical Education. Articles with a total STROBE score of \geq 15 were included in the study.

TABLE 2 | Reliability.

Ball proficiency item	Outcome parameter	Reliability	Study numbers*
Throwing maximal distance	Throwing velocity (m/s) or distance (m)	High	(37, 38, 40 , 43, 45, 48, 50 (37) (medicine ball 5 kg) (40) (medicine ball 3 kg)
Throwing accuracy	Score in basket or goal (n)	Moderate-low	(38, 45, 48)
Ball handling while pushing	Time to complete trajectory (s)	High	(37, 38, 50)
Catching the ball	Balls caught (n)	High	(50)

*Study numbers with participants without impairments/running sports.

Study numbers with participants with impairments/wheelchair sports.

51). Besides, the correlation with player ranking as a measure for game performance in wheelchair rugby was low (50). Dribbling or bouncing the ball during running or wheeling showed high reliability (37, 38, 50), but validity showed conflicting results (26, 32, 33, 37, 38, 49, 50). Finally, there was only one study in which catching was included (50). This test showed high reliability but the validity was limited by a large ceiling effect in wheelchair rugby athletes.

Tests for maximal throwing distance showed both adequate reliability and validity for potential use as a measure for sport-specific ball-handling proficiency that can be used in the development for EBC (23, 26, 29, 31, 33-40, 42-46, 48-50). The outcome measure can be distance, (26, 33, 39, 46, 49) which can be measured with limited equipment. However, this test requires a rather large testing area as distances of more than 15 m can be thrown (46). Limitations of room size can be addressed by using a medicine ball (3-5 kg) instead of a normal ball, which reduces the maximal distance to \sim 5 m. (37). However, athletes with severe arm and trunk impairment may not be able to throw such a heavy ball. Another good alternative is using throwing velocity as the outcome measure (23, 29, 31, 34-36, 42-44). However, this requires equipment, such as like laser beam emitters and laser beam infrared detectors, (23) a Doppler-radar gun (29, 42, 44), a speed check radar device, (31, 43, 45) or photocells (34-36). However, the objectivity and precision of measuring velocity may be superior to measuring distance, as the distance was measured with a tape measure where the ball was observed to touch the floor instead of with instrumented equipment.

In studies about able-bodied sports, the throwing technique was an overarm, one-handed pass with the dominant arm in either a standing throw, three-step running throw, cross-over-step throw, or a jump throw (23, 29, 31, 34–36, 42–45). In studies about wheelchair sports, all tests were performed standing still, and several throwing techniques were used. Most studies included a chest pass (39, 40, 46) or two-arm overhand pass (37). In several studies, the technique was not specified (26, 33, 38, 49, 50). In only one study, one-handed passes (baseball and hook pass) were assessed (46). Because arm and hand impairment, which is present in all wheelchair rugby players and in part of the wheelchair basketball and wheelchair handball players, can impact the throwing technique, the throwing technique should be standardised, and preferably, both two-handed and one-handed techniques should be included.

Based on the findings in the literature, we advise including maximal throws in the standardised test of ball-handling proficiency for testing of sport-specific performance in wheelchair court sports. Preferably, maximal throws should include standardised techniques for two-handed and onehanded throws. Outcome measurement in ball velocity has advantages over distance in measurement precision and the room needed for the tests.

Throwing distance in court sports is meaningless if the throw does not reach a target. Throwing accuracy is important for successfully passing the ball to other players resulting in a catch in all three wheelchair court sports and for scoring a goal in wheelchair basketball and wheelchair handball (7-9). Throwing accuracy was assessed in several studies (26, 38, 45, 48, 50, 51). In three studies, the number of scores in the bucket was used as an outcome parameter (26, 38, 51), and in two scores in a handball goal (45, 48). Scoring or not scoring is a binary parameter and the difference between scoring and not scoring can be minimal. In only one study, circles around a goal with a maximum score in the middle circle and decreasing scores in the outer circles were used (50). However, this still results in a score on an ordinal scale, where a ratio scale is advised (6). In one study, two-handed throws were used (51), and in two studies, one-handed throws were used (45, 48). In the other studies, the throwing technique was not specified (26, 38, 50). The reliability for throwing accuracy was low in all studies in which this was assessed (38, 45, 48). Perhaps this is due to the binary or ordinal scale that was used, in which a difference of several millimetres in a throw of several metres can make the difference between a score and no score or scoring points. If an interval scale would be used, measuring the surplus from the goal in centimetres of millimetres, a variation of several centimetres or millimetres between throws will result in less difference between measures than "hit" or "no hit," and reliability would increase. Furthermore, scoring as an outcome measure for throwing accuracy, using only one throwing technique is rather limited in comparison to the repeated throws between players and multiple throwing techniques that can be used in a game (7-9). It is striking that the only study in which catching was assessed showed a large ceiling effect (50). Accuracy of a throw plays an important role in catching the ball. However, in the study, the precision of the throw after which the ball needed to be caught was not specified. Maybe the high precision of the throw

TABLE 3 | Validity.

Ball proficiency item	Comparison	Outcome parameter	Difference between groups (yes/no/conflicting)	Study numbers*
Throwing maximal distance	Competition divisions	Throwing velocity (m/s)	Yes	(23, 31, 32, 42, 44)
	Competition divisions	Throwing distance (m/s)	Yes	(26, 37, 38) (37) (medicine ball 5 kg)
	Strength or anthropometric data	Throwing velocity (m/s)	Yes	(23, 29, 31, 34–36, 42–44)
	National- international athletes	Throwing distance (m)	No	(36)
	Impairment classes	Throwing distance (m)	Conflicting	(26, 33, 39, 46, 49) (yes) (38) (no)
Throwing accuracy	Divisions	Score in basket or goal (n)	Yes	(38, 51)
	Impairment classes	Score in basket or goal (n)	Conflicting	(26) (yes) (38) (no)
	Player ranking by experts	Score in goal	No	(38, 50)
Ball handling while pushing or running	Divisions	Time to complete trajectory (s)	Conflicting	(38) (yes) (32, 37, 49) (no)
	Impairment classes	Player ranking by experts	Conflicting	 (33) (only difference for athletes with spinal cord injury, but not for athletes with other health conditions) (26) (no)
	Player ranking by experts	Player ranking by experts	Yes	(50)
Catching the ball		Balls caught (n)	No	(50) (ceiling effect, in which 90% of all athletes achieved maximum score)

*Study numbers with participants without impairments/running sports.

Study numbers with participants with impairments/wheelchair sports.

explains the ceiling effect that was found in this test. A more game-specific measure of throwing accuracy may be throwing at a target and the outcome measure is the surplus (proximity to the target in cm), measured in an interval scale. The latter was done in one study (24). However, this research article had moderateto-low quality and the measurement device, and the methods were not described clearly enough to be repeated. Based on the findings in the literature, methods for throwing accuracy need to be developed and reliability and validity need to be assessed. Throwing at a target using surplus as the outcome parameter in an interval scale seems an interesting option to test throwing accuracy. Similar to tests for throwing distance, tests for throwing accuracy preferably should include standardised techniques for two-handed and one-handed throws. In addition, there may be a relationship between throwing distance and throwing accuracy, in which accuracy decreases if the throwing distance increases to the maximum throwing distance. However, this was not assessed in any of the studies. Tests for throwing accuracy using different percentages of the maximal throwing distance may reveal such a relationship, which is very important for proficiency in ball handling. Furthermore, we advise including tests for catching after standardised throws with more or less velocity and precision, such as can be done by a ball launcher.

Finally, dribbling or bouncing the ball within the game rules, while moving the wheelchair is an activity that contributes to proficiency in wheelchair court sports. Dribbling the ball while running or moving the wheelchair was assessed in several studies (26, 32, 33, 37, 38, 49, 50), of which the ones about wheelchair

basketball (26, 33, 37, 38, 49) and wheelchair rugby (50) will be most specific for wheelchair court sports. Reliability was high for picking up the ball (37, 38), 20 m sprint with the ball (37), and manoeuvrability with the ball (50). Assessment for validity showed promising results in several studies about wheelchair sports. Differences were found between impairment classes, but only for athletes with spinal cord injuries (33), and between divisions (38) and player ranking (50). However, in four studies, no differences were found between impairment classes (26, 38, 49) and between divisions (37). Impairment classes in wheelchair basketball are defined by trunk active range of movement (13), and it is known from previous studies that the velocity in pushing a wheelchair largely depends on impairment in arm muscle strength (16, 18). Because the outcome measure was time to complete the test and pushing made up a large part of the time to complete the test, this may have obscured any differences between impairment classes in ball handling during pushing. Performing two tests on the same circuit, one with and one without dribbling and bouncing the ball and then subtracting the results of these tests could minimise the impact of pushing the chair and give more insight into the component of dribbling and bouncing the ball (52).

If athletes with different severities of arm and hand impairment will be included, it is likely that differences in test performance will be found, which will support the validity of tests for dribbling and bounding the ball.

Based on these findings, we advise including standardised tests for dribbling or bouncing the ball while moving the wheelchair
in a test battery for ball-handling proficiency. The same circuit should be done with and without the ball handling and the times to complete the test should be subtracted to eliminate the impact of pushing on the outcome from the test. Athletes can push in a straight line or in a circuit and ball handling should include picking up the ball and dribbling. Validity in relation to impairment severity needs additional assessment including athletes with arm impairment.

Strengths and Limitations

This systematic review has several strengths. First, the strict study protocol using the MOOSE standard for meta-analysis (19) enables replicating the study and extending it in the future if new evidence will become available. Second, several types of bias were considered and minimised. Publication bias was minimised by extending the search to the grey literature. Both bias in selection for study inclusion and bias in the methodological quality assessment were addressed, respectively, by independent literature searches and independent assessment of study quality by two researchers (SC and TG). Finally, bias in results and conclusions was minimised by using the STROBE guideline for methodological assessment of observational studies (20).

There are several limitations that need to be considered when interpreting the results of this literature review. First of all, the studies included had rather small study populations, ranging from 14 to 120 participants in able-bodied sports (27, 42), and 13 to 65 participants in wheelchair sports, (33, 50) which limited the power of each of the studies. This may have obscured differences between groups for the assessment of validity, especially in activities with limited reliability, such as throwing precision. Pooling of the data from several studies to increase the power was not possible, because study populations, throwing techniques, measurement techniques, and outcome measures were different across the studies.

There may have been biases within the studies that were included, based on several issues. In most studies about wheelchair sport, the relationship between the activity and the wheelchair basketball classification was used as a measure for severity of impairment (26, 33, 38, 39, 46, 49). However, these wheelchair basketball classes are not an evidence-based measure of impairment severity (11, 13). Furthermore, several wheelchair basketball classes were grouped for analysis, to increase the number of athletes per group (26, 39, 46, 49). This may have increased the variation of impairment severity within groups, which may have obscured any difference between groups even more. In several studies, the technique for throwing, dribbling, and picking up the ball was not specified (26, 33, 37, 38, 49, 50), and therefore may not have been the same for all participants. This may have limited the variation in the outcome measures for throwing velocity and precision between groups because participants could compensate for their limitations by altering the throwing technique. Furthermore, it was not always clearly described if athletes were allowed to use equipment, such as sticky material on the hands or the ball in handball and gloves in wheelchair rugby. This may also have limited the differences between groups for both throwing velocity and precision. Last but not the least, only studies with experienced athletes were included in this review. However, the levels of experience and training were different across the studies and ranged from recreational athletes training only once a week (26) to elite international athletes competing at the highest level (43). This may have caused considerable variation within groups, obscuring differences between groups. All these forms of bias may have affected the conclusions about the reliability and the validity of the studies. For the development of a standardised test battery for ball-handling proficiency, it will be important to recruit enough optimally trained athletes to participate for sufficient study power. This will be a challenge, because the number of elite wheelchair athletes is limited, and they are spread geographically. However, because aspects of ball-handling proficiency are similar for the three wheelchair team court sports, combining athletes from these sports may help overcome this obstacle. Furthermore, ball activities should be standardised, such as throwing, ball pick-up and dribbling techniques, and the use of equipment.

CONCLUSIONS

The findings of this review provide valuable information for the development of a standardised test battery for ball activities in team wheelchair court sports. Based on the findings, we advise a test battery, which includes at least all Foundational Movement Skills for ball handling, throwing with several techniques, bouncing/dribbling, and catching. Throwing should include standardised throwing techniques with at least a twohanded and a one-handed throw. Throwing should be assessed for maximal distance and accuracy including the relationship between distance and accuracy. Bouncing/dribbling the ball should include a standardised pushing distance and trajectory, i.e., picking up and dribbling the ball. This activity can be assessed using execution time if the impact of pushing on the test is minimised. Assessment of the test-retest reliability and the validity of the test battery needs to be assessed before this test battery can be used in the steps in the development of EBC that follow steps 1) define eligible impairment types and 2a) develop valid and reliable measures of impairment. These steps are 2b) developing valid and reliable measures of sport-specific performance, and 3) assessing the relationship between impairment and performance to define sports classes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VA, BM, and YV formulated the research question and they established the study design. VA, BM, TG, SC, and YV contributed to the manuscript, discussed the study results, and the relevance with regards to the research questions. TG, SC, and VA performed the check for inclusion criteria and the assessment of the quality of the selected studies. TG and SC performed the literature search. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- International Paralympic Committee. Annual Report. (2012). Available online at: http://www.paralympic.org/sites/default/files/document/ 130710121410906_web_ipc_13_annualreport_2012_final.pdf (accessed April 24, 2021).
- 2. Tweedy SM, Howe DP. "Introduction to the paralympic movement," In Vanlandewijck YC & Thompson W editors, *The Paralympic Athlete* UK:Wiley-Blackwell (2011).
- Altmann VC, Hart AL, van Limbeek J, Vanlandewijck YC. Improvement of theclassification system for wheelchair rugby: athlete priorities. *Adapt Physic Activ Q.* (2014) 31:377–89. doi: 10.1123/apaq.2013-0064
- 4. Tweedy SM, Mann D, Vanlandewijck YC. "Research needs for the development of evidence-based systems of classification for physical, vision and intellectual impairments," *In Vanlandewijck YC*, Thompson W. editors *Training and Coaching the Paralympic Athlete*, UK:Wiley-Blackwell (2016).
- International Paralympic Committee. *IPC Classification Code and Internationalstandards*. (2007). Available online at: http://www.paralympic.org/sites/default/files/document/120201084329386_2008_2_Classification_Code6.pdf (accessed April 24, 2021).
- Tweedy SM, Beckman EM, Connick MJ. Paralympic classification: Conceptual basis, current methods, and research updates. *PM&R*. (2014) 6:S11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2014.04.013
- Orr K, Malone LA. "Wheelchair rugby," In Vicky G-T. Editor Wheelchair Sport A Complete Guide for Athletes, Coaches and Teachers, US: Human Kinetics. (2010).
- Frogley M. Wheelchair Basketball. In Vicky Goossey-Tolfrey, Editor Wheelchair sport A complete guide for athletes, coaches and teachers, US: Human Kinetics. (2010).
- Wheelchair handball. Available online at: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Wheelchair_handball (accessed April 24, 2021).
- Hardy LL, Barnett L, Espinel P, Okely AD. Thirteen year trends in child and adolescent fundamental movement skills:1997-2010. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. (2013) 45:1965–70. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318295a9fc
- Hulteen RM, Morgan PJ, Barnett LM, Stodden DF, Lubans DR. Development of foundational movement skills: a conceptual model for physical activity across the lifespan. *Sports Med.* (2018). 48:1533–15403 doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0892-6
- International Wheelchair. Rugby Federation Classification Manual, 3rd edition. (2015). Available online at: http://www.iwrf.com/resources/iwrf_docs/IWRF_ Classification_Manual_3rd_Edition_rev-2015_(English).pdf (accessed May 01, 2021).
- International Wheelchair. Basketball Federation Official Player Classification Manual. (2018). Available online at: https://iwbf.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2020/10/Official-Player-Classification-Manual-2018.pdf (accessed May 01, 2021).
- Wheelchair handball. Classification manual. Available online at: http://cms. eurohandball.com/PortalData/1/Resources/1_ehf_main/3_download_pdf/
 2._Wheelchair_Handball_Basic_Classification_DRAFT.pdf (accessed May 01, 2021).
- Hutchinson MJ, Philips JK, Mason BS, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Beckman EM. Measures of impairment applicable to the classification of Paralympic athletes competing in wheelchair sports: a systematic review of validity, reliability and associations with performance. *J Sports Sci.* 18:25957. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2020.1815957
- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Hart AL, Vanlandewijck YC, van Limbeek J, Keijsers NLW. The impact of trunk impairment on performance-determining

FUNDING

The publication fee will be paid/refunded by World Wheelchair Rugby https://worldwheelchair.rugby/ Contact person Steve Griffiths, CEO and secretary general.

activities in wheelchair rugby. Scand J Med Sci Sports. (2017) 27:1005–14. doi: 10.1111/sms.12720

- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Hart AL, Vanlandewijck YC, Keijsers NLW. Classifying trunk strength impairment according to the activity limitation caused in wheelchair rugby performance. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2018) 28:649–57. doi: 10.1111/sms.12921
- Mason BS, Altmann VC, Hutchinson MJ, Petrone N, Betella F, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Optimising classification of proximal arm strength impairment in wheelchair rugby: a proof of concept study. J Sports Sci. (2021) 4:1–8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2021.1883291
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology (moose) group. JAMA. (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008
- Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Mulrow CD, Pocock SJ, et al. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE): Explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Med.* (2007) 4:e297. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0040297
- Poorolajal J, Cheraghi Z, Doosti Irani A, Rezaeian S. Quality of cohort studies reporting post the strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (strobe) statement. *Epidemiol Health*. (2011) 33:e2011005. doi: 10.4178/epih/e2011005
- Barfield J.P. Malone L. Performance test differences and paralympic team selection: pilot study of the united states national wheelchair rugby team. *International J Sports Sci Coach.* (2012) 7:715–20. doi: 10.1260/1747-9541.7.4.715
- Bayios IA, Anastasopoulou EM, Sioudris DS, Boudolos KD. Relationship between isokinetic strength of the internal and external shoulder rotators and ball velocity in team handball. *J Sports Med Physic Fitness*. (2001) 41:229–35.
- 24. Bayios I, Giorgos G, Konstantinos B. Accuracy and Throwing Velocity in Handball. ISBS-Conference Proceedings Archive. (1998).
- Borges M. Costa e Silva A, Rosch de Faria F, Samora Godoy P, Rodrigues Barbosa Melo E, Calegari DR, Gorla JI. Body composition and motor performance in wheelchair handball. *Rev Bras Cineatropom Desempenho Hum.* (2017) 19:204–13. doi: 10.5007/1980-0037.2017v19n2p204
- Cavedon V, Zancanaro C, Milanese C. Physique and performance of young wheelchair basketball players in relation with classification. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0143621. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143621
- Cerrah AO, Güngör EO, Yilmaz I. Evaluation of the relationship between isokinetic strength and two different soccer throw-in performances. *Isokinetics Exer Sci.* (2012) 20:181–7. doi: 10.3233/IES-2012-0457
- Costa e Silva AA, Borges M, Faria FR, Campos LFCC, Yamagute PC, Gatti AMM. et al. Validating the battery of skill test for wheelchair handball athletes. *Revista International de Medicina Y Ciencias de la Avidad Fisica y el Deportte*. (2014) 17:167–82.
- Debanne T, Guillaume L. Predicting the throwing velocity of the ball in handball with anthropometric variables and isotonic tests. J Sports Sci. (2011) 29:705–13. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011. 552112
- Erculj F, Bracic M. Differences in the development of the motor abilities of young elite European and Slovenian female basketball players. *Kinesiologica Slovenica*. (2009) 15:24–32.
- 31. Fieseler G, Hermassi S, Hoffmeyer B, Schulze S, Irlenbusch L, Bartels T, et al. Differences in anthropometric characteristics in relation to throwing velocity and competitive level in professional male team handball: a tool for talent profiling. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. (2017) 57:985–92. doi: 10.23736/S0022-4707.17.06938-9

- Garcia-Gil M, Torres-Unda J, Esain I, Duñabeitia I, Gil SM, Gil J, Irazusta J. Anthropometric parameters, age, and agility as performance predictors in elite female basketball players. *J of Strength Condition Res.* (2018) 32:1723–30. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002043
- Gil SM, Yanci J, Otero M, Olasagasti J, Badiola A, Bidaurrazaga-Letona I. The Functional Classification and Field Test Performance in Wheelchair Basketball Players. J Hum Kinet. (2015) 46:219–30. doi: 10.1515/hukin-2015-0050
- 34. Gorostiaga E, M. Wagner H, Buchecker M, Von Duvillard SP, Müller E. Differences in physical fitness and throwing velocity among elite and amateur male handball players. *Int J Sports Med.* (2005) 26:225–32. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-820974
- Granados C, Izquierdo M, Ibanez J, Bonnabau H. Gorostiaga EM. Differences in physical fitness and throwing velocity among elite and amateur female handball players. *Int J Sports Med.* (2007) 28:860–7. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-964989
- 36. Granados C, Reichard B, Katz-Leurer M, Rubinstein M, Croisier JL. Dvir Z. Are there any differences in physical fitness and throwing velocity between national and international elite female handball players? J Strength Condition Res. (2013) 27:723–32. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31825fe955
- Granados C, Yanci J, Badiola A, Iturricastillo A, Otero M, Olasagasti J. Anthropometry and performance in wheelchair basketball. J Strength Cond Res. (2015) 29:1812–20. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000817
- De Groot S, Balvers IJ, Kouwenhoven SM, Janssen TW. Validity and reliability of tests determining performance-related components of wheelchair basketball. J Sports Sci. (2012) 30:879–87. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.675082
- Marszałek, J, Kosmol A, Morgulec-Adamowicz N, Mróz A, Gryko K, Klavina A. Laboratory and non-laboratory assessment of anaerobic performance of elite male wheelchair basketball athletes. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:514. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00514
- Marszalek J, Kosmol A, Morgulec-Adamowicz N, Mroz A. Gryko K, Molik B. Test-retest reliability of the newly developed field-based tests focuses on short time efforts with maximal intensity for wheelchair basketball players. *Postepy Rehabilitacji*. (2019) 33:23–7. doi: 10.5114/areh.2019.84185
- Molik B, Kosmol A, Laskin JJ, Morgulec-Adamowiccz N, Skukas K, Dbrowska A. Wheelchair basketball skill test: differences between athletes' functional classification level and disability type. *Fizyoterapi Rehabilitasyon*. (2010) 21:11–19.
- Moss SL, McWhannell N, Michalsik LB, Twist C. Anthropometric and physical performance characteristics of top-elite, elite and non-elite youth female team handball players. J Sports Sci. (2015) 3:1780–89. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2015.1012099
- Ortega-Becerra, M. Determinant factors of physical performance and specific throwing in handball players of different ages. J Strength Condition Res. (2018) 32:1778–86. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002050
- Saavedra JM, Kristjánsdóttir H, Einarsson IÞ*, Guð*mundsdóttir ML, Þ*orgeirsson S, Stefansson A. Anthropometric characteristics, physical fitness,

and throwing velocity in elite women's handball teams. *J Strength Condition Res.* (2018) 32:2294–301. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002412

- Saavedra JM, Kristjánsdóttir H, Einarsson IÞ*, Guð*mundsdóttir ML, b*orgeirsson S, Stefansson A. Validity and reliability of the new handball- specific complex test. J Strength Condition Res. (2016) 30:476–86. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001061
- Tachibana K, Mutsuzaki H, Shimizu Y, Doi T, Hotta K, Wadano Y. Influence of functional classification on skill tests in elite female wheelchair basketball athletes. *Medicina*. (2019) 55:740. doi: 10.3390/medicina551 10740
- Visnapuu M, Jürimäe T. Relations of anthropometric parameters with scores on basic and specific motor tasks in young handball players. *Perceptual Motor Skills*. (2009) 108:670–6. doi: 10.2466/pms.108.3.670-676
- Wagner H, Orwat M, Hinz M, Pfusterschmied J, Bacharach DW, Von Duvillard SP, et al. Testing game-based performance in team-handball. J Strength Condition Res. (2016) 30:2794–801. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000580
- Yanci J, Granados C, Otero M, Badiola A, Olasagasti J, et al. Sprint, agility, strength and endurance capacity in wheelchair basketball players. *Biol Sport*. (2015) 32:71–8. doi: 10.5604/20831862.1127285
- Yilla AB, Sherrill C. Validating the beck battery of quad rugby skill tests. *Hum Kinetics*. (1998) 15:155–67. doi: 10.1123/apaq.15.2.155
- Yüksel MF, Sevindi T. Examination of performance levels of wheelchair basketball players playing in different leagues. Sports. (2018) 6:1. doi: 10.3390/sports6010018
- Vanlandewijck YC, Daly DJ, Theisen DM. Field test evaluation of aerobic, anaerobic and wheelchair basketball skill performances. *Int J Sports Med.* (1999) 20:548–54. doi: 10.1055/s-1999-9465

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Altmann, Mason, Geurts, Camp and Vanlandewijck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Learning of Wheelchair Racing Propulsion Skills Over Three Weeks of Wheeling Practice on an Instrumented Ergometer in Able-Bodied Novices

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hua-Fang Liao, National Taiwan University, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Martin Ferguson-Pell, University of Alberta, Canada Zhuoying QIU, China Rehabilitation Research Center/WHO Collaborating Center for Family International Classifications, China

*Correspondence:

Lucas van der Woude I.h.v.van.der.woude@umcg.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 14 September 2021 Accepted: 24 January 2022 Published: 09 March 2022

Citation:

de Klerk R, van der Jagt G, Veeger D, van der Woude L and Vegter R (2022) Learning of Wheelchair Racing Propulsion Skills Over Three Weeks of Wheeling Practice on an Instrumented Ergometer in Able-Bodied Novices. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:777085. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.777085 Rick de Klerk^{1†}, Gabriëlle van der Jagt^{1†}, Dirkjan Veeger², Lucas van der Woude^{1,3*} and Riemer Vegter^{1,4}

¹ Center for Human Movement Sciences, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ² Mechanical, Maritime and Materials Engineering, Delft University of Technology, Delft, Netherlands, ³ Center for Rehabilitation, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ⁴ Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom

The acquisition of daily handrim wheelchair propulsion skill as a multi-layered phenomenon has been studied in the past. Wheelchair racing, however, is considerably different from daily handrim wheelchair propulsion in terms of propulsion technique, as well as the underlying equipment and interface. Understanding wheelchair racing skill acquisition is important from a general motor learning and skill acquisition perspective, but also from a performance and injury prevention perspective. The aim of the current lab-based study was 2-fold: to investigate the evolution of racing wheelchair propulsion skill among a sample of novices and to compare them with an experienced wheelchair racer under similar conditions. A convenience sample of 15 able-bodied novices (8 male, 7 female) completed a standardized three-week submaximal uninstructed practice protocol (3 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 3x4 min per session) in a racing wheelchair on an ergometer. Required wheeling velocity was set at 2.78 m/s (10 km/h) and a rolling friction coefficient of 0.011 (resulting in a mean target load of 21W) was used. For comparison, an experienced T54 Paralympic athlete completed one block of the same protocol. Kinetics, kinematics, and physiological data were captured. A mixed effects regression analysis was used to examine the effect of practice for the novices, while controlling for speed. All participants finished the protocol successfully. However, not all participants were able to achieve the target speed during the first few sessions. Statistically significant improvements over time were found for all outcome measures (i.e., lower metabolic strain, longer push and cycle times) with the exception of mean power and torque per push. The athlete used a significantly greater contact angle and showed "better" outcomes on most metabolic and kinetic variables. While the athlete used a semi-circular propulsion technique, most participants used a double looping over

technique. Three weeks of uninstructed wheelchair racing practice significantly improved efficiency and skill among a group of novices, in line with previous studies on daily handrim wheelchair propulsion. The comparison with an experienced athlete expectedly showed that there is still a large performance (and knowledge) gap to be conquered.

Keywords: wheelchair racing, wheelchair athletics, motor learning, propulsion technique, kinematics, physiology, kinetics

1. INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair racing was part of the first international wheelchair sporting competition for people with disabilities in 1952 (1). Since then, wheelchair racing and racing wheelchairs have greatly evolved, the latter now consisting of a long-base three-wheel lightweight configuration with one large wheel in the front and two large rear wheels with relatively small handrims in order to reach and maintain high speeds (2). Races are organized for field and track events and include sprints, middle-long distances, and long distances, including the marathon. Athletes compete in their own class to ensure that athletes with similar impairment race against each other (3). Involvement in sports, such as wheelchair racing after rehabilitation has a positive influence on physical (4) and psychological health and well-being (1, 5). Therefore, it is important that patients with lower-limb impairments get involved in new (adapted) sports, such as wheelchair sports, during, and after rehabilitation. This requires them to learn new propulsion (and game) skills, which is especially thought to be required for wheelchair racing where the wheelchair design and interface require for different postures and propulsion technique. Although there is existing knowledge on skill acquisition during daily wheelchair propulsion (6-8), mechanisms of learning wheelchair racing are still unclear.

To become more proficient in wheelchair racing, an athlete either needs to increase the physical work capacity or become more efficient (1). Experienced wheelchair racing athletes have been studied to gain insight in their propulsion technique and corresponding mechanical efficiency. Compared with regular handrim wheelchair propulsion, athletes use a larger contact angle of approximately 180° and start at 20° past the topdead center of the handrim (9, 10). Starting further on the handrim allows athletes to be in a more horizontal position in the racing wheelchair, reducing air resistance. Moreover, wheelchair racers use gloves as coupling is infeasible at racing speeds. During racing conditions, as segmental velocities increase, the push is performed as a stroke against the rims. Whereas, during regular handrim wheelchair propulsion one can grab the handrims, making push-pull action possible (11). To increase wheelchair racing performance, athletes need to learn this new movement, requiring different movement patterns and adaptations in both physiology and technique. Yet, little scientific research has focused on the acquisition of wheelchair racing skill thus far.

The acquisition of daily wheelchair propulsion skill has been extensively studied for regular handrim wheelchairs in wheelchair users (12) and (novice) able-bodied participants (6–8). These studies generally examined steady-state submaximal performance at low speeds, using gross mechanical efficiency as the primary outcome measure (13). Experienced participants are said to have a higher mechanical efficiency, meaning they are able to produce the same amount of external power output at a lower energetic cost. This is in line with the framework of Sparrow and Newel (14, 15) and Almåsbakk et al. (16), where cyclic movement patters are thought to emerge through the interaction of different constraints, with metabolic energy as an optimization parameter. The increase in mechanical efficiency can be due to improvements in propulsion skill and/or physiological adaptation (12). A high mechanical efficiency in wheelchair propulsion was linked to increased wheeling proficiency, expressed as greater contact angles and a decreased push frequency, which is especially beneficial as this is thought to improve mobility and reduce risk of injury (17, 18).

A better technique and higher efficiency are also beneficial to racing performance (9, 10) and could reduce injury sensitivity. However, racing and regular handrim wheelchair propulsion skill are distinct and there is no information available on the acquisition of wheelchair racing skill. One challenge specific to wheelchair racing is to maintain extreme high velocities. Smaller sized handrims help to meet the required speeds to some extent, since linear hand speed can be kept lower with smaller rim diameters which was shown to be more efficient and less straining in experienced wheelers (19). Yet, the majority of wheelchair racing performance probably still comes down to underlying coordination and skill. Like regular handrim wheelchair propulsion, wheelchair racing can be approached as a cyclical skill where motor learning can be quantified as a decrease in energy expenditure (8, 14). As such, mechanical efficiency is expected to increase, as mastering this task should result in more optimal kinetic and kinematic solutions (7, 16).

The current study focused on the initial motor learning process of three weeks of lab-based uninstructed wheelchair racing propulsion practice in inexperienced able-bodied participants on a wheelchair ergometer. More specifically, it examines the gross mechanical efficiency as the primary outcome measure for motor learning and the concomitant kinetic and kinematic solutions of the participants. Able-bodied participants were chosen as they are full novice to the task and form a relatively homogeneous group (similar age, lack of wheelchair experience, and no comorbidities), minimizing the inter-individual variation which allows to better isolate the effect of uninstructed learning on the outcomes of the motor learning process (20). Additionally, an experienced athlete performed a similar protocol to provide a reference for skilled wheelchair racing propulsion.



2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Participants

The current study used a convenience sample of 15 inexperienced able-bodied participants (7 female/8 male, 22.0 (\pm 1.35) years old, 69.3 (\pm 9.87) kg). The sample size was based on previous studies with a similar design in regular handrim wheelchairs (8, 21, 22). Participants were eligible for inclusion if they had no previous experience with wheelchair propulsion and no contraindications for exercise [PARQ, (23)]. Additionally, one high-level T54 middle-distance athlete, was included for comparison (male, 67 kg). All participants provided written informed consent after receiving detailed information about the study. The study was approved by the local ethical committee of the Center for Human Movement Sciences, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen.

2.2. Study Design

Participants received a total practice load of 108-min consisting of nine sessions (three sessions per week for three weeks) of 3x4 min of submaximal manual racing wheelchair exercise (Figure 1) on an instrumented wheelchair roller ergometer [Lode, Groningen, The Netherlands, (24)]. This practice load was shown to be sufficient to achieve a learning effect in regular handrim wheelchair propulsion (6, 20, 25). They received no advice on propulsion technique prior to the experiment and no feedback during the sessions, resulting in a "natural" learning process (26). Before the start of an exercise block, the sole instruction was to propel at a required speed of 2.78 m/s (10 km/h) and to hit/push the handrim with the soft hand gloves. The required velocity was based on a pilot determining a feasible, yet fast enough, speed for untrained participants. A computer screen in front of the participants provided visual feedback on the actual and target speeds (21).

2.3. Equipment

2.3.1. Wheelchair

All tests were performed in the same experimental Amasis racing wheelchair (Wolturnes, Nibe, Denmark) with 0.71 m (28-inch) wheels and 0.38 m (15-inch) handrims on the roller ergometer. The wheelchair was not individually accommodated. Participants used soft hand gloves to push the handrim. The athlete performed

in his personal racing wheelchair with 28-inch wheels and 37 cm diameter handrim. Tire pressure of the rear wheels was set at 800 kPa (8 bar) before every session.

2.3.2. Physiology

Metabolic data were collected using a K5 Cardio-Pulmonary Exercise Testing (CPET) spirometer (COSMED, Rome, Italy) in breath-by-breath mode. Turbine, room air, reference gas, and delay calibrations for the spirometer were performed before each session. Heart rate was measured with a Garmin HRM Dual (Garmin International Inc, Kansas, USA) connected with the CPET. Participants were asked to rate their perceived exertion on a 6-20 Borg scale (27).

2.3.3. Kinetics

Force and velocity data were collected with an Esseda (Lode BV, The Netherlands) wheelchair ergometer at 100 Hz [for a technical description see (24)]. The ergometer was calibrated to account for static and dynamic friction before each session. For a demonstration of this process see (28). A rolling friction coefficient of 0.011 was set, resulting in a theoretical power output of 21 W at the mean body weight of the novice participants in this study. The coefficient was based on eight coast-down tests (29) with two athletes at the outdoor athletics track at the Olympic Training Center Papendal. The athlete, originally part of another study, performed at a power output of 28 W.

2.3.4. Kinematics

Finally, an active cluster marker was placed on the righthand glove and tracked by an optoelectronic camera system (Optotrack, Northern Digital, Waterloo, Canada) at 100 Hz. The cluster was used to determine the location of second and fifth metacarpal (M2 and M5) during propulsion.

2.4. Analyses

All analyses were performed in Python [The Python Foundation, (30)] using a custom package available on the Python Package Index (31). To examine the motor learning process over time, all blocks were included and the last minute of each block was used, assuming steady-state propulsion. Finally, the mean of the three blocks per session were used for statistical analysis. Pre-processed



data are available as a supplementary material file in a comma separated values (.csv) format (32).

2.4.1. Physiology

Heart rate, respiratory exchange ratio (RER), and energy expenditure (EE) were obtained from the CPET system. Gross mechanical efficiency (GME) was calculated from the EE and the external power output (PO) obtained from the ergometer:

$$GME(\%) = EE * PO^{-1} * 100$$
(1)

GME for sessions where the mean RER was higher than 1.0 were discarded, which was the case for three samples (**Figure 2**).

2.4.2. Kinetics

Kinetic data (force on the roller) from the ergometer were first filtered using a 15 Hz 4th-order zero-phase Butterworth filter. Propulsion technique variables (contact angle, push & cycle time, mean & peak torque and power per push, and work per push) were then determined based on the speed and force data from the ergometer for the left and the right side. Afterwards, the mean of the left and right side was used for further (statistical) analysis.

2.4.3. Kinematics

The last fifteen s of the M2 virtual marker location were plotted for each block of the first- and last session. Three raters (GJ, RK, and PW) qualitatively rated the propulsion technique using the definitions of Boninger et al. (33): Arcing (ARC), double looping over propulsion (DLOP), semicircular (SC), and single looping over propulsion (SLOP). Participants using the ARC pattern follow the pushrim closely for a small arc during the push and recovery phase. The DLOP pattern is characterized by the hands starting above the pushrim, then following the handrim, and then going over, crossing, and going under the pushrim during the recovery phase. In the SC pattern the hand dips under the handrim in a circular or elliptic motion and in the SLOP pattern the hand passes over the handrim during the recovery phase (33). The most frequent technique among blocks was identified as the session technique. In the case of a tie, the observed technique of the last block was used, this was done for each rater individually. Finally, the most frequent technique among raters was determined and reported.

2.5. Statistics

2.5.1. Physiology and Kinetics

A linear mixed effects analysis of the effect of time (session 1–9) was performed using R [R Core Team, (34)] and the lme4 package (35). Time and speed (without interaction term) were included in the model as fixed effects. Speed was added as not all participants were able to achieve the target velocity during the first sessions (**Figure 2**). Separate random intercepts and slopes were added for participants for the effect of time. The final model was defined as:

$$outcome \sim session + speed + (1 + session|subject)$$
 (2)

There were no obvious deviations in the residual plots with regards to homoscedasticity or normality. P-values were obtained with a likelihood ratio test of the full model vs. a model without the effect of time. Data from the last session were compared with the athlete using a one-sample *t*-test. An alpha of 0.05 was used for all statistical tests.

2.5.2. Kinematics

Fleiss' Kappa was calculated to determine the agreement between raters with regards to the propulsion technique and were interpreted based on the suggestions of Landis and Koch (36). A contingency table was produced to describe the development of propulsion technique, but no further



significantly changed over time. The athlete scored significantly "better" on all parameters shown, except for cycle time (D).

statistical analysis was performed due to the sparsity of the data.

3. RESULTS

All participants completed the experiment successfully. Yet, not all novices were able to achieve the desired velocity $(\pm 5\%)$

during the first three sessions (**Figure 2**). Resultingly, speed and power output significantly increased between subsequent sessions as participants were increasingly able to achieve the target speed (**Figure 2**). Concomitantly, the average respiratory exchange ratio was higher than 1.0 during the first two sessions for some of the participants (2/15 in session 1 and 1/15 in session 2).

de Klerk et al.

TABLE 1 | Outcomes: last minute of each block aggregated by session and reference data of a single wheelchair athlete with mixed effects regression and one-sample t-test results (n=15).

Variable					Session							St	atistics			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A ^a	Speed ^c	Time ^c	χ²	p ^d	te	р
Protocol																
Speed	2.34 (0.39)	2.53 (0.27)	2.68 (0.15)	2.76 (0.08)	2.78 (0.08)	2.79 (0.09)	2.81 (0.08)	2.79 (0.14)	2.84 (0.08)	2.78	n.a.	2.45 (0.07)	13.987	<0.001	2.60	0.02 ^f
Power	19.7 (4.49)	21.6 (3.55)	22.7 (3.15)	23.6 (3.2)	23.6 (3.04)	23.7 (3.03)	23.8 (2.97)	23.7 (3.20)	24.1 (2.97)	28.4	n.a.	0.43 (0.09)	13.195	<0.001	-5.50	<0.001
Physiological																
RPE (6-20)	15.2 (1.8)	14.3 (2.14)	13.6 (1.85)	13.2 (2.09)	12.4 (2.03)	12.2 (1.98)	11.8 (2.23)	11.6 (1.77)	11.4 (1.60)	8.0	-2.04 (0.47)	-0.36 (0.05)	22.937	< 0.001	8.20	<0.001
HR (BPM)	141 (19.5)	142 (20.7)	132 (20.2)	130 (20.5)	126 (19.8)	124 (12.9)	119 (14.3)	120 (14.1)	120 (12.8)	101	2.36 (4.95)	-3.21 (0.56)	19.128	< 0.001	6.04	<0.001
EE (W)	552 (152)	543 (115)	544 (134)	522 (123)	510 (105)	482 (72.7)	451 (71.1)	445 (61.4)	450 (58.2)	426	112 (31.4)	-21.7 (3.71)	19.105	< 0.001	1.52	0.06
GME (%) ^b	3.88 (0.78)	4.06 (0.76)	4.37 (0.94)	4.68 (0.93)	4.75 (0.81)	4.96 (0.63)	5.36 (0.77)	5.4 (0.94)	5.39 (0.60)	6.66	0.74 (0.32)	0.18 (0.83)	18.276	< 0.001	-8.20	<0.001
Kinetics (per push)																
Contact angle (deg)	70.0 (20.4)	78.2 (15.0)	86.8 (13.5)	91.3 (17.7)	96.2 (15.7)	98.7 (14.6)	103 (18.8)	106 (19.3)	108 (20.7)	165	28.7 (4.80)	3.12 (0.84)	10.216	< 0.01	-10.4	<0.001
Push time (s)	0.17 (0.04)	0.17 (0.03)	0.18 (0.03)	0.19 (0.04)	0.19 (0.03)	0.20 (0.03)	0.21 (0.04)	0.21 (0.04)	0.21 (0.04)	0.37	0.003 (0.001)	0.006 (0.002)	8.9818	<0.01	-15.4	<0.001
Cycle time (s)	0.75 (0.23)	0.88 (0.22)	0.94 (0.21)	1.02 (0.26)	1.10 (0.25)	1.18 (0.32)	1.18 (0.34)	1.2 (0.32)	1.26 (0.39)	1.26	0.32 (0.07)	0.04 (0.01)	8.8434	< 0.01	0.00	0.50
Mean torque (Nm)	6.76 (2.31)	7.1 (2.39)	7.15 (2.08)	7.56 (2.44)	7.79 (2.48)	8.07 (2.92)	7.55 (1.75)	7.69 (1.85)	7.73 (1.87)	6.17			0.0242	0.87	3.22	0.03
Peak torque (Nm)	12.4 (3.85)	12.9 (3.97)	13.2 (3.92)	13.9 (4.24)	14.4 (4.58)	15.1 (4.93)	14.6 (3.76)	15.0 (4.44)	15.0 (4.10)	13.0	2.35 (0.81)	0.24 (0.10)	4.8888	0.03	1.89	0.04
Work (J)	8.59 (3.73)	10.2 (3.85)	11.3 (3.68)	12.7 (5.21)	13.7 (5.00)	14.5 (5.8)	14.2 (4.71)	14.9 (4.87)	15.3 (5.41)	18.3	6.25 (1.01)	0.49 (0.16)	7.5477	<0.01	-2.07	0.03
Mean power (W)	51.0 (23.7)	57.2 (22.8)	60.3 (19.1)	65.5 (22.1)	68.0 (22.8)	70.5 (26.0)	66.5 (16.0)	67.2 (17.2)	68.6 (17.2)	48.1			0.0768	0.78	4.61	<0.001
Peak power (W)	93.0 (40.0)	104 (38.4)	111 (36.3)	120 (38.5)	126 (42.1)	132 (44.3)	128 (34.0)	131 (40.7)	133 (37.7)	102	54.8 (7.07)	2.06 (0.85)	5.2618	0.02	3.26	<0.01

a, athlete, single block at higher resistance; b, cases with respiratory exchange ratio (RER) < 1.0; c, unscaled estimates ± standard errors; d, p-value from likelihood ratio test; e, one-sample t-test (df=14); f, two-sided p-value; RPE, respiratory exchange ratio; HR, heart rate; BPM, beats per minute; EE, energy expenditure; GME, gross mechanical efficiency.



FIGURE 4 | Typical kinematics examples of the last fifteen seconds of the M2 virtual marker position displayed by different participants (each subplot shows one): (A) arcing, (B) double looping over, (C) semicircular, (D) single looping over propulsion, (E) semicircular, athlete. All data are from the last block of the last session with the exception of panel (A).

3.1. Physiology and Kinetics

Physiological and kinetic aggregates and statistical outcomes are displayed in **Figure 3** and **Table 1**. A statistically significant improvement (i.e., higher GME, lower metabolic strain, higher push and cycle times) over time was found for all outcome measures with the exception of mean power and mean torque per push. Moreover, the perceived exertion also significantly lowered over time from "hard" to "fairly light." The athlete showed significantly better outcomes (i.e., less straining) on most metabolic and kinetic variables.

3.2. Kinematics

Results of the qualitative assessment of propulsion technique during the pre- and post-test are displayed in **Figure 4** and **Table 2**. Agreement among the three raters was "substantial" during the pre-test κ =.790, p < 0.001 and "almost perfect" during the post-test κ =.813, p < 0.001. Most participants started with a SLOP (53%) technique, but the majority gravitated toward a DLOP technique in the post-test (73%). The athlete used an SC propulsion technique.

4. DISCUSSION

This is the first study to examine the acquisition of wheelchair racing propulsion skill within the first three weeks of practice of inexperienced able-bodied participants. In general, participants became more proficient in wheelchair propulsion in a racing wheelchair on a wheelchair ergometer, which was reflected in the successful completion of the practice bouts in terms of speed and power output, and the significant improvements in propulsion skill and corresponding reductions in metabolic cost and perceived exertion. However, the novice participants still had a significantly different propulsion technique compared to the professional athlete.

Lower heart rates and energetic cost suggest that the propulsion technique became less strenuous for the inexperienced participants over time, which is corroborated by the decrease in perceived exertion (RPE). While these lower heart rates may have been the result of improved cardiorespiratory fitness, the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) states that 150 min of moderate exercise, or 75 min of vigorous exercise per week are required (37). Since these requirements are not met with 108 min of exercise and as energy expenditure also decreased, the lower heart rates were more likely caused by improvement in neuromuscular coordination and thus a reduction in cardiometabolic requirements with improved coordination and skill level (20). Accordingly, gross mechanical efficiency follows an inverse pattern, increasing from 3.9 to 4.5% (+39%). However, this is relatively low compared to other studies in regular handrim wheelchair propulsion (6-8, 12, 20, 21), which is unexpected considering the relatively high power output requirements of wheelchair racing propulsion (22, 38). Experienced wheelchair racing athletes generally have a more efficient propulsion technique (10), as was the case in the current study. Yet, the results of the experienced athlete were not similar to those of experienced wheelchair racing athletes in previous studies (9, 10, 39). However, the speed and power output of the current study (2.78 m/s) were also much lower than those

				Before		
		ARC	DLOP	SC	SLOP	Total
	ARC	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
	DLOP	3 (20%)	2 (13%)	0 (0%)	6 (40%)	11 (73%)
After	SC	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (13%)	0 (0%)	2 (13%)
٩	SLOP	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (13%)	2 (13%)
	Total	3 (20%)	2 (13%)	2 (13%)	8 (53%)	15 (100%)

TABLE 2 Contingency table of propulsion technique during the first and last session n(%).

Arcing (ARC), double looping over propulsion (DLOP), semicircular (SC), and single looping over propulsion (SLOP).

of previous studies (3.60–7.20 m/s), which could explain the difference in mechanical efficiency (9, 39).

Coordination of wheelchair racing propulsion is complicated due to the use of gloves, a small hand rim and a fast spinning wheel (40). Coupling happens outside of the visual field which makes it harder to start the push with the same hand velocity compared to the wheel velocity (21). As a result of practice, participants were able to increase their contact angle and decrease their push frequency, which is in line with previous studies in regular handrim wheelchairs (6-8, 12, 20, 21) and the longerslower hypothesis as proposed by Sparrow and Newell (15). The latter states that changes in the timing of movement might be linked to reduced metabolic loads, in line with the increased muscle contraction efficiency at optimum speeds in Hill's muscle model (41). The current study adds to the body of evidence relating control parameters and metabolic expenditure. In contrast to the other parameters, mean power per push did not significantly change. However, using the same mean power on a longer push means that the participants were able to increase the amount of work delivered per push. The wheelchair athlete used an even larger contact angle, resulting in an even longer push time. Even though the athlete performed at a higher external power output, this still allowed for a lower mean and peak power per push.

Only two (13%) participants adopted a semi-circular propulsion pattern which is ubiquitous in competitive wheelchair racing. All other participants used different techniques with the majority (73%) gravitating toward a double looping over propulsion. This propulsion technique is often associated with regular handrim wheelchair propulsion (33, 42). On the other hand, athletes use a near horizontal trunk position during wheelchair racing which limits the available range of motion for the recovery pattern and forces a starting position on the handrim that is beyond top-dead center. As the current study was performed in a lab setting, where no wind or air resistance was present, there is no need to employ a more horizontal position and reduce the exposed surface area. This might have encouraged a different propulsion pattern as the task/environment constraints are different than those of actual wheelchair racing, leading to a different movement solution. However, it is still unclear whether a longer attenuation period may lead to the same kinematic solutions or that the participants are stuck in a local minimum. Finally, while pattern classification is subjective, the inter-rater agreement in this study was high. Nevertheless, some quantitative measures are available and should be further developed to provide a more robust objective method of describing propulsion patterns (42, 43).

Despite piloting beforehand, not all participants seemed able to achieve the desired velocity during the first three sessions. The able-bodied participants were complete novices, whereas regular handrim wheelchair users already have some propulsion skill that could transfer. Wheelchair racing propulsion is a relatively hard task which takes a certain amount of skill to even begin the process of mastery. To borrow terminology from the electronic-sports domain: it has a high skill floor. However, as speed was included in the mixed effects regression model, the statistical outcomes "account" for the effect of speed. The inclusion of one experienced athlete provided information about the reference technique of racing propulsion. Yet, one athlete is not representative for all wheelchair racing athletes across all disciplines. The athlete also performed at a higher external power output than the novice participants, which is known to influence propulsion technique parameters and mechanical efficiency (22, 38, 44). Finally, any potential sexdependent differences between the athlete and 7/15 novice participants are not accounted for. These specific results should therefore be treated with care. However, for other parameters such as RPE and heart rate the differences found are even more pronounced when considering the higher power output. Finally, it must be noted that all results were obtained on an ergometer and in a small sample of able-bodied participants. The ergometer provides a more constrained, yet standardized, environment than a racing track or other training environments. Moreover, the current ergometer setup only allowed for the examination of straight-line wheelchair propulsion. Previous studies in regular handrim wheelchair propulsion, however, have not found any differences between treadmill/ergometer and overground propulsion practice (20, 45). Whether this is also the case for the more complicated wheelchair racing task is an avenue for future research.

The current study examined the effects of a uninstructed learning setup, to improve our understanding of the learning process of wheelchair racing propulsion. Yet, previous studies in daily handrim wheelchair propulsion have also examined the effects of variable practice (20) and feedback (8). Exploring those setups would be especially interesting since learning processes in sports are generally guided or supervised by trainers or coaches. The effect of feedback or variable practice could therefore provide them with valuable input. Perhaps one of the most essential parts of wheelchair racing is the coupling of the gloved hand with the handrim (40). To provide enough friction between the glove and the handrim, a medio-lateral force is required which reduces the fraction of effective force (46). Therefore, studies that specifically examine this coupling and the influence of sports equipment (i.e., rim and glove type) using 3D kinematics and kinetics are needed. Finally, since the sport is only eligible for athletes with an impairment, this seems crucial for understanding wheelchair racing. As these athletes usually already have some wheelchair experience, but might have a reduced physiological capacity or other impairments that influence the learning process. Therefore, future research should also include experienced wheelchair users that are new to wheelchair racing propulsion.

In short, the current study on motor learning processes found similar results for wheelchair racing and previous research in daily wheelchair propulsion. Similar to previous studies, participants show larger contact angles and a decreased push frequency. Using only uninstructed practice, participants increased their mechanical efficiency by 39% (1.5%-point). A comparison with an experienced athlete showed that both the propulsion pattern, and physiological and kinetic outcomes are still different. The performance gap between the participants and the experienced athletes shows that much can still be learned about the difficult task that is wheelchair racing.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: https://dataverse.nl/dataset. xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.34894/EBJBMF.

REFERENCES

- 1. Cooper RA. Wheelchair racing sports science: a review. *J Rehabil Res Develop*. (1990) 27:295.
- Cooper RA, Luigi AJD. Adaptive sports technology and biomechanics: wheelchairs. PM&R. (2014) 6:S31–S39. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2014.05.020
- Vanlandewijck Y, Theisen D, Daly D. Wheelchair propulsion biomechanics. Sports Med. (2001) 31:339–67. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131050-00005
- 4. Hicks AL, Martin Ginis KA, Pelletier CA, Ditor DS, Foulon B, Wolfe DL. The effects of exercise training on physical capacity, strength, body composition and functional performance among adults with spinal cord injury: a systematic review. *Spinal Cord*. (2011) 49:1103–27. doi: 10.1038/sc.2011.62
- Tasiemski T, Brewer BW. Athletic identity, sport participation, and psychological adjustment in people with spinal cord injury. *Adapt Phys Activity Quart.* (2011) 28:233–50. doi: 10.1123/apaq.28. 3.233
- Vegter RJK, Hartog J, De Groot S, Lamoth CJ, Bekker MJ, Van der Scheer JW, et al. Early motor learning changes in upper-limb dynamics and shoulder complex loading during handrim wheelchair propulsion. *J NeuroEng Rehabil.* (2015) 12:26. doi: 10.1186/s12984-015-0017-5
- Vegter RJK, De Groot S, Lamoth C, Veeger HEJ, Van der Woude LHV. Initial skill acquisition of handrim wheelchair propulsion: a new perspective. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2014) 22:104–13. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2280301

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethische Commissie Bewegingswetenschappen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GJ, DV, LW, and RV were involved in the conceptualization of the study, obtaining ethical approval, and writing the data management plan. GJ was responsible for the collection of the data under supervision of RK and RV. Data were preprocessed and analyzed by RK and GJ. RK drafted the final manuscript and all other authors were involved in refining the manuscript. The entire process was supervised by LW and RV.

FUNDING

The preparation of this manuscript was financially supported by a grant from Samenwerkingsverband Noord-Nederland (OPSNN0109) and was co-financed by the PPP-allowance of the Top consortia for Knowledge and Innovation of the Ministry of Economic Affairs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the contribution of Thomas Rietveld and Pim Weytens (PW) during pilots and data collection. In addition to this, we would also like to acknowledge Coen Vuijk for his advice during the conceptualization of the study.

- Leving MT, Vegter RJK, Hartog J, Lamoth CJC, De Groot S, Van der Woude LHV. Effects of visual feedback-induced variability on motor learning of handrim wheelchair propulsion. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:1–16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127311
- Goosey VL, Campbell IG. Pushing economy and propulsion technique of wheelchair racers at three speeds. *Adapt Phys Activity Quart*. (1998) 15:36–50. doi: 10.1123/APAQ.15.1.36
- Goosey VL, Campbell IG, Fowler NE. The relationship between threedimensional wheelchair propulsion techniques and pushing economy. J Appl Biomech. (1998) 14:412–27. doi: 10.1123/jab.14.4.412
- Van der Woude LHV, Veeger HEJ, Rozendal RH. Ergonomics of wheelchair design: a prerequisite for optimum wheeling conditions. *Adapt Phys Activity Quart.* (1989) 6:109–32.
- Leving MT, Groot Sd, Woldring FAB, Tepper M, Vegter RJK, Van der Woude LHV. Motor learning outcomes of handrim wheelchair propulsion during active spinal cord injury rehabilitation in comparison with experienced wheelchair users. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 43:1–14. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1668484
- Van der Woude LHV, De Groot G, Hollander AP, Schenau GJV, Rozendal RH. Wheelchair ergonomics and physiological testing of prototypes. *Ergonomics*. (1986) 29:1561–73. doi: 10.1080/00140138608967269
- Sparrow WA, Irizarry-Lopez VM. Mechanical efficiency and metabolic cost as measures of learning a novel gross motor task. J Motor Behav. (1987) 19:240–64. doi: 10.1080/00222895.1987.10735410

- Sparrow WA, Newell KM. Metabolic energy expenditure and the regulation of movement economy. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (1998) 5:173–96. doi: 10.3758/BF03212943
- Almåsbakk B, Whiting H, Helgerud J. The efficient learner. Biol Cybern. (2001) 84:75–83. doi: 10.1007/s004229900075
- Sawatzky B, DiGiovine C, Berner T, Roesler T, Katte L. The need for updated clinical practice guidelines for preservation of upper extremities in manual wheelchair users: a position paper. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 94:313–24. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0000000000203
- Paralyzed Veterans of America (PVA) Consortium for Spinal Cord Medicine. Preservation of upper limb function following spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. (2005) 28:434–70. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753844
- Van der Woude LHV, Veeger HEJ, Rozendal R, Schenau GVI, Rooth F, Nierop P. Wheelchair racing: effects of rim diameter and speed on physiology and technique. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1988) 20:492–500.
- Leving MT, Vegter RJK, De Groot S, Van der Woude LHV. Effects of variable practice on the motor learning outcomes in manual wheelchair propulsion. J NeuroEng Rehabil. (2016) 13:100. doi: 10.1186/s12984-016-0209-7
- De Groot S, Veeger HEJ, Hollander AP, Van der Woude LHV. Wheelchair propulsion technique and mechanical efficiency after 3 wk of practice. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2002) 34:756–66. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200205000-00005
- Hintzy F, Tordi N. Mechanical efficiency during hand-rim wheelchair propulsion: effects of base-line subtraction and power output. *Clin Biomech*. (2004) 19:343–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2004.01.001
- 23. Thomas S, Reading J, Shephard RJ. Revision of the physical activity readiness guestionnaire (PAR-Q). Can J Sport Sci. (1992) 17:338-45.
- 24. De Klerk R, Vegter RJK, Veeger HEJ, Van der Woude LHV. Technical note: a novel servo-driven dual-roller handrim wheelchair ergometer. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2020) 28: 953–60. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2020.2965281
- De Groot S, Veeger HEJ, Hollander AP, Van der Woude LHV. Adaptations in physiology and propulsion techniques during the initial phase of learning manual wheelchair propulsion. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2003) 82:504–10. doi: 10.1097/01.PHM.0000069941.77921.AA
- 26. Leving MT. Understanding the Motor Learning Process in Handrim Wheelchair Propulsion. Groningen: University of Groningen (2019).
- 27. Borg GA. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1982) 14:377–81.
- De Klerk R, Vegter RJK, Leving MT, De Groot S, Veeger HEJ, Van der Woude LHV. Determining and controlling external power output during regular handrim wheelchair propulsion. *JoVE (J Visual Exp).* (2020) 2020:e60492. doi: 10.3791/60492
- Theisen D, Francaux M, Fayt A, Sturbois X. A new procedure to determine external power output during handrim wheelchair propulsion on a roller ergometer: a reliability study. *Int J Sports Med.* (1996) 17:564–71.
- 30. Van Rossum G, Drake Jr FL. *Python Tutorial*. Amsterdam: Centrum Voor Wiskunde en Informatica (1995).
- De Klerk R. Worklab: a Wheelchair Biomechanics Mini-Package. (2019). Available online at: http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3268671
- de Klerk R, Van der Jagt G, Veeger D, Van der Woude L, Vegter R. Dataset: Three Weeks of Wheelchair Racing Propulsion Practice in Able-Bodied Novices. DataverseNL. (2021). Available online at: https://doi.org/10.34894/EBJBMF
- Boninger ML, Souza AL, Cooper RA, Fitzgerald SG, Koontz AM, Fay BT. Propulsion patterns and pushrim biomechanics in manual wheelchair propulsion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2002) 83:718–23. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.32455
- 34. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.* Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, (2018). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/

- Bates D, M\u00e4chler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*. (1977) 33:159–74.
- 37. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, et al. American college of sports medicine position stand. quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2011) 43:1334–59. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821 3fefb
- Van der Woude LHV, Hendrich KM, Veeger HEJ, Van Ingen Schenau GJ, Rozendal RH, De Groot G, et al. Manual wheelchair propulsion: effects of power output on physiology and technique. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1988) 20:70–8.
- Cooper RA, Boninger ML, Cooper R, Robertson RN, Baldini FD. Wheelchair racing efficiency. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2003) 25:207–12. doi: 10.1080/0963828021000030918
- Rice I, Dysterheft J, Bleakney A, Cooper R. The influence of glove type on simulated wheelchair racing propulsion: a pilot study. *Int J Sports Med.* (2015) 37:30–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1555926
- 41. Hill AV. The maximum work and mechanical efficiency of human muscles, and their most economical speed. *J Physiol.* (1922) 56:19–41.
- Stephens CL, Engsberg JR. Comparison of overground and treadmill propulsion patterns of manual wheelchair users with tetraplegia. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2010) 5:420–27. doi: 10.3109/174831010037 93420
- De Groot S, de Bruin M, Noomen SP, Van der Woude LHV. Mechanical efficiency and propulsion technique after 7 weeks of low-intensity wheelchair training. *Clin Biomech.* (2008) 23, 434–441. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2007.11.001
- Veeger HEJ, Van der Woude LHV, Rozendal RH. Effect of handrim velocity on mechanical efficiency in wheelchair propulsion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1992) 24:100–07.
- 45. De Groot S, Veeger HEJ, Hollander AP, Van der Woude LHV. Influence of task complexity on mechanical efficiency and propulsion technique during learning of hand rim wheelchair propulsion. *Med Eng Phys.* (2005) 27:41–9. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2004.08.007
- Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Fowler NE, Campbell IG, Iwnicki SD. A kinetic analysis of trained wheelchair racers during two speeds of propulsion. *Med Eng Phys.* (2001) 23:259–66. doi: 10.1016/S1350-4533(00)00084-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 de Klerk, van der Jagt, Veeger, van der Woude and Vegter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effect of Haptic Training During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion on Shoulder Joint Reaction Moments

Rachid Aissaoui^{1,2*} and Dany Gagnon^{3,4}

¹ Laboratoire de Recherche en Imagerie et Orthopédie (LIO), Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Montréal (CRCHUM), Montreal, QC, Canada, ² Département de Génie des systèmes, École de technologie supérieure (ETS), Montreal, QC, Canada, ³ School of Rehabilitation, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁴ Pathokinesiology Laboratory (www.pathokin.ca), Institut universitaire sur la réadaptation en déficience physique de Montréal (IURDPM), Montreal, QC, Canada

Background: Manual wheelchair propulsion remains a very ineffective means of locomotion in terms of energy cost and mechanical efficiency, as more than half of the forces applied to the pushrim do not contribute to move the wheelchair forward. Manual wheelchair propulsion training using the haptic biofeedback has shown an increase in mechanical efficiency at the handrim level. However, no information is available about the impact of this training on the load at the shoulders. We hypothesized that increasing propulsion mechanical efficiency by 10% during propulsion would not yield clinically significant augmentation of the load sustained at the shoulders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Riemer J. K. Vegter, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Nasser Rezzoug, Université de Toulon, France Fransiska Marie Bossuyt, University of Calgary, Canada

> *Correspondence: Rachid Aissaoui rachid.aissaoui@etsmtl.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 02 December 2021 Accepted: 03 March 2022 Published: 05 April 2022

Citation:

Aissaoui R and Gagnon D (2022) Effect of Haptic Training During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion on Shoulder Joint Reaction Moments. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:827534. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.827534 **Methods:** Eighteen long-term manual wheelchair users with a spinal cord injury propelled a manual wheelchair over a wheelchair simulator offering the haptic biofeedback. Participants were asked to propel without the Haptic Biofeedback (HB) and, thereafter, they were subjected to five training blocks BL1–BL5 of 3 min in a random order with the haptic biofeedback targeting a 10% increase in force effectiveness. The training blocs such as BL1, BL2 BL3, BL4, and BL5 correspond, respectively, to a resistant moment of 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25%. Pushrim kinetics, shoulder joint moments, and forces during the propulsive cycle of wheelchair propulsion were assessed for each condition.

Results: The tangential force component increases significantly by 74 and 87%, whereas value for the mechanical effective force increases by 9% between the pretraining and training blocks BL3. The haptic biofeedback resulted in a significant increase of the shoulder moments with 1–7 Nm.

Conclusion: Increases in shoulder loads were found for the corresponding training blocks but even though the percentage of the increase seems high, the amplitude of the joint moment remains under the values of wheelchair propulsion found in the literature. The use of the HB simulator is considered here as a safe approach to increase mechanical effectiveness. However, the longitudinal impact of this enhancement remains unknown for the impact on the shoulder joint. Future studies will be focused on this impact in terms of shoulder risk injury during manual wheelchair propulsion.

Keywords: biofeedback, biomechanics, haptic, manual wheelchair, shoulder joint moment, mechanical efficiency

INTRODUCTION

Manual wheelchair (MW) propulsion is the primary mean of mobility for individuals that sustained a spinal cord injury (SCI). Although MW propulsion helps those individuals to regain certain independence and maintain or increase societal participation, it remains a very ineffective means of locomotion in terms of energy cost and mechanical efficiency (1, 2). More precisely, it has been shown that almost half of the forces applied to the pushrim do not contribute at moving the MW forward in individuals with a SCI (3-5). Earlier studies looked at the possibility of increasing the force effectiveness (i.e., the tangential component) using training methods such as visual feedback (6, 7). While de Groot et al. (6) found a significant increase in force effectiveness [mechanical effective force (MEF)] between pre- and posttraining in 10 healthy individuals, no significant augmentation was found in the study of Kotajarvi et al. (7) for 18 experienced MW users. The authors suggested that visual feedback of the average force effectiveness value might not be the optimal training strategy to improve force effectiveness during propulsion (7).

Recently, Blouin et al. (8) used an Haptic Biofeedback (HB) simulator developed by Chenier et al. (9) to increase force effectiveness in 18 experienced MW users who sustained a SCI. The authors (8) have shown a significant increase in force effectiveness using the HB. More precisely, the participants were able, on average, to increase force effectiveness by 12-15% bilaterally suggesting an interesting potential as a training tool for MW users. The HB has been previously shown to be an efficient sensory feedback tool to teach movement and force patterns in the rehabilitation of the upper limb in hemiparetic patients (10, 11). In this study, the HB is defined as the ability to our wheelchair simulator to continuously modify the direction of the force applied to the handrim during the propulsion phase in real time. In general, this operation looks as an adaptive process control. Without HB, the user propelled the wheelchair with a specific personalized pattern of propulsion as represented by his initial MEF. From that pattern, a new targeted pattern is artificially created by modifying a portion of the pattern. This forms a closed-loop control in which a resistive moment to the wheel is added or subtracted proportionally to the error signal between the targeted and the initial MEF. Since there is no visual information fed to the subject, but only proprioceptive information, i.e., a gradually resistive moment at 2 kHz, we call this control as the HB (9). In this study, the HB was modulated continuously during the propulsion phase and it takes <10 cycles when the subject senses the difference between his/her own pattern and the one imposed.

Although it seems possible to increase the MEF using an HB simulator, no information regarding the load imposed at the upper limb joints by this increase force effectiveness is yet available. Several authors suggested that propelling a MW with greater force effectiveness would yield to a greater risk exposure for the musculoskeletal structures (6, 12, 13). In the past, an effort was made to gain a better understanding of the relationship between the propulsive force effectiveness and the shoulder joint reaction moment. In fact, two simulation studies have shown

that, indeed, a force close to tangential could highly increase the joint moment at the shoulder level during manual wheelchair propulsion (14, 15). More specifically, Bregman et al. (14) have shown almost a 2-fold increase in shoulder joint moments when only using the tangent force component as an input for an inverse dynamic model. However, one study (15) suggested that an improvement in the force effectiveness of around 10% would be possible without yielding significantly higher mechanical demand at the shoulder. Giving the high prevalence of secondary impairments at the shoulder among MW users, it would be interesting to determine the *in-vivo* impact of increasing force effectiveness by 10%, as suggested by Desroches et al. (15) using the HB simulator on the shoulder joint moments (16-19). We hypothesized that increasing force effectiveness by 10% during propulsion would not yield clinically significant augmentation of the load sustained at the shoulders.

METHODS

Participants

Eighteen long-term MW users (MWUs) (16 men and 2 women) with a SCI were recruited to participate in this study (**Table 1**). To be included, participants had to have a complete or incomplete SCI [American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) established a grading system called the ASIA A, B, or C] between C7 and L1 vertebral levels for 3 months or longer, use a manual wheelchair as their primary means of mobility, and be able to perform wheelchair-to-wheelchair transfers independently with or without the use of a transfer board. Participants were excluded from this study, if they had any pressure sores on the buttocks or if they reported any pain that could have hindered their propulsion biomechanics. This study was approved by the research ethics committees of the École de technologie supérieure (ÉTS) and the Center for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal (CRIR).

Haptic Simulator and Measurements

The experimental tasks were performed using a recentlydeveloped haptic simulator (**Figure 1**) (9). Briefly, this simulator

	<i>n</i> = 18
Age	42.4
(y)	(13.9)
Height	1.73
(m)	(0.20)
Weight	77.4
(kg)	(14.1)
Time since injury	14.8
(y)	(10.1)
AIS level	1 C8, 1 T2, 2 T4, 1 T5, 2 T6, 1 T7, 1 T9, 3 T10, 1 T11, 5 T12
ASIA	13 A, 2 B, 2 C, 1 D
Gender (M/F)	16/2



FIGURE 1 | Haptic wheelchair simulator.

acquires real-time bilateral three-dimensional forces and moments measured with instrumented wheels (SmartWheel, Three Rivers Holding, LLC) during propulsion. The propulsive moments generated by the user about the wheel hub are used as the input for the dynamic model of a virtual wheelchair. The dynamic model, presented in a study by Chenier et al. (9), estimates the angular velocity of each rear wheel of a virtual wheelchair, which represents propulsion on a ground-level surface. Velocity controllers ensure that the angular velocities of the real wheelchair match those of the virtual wheelchair rear wheels, so that a complete haptic loop is defined between the user and the simulator. Then, based on those forces and moment as well as the desired feedback that will be described later, the haptic feedback is given to the user by two motors under each rear wheel that will induce gradual resistance during the propulsion phase when the user is not following the desired force feedback pattern (8). All the experimental tasks were performed in the *Invacare A4 Ultralight* wheelchair mounted on the simulator. Participants were assisted to transfer from their personal wheelchair to the simulation and their own seat cushion was used. The backrest angle was adjusted as close as possible to that of the participant's personal wheelchair.

The bilateral upper extremity three-dimensional kinematics was recorded with 26 reflective markers captured by six cameras VICON M460 system (Vicon Motion Systems Limited, Oxford, UK) at a sampling frequency of 120 Hz. Markers placement were similar to the one described in a study by Desroches et al. (20). The reflective markers used in this study are the ulnar and radial as well as the second and fifth metatarsal for the hand segment. For the lower arm, a cluster of 3 markers at mid-distance from the wrist and elbow joint, plus the lateral and medial epicondyles. For the humerus segment, a cluster of 3 markers at mid-distance from the elbow to the acromion markers, plus the acromion marker. For the thorax, C7 and T8 markers, plus the jugular notch as well as the sternum end.

Additionally, two reflective markers were added on the surface of each wheel to define each wheel reference systems relative to the global coordinate system. Three-dimensional forces and moments applied at the pushrim by the participants were recorded by the two SmartWheels at a sampling frequency of 240 Hz. Kinematics and kinetic data were acquired and stored on an external computer for further postprocessing.

Haptic Biofeedback

The determination and application of the HB has been described in a previous study (8). Briefly, the HB was determined in real time and based on the difference between the actual MEF and the targeted optimized MEF (MEF_T). MEF is the ratio between the squared tangent force component and the squared total force (2, 21). In the current experiment, the design of the curve pattern of the MEF_T was personalized for each subject. It corresponds to the initial MEF prerecorded pattern of the subject, which was deformed by two linear Gaussian functions in order to increase the maximal value of the original MEF by an amount of 10% (8). During the push phase of the propulsion, the participants perceive an increase of resistance as long as their actual MEF pattern deviates from the desired one MEF_T. The intensity of the HB or the resistance felt by the participants was determined relative to their maximum voluntary propulsive moment (MVM) recorded prior to the experiment. Five relative intensities were used in the current experiment: 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25% of the participant's MVM (8).

Pretraining

To become familiar with the haptic simulator, participants propelled freely for 1 min on the simulator. Then, two trials (named INI) without the HB were conducted at the participant's self-selected velocity for 1 min each. Kinematics and kinetic data were recorded for the last 30 s of each trial. The mean linear velocity reached during each of the two 30-s acquisition periods was calculated. If the mean linear velocity varied by more than 10% between the two trials, a third trial was recorded and trial 1 was discarded.

Training

Training was divided into five 3-min blocks. 2-minute rest periods were included after each block. Each training blocks were corresponded to an intensity level (BL1–BL5 corresponding to 5-25% with a step of 5%, respectively) and were presented in a random order. The HB was activated 3 s after the beginning of each training block and kept active until the end of the block. Participants were told that they had to push more tangentially on the handrims to increase their MEF. Participants were also instructed to always strive for the lowest resistance possible, which indicated that their actual MEF pattern was coming closer to the target pattern MEF_T. Kinematics and kinetics data were acquired during the last 30 s of each training trial. In addition to the HB, the average speed of each block was shown to help participants to match their velocity to the velocity achieved during pretraining.

Posttraining

After a 2-min rest period, two posttraining trials (POST) without the HB lasting 1 min each were conducted with the same methodology used during pretraining. The only visual feedback provided was the average speed during propulsion.

Postprocessing

For each of the experimental tasks, three-dimensional trajectories of each kinematic marker were filtered using a 4th order low-pass Butterworth filter with a cutoff frequency at 6 Hz, while pushrim forces and moments were filtered using an 8th order low-pass Butterworth filter with a cutoff frequency of 30 Hz.

Pushrim Force Measurements

For each of the experimental tasks, the resultant force at the pushrim (Fres) and its tangential component (Ftan) were continuously calculated as well as the MEF bilaterally. The Fres was defined as the vector sum of the three force components measured by the SmartWheel. The Ftan was obtained using the point of force application method (22). The magnitude of the tangential force was estimated by dividing the moment around the medial-lateral axis of the SmartWheel by the handrim radius. The MEF was then obtained as the ratio between the tangent force component squared and the resultant force squared.

Inverse Dynamics Software

Upper limb net joint moments and forces were estimated using an inverse dynamic method (23). The forces and moments measured by each SmartWheel, upper limb kinematics, and the mass and height of each subject are used as input for the calculation of the shoulder joint reaction forces. The segment coordinate system of the forearm and arm was defined according to the International Society of Biomechanics (ISB) recommendations (24). The segment mass, the position of center of mass, and the inertia tensor of each body segment were estimated by scaling equations based on participants' anthropometry (25). The segment length of the hand and lower and upper arms were measured based on markers. Hand segment length was defined as from the mid-distance between the ulnar and radial markers and the 2nd and 5th metatarsals. The lower arm segment was defined from the mid-distance of the elbow lateral and medial epicondyles and the mid-distance between the ulnar and radial markers. The upper arm was defined from the midepicondyle of the elbow and the center of the glenohumeral joint as defined by statistical equation from the acromion. Also, the gender and the weight of the person were used in the statistical equation in (25) to estimate the location of the center of mass of each segment as well as the moment of inertia around each axis.

The outputs of the calculation were the bilateral net joint forces and moments acting at the shoulder joints and the segment angular velocities in the global coordinate system. The net shoulder joint forces and moments represent the actions exerted by the proximal segment on the distal segment and were expressed in the joint coordinate system (JCS) proposed by (26). Positive shoulder moments were in flexion, adduction, and internal rotation, whereas positive forces were medial, anterior, and proximal.

Data Analysis

For each trial, the 10 most repeatable push cycles were used (8, 27). The bilateral Fres, Ftan, MEF, and shoulder joint moment and force components were normalized with respect to the push phase in 101 data points and they were subsequently divided into four quartiles: $Q_1 = 0-25\%$, $Q_2 = 25-50\%$, $Q_3 = 50-75\%$, and $Q_4 = 75-100\%$. The analysis was specifically conducted on quartiles Q_2 and Q_3 because the HB was generally active in this portion of the push phase and also because most of the propulsion effort was provided in the middle of the push. The average of the MEF and each moment components were calculated during Q_2 and Q_3 for the seven experimental conditions (i.e., INI, BL1-BL5, and POST).

Statistical Analysis

All the dependent variables (i.e., average of the Fres, Ftan, and MEF) as well as the shoulder moment components during Q₂ and Q₃ for the flexion/extension, adduction/abduction and internal/external rotation moments, and medial/lateral, anterior/posterior, and proximal/distal force components met the normality criteria (Shapiro–Wilk test, p > 0.05). Repeated measures ANOVAs were performed for the dependent variables in order to determine the effect of training intensities with a significance level set at p < 0.05. When a significant main effect was found, post-hoc analysis using dependent *t*-tests was performed between the pretraining (INI) condition and each of the five training blocks (BL1-BL5) as well as with the posttraining condition (POST). The significance level was adjusted to account for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni corrections (p < 0.05/6= 0.0083).

RESULTS

Pushrim Kinetics

Table 2 shows the average of the pushrim kinetics parameters. Significant main effects were found for the Fres and Ftan at the pushrim bilaterally during both the Q₂ and Q₃. Post-hoc analysis revealed that all the force components in the INI condition were significantly lower compared to all the training blocks. Significant main effects were found for the average MEF during Q₂ and Q₃, as subsequent analysis revealed that the MEF in the INI condition was significantly lower compared to BL3, BL4, and BL5 (Table 2). In fact, MEF in Q₂ varied from 33 and 35% in INI condition to 48 and 50% in BL5, respectively, for the right and left sides. During the Q₃ interval, the MEF varied from 52 and 53% in INI condition to reach 61 and 62% in BL5 condition. We can consider here that the participants modify their MEF toward the direction of the MEF target, which corresponds to a 10% increase at the peak value of the MEF. Since the MEF has a pattern that is participant dependent, we show here that our participant learned the new imposed pattern with our simulator. Figure 2 shows the timenormalized Fres, Ftan, and MEF for a participant that had the lowest MEF and a participant that had the highest MEF at INI and their patterns for all the training blocks.

Shoulder Joint Moments

Average (1 SD) of each shoulder joint moment component in N.m can be found in **Table 3**. For the adduction/abduction moment component, significant increases during Q_3 on the right side and Q_2 on the left side were found between INI and BL3 and BL4. For Q_3 on the left side, INI was significantly lower than all the training blocks. Significant differences for the internal/external rotation moment component were only found on the left side. More precisely, significant increases were found between INI and BL2–BL5 during Q_2 . During Q_3 , INI was significantly lower than all the training blocks. At the right shoulder, significant increases were found for the average flexion/extension moment component between INI and BL2–BL4 during Q_2 and BL3 and BL5 during Q_3 . On the left side, significant augmentation between INI and all the training blocks during Q_2 and Q_3 were found except for BL1 during Q_2 .

Shoulder Joint Forces

Table 4 shows the average (1 SD) of the shoulder joint force components in N. The anterior/posterior force component significantly increased bilaterally between INI and all the training blocks during Q_2 and Q_3 . For the distal/proximal force component, only a significant increase between INI and BL4 was observed bilaterally during Q_3 . Significant increases between INI and BL3–BL5 were observed during Q_3 at the right shoulder for the average medial/lateral force component. Meanwhile, at the left shoulder, significant higher average medial/lateral force components were found between INI and all the training blocks during Q_2 and Q_3 .

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact of increasing force effectiveness at the pushrim by 10% during actual manual wheelchair (MWC) propulsion in experienced wheelchair users using the HB simulator on the mechanical load sustained at the shoulder. The value of the MEF obtained during INI condition compares well with previous research among individuals with a SCI where the MEF ranged from 21 to 56% (3, 5, 28). In terms of shoulder joint moments, our results are also in line with previous research that showed that the main moment components were in flexion, adduction, and internal rotation (29–31). For the shoulder net joint forces, the highest components were found in the anterior, proximal, and lateral directions that are in agreement with previous studies on individuals with a SCI (29, 30, 32).

Haptic Biofeedback Intensity Level Influences the Mechanical Load Sustained at the Shoulder

The targeted MEF in this study was based on the earlier hypothesis postulated from a simulation study by Desroches et al. (2008) that stated that an increase of 10% in the MEF effectiveness would not vield a significant augmentation for shoulder loads. In order to reach the 10% target, the HB corresponding to 15% (BL3) had to be applied. This simulation block yielded statistically significant increases in shoulder mechanical loads. This load was found mostly in the sagittal plane (i.e., flexion moment and anterior force component). This confirms previous suggestion made in simulation and analytic studies (12-15). On average, the increases found in the moments and force ranged from 1 to 7 Nm and 5 to 11 N, respectively, which are of small amplitude and probably only have very limited effect on the risk exposure at the shoulders. Vegter et al. (33) reported a net average moment during the propulsion cycle, which varied from 12.4, 16.1, and 15.3 N.m as measured in three periods of 4 min

separated by 2 min rests. These data correspond to able-bodied subjects and are slightly higher than the one presented here for our SCI subjects. Frost et al. (34) suggested that repeated tasks performed with force requirements over 10% of the maximal voluntary contraction could increase the risk of shoulder injury. The increases in moments and forces found for the BL3 training block corresponded to 9.1 and 3.8% of their respective moments and force reached during maximal voluntary propulsive moment test prior to the experiment. Thus, the advantages of an increase mechanical efficiency during propulsion outweigh the increase mechanical demand at the shoulders, as it would reduce push frequency and one could suspect that overall less work will have to be performed to cover the same distance (33). The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of improving the MEF by using haptic feedback onto the shoulder joint moments. The authors are aware of the difficulty to fix a threshold about the joint moment during manual wheelchair propulsion and a risk of injury. It is known in ergonomic studies that risk of injury is either related to the amount of force applied, but also the repetition. In general, a task that demands 30% of maximal force at the joint is considered as fatiguing and constraining task.

The increases in the mechanical load at the shoulder found in this study, although of small amplitude, might have partly resulted in application of the external forces. Because of the nature of the HB that is to give feedback associated using force application, it is not possible to dissociate the increased force requirements in order to achieve the desired movement pattern. However, it is possible to suspect that over a longer period of time (i.e., longer training), the participants might develop the proper motor pattern that would avoid the increase resistance at the wheel and yield higher propulsion efficiency without the increase mechanical loads (35). Future studies should focus on the adaptation yielded from a longer training program that might give insight into proper future training regimen.

TABLE 2 | Average (1 SD) bilateral resultant force at the pushrim (Fres), tangential (Ftan) force component in Newtons, and mechanical effective force (MEF) during Q₂ and Q₃.

			INI	BL1	BL2	BL3	BL4	BL5	POST
FRES (N)	R	Q ₂	23.12 (6.77) ¹²³⁴⁵	26.57 (8.35) ³⁴⁵	34.00 (16.16) ⁴⁵	36.81 (11.90) ⁴⁵	42.50 (13.73)	43.39 (16.80)	23.28 (7.84)
		Q_3	31.36 (7.99) ¹²³⁴⁵	38.29 (9.63) ²³⁴⁵	50.04 (16.39) ⁴⁵	53.90 (17.92) ⁴⁵	60.58 (17.27)	60.35 (16.78)	32.32 (8.95)
	L	Q_2	22.15 (5.70) ¹²³⁴⁵	26.81 (8.01) ²³⁴⁵	32.80 (13.81) ⁴⁵	35.07 (12.37) ⁵	40.65 (13.26)	43.26 (16.36)	22.94 (6.91)
		Q_3	29.38 (6.05) ¹²³⁴⁵	36.77 (8.95) ²³⁴⁵	46.49 (13.50) ⁴⁵	50.99 (16.75) ⁴⁵	57.33 (17.30)	59.88 (16.45)	31.00 (7.98)
FTAN (N)	R	Q_2	41.62 (7.16) ¹²³⁴⁵	46.50 (9.82) ²³⁴⁵	54.61 (13.88) ⁴⁵	57.18 (15.00) ⁴⁵	63.25 (16.21)	62.99 (15.82)	42.53 (8.08)
		Q ₃	44.52 (10.70) ¹²³⁴⁵	53.50 (13.88) ²³⁴⁵	66.31 (20.32) ⁴⁵	70.63 (25.00) ⁵	77.53 (23.71)	77.84 (19.82)	46.31 (12.72)
	L	Q_2	38.52 (7.33) ¹²³⁴⁵	44.78 (8.55) ²³⁴⁵	52.38 (11.87) ⁵	54.34 (14.35) ⁵	59.18 (15.33)	61.12 (15.38)	40.27 (7.18)
		Q_3	41.66 (9.67) ¹²³⁴⁵	51.26 (14.33) ²³⁴⁵	63.41 (20.03) ⁴⁵	68.30 (26.09) ⁵	74.11 (24.59) ⁵	78.04 (21.99)	44.56 (13.25)
MEF	R	Q_2	0.33 (0.13) ³⁴⁵	0.34 (0.12) ³⁴⁵	0.39 (0.19)	0.43 (0.14)	0.46 (0.15)	0.48 (0.18)	0.32 (0.15)
		Q_3	0.52 (0.13) ³⁴⁵	0.54 (0.13) ³⁴⁵	0.59 (0.16)	0.61 (0.14)	0.63 (0.12)	0.61 (0.14)	0.51 (0.15)
	L	Q_2	0.35 (0.12) ³⁴⁵	0.37 (0.13) ³⁴⁵	0.40 (0.19) ⁵	0.43 (0.16)	0.48 (0.14)	0.50 (0.19)	0.34 (0.14)
		Q ₃	0.53 (0.14)345	0.55 (0.14)345	0.57 (0.17) ⁴⁵	0.60 (0.16)	0.63 (0.15)	0.62 (0.16)	0.53 (0.16)

Bold characters denote significant main effect for training intensities (p < 0.05).

 $^{\times}$ significant difference found with the training block (BLX) (p < 0.0083).





Haptic Biofeedback as a Training Tool for Wheelchair Propulsion to Increase the Mechanical Efficiency

The premise behind the use of the HB is that it provides the motor system with additional proprioceptive and somatosensory cues to enhance motor planning (35). These additional cues might yield specific neural adaptations based on the desired imposed movement (36) and have a better potential for long-term residual effect when used as a training method, even more so if combined with visual feedback (10, 35, 36). These adaptations or the changes elicited when subjected to the HB might be more evident when the participants are either novice to the task or have a poor initial performance (37). As highlighted in **Figure 2**, a participant that was initially inefficient (i.e., poor performer; MEF = 20%) seems to benefit greatly from the HB training, whereas a participant that had initially an efficient propulsion (i.e., MEF = 50%) did not modified his response to the HB training. Thus, this suggest that the training should be adapted to

each individual and future studies should focus on investigating which parameters would be more beneficial in order to optimize propulsion performance.

In this study, different blocs of haptic feedback BL1–BL5 were investigated during wheelchair propulsion. The last bloc BL5 induced a high resistance. The general idea in this study was to prove that the continuous modification of the MEF was possible, since the direction of the resultant force tended to follow the targeted direction. The targeted directions have been arbitrarily set by adding 10% to the initial MEF peak of each participant. It happens in this study that during training with BL3 block, the measured MEF was close to the arbitrarily imposed MEE target. To find out the reason of this behavior, we suggested to base this study to the general organizational principle of control. In fact, van Ingen Schenau et al. (38) have shown that many tasks have a conflicting effect in terms of orientation of reaction forces and the distribution of net joint moments either in the upper limb (push and pull) or lower limb (cycling). They have attributed a special TABLE 3 | Average (1 SD) bilateral shoulder joint moment components in N.m during Q₂ and Q₃.

			INI	BL1	BL2	BL3	BL4	BL5	POST
ADD(+)/ABD(-)	R	Q ₂	1.32 (1.24)	1.30 (1.09) ⁴	1.87 (1.76)	1.95 (1.66)	1.74 (1.40)	1.96 (1.57)	1.36 (0.98)
		Q_3	1.94 (1.49) ³⁴	2.17 (1.51) ⁴	2.53 (1.46)	2.84 (1.81)	3.24 (1.69)	3.16 (1.81)	2.11 (1.33)
	L	Q_2	1.59 (1.13) ³⁴⁵	2.23 (1.56) ⁴	2.91 (2.72)	3.35 (2.79)	3.58 (2.71)	3.65 (2.42)	1.92 (1.22)
		Q_3	2.84 (1.83) ¹²³⁴⁵	3.99 (2.34) ³⁴⁵	5.03 (2.83) ⁴⁵	6.23 (3.97)	6.48 (3.39)	6.49 (3.77)	3.47 (1.97)
INT (+)/EXT (-) ROTATION	R	Q_2	4.89 (2.27)	5.01 (2.06)	5.18 (2.90)	5.87 (3.20)	6.19 (2.65)	6.01 (2.97)	4.88 (2.28)
		Q ₃	4.10 (2.12)	4.40 (1.91)	4.60 (2.35)	4.76 (2.22)	5.15 (1.92)	5.44 (2.75)	4.07 (1.94)
	L	Q_2	7.59 (4.54) ³⁴⁵	9.36 (4.48)	9.88 (4.73)	11.93 (6.18)	12.79 (7.12)	13.03 (9.69)	8.01 (3.04)
		Q_3	6.35 (3.47) ¹²³⁴⁵	8.10 (3.44) ³⁴⁵	9.14 (4.01) ⁴⁵	10.79 (4.45)	11.34 (5.21)	11.96 (5.10)	6.99 (2.81)
FLEX (+)/EXT (-)	R	Q_2	11.60 (3.92) ²³⁴⁵	12.66 (4.07) ³⁴⁵	13.89 (4.22) ⁵	15.38 (4.63)	16.72 (5.72)	16.40 (5.01)	11.62 (3.79)
		Q_3	8.41 (3.84) ³⁵	8.98 (3.77) ⁵	10.06 (4.47)	10.23 (3.30)	10.97 (5.30)	12.05 (5.02)	8.32 (3.24)
	L	Q_2	12.84 (4.97) ¹²³⁴⁵	15.68 (5.08) ³⁴⁵	17.01 (5.55) ⁴⁵	19.77 (6.65)	21.61 (7.58)	21.76 (8.99)	13.66 (3.89)
		Q_3	9.49 (4.49) ²³⁴⁵	11.47 (4.92) ³⁴⁵	13.00 (5.87) ⁴⁵	14.88 (4.96)	15.70 (6.41)	16.62 (6.55)	10.23 (4.03)

Bold characters denote significant main effect for training intensities (p < 0.05).

^xsignificant difference found with the training block (BLX) (p < 0.0083).

TABLE 4 Average (1 SD) bilateral shoulder joint force components in N.m during Q_2 and Q_3 .

			INI	BL1	BL2	BL3	BL4	BL5	POST
ANT(+)/POST(-)	R	Q ₂	26.21 (8.07) ¹²³⁴⁵	31.08 (8.58) ²³⁴⁵	37.69 (10.42) ⁴⁵	42.09 (12.95) ⁴	47.48 (13.57)	44.91 (12.35)	27.59 (8.69)
		Q_3	27.53 (8.90) ¹²³⁴⁵	34.38 (10.83) ²³⁴⁵	42.09 (16.88) ⁴⁵	45.56 (17.70) ⁵	49.44 (16.39)	51.55 (14.29)	29.10 (11.27)
	L	Q_2	24.13 (9.70) ¹²³⁴⁵	29.54 (9.78) ³⁴⁵	34.00 (11.16) ⁴⁵	38.55 (14.57)	43.00 (15.75)	41.84 (14.91)	25.83 (8.98)
		Q_3	25.06 (7.62) ¹²³⁴⁵	32.28 (10.40) ²³⁴⁵	39.14 (15.27) ⁴⁵	43.98 (17.68)5	46.90 (15.44)	50.38 (16.98)	27.53 (9.71)
PROX (+)/DIST (-)	R	Q_2	26.15 (7.12)	26.18 (7.10)	21.90 (8.23)	24.25 (7.91)	24.07 (10.02)	23.60 (11.83)	26.17 (8.37)
		Q ₃	12.75 (7.48) ⁴	11.85 (7.78) ²⁴	8.59 (6.11)	10.05 (7.52)	7.64 (5.12)	10.27 (11.68)	12.48 (9.16)
	L	Q_2	26.45 (7.92)	27.53 (8.77)	24.83 (11.49)	26.91 (9.88)	27.08 (11.46)	25.65 (13.61)	27.23 (8.82)
		Q_3	15.41 (8.90) ⁴	16.51 (9.70)	13.50 (11.64)	12.49 (10.35)	12.35 (8.05)	13.67 (8.19)	15.32 (10.62)
LAT (+)/MED (-)	R	Q_2	7.12 (3.75)	6.96 (3.14)	6.63 (3.31)	6.66 (3.15)	6.61 (3.97)	6.76 (3.53)	6.93 (3.12)
		Q_3	-5.44 (4.73) ³⁴⁵	-7.05 (3.86) ³⁴⁵	-9.51 (5.59)	-10.67 (5.63)	-12.36 (6.86)	-11.36 (7.55)	-6.66 (3.91)
	L	Q_2	7.45 (4.66)	6.38 (4.65)	6.52 (4.81)	7.44 (5.60)	7.50 (6.06)	7.40 (5.33)	6.20 (5.49)
		Q_3	-9.20 (6.15) ¹²³⁴⁵	-12.20 (6.88) ³⁴⁵	-16.31 (10.23) ⁴	-22.22 (17.33)	-23.14 (15.67)	-23.62 (19.76)	-10.24 (5.53)

Bold characters denote significant main effect for training intensities (p < 0.05).

^xsignificant difference found with the training block (BLX) (p < 0.0083).

role to biarticular muscles as responsible for the direction of the reaction forces, whereas the work done by this reaction force will be mainly realized by monoarticular muscles. It will be interesting in the future to test this hypothesis with either muscular activity measurement or musculoskeletal modeling approach.

In earlier study, Blouin et al. (8) have shown that some subjects keep their new MEF pattern slightly higher that the pretraining pattern [see Figure 8 in (8)] into the posteffect condition. More precisely, 7 subjects rise their MEF with respect to the initial one, whereas 11 subjects lower their MEF during the posteffect condition. It is known that learning consolidation necessitates many training periods during weeks. Unfortunately, with the data of this study, it is not possible to predict the consolidation of the new MEF pattern and future study will help to see if longitudinal training can improve the original MEF pattern.

Limitations

This study has a few limitations. The proposed training with the HB was tested on 18 participants with a SCI, which limits the generalization of this study to the other manual wheelchair users. In addition, although the parameters of the simulator were adjusted for each participant, the propulsion training on the simulator was still conducted using a single standard wheelchair for all the participants. Hence, the participants may have been less adapted to propelling a wheelchair that was not theirs. Future studies should focus on the adaptation yielded from a longer training program that might give insight into proper future training regimen. Moreover, in the inverse dynamic model, we do not consider all the shoulder girdle joints and possible contribution of clavicle and scapula motions to glenohumeral loading.

CONCLUSION

Increases in shoulder loads were found for the corresponding training blocks but even though the percentage of the increase seems high, the amplitude of the joint moment remains under the values of wheelchair propulsion found in the literature. The use of a haptic feedback (HB) simulator is considered here as a safe approach to increase mechanical effectiveness. However, the longitudinal impact of this enhancement remains unknown for the impact on the shoulder joint. Future studies will be focused on this impact in terms of shoulder risk injury during manual wheelchair propulsion.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- de Groot S, Veeger DH, Hollander AP, Van der Woude LH. Wheelchair propulsion technique and mechanical efficiency after 3 wk of practice. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2002) 34:756–66. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200205000-00005
- Desroches G, Aissaoui R, Bourbonnais D. Relationship between resultant force at the pushrim and the net shoulder joint moments during manual wheelchair propulsion in elderly persons. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2008) 89:1155–61. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.10.040
- Boninger ML, Cooper RA, Baldwin MA, Shimada SD, Koontz A. Wheelchair pushrim kinetics: body weight and median nerve function. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1999) 80:910–5. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90082-5
- Dallmeijer AJ, van der Woude LH, Veeger HE, Hollander AP. Effectiveness of force application in manual wheelchair propulsion in persons with spinal cord injuries. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (1998) 77:213–21. doi: 10.1097/00002060-199805000-00006
- Kotajarvi BR, Sabick MB, An KN, Zhao KD, Kaufman KR, Basford JR. The effect of seat position on wheelchair propulsion biomechanics. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2004) 41:403–14. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2003.01.0008
- de Groot S, Veeger HE, Hollander AP, van der Woude LH. Consequence of feedback-based learning of an effective hand rim wheelchair force production on mechanical efficiency. *Clin Biomech.* (2002) 17:219–26. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(02)00005-0
- Kotajarvi BR, Basford JR, An KN, Morrow DA, Kaufman KR. The effect of visual biofeedback on the propulsion effectiveness of experienced wheelchair users. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2006) 87:510–5. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2005.12.033
- Blouin M, Lalumiere M, Gagnon D, Chenier F, Aissaoui R. Characterization of the immediate effect of a training session on a manual wheelchair simulator with haptic biofeedback: towards more effective propulsion. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2015) 23:104–15. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2014. 2330837
- Chenier F, Bigras P, Aissaoui R. A new wheelchair ergometer designed as an admittance-controlled haptic robot. *IEEE ASME Trans Mechatron*. (2014) 19:321–8. doi: 10.1109/TMECH.2012.2235079
- Lum PS, Burgar CG, Shor PC. Evidence for improved muscle activation patterns after retraining of reaching movements with the MIME robotic system in subjects with post-stroke hemiparesis. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2004) 12:186–94. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2004. 827225
- Morris D, Tan HZ, Barbagli F, Chang T, Salisbury K. Haptic feedback enhances force skill learning. In: WHC. Tsukuba (2007). p. 21–6. doi: 10.1109/WHC.2007.65

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ecole de technologie supérieure Centre of Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA was responsible for the collect of data, computational analysis, and writing. DG was responsible for All experimental design and statistical analysis. authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Rozendaal LA, Veeger HE, van der Woude LH. The push force pattern in manual wheelchair propulsion as a balance between cost and effect. *J Biomech*. (2003) 36:239–47. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9290(02)00320-2
- Veeger HEV. Biomechanics of manual wheelchair propulsion. In: van der Woude LHV, Hopman MTE, editors. *Biomedical Aspect of Manual Wheelchair Propulsion: The State of the Art II (Assistive Technology Research Series)*, Vol. 5. Amsterdam: IOS Press; 1999: 86-95
- Bregman DJJ, Drongelen Sv, Veeger HEJ. Is effective force application in handrim wheelchair propulsion also efficient? *Clin Biomech.* (2009) 24:13– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.09.003
- Desroches G, Aissaoui R, Bourbonnais D. The effect of resultant force at the pushrim on shoulder kinetics during manual wheelchair propulsion: a simulation study. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2008) 55:1423– 31. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2008.918462
- Bossuyt FM, Arnet U, Brinkhof MW, Eriks-Hoogland I, Lay V, Müller R, et al. Shoulder pain in the Swiss spinal cord injury community: prevalence and associated factors. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2018) 40:798–805. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1276974
- Arnet U, de Vries WH, Eriks-Hoogland I, Wisianowsky C, van der Woude LHV, Veeger DHEJ, et al. MRI evaluation of shoulder pathologies in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury and the relation to shoulder pain. J Spinal Cord Med 1–14. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2021.1881238
- Briley S. Shoulder pain and wheelchair propulsion biomechanics in manual wheelchair users (PhD Thesis). Loughborough: Loughborough University (2021).
- Mason B, Warner M, Briley S, Goosey-Tolfrey V, Vegter R. Managing shoulder pain in manual wheelchair users: a scoping review of conservative treatment interventions. *Clin Rehabil.* (2020) 34:741–53. doi: 10.1177/0269215520917437
- Desroches G, Dumas R, Pradon D, Vaslin P, Lepoutre F-X, Chèze L. Upper limb joint dynamics during manual wheelchair propulsion. *Clin Biomech.* (2010) 25:299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009. 12.011
- Aissaoui R, Arabi H, Lacoste M, Zalzal V, Dansereau J. Biomechanics of manual wheelchair propulsion in elderly: system tilt and back recline angles. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2002) 81:94–100. doi: 10.1097/00002060-200202000-00004
- 22. Cooper RA, Robertson RN, VanSickle DP, Boninger ML, Shimada SD. Methods for determining three-dimensional wheelchair pushrim forces and moments: a technical note. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (1997) 34:162–70.
- Dumas R, Aissaoui R, de Guise JA. A 3D generic inverse dynamic method using wrench notation and quaternion algebra. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin.* (2004) 7:159–66. doi: 10.1080/102558404100017 27805

- Wu G, van der Helm FC, Veeger HE, Makhsous M, Van Roy P, Anglin C, et al. ISB recommendation on definitions of joint coordinate systems of various joints for the reporting of human joint motion–Part II. Shoulder, elbow, wrist and hand. J Biomech. (2005) 38:981–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.05.042
- Dumas R, Cheze L, Verriest JP. Adjustments to McConville et al. and Young et al. body segment inertial parameters. J Biomech. (2007) 40:543– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2006.02.013
- Senk M, Cheze L. Rotation sequence as an important factor in shoulder kinematics. *Clin Biomech.* (2006) 21(Suppl. 1):S3– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2005.09.007
- Kadaba MP, Ramakrishnan HK, Wootten ME, Gainey J, Gorton G, Cochran GV. Repeatability of kinematic, kinetic, and electromyographic data in normal adult gait. J Orthop Res. (1989) 7:849–60. doi: 10.1002/jor.1100070611
- Boninger ML, Cooper RA, Robertson RN, Shimada SD. Three-dimensional pushrim forces during two speeds of wheelchair propulsion. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (1997) 76:420–6. doi: 10.1097/00002060-199709000-00013
- 29. Koontz A, Cooper R, Boninger ML, Souza AL, Fay BT. Shoulder kinematics and kinetics during two speeds of wheelchair propulsion. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2002) 39:635-650.
- Mercer JL, Boninger M, Koontz A, Ren D, Dyson-Hudson T, Cooper R. Shoulder joint kinetics and pathology in manual wheelchair users. *Clin Biomech.* (2006) 21:781–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.04.010
- Veeger HE, Rozendaal LA, van der Helm FC. Load on the shoulder in low intensity wheelchair propulsion. *Clin Biomech.* (2002) 17:211– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(02)00008-6
- Kulig K, Rao SS, Mulroy SJ, Newsam CJ, Gronley JK, Bontrager EL, et al. Shoulder joint kinetics during the push phase of wheelchair propulsion. *Clin Orthop.* (1998) 132–43. doi: 10.1097/00003086-199809000-00016
- 33. Vegter R, Hartog J, de Groot S, Lamoth C, Bekker M, van der Scheer J, et al. Early motor learning changes in upper-limb dynamics and shoulder complex loading during handrim wheelchair propulsion. J NeuroEng Rehabil. (2015) 12:26. doi: 10.1186/s12984-015-0017-5
- 34. Frost P, Bonde JP, Mikkelsen S, Andersen JH, Fallentin N, Kaergaard A, et al. Risk of shoulder tendinitis in relation to shoulder loads in monotonous repetitive work. *Am J Ind Med.* (2002) 41:11–8. doi: 10.1002/ajim.10019

- Patton JL, Mussa-Ivaldi FA. Robot-assisted adaptive training: custom force fields for teaching movement patterns. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2004) 51:636–46. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2003.8 21035
- 36. Milot MH, Marchal-Crespo L, Green CS, Cramer SC, Reinkensmeyer DJ. Comparison of error-amplification and haptic-guidance training techniques for learning of a timing-based motor task by healthy individuals. *Exp Brain Res.* (2010) 201:119–31. doi: 10.1007/s00221-009-2014-z
- van der Meijden OAJ, Schijven MP. The value of haptic feedback in conventional and robot-assisted minimal invasive surgery and virtual reality training: a current review. Surg Endoscopy. (2009) 23:1180– 90. doi: 10.1007/s00464-008-0298-x
- 38. van Ingen Schenau GJ, Boots PJM, Snackers de. Groot RJ, van Woensel WWLM. The constrained control of force and position in multi-joint movements. *Neuroscience*. (1992) 46:197– 207. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(92)90019-X

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Aissaoui and Gagnon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



A Scoping Review on Shoulder Injuries of Wheelchair Tennis Players: Potential Risk-Factors and Musculoskeletal Adaptations

Laura Mayrhuber^{1,2†}, Thomas Rietveld^{1*†}, Wiebe de Vries², Lucas H. V. van der Woude^{1,3,4}, Sonja de Groot^{5,6} and Riemer J. K. Vegter^{1,3}

¹ Center for Human Movement Sciences, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ² Swiss Paraplegic Research, Nottwil, Switzerland, ³ School of Sport Exercise & Health Sciences, Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ⁴ Center for Rehabilitation, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ⁵ Amsterdam Rehabilitation Research Center Reade, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁶ Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioral and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Areerat Suputtitada, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

Reviewed by:

Massimiliano Murgia, G. Brotzu Hospital, Italy Tugba Kuru Çolak, Marmara University, Turkey

> *Correspondence: Thomas Rietveld t.rietveld@umcg.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 25 January 2022 Accepted: 07 March 2022 Published: 07 April 2022

Citation:

Mayrhuber L, Rietveld T, de Vries W, van der Woude LHV, de Groot S and Vegter RJK (2022) A Scoping Review on Shoulder Injuries of Wheelchair Tennis Players: Potential Risk-Factors and Musculoskeletal Adaptations. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:862233. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.862233 Wheelchair tennis players are prone to develop shoulder injuries, due to the combination of wheelchair propulsion, overhead activities and daily wheelchair activities. A methodical literature search was conducted to identify articles on shoulder complaints in wheelchair tennis, wheelchair sports and tennis. The aims were to identify (1) type of shoulder complaints; (2) possible risk factors for the development of shoulder injuries; (3) musculoskeletal adaptations in the shoulder joint in wheelchair tennis players. Fifteen papers were included in this review, five on wheelchair tennis, three on wheelchair sports and seven on tennis. Type of shoulder complaints were acromioclavicular pathology, osteoarthritic changes, joint effusion and rotator cuff tears. Possible risk factors for the development of shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis are overhead movements, repetitive activation of the anterior muscle chain and internal rotators, as well as a higher spinal cord injury level. Muscular imbalance with higher values for the internal rotators, increase in external range of motion, decrease in internal range of motion and reduced total arc of motion were the most common proposed musculoskeletal adaptations due to an unbalanced load. These presented risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations might help researchers, coaches and wheelchair tennis players to prevent shoulder injuries.

Keywords: wheelchairs, shoulder injuries, physical activity, wheelchair tennis, adapted sports

INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair sports participation, like wheelchair tennis, is growing in popularity and is a great opportunity for people with disabilities to get physically active (1). Wheelchair users have an elevated risk to develop various diseases due to a restricted mobility and often sedentary lifestyle, therefore, exercise is crucial to maintain health (2–4). Even though sports participation in wheelchair sports has a broad range of positive effects, it also leads to an increase in stressors on the shoulder complex in addition to the loading from daily activities (5, 6). The prevalence of shoulder problems in wheelchair athletes is reported to have a broad range, i.e., from 16% (7) up to 76% (8). This is similar to able-bodied tennis, in which the shoulder is the most common area of injury of the upper extremity (9). Shoulder pain is prevalent in 24% of the elite tennis players (12–19 years old) (10).

Becoming wheelchair dependent changes the role of the shoulder complex, from providing a great range of motion (ROM) to perform small and detailed movements, into the main source of power for mobility in daily life (11). The motion sequence of wheelchair propulsion itself puts relatively low internal joint forces on the shoulder during regular wheelchair propulsion (12, 13). However, the high frequency of performing the movement in addition to the high shoulder load during specific daily activities, such as transfers in and out of the wheelchair, result in a high exposure to the shoulder joint (12). Changes in the role of the shoulder complex, which require an increased force generation of the upper extremity might lead to imbalances of the muscular system and impact the positioning of the scapula in respect to the humerus as well as both in respect to the thorax (14). Altered conditions in the shoulder joint favor an impingement within the subacromial space and a greater abrasion of the joint (6, 15).

Wheelchair tennis is the most popular adapted racket sport but it involves a high incidence of shoulder complaints (16-19). In wheelchair tennis, the tennis racket is an additional constraint during propulsion of the wheelchair since it interferes with the hand/rim interaction (20). With the racket in one hand, which leads to unilateral power losses because of the more difficult coupling to the hand rim, greater forces need to be produced to maintain balanced power production at both sides (21, 22). As in able-bodied tennis, wheelchair tennis players have a repetitive activation of the anterior muscle chain, due to the unidirectional movements of the strokes. Furthermore, a seated position, as is the case in wheelchair tennis, leads to a modified force generation, as well as changes in shoulder alignment and trunk rotations (17, 23, 24). The core stability and sitting position in the wheelchair have a great impact on the shoulder mechanics and, therefore, on the force generation in the serve and ground strokes (23).

Wheelchair dependence and overhead activities in combination with high training intensities increase the already heavy strain on the shoulder and might be a possible risk factor for overuse injuries in wheelchair tennis athletes (22, 25). Injuries to the upper extremity or overuse symptoms not only negatively affect sport performance but also have a tremendous impact on body functions, activity, and participation in daily life (11). Therefore, it is highly important to identify possible causes and aggravating factors and avoid shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis. The aims of this review are to: (1) identify type of shoulder complaints; (2) potential risk factors for the development of shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis; (3) investigate potential musculoskeletal adaptations causing shoulder complaints in the shoulder joint in wheelchair tennis. Given the small number of wheelchair tennis papers, an overview will be given from a wheelchair tennis perspective, as well as a broader view from a wheelchair sports and able-bodied tennis perspective. Due to the recency of written reviews by Heyward et al. (22) on shoulder injuries in wheelchair sports and by Kekelekis et al. (26) on shoulder injuries in able-bodied tennis, these two papers were taken as central papers in the respective parts of the current review and extended with additional papers.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Search Strategy

A methodical search strategy was conducted in October 2020 using the PRISMA checklist (**Supplementary Table 1**) for Scoping reviews by two independent researchers (LM, TR) to identify relevant published articles on the topic of shoulder complaints in (i) wheelchair tennis, (ii) wheelchair sport and (iii) tennis. In case of discrepancies between authors, articles were discussed between the two researchers. PubMed and Web of Science were used to search for relevant articles. The PubMed search strategy shown below was adapted for the second database Web of Science.

(1) ("Wheelchairs" [Mesh])

(2) ("Sports" [Mesh])

(3) ("Tennis" [Mesh])

(4) ("Shoulder Joint" [Mesh] OR "Upper Extremity" [Mesh] OR "Shoulder" [Mesh] OR "Scapula" [Mesh] OR "Rotator Cuff" [Mesh])

(5) ("Muscle Strength" [Mesh] OR "Pain" [Mesh] OR "Musculoskeletal Pain" [Mesh] OR "Chronic Pain" [Mesh] OR "Shoulder Pain" [Mesh] OR "Wounds and Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Athletic Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Rotator Cuff Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Tendon Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Stress Disorders, Post-Traumatic"[Mesh] OR "Arm Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Shoulder Impingement Syndrome" [Mesh] OR "Shoulder Injuries" [Mesh] OR "Bursitis" [Mesh] OR "Rotator Cuff Tear Arthropathy" [Mesh] OR "Risk" [Mesh] OR "Risk Factors" [Mesh] OR "Health Risk Behaviors" [Mesh] OR "Pathology" [Mesh] OR "Syndrome" [Mesh] OR cause* [tiab] OR mechanism* [tiab] OR complaint*[tiab] OR discomfort*[tiab])

Search string – Wheelchair tennis: (1), (3), (4) and (5) Search string – Wheelchair sports: (1), (2), (4) and (5)

Search string – Tennis: (3), (4) and (5)

Articles from the database search were first checked for duplicates, secondly the titles and abstracts were screened. Thirdly, the full text of the remaining articles was assessed and included if criteria were met.

Inclusion Criteria

Articles in the English language that incorporated some type of shoulder complaint or assessment either in wheelchair sports, tennis or a combination of the two.

Exclusion Criteria

Papers from all categories (wheelchair tennis, wheelchair sports, tennis) were excluded if they had a treatment/ intervention program, an assessment was evaluated/tested and when it was an epidemiological study. For the able-bodied tennis and wheelchair sport papers, articles were also excluded when pain in the shoulder joint was not reported. This was not an exclusion criterion for the wheelchair tennis papers, due to the scarcity of available literature.

Data Extraction and Quality Assessment

Quality assessment was also performed by two independent researchers (LM, TR) for all included articles and was performed with a checklist of Webster et al. (27), adapted by Heyward et al.



(22). This checklist was chosen because there is no standardized checklist available for this type of study. For each question a score of 1 was given for an "adequate" or "yes" response, a score of 0.5 was given for a "partial" or "limited" response; and a score of 0 was awarded for a "no", "not stated" or "inadequate" response. A maximum score of 8 was possible. There were no minimum criteria set due to the limited number of papers that were included in the study.

Definitions of Risk Factors and Musculoskeletal Adaptations

Risk factors for complaints in this review were defined based on Hoozemans et al. (28) in which "external load" was defined using three factors: intensity, frequency and duration (**Figure 1**). The risk for complaints occurs if the value of one of these three factors or the combination of the factors deviates from their optimal value (28, 29). Musculoskeletal adaptions are caused by the risk factors and lead to unfavorable biomechanical conditions in the shoulder complex. An example of a risk factor could be an increased internal rotation balance ratio, due to greater activation of the anterior muscles and repetitive movements. The musculoskeletal adaptation that occurs could be a muscular imbalance. Due to the limited research in the topic, statistically proven risk factors as well as proposed risk factors were included in this review.

RESULTS

A flow chart of the selection process is shown in **Figure 2**. Five papers were included regarding wheelchair tennis. For wheelchair sports, an interpretation of 13 papers of the review of Heyward et al. (22) will be given, with an additional three papers selected for the current review. For the tennis papers, an interpretation of 23 papers of the review of Kekelekis et al. (26) will be given, with an additional seven papers for the current review.

In 12 of the 15 included articles shoulder problems or a history of shoulder problems were reported, of which eight included clinical testing of the shoulder complaint. A wide variety in screening of indicators for shoulder complaints were reported. Radiographic analysis was used in three articles (18, 30, 31), a strength test in six (30, 32–36), a kinematic analysis in three (5, 24, 37), a kinetic analysis in two (38, 39), the Wheelchair User's Shoulder Pain Index (WUSPI) in two (5, 31), visual analogue scale (VAS) in two (33, 34), range of motion (ROM) measurement in four (32–34, 40) and the scapular resting position (25), perceived function (25), serve speed (34) and post impact ball velocity (39) in one of the articles.

Quality of the Evidence

The results of this review should be viewed with consideration to the level of evidence (**Supplementary Table 2**). The quality of the articles in the review of Heyward et al. (22) were checked using the same checklist and ranged from low (3) to good (7), with a mean of around 4.5. Especially inclusion/exclusion criteria, reliability and validity were poorly described across papers. The quality of the articles in the review of Kekelekis et al. (26) were checked using a different, extensive checklist by Downs and Black (41). Due to the great number of subcategories and their specificity, the overall score average was low to moderate, with especially the internal validity lacking.

Of all 15 included papers in the current review, eight described the participants characteristics adequately (5, 18, 24, 31–34, 36). Six papers fully described inclusion and exclusion criteria (5, 25, 30, 33, 34, 40) and 13 described the limitations of the study (5, 18, 25, 30–35, 37–40). The key variables, pain, strength and injuries were measured adequately in seven of the 15 papers (5, 18, 24, 32, 34, 37, 39). Overall, the validity and reliability of the used assessments had limited description. In six of the included studies the reliability (5, 24, 30, 32, 33, 40) and in seven the validity (5, 24, 30, 31, 33, 39, 40) were adequately described. Only two papers (25, 32) adequately discussed the external validity of the results.

Type of Shoulder Complaints Wheelchair Tennis

An overview of the included papers can be seen in **Table 1**. In the wheelchair tennis papers, two (5, 18) of the five papers reported shoulder complaints by the participants. Causes of complaints in wheelchair tennis were acromioclavicular pathology in the dominant shoulder, osteoarthritic changes, joint effusion and rotator cuff tears (18) in the dominant as well as the nondominant



shoulder, most commonly in the supraspinatus tendon. The paper of Warner et al. (5) reported two participants with previously experienced pain due to shoulder impingement and one participant with subacromial pain syndrome.

A Broader View From Wheelchair Sports and Able-Bodied Tennis

Pain was reported as the most frequent shoulder complaint in the review of Heyward et al. (22) and the three additional selected papers (25, 31, 37) (**Table 2**). Other shoulder problems included rotator cuff tears, rotator cuff impingement, acromion-clavicular and bicep tendon pathology, subdeltoid and subacromial effusion, as well as non-specific shoulder issues (22). In one of the additional included papers (31) tendinopathy and bursitis were listed as other shoulder complaints. A history of shoulder problems in the selected able-bodied tennis papers and the review of Kekelekis et al. (26) were tendinosis (30), general pain (33, 34, 40, 42), rotator cuff tears or tendinopathy (38, 39, 42, 43), osteoarthritic changes (44) and labral lesion or tears (38, 42, 43).

Risk Factors

The interpretation of the possible relationships between risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptions are schematically represented using the previous defined model of Hoozemans (**Figure 3**). Due to the low number of articles in wheelchair tennis describing risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations, a broader view from wheelchair sports and able-bodied tennis is presented as well. Firstly, the risk factors will be described, secondly the musculoskeletal adaptation. These summarizing results will be further interpreted in the discussion part.

Wheelchair Tennis

A proposed risk factor for shoulder problems in wheelchair tennis, especially in the dominant shoulder, is overuse, caused by wheelchair propulsion, transfers in and out of the wheelchair and playing tennis (18). The repetitive impingement positioning during the play can lead to rotator cuff tears, especially the supraspinatus muscle, and high compressive forces on the acromioclavicular joint (18). The risk for overuse increases when the internal rotation balance ratio is higher compared to the normal range (35). Another proposed risk factor is the level of spinal cord injury (SCI) (36). Higher values of torque and power for internal and external muscles were observed in athletes with a low level SCI (T11-L3) in comparison with athletes with a higher level SCI (T5-T8) (36). The level of lesion does not necessarily influence the rotator balance ratio in the shoulder by the activation of internal rotator muscles but by the participation of the external rotators (36). Age, training time per day, duration of wheelchair usage and wheelchair tennis career did not present as risk factors (18).

TABLE 1 Overview of articles describing type of shoulder complaints, proposed risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations in wheelchair tennis.

References	QAS (0–8)	Sport (N)	Disability types	M/F	Age (mean)	Cases shoulder pain/injury	Type of complaint	Objective measure	Clinical testing	Activity level	Sport activity/TSI (years)	Proposed risk factor	Musculo skeletal adaptation
Bernard et al. (36)	3	WRa/WT (21), ABT (15)	12 high lesions, 9 low lesions	36/0	27	Х	Х	Strength test	Х	Х	X/13	Level of SCI	Muscular imbalance
Jeon et al. (18)	5	WT (33)	Paraplegic	26/7	36	23	Pain, AC pathology, rotator cuff tears, biceps tendon pathology, sub-acromial/ deltoid effusion	Radiographic analysis	Yes	4–7 h/day	5–15/6– 20	Overuse, repetitive impingement positioning	Scapula dyskinesis
Moon et al. (35)	2.5	WT (12)	10 SCI, 1 amputee, 1 other	Х	33	Х	Х	Strength test	Х	Х	7/X	Х	Muscular imbalance
Reid et al. (24)	3.5	WT (2)	1 L1, 1 Incomplete T10 SCI	2/0	Х	Х	Х	Kinematic analysis	Х	Х	Х	Reduced shoulder joint loading	Х
Warner et al. (5)	7.5	WT (11)	х	8/3	27	1	Previously experienced pain	Kinematic analysis, WUSPI	Yes	18 h/week	X / 15	Х	Scapula posterior tilt & external rotation

QAS, quality assessment score; TSI, time since injury; AC, acromio-clavicular; WT, wheelchair tennis; WRa, wheelchair racing; ABT, able-bodied tennis; SCI, spinal cord injury; WUSPI, wheelchair user shoulder pain index.

Mayrhuber et al.

References	QAS (0-8)	Sport (N)	Disability types	M/F	Age (mean)	Cases shoulder pain/injury	Type of complaint	Objective measure (s)	Clinical testing	Activity level	Sport activity/TSI (years)	Proposed risk factor	Musculo skeletal adaptation
Aytar et al. (25)	ى س	Amputee soccer, WB WTT (63)	29 amputees, 10 poliomyelitis, 4 spina bifida, 6 SCI, 14 others	55/8	24	×	General pain in the shoulder	Scapular resting position, pain, function	×	×	6 months /X	×	Abnormal scapula resting position
Mason et al. (37)	4	WR (10)	6 HP & 4 LP players	×	34	Q	General pain in the shoulder	Kinematic analysis	×	×	X/14	×	Rotated scapula
You et al. (31)	4.5	WTT (19), WAR (16)	31 SCI, 3 amputees	24/11	47	×	Tendinopathy, bursitis	WUSPI, Radiographic analysis	Yes	24,8 h/week	15/25	Overuse, high torques on shoulder	×

A Broader View From Wheelchair Sports and Able-Bodied Tennis

Participating in wheelchair sports bears several risk factors for shoulder problems, which are multifactorial (22). Proposed risk factors were overuse of the shoulder muscles and less trunk control. Performing overhead sports in a wheelchair increases the risk for rotator cuff tears due to overhead motion and the recurrent microtrauma (8). Repetitive shoulder movements with a great internal rotation torque can lead to the occurrence of a mechanical shoulder impingement and are a proposed risk factor for shoulder overuse injuries (31). No associations were observed between age, wheelchair usage duration, training load and the amount of pain due to shoulder problems (31).

Prolonged tennis exposure was identified as the most common proposed risk factor for able-bodied tennis players in the review of Kekelekis et al. (26), due to its negative effect on muscle performance, serve maximal angular velocities and joint kinetics (26, 45). Furthermore, skill level and technique of the player were identified as risk factors. Less shoulder joint load with a lower risk for the development of injuries was observed in professional tennis players (43). Additional risk factors were a prolonged abduction during the external rotation phase of the serve (46) and scapula dyskinesia (47). Proposed risk factors were a stiffer racket (48), racket with a higher polar moment of inertia (49) and previous injuries (46, 50).

The additional selected papers in this review showed that repetitive overhead movements (42) and overuse due to rigorous training schedules (32) seem to be related to shoulder injuries (Table 3). During the serve and smash, the dominant arm is in an abducted position with full external rotation and extension which leads to structural lesions of the rotator cuff and superior labral lesions (42). The overhead motion causes repetitive microtraumas to the capsule and a posterior capsule tightness in tennis players with shoulder pain can be observed (33). Additionally, serve variations like the waiter's serve (39) as well as improper techniques (38) are risk factors for the development of overuse injuries, since alterations in timing of trunk and shoulder rotation in the serve can lead to higher shoulder joint loads. Lastly, a strong upper trapezius in both sides (32) was listed as a proposed risk factor for the development of shoulder injuries in tennis players.

Musculoskeletal Adaptations Wheelchair Tennis

In wheelchair tennis, the supposed musculoskeletal adaptations in shoulder problems are multifactorial. Three of the five papers (18, 35, 36) mentioned a muscular imbalance as alteration in the shoulder girdle, but only one (18) connected it with the occurrence of shoulder problems. Two papers (35, 36) described a muscular imbalance with a higher extension than flexion strength and higher values for internal than external rotator muscles, especially on the dominant side. Differences between the dominant and non-dominant side for scapula



posterior tilt were observed, with a more posteriorly tilted scapula on the dominant side (5). The upwardly rotated scapula of the dominant arm in wheelchair tennis players was higher compared to able-bodied participants with shoulder impingement (5).

A Broader View From Wheelchair Sports and Able-Bodied Tennis

Musculoskeletal adaptations associated with shoulder pain in wheelchair sports were difficult to identify. In the review of Heyward et al. (22) it was suggested that shoulder pain was TABLE 3 Overview of articles describing type of shoulder complaints, proposed risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations in able-bodied tennis.

References	QAS (0–8)	Sport (n)	M/F	Age (mean)	Cases shoulder pain/injury	Type of complaint	Objective Measure	Clinical testing	Activity level	Sport activity/TSI (years)	Proposed risk factor	Musculo skeletal adaptation
Gillet et al. (32)	6.5	ABT (91)	91/0	11	30	History of shoulder problems	Strength test, ROM	Yes	11h/week	6/None	Х	Muscular imbalance, increased GH ROM
Johansson et al. (30)	6.5	ABT (35)	15/20	17	Х	Tendinosis	Radiographic analysis, strength test	Yes	12–20 h/week	X/None	Х	Larger infraspinatus & teres minor
Marcondes et al. (33)	8	ABT (49)	49/0	26	27	Pain in the shoulder	VAS, ROM, strength test	Yes	8–12 h/week	8/None	ER strength deficit	Posterior capsule tightness, IR deficit, ER gain
Martin et al. (38)	4	ABT (20)	20/0	25	6	SLAP lesion, RC tendinopathy, labral tears	Kinetic values, post impact ball velocity	X	X	Х	Timing trunk/shoulder rotation in serve, lower ball velocity, high joint kinetics*	X
Moreno- Perez et al. (40)	6.5	ABT (47)	43/0	23	19	History of shoulder pain	ROM	Х	Х	16/None	Х	Decreased GH IR & TAM
Moreno- Pérez et al. (34)	5	ABT (58)	58/0	21	20	History of shoulder pain	ROM, serve speed, strength test, VAS	Yes	17 h/week	13/None	x	Muscular imbalance, increased ER ROM, reduced IR ROM
Touzard et al. (39)	4.5	ABT (18)	18/0	14	17	Shoulder tendinopathy	Kinetic analysis, post-impact ball velocity,	Yes	Х	Х	Waiters serve posture, higher upper limb kinetics*	Х

QAS, quality assessment score; TSI, time since injury; ABT, able-bodied tennis; GH, Glenohumeral; ROM, range of motion; ER, external rotation; IR, internal rotation; TAM, Total arc of motion; VAS, visual analogue scale; SLAP, superior labral tear from anterior to posterior; RC, rotator cuff. * Statistically proven risk factors.

connected to weaknesses in the internal/external rotation, as well as adduction of the shoulder. In one of the additional included papers (25) it was discussed that a weakness of scapula thoracic muscles due to participation in wheelchair sports potentially leads to an abnormal positioning of the scapula. As a consequence, disturbances in the scapula humeral rhythm and general shoulder dysfunction might be observed (25). Scapula position in bilateral shoulder pain in symptomatic individuals had less upward rotation than symptomatic individuals with unilateral pain (37). During the push phase, the scapula moves towards a more internally, upwardly rotated and less anterior position. During the recovery phase the scapula maintained an upward rotated position (37).

Muscular imbalance in the shoulder joint was the most frequent proposed musculoskeletal adaptations in shoulder problems in able-bodied tennis players (30, 32, 34). The studies describe an unbalanced ratio between internal and external rotators in tennis players, especially in the dominant arm. Increases in internal rotators strength are favored due to the demand during tennis strokes (30, 32, 34). A deficit in external rotation strength in the dominant arm in tennis players with shoulder pain has been observed in the study of Marcondes et al. (33). With an imbalance of the muscular system, a change of ROM often takes place, which can be associated with shoulder problems. Four papers (32-34, 40) describe an increase in external ROM, a decrease in internal ROM and a reduced total arc of motion (TAM) in the glenohumeral joint of the dominant arm of tennis players with a history of shoulder pain. The TAM, is defined as the sum of internal rotation ROM and external rotation ROM (32).

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current review was to identify type of shoulder complaints and potential risk factors for the development of shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis and investigate potential musculoskeletal adaptations in the shoulder joint in wheelchair tennis players. In the course of this review, risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations in wheelchair tennis, wheelchair sports and able-bodied tennis were presented (**Figure 3**). There was a scarcity of literature in all three areas, but by connecting available literature, implications for future research and practice were derived.

Overhead activity with the shoulder joint in an impingement position was proposed as a risk factor for shoulder problems in wheelchair tennis (18), wheelchair sports with an overhead movement (8) and able-bodied tennis (42). Overhead activities, like the service or smash in tennis, repeatedly decrease the subacromial cavity by an elevation of the upper arm and lead to an impingement position (42). The supraspinatus tendon passes laterally beneath the cover of the acromion and the bursa subacromialis in the subacromial cavity, therefore it can be damaged due to the repetitive mechanical impingement (51). That could explain the high prevalence of supraspinatus pathology and bursitis in the dominant arm in athletes performing overhead activities (8, 18, 31, 42). In tennis players with a history of shoulder problems, a reduced glenohumeral TAM was observed (32). Tennis players appear to evolve an increase in external ROM due to osseus alterations, a decrease in internal ROM due to stiffening of the posterior capsule and a loss of TAM in the dominant arm (32, 34). A loss of internal ROM and TAM in the dominant arm compared to the non-dominant arm is a common adaptation in shoulder injuries (32, 34). The rotator cuff muscles have to compensate for the integrity of the shoulder if the ROM and flexibility increases which could then lead to an overuse of the rotator cuff muscles (32, 34).

The combination of being wheelchair-bound and being an overhead athlete can cause alterations in the position of the shoulder joint and scapula which leads to unfavorable biomechanical conditions in the shoulder complex. Wheelchair tennis consists of short intermittent sprints, that demand a constant acceleration and deceleration with changes in direction, as well as the generation of powerful serves and groundstrokes (11, 22). Due to the seated position and lower ball velocities during the serve, wheelchair tennis players reported less load on the shoulder compared to able-bodied tennis players (24). Wheelchair propulsion as well as playing tennis lead to an unbalanced ratio in the dominant arm in tennis players between internal/external rotators due to a high demand of internal rotators during strokes (34, 36). Comparing wheelchair tennis players with able-bodied tennis players, even higher values for internal rotation were observed (36), which suggests a greater muscular imbalance in wheelchair tennis players.

A higher risk of muscular imbalance and shoulder problems seems to occur in wheelchair tennis athletes who have a higher level of SCI and, as a consequence, less trunk control (36). This is in line with the findings of Heyward et al. (22) in which wheelchair athletes with low trunk control had more shoulder complaints compared to athletes with high trunk control. The lack of muscular control and stabilization in the trunk limits the power generation in the kinematic chain (7). Therefore, the upper body has to compensate for the lack of power, which can overload the shoulder joint and increases the stress on the joint (22). In addition, Bernard et al. (36) suggest that a higher level of SCI influences the internal and external rotator ratio by the preferential development of flexor, internal rotator, and adductor muscles. A muscular imbalance oftentimes alters the scapula position to a more upward and internal rotated position (37). In this abnormal position, the impingement within the subacromial space in the shoulder joint is favored and a greater abrasion of the joint occurs, which is suggested to be one of the reasons for shoulder injuries (5, 35).

Given the above-stated factors, wheelchair tennis players are expected to be prone to develop a muscular imbalance which leads to alterations in the joint positioning. This is supported by a study of Aytar et al. (25) that showed that a high percentage of abnormal scapular resting positions was prevalent in wheelchair sports players, which was associated with pain as well as bad perceived shoulder function. In contrary to this hypothesis, Warner et al. (5) reported that the scapula was more posterior

tilted and externally rotated on the dominant than the nondominant side and only one of the wheelchair tennis players reported pain. Postural abnormalities of the scapula, with a protraction of the scapula are associated with decreasing the subacromial space and the prevalence of shoulder impingement (52). The absence of shoulder pain might be related to the posterior tilt of the scapula. A reduced upward rotation, external rotation and posterior tilt of the scapula are increasing the subacromial space, which leads to less abrasion in the shoulder joint (52). The connection between an upwardly rotated scapula and a higher prevalence of pain, was also described by Warner et al. (5). It was suggested that an absence of shoulder pain occurred due to a posterior tilted and externally rotated scapula in the dominant arm. The low prevalence of shoulder pain reported in this sample may be explained by a protective benefit due to a specific training program or sports participation, that prevents a protraction and internal rotation of the scapula (5).

Future Research

Further research should be directed toward more specific wheelchair tennis research focused on the load of the shoulder, risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations. Shoulder load was never assessed in wheelchair tennis, only the influence of the racket and a different hand rim were investigated (20, 21, 53, 54). First the influence of the racket on shoulder load should be investigated, afterwards wheelchair tennis players with and without shoulder complaints could be compared to identify differences. Further investigation of identified risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations in the course of this review, such as muscular imbalance and alterations in ROM, can give valuable insight for the development of preventive training and exercise programs for wheelchair tennis players.

Limitations

Overall, the lack of publications and research in the wheelchair tennis field brought a limited number of papers out of the literature search that investigated shoulder joint injuries in wheelchair tennis. Due to the lack of high-quality literature on wheelchair tennis to be included in this review, it was necessary to combine it with papers about shoulder complaints in other wheelchair sports and able-bodied tennis. This review is a first attempt to gain insight into potential risk factors for shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis and their musculoskeletal adaptations by comparing and connecting the available information with outcomes of tennis and other wheelchair sports papers.

REFERENCES

- Fagher K, Lexell J. Sports-related injuries in athletes with disabilities. Scand J Med Sci Sport. (2014) 24:e320–31. doi: 10.1111/ sms.12175
- Blauwet C, Willick SE. The paralympic movement: using sports to promote health, disability rights, and social integration for athletes with disabilities. *PM R*. (2012) 4:851–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.08.015

Additionally, it is important to mention that the included articles about wheelchair sports in general had a relatively low number of participants, which is a common problem in wheelchair sport literature (55). Several papers did not directly investigate risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations but proposed multiple potential reasons based on their findings, which makes wheelchair tennis focused research even more important. Furthermore, the studies oftentimes did not specify which type of shoulder complaint was the cause and differentiated in the objective measurement tools, which made it challenging to compare the outcomes and draw conclusions.

CONCLUSION

Risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations in wheelchair tennis can only be described from a broader wheelchair sports and tennis perspective. Possible risk factors for the development of shoulder injuries in wheelchair tennis are overhead movements, repetitive activation of the anterior muscle chain and internal rotators, as well as a higher SCI level. Muscular imbalance with higher values for the internal rotators, increase in external ROM, decreased internal ROM and reduced TAM were the most common proposed musculoskeletal adaptations due to an unbalanced load. In the future, these risk factors and musculoskeletal adaptations should be investigated in a more wheelchair tennis focused research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM, TR, and RV: conceptualization, investigation, and methodology. LM and TR: formal analysis and writing—original draft. RV, LvdW, SdG, and WdV: supervision. LM, TR, RV, LvdW, SdG, and WdV: writing—review & editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Leda Maffei and Rowie Janssen for their help in the initial phase of the manuscript and also thank Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences for granting a fee waiver to publish this article.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2022.862233/full#supplementary-material

 Flank P, Wahman K, Levi R, Fahlström M. Preval ence of risk factors for cardiovascular dis easestratified by body mas index cat egories in pati ents with wheelchair-dependent parapl egia after spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Med.* (2012) 44:440–3. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0964

^{3.} Sánchez-Pay A, Sanz-Rivas D. Competitive evolution of professional wheelchair tennis from the paralympic games in Athens 2004 to rio 2016: an observational study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:1–10. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063157

- Warner MB, Wilson D, Heller MO, Wood D, Worsley P, Mottram S, et al. Scapular kinematics in professional wheelchair tennis players. *Clin Biomech.* (2018) 53:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2018.01.022
- Burnham RS, May L, Nelson E, Steadward R, Reid DC. Shoulder pain in wheelchair athletes: The role of muscle imbalance. *Am J Sports Med.* (1993) 21:238–42. doi: 10.1177/036354659302100213
- Chung WM, Yeung S, Wong AYL, Lam IF, Tse PTF, Daswani D, et al. Musculoskeletal injuries in elite able-bodied and wheelchair foil fencers-a pilot study. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2012) 22:278–80. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e31824a577e
- Akbar M, Brunner M, Ewerbeck V, Wiedenhöfer B, Grieser T, Bruckner T, et al. Do overhead sports increase risk for rotator cuff tears in wheelchair users? *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:484–8. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.09.032
- 9. Gescheit DT, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Ornizzolo M, et al. multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an elite national junior tennis program. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2019) 22:11–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.006
- Silva RT, Gracitelli GC, Saccol MF, de Souza Laurino CF, Silva AC, Braga-Silva JL. Shoulder strength profile in elite junior tennis players: horizontal adduction and abduction isokinetic evaluation. *Br J Sports Med.* (2006) 40:513–7. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2005.023408
- Churton E, Keogh JWL. Constraints influencing sports wheelchair propulsion performance and injury risk. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. (2013) 5:1. doi: 10.1186/2052-1847-5-3
- Van Drongelen S, Van Der Woude LHV, Janssen TW, Angenot EL, Chadwick EK, Veeger HEJ. Mechanical load on the upper extremity during wheelchair activities. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2005) 86:1214– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.09.023
- Briley SJ, Vegter RJK, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Mason BS. Scapular kinematic variability during wheelchair propulsion is associated with shoulder pain in wheelchair users. J Biomech. (2020) 113:110099. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2020.110099
- Ballinger DA, Rintala DH, Hart KA. The relation of shoulder pain and rangeof-motion problems to functional limitations, disability, and perceived health of men with spinal cord injury: a multifaceted longitudinal study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2000) 81:1575–81. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2000.18216
- Van Der Hoeven H, Kibler WB. Shoulder injuries in tennis players. Br J Sports Med. (2006) 40:435–40. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2005.023218
- Sánchez-Pay A, Torres-Luque G, Sanz-Rivas D. Activity patterns in male and female wheelchair tennis matches. *Kinesiology*. (2017) 49:41– 6. doi: 10.26582/k.49.1.10
- Chung KC, Lark ME. Upper Extremity Injuries in Tennis Players: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Management. *Hand Clin.* (2017) 33:175– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.hcl.2016.08.009
- Jeon IH, Kochhar H, Lee JM, Kyung HS, Min WK, Cho HS, et al. Ultrasonographic Evaluation of the Shoulder in Elite Wheelchair Tennis Players. J Sport Rehabil. (2010) 19:161–72. doi: 10.1123/jsr.19.2.161
- Matsuwaka ST, Latzka EW. Summer adaptive sports technology, equipment, and injuries. Sport Med Anrthrosc Rev. (2019) 27:48–55. doi: 10.1097/JSA.00000000000231
- Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Moss AD. Wheelchair velocity of tennis players during propulsion with and without the use of racquets. *Adapt Phys Act Q.* (2005) 22:291–301. doi: 10.1123/apaq.22.3.291
- De Groot S, Bos F, Koopman J, Hoekstra AE, Vegter RJK. Effect of holding a racket on propulsion technique of wheelchair tennis players. *Scand J Med Sci Sport*. (2017) 27:918–24. doi: 10.1111/sms.12701
- Heyward OW, Vegter RJK, De Groot S, Van der Woude LHV. Shoulder complaints in wheelchair athletes: a systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0188410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188410
- Fairbairn JR, Bliven KCH. Incidence of shoulder injury in elite wheelchair athletes differ between sports: a critically appraised topic. J Sport Rehabil. (2019) 28:294–8. doi: 10.1123/jsr.2017-0360
- Reid M, Elliott B, Alderson J. Shoulder joint kinetics of the elite wheelchair tennis serve. Br J Sports Med. (2007) 41:739– 44. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.036145
- Aytar A, Zeybek A, Pekyavas NO, Tigli AA, Ergun N. Scapular resting position, shoulder pain and function in disabled athletes. *Prosthet Orthot Int.* (2015) 39:390–6. doi: 10.1177/0309364614534295

- Kekelekis A, Nikolaidis PT, Moore IS, Rosemann T, Knechtle B. Risk factors for upper limb injury in tennis players: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2744. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17082744
- Webster MJ, Morris ME, Galna B. Shoulder pain in water polo: a systematic review of the literature. J Sci Med Sport. (2009) 12:3– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2007.05.014
- Hoozemans MJM, Van Der Beek AJ, Frings-Dresen MHW, Van Dijk FH, Van der Woude LHV. Pushing and pulling in relation to musculoskeletal disorders: A review of risk factors. *Ergonomics*. (1998) 41:757–81. doi: 10.1080/001401398186621
- Winkel J, Mathiassen SE. Assessment of physical work load in epidemiologic studies: concepts, issues and operational considerations. *Ergonomics*. (1994) 37:979–88. doi: 10.1080/00140139408963711
- Johansson FR, Skillgate E, Adolfsson A, Jenner G, DeBri E, Swärdh L, et al. Asymptomatic Elite Adolescent Tennis Players' Signs of Tendinosis in Their Dominant Shoulder Compared With Their Nondominant Shoulder. J Athl Train. (2015) 50:1299–305. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.1.07
- You BC, Lee WJ, Lee SH, Jang S, Lee HS. Shoulder disease patterns of the wheelchair athletes of table-tennis and archery: a pilot study. *Ann Rehabil Med.* (2016) 40:702–9. doi: 10.5535/arm.2016.40.4.702
- 32. Gillet B, Begon M, Diger M, Berger-Vachon C, Rogowski I. Shoulder range of motion and strength in young competitive tennis players with and without history of shoulder problems. *Phys Ther Sport.* (2018) 31:22– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.01.005
- Marcondes FB, de Jesus JF, Bryk FF, de Vasconcelos RA, Fukuda TY. Posterior shoulder tightness and rotator cuff strength assessments in painful shoulders of amateur tennis players. *Braz J Phys Ther.* (2013) 17:185– 94. doi: 10.1590/S1413-35552012005000079
- 34. Moreno-Pérez V, Elvira JLL, Fernandez-Fernandez J, Vera-Garcia FJ. A comparative study of passive shoulder rotation range of motion, isometric rotation strength and serve speed between elite tennis players with and without history of shoulder pain. *Int J Sports Phys Ther.* (2018) 13:39–49. doi: 10.26603/ijspt20180039
- Moon H, Park S, Kim A, Jang J. Characteristics of upper limb muscular strength in male wheelchair tennis players. J Exerc Rehabil. (2013) 9:375– 80. doi: 10.12965/jer.130051
- 36. Bernard PLL, Codine P, Minier J. Isokinetic shoulder rotator muscles in wheelchair athletes. *Spinal Cord.* (2004) 42:222–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101556
- Mason BS, Vegter RJK, Paulson TAW, Morrissey D, van der Scheer JW, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Bilateral scapular kinematics, asymmetries and shoulder pain in wheelchair athletes. *Gait Posture.* (2018) 65:151– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.07.170
- Martin C, Bideau B, Bideau N, Nicolas G, Delamarche P, Kulpa R. Energy flow analysis during the tennis serve: comparison between injured and noninjured tennis players. *Am J Sports Med.* (2014) 42:2751– 60. doi: 10.1177/0363546514547173
- Touzard P, Kulpa R, Bideau B, Montalvan B, Martin C. Biomechanical analysis of the "waiter's serve" on upper limb loads in young elite tennis players. *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2019) 19:765–73. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2018.1539527
- Moreno-Pérez V, Moreside J, Barbado D, Vera-Garcia FJ. Comparison of shoulder rotation range of motion in professional tennis players with and without history of shoulder pain. *Man Ther.* (2015) 20:313– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.math.2014.10.008
- Downs SH, Black N. The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (1998) 52:377–84. doi: 10.1136/jech.52.6.377
- Lädermann A, Chagué S, Kolo FC, Charbonnier C. Kinematics of the shoulder joint in tennis players. J Sci Med Sport. (2016) 19:56– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.11.009
- Martin C, Kulpa R, Ropars M, Delamarche P, Bideau B. Identification of temporal pathomechanical factors during the tennis serve. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2013) 45:2113–9. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318299ae3b
- Maquirriain J, Ghisi JP, Amato S. Is tennis a predisposing factor for degenerative shoulder disease? A controlled study in former elite players. Br J Sports Med. (2006) 40:447–50. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.20 05.023382

- Martin C, Kulpa R, Ezanno F, Delamarche P, Bideau B. Influence of playing a prolonged tennis match on shoulder internal range of motion. *Am J Sports Med.* (2016) 44:2147–51. doi: 10.1177/0363546516645542
- 46. Martin C, Bideau B, Ropars M, Delamarche P, Kulpa R. Upper limb joint kinetic analysis during tennis serve: assessment of competitive level on efficiency and injury risks. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2014) 24:700– 7. doi: 10.1111/sms.12043
- Rich RL, Struminger AH, Tucker WS, Munkasy BA, Joyner AB, Buckley TA. Scapular upward-rotation deficits after acute fatigue in tennis players. J Athl Train. (2016) 51:474–9. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.7.05
- Hennig EM. Influence of racket properties on injuries and performance in tennis. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2007) 35:62– 6. doi: 10.1249/JES.0b013e31803ec43e
- Rogowski I, Creveaux T, Cheze L, Dumas R. Scapulothoracic kinematics during tennis forehand drive. Sport Biomech. (2014) 13:166–75. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2014.885073
- Hjelm N, Werner S, Renstrom P. Injury profile in junior tennis players: a prospective two year study. *Knee Surg Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* (2010) 18:845–50. doi: 10.1007/s00167-010-1094-4
- Sein ML, Walton J, Linklater J, Appleyard R, Kirkbride B, Kuah D, et al. Shoulder pain in elite swimmers: Primarily due to swim-volumeinduced supraspinatus tendinopathy. *Br J Sports Med.* (2010) 44:105– 13. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.047282
- Hbert LJ, Moffet H, McFadyen BJ, Dionne CE. Scapular behavior in shoulder impingement syndrome. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2002) 83:60– 9. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.27471
- 53. De Groot S, Bos F, Koopman J, Hoekstra AE, Vegter RJK. The effect of a novel square-profile hand rim on propulsion technique of

wheelchair tennis players. *Appl Ergon.* (2018) 71:38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo. 2018.04.001

- Rietveld T, Vegter RJK, Van der Woude LHV, De Groot S. The interaction between wheelchair configuration and wheeling performance in wheelchair tennis: a narrative review. *Sport Biomech.* (2021) 1–22. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2020.1840617
- Bernardi M, Guerra E, Di Giacinto B, Di Cesare A, Castellano V, Bhambhani Y. Field evaluation of paralympic athletes in selected sports: Implications for training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2010) 42:1200–8. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c67d82

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Mayrhuber, Rietveld, de Vries, van der Woude, de Groot and Vegter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effect of Fatiguing Wheelchair Propulsion and Weight Relief Lifts on Subacromial Space in Wheelchair Users

Ursina Arnet^{1*}, Michael L. Boninger², Ann Cools³ and Fransiska M. Bossuyt^{1,4}

¹ Shoulder Health and Mobility Group, Swiss Paraplegic Research, Nottwil, Switzerland, ² Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ³ Department of Rehabilitation Sciences and Physiotherapy, University of Ghent, Ghent, Belgium, ⁴ Human Performance Laboratory, Faculty of Kinesiology, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Riemer J. K. Vegter, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Yi-Ning Wu, University of Massachusetts Lowell, United States Christophe Sauret, Centre d'Etudes et de Recherche sur l'Appareillage des Handicapés, France

> *Correspondence: Ursina Arnet ursina.arnet@paraplegie.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 06 January 2022 Accepted: 24 March 2022 Published: 27 April 2022

Citation:

Arnet U, Boninger ML, Cools A and Bossuyt FM (2022) Effect of Fatiguing Wheelchair Propulsion and Weight Relief Lifts on Subacromial Space in Wheelchair Users. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:849629. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.849629 **Objective:** This study aimed to identify targets of intervention for reducing shoulder pain in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury (SCI) by (1) examining changes in subacromial space [acromiohumeral distance (AHD) and occupation ratio (OccRatio)] with fatiguing wheelchair propulsion, and different loading conditions [unloaded position vs. weight relief lifts (WRL)]; (2) associating these changes with wheelchair user capacity, as well as (3) identifying subject characteristics associated with subacromial space, such as sex, lesion level, time since injury, body mass index and impaired shoulder range of motion.

Methods: Fifty manual wheelchair users with SCI [11 females, age = 50.5 (9.7) years, time since injury = 26.2 (11.4) years] participated in this quasi-experimental one-group pretest-posttest study. Ultrasound images were used to define AHD during an unloaded position, and during personal and instructed WRL before and after fatiguing wheelchair propulsion. Furthermore, supraspinatus and biceps thickness defined from ultrasound images were used to calculate OccRatios. Wheelchair user capacity was quantified as functional strength (maximum resultant force reached during maximum isometric forward push) and anaerobic work capacity (highest power output reached during 15-m sprint test). Multilevel mixed-effects linear regression analyses controlling for between subject variability and covariables were performed to address the research questions.

Results: AHD was significantly smaller during personal WRL (p < 0.001) and instructed WRL (p = 0.009, AHD both 11.5 mm) compared to the unloaded position (11.9 mm). A higher wheelchair user capacity (higher anaerobic work capacity) reduced the impact of WRL on AHD decrease. The fatiguing wheelchair propulsion had no effect on AHD (p = 0.570) and on OccRatio of supraspinatus (p = 0.404) and biceps (p = 0.448). Subject characteristics related to a larger subacromial space were lower lesion level, shorter time since injury, impaired external rotation, a lower body mass index and a higher anaerobic work capacity.
Conclusion: This study showed a significant reduction in AHD during WRL with no effect of fatiguing wheelchair propulsion on the subacromial space in wheelchair users with SCI. A higher anaerobic work capacity was beneficial in stabilizing the shoulder during WRL. Our findings may assist clinicians in designing a shoulder injury prevention program.

Keywords: acromiohumeral distance, occupation ratio, subacromial pain syndrome, impingement, spinal cord injury, fatigue, rotator cuff, shoulder pain

INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair users with spinal cord injury (SCI) face high demands on the upper extremity during ambulation, transfers, weight relief lifts (WRL) and numerous other activities of daily living. Especially the shoulder is at high risk for injury and pain. A recent review study reported a pooled prevalence of 44% of shoulder pain in wheelchair users (1).

Pathologies of the rotator cuff have been recognized as one of the main causes of shoulder pain in a general population (2). In manual wheelchair users, rotator cuff disorders are highly present, with supraspinatus tendons most often affected (84-100%) (3, 4). Also, pathologies of the biceps tendons are commonly detected (67-80%) (3, 4). Both tendons pass through the subacromial space and might be compressed due to narrowing of the available space between the humerus and the coracoacromial arch of the scapula. This may result in inflammation, chronic tendon degeneration and/or tendon rupture. Thus, narrowing of the subacromial space is hypothesized as one possible extrinsic mechanism that contributes to shoulder pain (5). Acromiohumeral distance (AHD), which is the shortest linear distance between the most inferior aspect of the acromion and the adjacent humeral head, is a good indicator of the size of the subacromial space and has previously been used to quantify the risk for subacromial pain syndrome (6). The occupation ratio (OccRatio) is defined as the percentage of AHD that is occupied by the tendon (7). This ratio might be even more informative regarding risk for subacromial pain syndrome than absolute distance, since tendon thickness can also change. Both parameters, AHD and OccRatio, can be measured by ultrasound with reliable and consistent results. For AHD, good to excellent intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of 0.85-0.98 for intra-rater reliability and 0.88-0.94 for inter-rater reliability were reported (8-10). Regarding OccRatio, ICC values of 0.88-0.92 for intra-rater reliability and 0.79 for inter-rater reliability were reported by BaGcier et al. (8).

The daily demands on the wheelchair users' shoulder may influence OccRatio and therefore the risk for shoulder complaints. The high load acting on the shoulder during weight lifting tasks, such as transfers or WRL for pressure injury prevention might reduce AHD due to cranial humerus migration into the subacromial space (11). The movement of the scapula with respect to the humeral head might further reduce the available subacromial space during these tasks (11). Furthering the risk, the repetitiveness of wheelchair propulsion might fatigue the rotator cuff muscles and change their tendon properties (12) as well as their capability to stabilize the shoulder joint. A better wheelchair user capacity, e. g. higher anaerobic work capacity or functional shoulder muscle strength, might enable a better shoulder stabilization and thus reduce the risk for subacromial pain syndrome (13).

With this study we aimed to identify targets of intervention for reducing shoulder pain in wheelchair users with SCI. The goal of the study was (1) to examine changes in subacromial space (AHD and OccRatio) with fatigue due to wheelchair propulsion, and different loading conditions (unloaded position vs. WRL); (2) to associate these changes with wheelchair user capacity (functional strength and anaerobic work capacity), as well as (3) to identify subject characteristics associated with subacromial space, such as sex, lesion level, time since injury, body mass index (BMI) and impaired shoulder range of motion (ROM). We hypothesized that there will be a significant decrease in AHD and OccRatio due to fatiguing wheelchair propulsion and different loading conditions, and that greater changes will be observed in wheelchair users with a lower capacity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

The study has a quasi-experimental one-group pretest-posttest design (ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03153033). Parts of the data collected for this study were published elsewhere (12, 14).

A sample of 50 participants was recruited from the population-based Swiss Spinal Cord Injury Cohort study (SwiSCI) database (15). Inclusion criteria of the study were (1) nonprogressive traumatic or non-traumatic SCI, (2) diagnosed neurological lesion level at T2 or below, (3) at least 1 year post discharge from rehabilitation, (4) between 18 and 65 years old, (5) daily use of a pushrim wheelchair and no required support for propelling for more than 100 m, and (6) quickrelease axle to remove wheels from the wheelchair in order to attach a measurement wheel during the later experiment. Exclusion criteria were (1) receiving palliative care, (2) SCI due to congenital conditions, persons with neurodegenerative disorders, or Guillain-Barré syndrome, (3) upper-extremity pain that limits the ability to propel a wheelchair, (4) history of shoulder, elbow, or wrist fractures/dislocations that are still causing symptoms, and (5) history of cardiopulmonary problems that could be exacerbated by strenuous physical activity. In a first step, eligible participants were selected in the SwiSCI database fulfilling inclusion criteria 1, 2, 3, and 4. Subsequently, an information letter including a description of the study, all intended measurements and requirements, as well as a short questionnaire to verify the remaining inclusion and exclusion

criteria was sent to the eligible participants. With this procedure a sample size of 50 participants was reached.

Prior to data collection, ethical approval was obtained from the Ethikkommision Nordwest-und Zentralschweiz and all participants read and signed the informed consent.

Procedure

Participants were invited for one testing session at the biomechanical laboratory of Swiss Paraplegic Research. They were instructed to avoid strenuous exercises 48 h prior to testing.

Several measurements were conducted before and after standardized wheelchair propulsion on a treadmill and a fatiguing intervention of 15 min. The fatiguing intervention was a figure-8 protocol, consisting of three 4-min intervals of maximum voluntary wheelchair propulsion including right and left turns, start and stops, separated by 90 s of rest (total duration of 15 min, Figure 1). For that, two cones were placed 18 m apart on a concrete floor and the participants started in the middle of the cones. They were instructed to propel after the start signal as fast as possible toward the first cone, make a right turn around the cone and stop at the starting point. Immediately after a full stop they propelled with a left turn at maximum speed around the second cone and stopped again in at the starting point. This figure-8 was repeated as often as possible within 4 min. Instructions given during fatiguing interventions were standardized. The protocol has been used before in combination with ultrasound examinations (16).

Data Collection and Analysis

Subject Characteristics

After introduction of the study and signing the informed consent, participants were asked to self-report sociodemographic variables (age, sex, and height), characteristics of the injury (traumatic or non-traumatic etiology, date of injury, completeness of the injury, and neurological lesion level). Weight was collected with a wheelchair scale by subtracting the weight of the wheelchair from the total weight.

Range of Motion

Passive shoulder range of motion was measured prior to the fatiguing intervention with a goniometer while sitting in the wheelchair. Shoulder range of motion was classified as impaired when meeting the following criteria: anteroflexion $< 170^{\circ}$, external rotation $< 50^{\circ}$ or abduction $< 170^{\circ}$.

Wheelchair User Capacity

The wheelchair user capacity tests were performed prior and after the fatiguing intervention. Wheelchair user capacity tests consisted of functional strength test and anaerobic work capacity tests. During the capacity tests, 3-dimensional forces and moments applied to the pushrim were collected at 240 Hz with the SmartWheel (Three Rivers Holdings, Inc, Mesa, AZ) fitted to the non-dominant side of the participants' personal wheelchair. The non-dominant side was chosen as this project aims to investigate the shoulder most predominantly affected by wheelchair propulsion and less by other activities of daily living, such as overhead reaching, lifting objects, etc. A dummy

wheel with an equal tire as the SmartWheel was attached to the contralateral side.

To evaluate functional strength, participants performed three times a 5-s maximum isometric forward push with hands on top of the pushrim and wheelchair attached from behind to restrict forward movement (17). Functional strength was defined as the maximum resultant force reached during the three maximum isometric forward pushes.

To determine anaerobic work capacity a 15 meter overground wheelchair sprint was completed prior to the fatiguing intervention (17). The outcome was the peak power output measured during the sprint test.

Ultrasound: AHD, Tendon Thickness and Occupation Ratio

Ultrasound images of the supraspinatus tendon and the subacromial space of the non-dominant shoulder were taken before any propulsion activity and following the fatiguing intervention. A single examiner (FMB) took all ultrasound images in a randomized order (NextGen Logiq TM e R90.2, GE Healthcare, USA). Image field depth was set at 4 cm and gain was set at 60 dB. To allow for repeated measurements before and after the propulsion tasks with limited error in variation of probe location, a steel reference marker was taped to the skin.

For quantifying AHD in an unloaded position, three images were taken during 90° elbow flexion with the thumb facing upward (**Figure 2**). Furthermore, three images of the AHD were taken during WRL without any instructions given (personal WRL), and during instructed WRL, where participants were asked to depress and retract the shoulders (**Figure 2**). AHD was defined as the shortest distance between the anterior inferior edge of the acromion and the most superior aspect of the humerus (10). The average measure of the three repeated measures was always used. All blinded ultrasound images were analyzed in randomized order by a single examiner (FMB) using Matlab R2016b custom programs (Mathworks, Inc., Natick, MA, USA).

For quantifying supraspinatus tendon thickness, two transverse images were taken in a seated position with the palm placed on the lower back, the shoulder extended, and the elbow flexed posteriorly (**Figure 2**). For the tendon of the long head of the biceps brachii, two longitudinal images were taken in a seated position with 90° elbow flexion and the hand palm facing upward while resting on a cushion (**Figure 2**). The region of interest of each ultrasound image was defined from the interference pattern at the top of the images, created from the steel reference markers attached to the skin. Within the region of interest, tendon thickness was measured as the mean distance between top and bottom border of the tendon and the average of the two repeated measures was used.

The occupation ratio expresses the tendon thickness relative to the available subacromial space. Occupation ratio of the supraspinatus and biceps tendon was calculated as the percentage of the mean tendon thickness relative to the mean AHD (7). Occupation ratio was only calculated for the unloaded position since tendon thickness was not measured during WRL.



FIGURE 1 Figure adjusted from (12): timeline of the assessments taken in the biomechanical laboratory including (1) introduction, self-reported subject characteristics and measurements of the shoulder range of motion, (2) ultrasound exams (pre and post fatigue), (3) preparation phase including a test to define individual drag force and familiarization with treadmill propulsion and fatigue protocol, (4) wheelchair user capacity test (capacity test): three maximum push tests and a maximum 15 m overground sprint test (pre and post fatigue), (5) passive rest phase, (6) manual wheelchair (MWC) propulsion at two different conditions (25 and 45 W, pre and post fatigue), and (7) fatigue protocol: overground wheelchair propulsion along an eight-shaped course. The detailed course of the fatigue protocol is presented below the timeline.



FIGURE 2 Ultrasound measurements: position and example of measurement. Each type of measurements represents a different example participant and does not relate to the person of the position images. AHD neutral: acromiohumeral distance images in the neutral position were taken in a seated position with 90° elbow flexion with the thumb facing upward. AHD WRL: acromiohumeral distance images during WRL. Supraspinatus: transverse ultrasound images of supraspinatus tendon were taken in a seated position with the palm placed on the lower back, shoulder extended, and the elbow flexed posteriorly. Biceps: longitudinal images of long head of biceps brachii tendon were taken in a seated position with 90° elbow flexion and the hand palm facing upward. The region of interest (ROI) is presented between the red vertical lines with the upper border and lower border of the tendons marked with the manually identified red horizontal lines. Lines are marked thicker as compared with the actual analysis for visualization reasons. ROI is selected based on the interference pattern that resulted from a metal marker taped to the skin (assigned with red arrows).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted with STATA software (version 16.1, StatCorp, LP, College Station TX, USA). Multilevel mixed-effects linear regression analyses controlling for between subject variability and covariables were performed to:

1) identify the association between the dependent variable AHD and different loading conditions (neural position, personal

WRL and instructed WRL) before and after fatigue. Interactions between wheelchair user capacity (functional strength, anaerobic work capacity) with time and loading conditions were included.

2) identify the association between the dependent variable OccRatio of the supraspinatus and biceps tendon before and after fatigue, including interactions with wheelchair user capacity.

Covariables included known risk factors for shoulder pain, such as subject characteristics (sex, lesion level, body mass

index (kg/m²), years since injury), impaired shoulder range of motion [in anteroflexion (<170°), external rotation (<50°), and abduction (<170°)], and wheelchair user capacity. If a significant difference ($\alpha = 0.05$) was found between time points or loading conditions, pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections were used to evaluate differences.

RESULTS

Subject and lesion characteristics of the 50 participants [mean age 50.5 (SD 9.7) years, 11 females, 39 males] are listed in **Table 1**. Mean time since injury was 26.2 (SD 11.4) years and the majority of the participants had a complete lesion (78%). Range of motion in anteroflexion was most often impaired (in 84% of participants), followed by abduction (48%) and external rotation (24%). Regarding wheelchair user capacity, a mean functional strength of 221 N (SD 49 N) was reached during the isometric forward push and a mean power output of 84 W (SD 32 W) was measured during the sprint test.

Acromiohumeral Distance

AHD values measured pre- and post-fatigue, as well as during different positions (neutral, personal WRL, and instructed WRL) can be found in **Table 2**. AHD was smaller during WRLs compared to the unloaded position. When controlling for all covariables, AHD was significantly larger during the unloaded position [mean 11.9 mm, 95% confidence interval (CI) 11.3-12.5 mm] compared to the personal WRL (mean 11.5 mm, CI 10.9-12.1 mm, p < 0.001) and instructed WRL (mean 11.5 mm, CI 10.9-12.1 mm, p = 0.009).

No effect of the fatiguing wheelchair propulsion on AHD was found (**Table 2**). When controlling for all covariables, AHD pre-fatigue (mean 11.6 mm, CI 11.0-12.2 mm) was not significantly different than AHD post-fatigue (mean 11.7 mm, CI 11.1-12.3 mm, p = 0.570).

There was a significant interaction effect of position and anaerobic work capacity (p < 0.001). Participants who reached a lower power output during the sprint test (low anaerobic work capacity) had reduced AHDs during the WRLs compared to the unloaded position. In participants with a higher anaerobic work capacity there was no difference in AHD between unloaded position and WRLs (**Figure 3**).

There were significant associations of AHD and lesion level, as well as impaired ROM (**Table 3**). Participants with lower lesion levels (L1-L2) had a significantly larger AHD (mean 15.2 mm, CI 13.5-16.8mm) than participants with higher lesion levels (T7-T12: mean 11.0 mm, CI 10.0-12.1 mm, T2-T6: mean 10.9 mm, CI 9.7-12.0 mm, both p < 0.001). Participants with an impaired ROM in external rotation ($<50^{\circ}$) had a larger mean AHD of 13.2 mm (CI 11.9-14.9 mm) compared to participants with no impairments of external rotation ROM (mean 11.1 mm, CI 10.4-11.8, p = 0.008). There were no significant associations with any other included subject characteristics (**Table 3**; **Figure 4**).

Occupation Ratio

OccRatios of the supraspinatus and biceps measured pre- and post-fatigue can be found in Table 2. The fatiguing wheelchair

propulsion had no effect on the OccRatio of the supraspinatus and biceps. When controlling for all covariables, OccRatio of the supraspinatus was not significantly different pre-fatigue (mean 48.1%, CI 45.2-51.0%) compared to post-fatigue (mean 46.5%, CI 43.6-49.0%, p = 0.404). The same accounts for the OccRatio of the biceps, where mean pre-fatigue values of 38% (CI 34.6-41.5) and post-fatigue values of 37.8% (CI 34.4-41.2% p = 0.448) were found.

Regarding supraspinatus, participants with a shorter time since injury had lower OccRatio (p = 0.025, **Figure 5**). When external rotation ROM was impaired ($<50^{\circ}$), participants had a lower supraspinatus OccRatio (mean 39.5%, CI 46.5-53.2%) compared to unimpaired ROM (mean 49.8%, CI 46.5-53.2%, p = 0.005, **Table 3**). There were no other significant associations of supraspinatus OccRatio with the analyzed subject characteristics (**Table 3**; **Figure 5**).

OccRatio of the biceps was significantly smaller in participants with a lower BMI (p < 0.001, **Figure 5**), as well as in participants with a higher sprint peak power output (p = 0.006, **Figure 5**). When external rotation ROM was impaired ($<50^{\circ}$), participants had a lower biceps OccRatio (mean 30.2%, CI 23.0-37.5%) compared to unimpaired ROM (mean 40.5%, CI 36.5-44.4% p = 0.019, **Table 3**). No other significant associations were found for biceps OccRatio (**Table 3**; **Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

This study found a significant reduction in AHD during WRL compared to the unloaded position in 50 wheelchair users with SCI. This was mainly found in participants who reached a lower power output during the sprint test (low anaerobic work capacity). However, fatiguing wheelchair propulsion had no effect on subacromial space since neither AHD nor OccRatio of the supraspinatus and biceps tendon were changed after this intervention. Subject characteristics associated with a larger subacromial space were: lower lesion levels, shorter time since injury, a lower BMI, impaired external rotation ROM and a higher anaerobic work capacity.

Subacromial Space and Associated Factors

AHD is considered as a good indicator of the size of the total subacromial space (9). In the studied population of wheelchair users with SCI, we found a mean AHD of 11.8 mm during the unloaded position, when the elbow was 90° flexed and the lower arm was supported. These values are slightly higher than previously reported values of 9.4 mm (18) to ~11 mm (9) in the same population of wheelchair users with SCI. Subacromial space quantified by AHD is an external factor that has been commonly investigated in patients with subacromial pain syndrome. However, no clear association between AHD values in resting position and subacromial pain syndrome was found in previous studies (6, 7, 19, 20).

OccRatio gives more detailed information on the available subacromial space than AHD by taking tendon thickness into account. When analyzing the subacromial space in relation

			Lesion level	
	Total	T2-T6	T7-T12	L1-L2
	(<i>n</i> = 50)	(<i>n</i> = 20)	(n = 22)	(n = 8)
Sex (% male)	78	95	68	63
Age (years)	50.5 (9.7)	48.4 (10.4)	50.5 (9.6)	56.0 (6.7)
Weight (kg)	72.4 (13.3)	73.4 (12.6)	69.6 (13.0)	77.4 (15.7)
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.0 (4.4)	23.6 (4.1)	23.1 (3.7)	27.5 (5.4)
Time since injury (years)	26.2 (11.4)	27.2 (11.3)	24.9 (11.4)	27.3 (13.1)
Lesion completeness (% complete)	78	90	77	50
ROM anteroflexion (% impaired)	84	100	73	75
ROM abduction (% impaired)	48	55	46	38
ROM exorotation (% impaired)	24	30	27	0
FrMaxpush (N)	221 (49)	229 (43)	214 (54)	222 (51)
Sprint peak power output (W)	84 (32)	76 (26)	91 (37)	83 (31)

TABLE 1 | Subject characteristics, lesion characteristics, and wheelchair user capacity [% or mean (SD)] for the total sample and stratified by lesion level.

BMI, body mass index; ROM, range of motion; FrMaxpush, maximum resultant force reached during the three maximum isometric forward pushes.

TABLE 2 | Unadjusted values [mean (SD)] of the dependent variables acromio-humeral distance (AHD) and occupation ratio (OccRatio) of supraspinatus and biceps tendon pre- and post-fatiguing wheelchair propulsion and during different positions: neutral, personal weight relief (pWRL) and instructed weight relief (WRL).

Time		Pre			Post			Mixed Model p values		
Position	n	Neutral	pWRL	iWRL	Neutral	pWRL	iWRL	time	Position	
AHD (mm)	50	11.8 (2.8)	11.5 (2.5)	11.5 (2.6)	12.0 (3.0)	11.6 (2.7)	11.6 (2.7)	0.570	<0.001ª, 0.009 ^b , 0.112 ^c ♦	
OccRatio supraspinatus (%)	50	47.3 (12.2)			45.7 (14.5)			0.404		
OccRatio biceps (%)	50	37.5 (17.9)			37.2 (15.2)			0.448		

Pairwise comparisons: ^aneutral vs. pWRL, ^bneutral vs. iWRL, ^cpWRL vs. iWRL.

Significant interactions (alpha = 0.05) from the mixed-effects multilevel analysis: \blacklozenge = interaction position x capacity (sprint).

to the space occupied by the tendons, we found a mean OccRatio of 47.3% for supraspinatus and 37.5% for biceps. These values are higher than previously reported OccRatios of 36.5% (supraspinatus) and 23.1% (biceps) in wheelchair users with SCI (21), but lower than OccRatio of the supraspinatus reported in asymptomatic able bodied individuals [53.5% (22), 56.4% (20)]. A lower OccRatio is seen as beneficial since less space is occupied by the tendon and more space is potentially available. In this line, higher OccRatios have been found in previous studies in persons with subacromial pain syndrome (7, 20, 22). These findings suggest that tendon thickness in relation to AHD should be considered when analyzing the risk for subacromial pain syndrome.

The present study found several subject characteristics associated to the size of the subacromial space. Participants with a shorter time since injury had a lower supraspinatus OccRatio. This indicates that with longer time in the wheelchair, and with more cumulated load on the shoulder, either supraspinatus tendon might increase or AHD decreases. Since AHD was not associated with time since injury in the present study, this change may be related to an adaption of the supraspinatus tendon over time as a response to chronic overload. This statement is supported by findings of Malanga et al. who found thicker supraspinatus tendons on the dominant side of baseball pitchers when comparing to the non-dominant side (23). Clinical practice guidelines recommend selective strengthening and stretching exercises for rotator cuff muscles in manual wheelchair users. The changes in the OccRatio further support this recommendation as such exercises may prevent pathology in the rotator cuff.

Participants with an impaired external rotation ROM had a lower OccRatio of supraspinatus and biceps, as well as a larger AHD. This finding points toward a mediating effect of the external rotators. Leong et al. (24) also reported a mediating effect of the external rotators since individuals with greater strength in external rotation presented larger AHD. Whether these findings are related or how muscular imbalance affects the subacromial space should be examined in future studies.

Finally, a lower BMI and a higher anaerobic work capacity was associated with a smaller biceps OccRatio. This supports the general recommendation that a reduced body weight and higher capacity is beneficial for the weight bearing shoulder (25). The effect of training has been evaluated in a previous study where individuals with subacromial pain syndrome participated in a rehabilitation program including strengthening of the rotator cuff and trunk muscles and endurance training. Savoie et al. found a significantly increased AHD after the rehabilitation program (13). This is a further indication that increasing wheelchair user capacity through training reduces the risk for subacromial pain syndrome.



TABLE 3 | Predictive margins with 95% confidence interval (95% CI) of acromiohumeral distance (AHD) and occupation ratio (OccRatio) of supraspinatus and biceps for categorical covariables sex, lesion level, shoulder range of motion in anteroflexion (AF), external rotation (ER) and abduction (ABD): predictive margins with 95% confidence intervals.

		AHD			Oce	OccRatio supraspinatus			OccRatio biceps		
		Mean	95% CI	Р	Mean	95% CI	Р	Mean	95% CI	Р	
Sex	Female	10.7	8.9-12.5	0.257	49.3	40.9-57.6	0.626	34.9	25.0-44.8	0.527	
	Male	11.9	11.2-12.7		46.7	43.1-50.4		38.8	34.5-43.2		
Lesion	T2-T6	10.9	9.7-12.0	1.000 ^a	48.4	43.0-53.8	1.000 ^a	39.9	33.5-46.3	1.000 ^a	
level	T7-T12	11.0	10.0-12.1	<0.001 ^b	49.7	44.7-54.6	0.127 ^b	39.6	33.7-45.4	0.192 ^b	
	L1-L2	15.2	13.5-16.8	<0.001°	38.1	30.1-46.1	0.057°	28.8	19.3-38.3	0.192°	
ROM	<170°	11.6	10.9-12.3	0.885	48.1	44.8-51.4	0.365	36.7	26.0-47.3	0.811	
AF	>170°	11.8	9.9-13.7		43.4	34.4-52.3		38.1	34.3-42.0		
ROM	<170°	11.7	10.7-12.6	0.981	44.9	40.4-49.4	0.174	38.5	33.6-43.5	0.747	
ABD	>170°	11.6	10.8-12.5		49.4	45.2-53.6		37.2	32.0-42.5		
ROM	<50°	13.2	11.9-14.9	0.008	39.5	46.5-53.2	0.005	30.2	23.0-37.5	0.019	
ER	>50°	11.1	10.4-11.8		49.8	46.5-53.2		40.5	36.5-44.4		

Pairwise comparisons: aT2-T6 vs. T7-T12, bT2-T6 vs. L1-L2, CT7-T12 vs. L1-L2.

Effect of WRL on Subacromial Space

A temporary narrowing of the subacromial space due to high load or due to movement patterns of the shoulder structures is generally seen as a risk factor for compression of the soft tissue under the acromioclavicular arch and inflammation (26). Previous kinematic studies on the orientation of the scapula and humerus identified WRL as an activity of daily life of wheelchair users, where the risk for narrowing of the subacromial space is high (11, 27, 28). During a WRL, glenohumeral external rotation is decreased and the scapula is anteriorly tilted and internally rotated. This reduces the subacromial space, and in combination with the large superior forces at the shoulder (29), places the shoulder of the wheelchair user at high risk for compression of the structures in the subacromial space (11).

The present study found significantly decreased AHD during WRL, which indeed points to a risk for shoulder injury. Whether participants performed WRL in their own style (no instruction given) or whether they followed the instructions to ensure optimal shoulder position (depressed and retracted the shoulders) did not result in a significant difference in AHD.



Similar reductions of AHD were found in previous studies (26). This reduction in AHD during WRL strengthens the current notion to avoid weight relief maneuvers that place high, superiorly directed forces on the arm. Whenever possible, alternative techniques for pressure relief like forward or side leans should be used (25).

A remarkable interaction effect was found for position (unloaded vs. WRL) and anaerobic work capacity. Participants with a low anaerobic work capacity (lower power output reached during the sprint test) presented the above-mentioned reduction in AHD between unloaded position vs. WRL. Participants with a higher anaerobic work capacity, however, could maintain their AHD also during WRL. These results highlight the importance of anaerobic work capacity in shoulder function in the context of WRL. A well-planned preventive training program that safely increases wheelchair user capacity may reduce shoulder complaints (30).

To our knowledge, no study analyzed OccRatio during WRL. Mozingo et al. took however tendon thickness of infraspinatus, subscapularis and supraspinatus into account and defined risk scores based on fluoroscopy images to estimate mechanical impingement risk (5). Their results showed only minimal to no impingement risk during pressure relief lifts. Despite these findings, the authors advised wheelchair users to perform side leans for pressure relief and pressure injury prevention instead of WRL to reduce loading of the shoulder.

Effect of Fatigue on Subacromial Space

Fatigue of the muscles stabilizing the shoulder joint may reduce the subacromial space and increase stress on the tendons within the space. There are two fatigue-based mechanisms proposed to cause narrowing of the subacromial space: superior migration of the humeral head with respect to the glenoid and alteration of the movement of the acromion with respect to the humeral head due to fatigue (31). A simulation study including empirically generated fatigue data has shown that the subacromial space was affected by fatigue and that superior humeral migration was the dominant fatigue-related mechanism associated with shoulder injury risk (31).

Our intervention study, however, did not show an effect of fatigue on either AHD nor OccRatio. Also, no interaction with wheelchair user capacity was found. This suggests that daily wheelchair propulsion, as simulated in this study by the fatiguing intervention, does not contribute to temporary changes in subacromial space. Similar findings have been reported by Lin et al. who found in general no changes in subacromial



space after performing repetitive WRL and shoulder external rotations (26). Participants with greater levels of shoulder pain, however, showed a greater percentage narrowing of AHD. The present study excluded participants with upper-extremity pain that limits the ability to propel a wheelchair. This might be an explanation why no narrowing of the subacromial space was found.

Study Limitations

The intervention of fatiguing wheelchair propulsion used in this study was chosen to simulate everyday load acting on the shoulder of a wheelchair user. The fatiguing protocol included maximum voluntary overground propulsion, starting, stopping and turning. Other demanding tasks for the shoulder, such as transfers, WRL and lifting heavy objects were not included. For future studies on the effect of fatigue resulting from everyday life activities, these additional tasks could be included in the fatigue protocol as long as they can be performed in a safe way. However, the used protocol is expected to be more demanding than everyday life activities since it requires maximum voluntary propulsion.

Regarding measures to quantify subacromial space it should be considered that ultrasound images only allow for two-dimensional measurements and that the measures used to calculate OccRatio in this study (AHD and tendon thickness) were taken from different ultrasound images and with different arm positions of the participants (**Figure 2**). This has been done similarly in previous studies quantifying OccRatio (7–9). Unfortunately, the arm position used to measure thickness of the supraspinatus makes it impossible to quantify this thickness and thus supraspinatus OccRatio during WRL. Since OccRatio is more informative on the available subacromial space and thus on the shoulder injury risk, the quantification of OccRatio during WRL would be an interesting venue for the future if technology and analysis software allow.

While we excluded individuals with upper-extremity pain that limits the ability to propel a wheelchair, participants may still have had pain. Future studies should look at the impact of pain on the measures collected in this study.

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

This study showed a significant reduction of the AHD during WRL compared to the unloaded position in wheelchair users with SCI. A higher anaerobic work capacity reduced the impact of WRL on AHD decrease and was thus beneficial in stabilizing the shoulder. Fatiguing wheelchair propulsion had no effect on the subacromial space. Subject characteristics related to a larger subacromial space were lower lesion level, shorter time since injury, impaired ROM in external rotation, a lower BMI and a higher anaerobic work capacity. Preventive fitness training to increase wheelchair user capacity, alternative modes for pressure relief and lowering BMI are suggested interventions to lower the risk for subacromial pain syndrome in wheelchair users with SCI. These findings may assist clinicians in designing injury prevention programs.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethikkommision Nordwest-und

REFERENCES

- Liampas A, Neophytou P, Sokratous M, Varrassi G, Ioannou C, Hadjigeorgiou GM, et al. Musculoskeletal pain due to wheelchair use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain Ther.* (2021) 10:973-84. doi: 10.1007/s40122-021-00294-5
- Lewis JS. Rotator cuff tendinopathy: a model for the continuum of pathology and related management. Br J Sports Med. (2010) 44:918-23. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.054817
- 3. Brose SW, Boninger ML, Fullerton B, McCann T, Collinger JL, Impink BG, et al. Shoulder ultrasound abnormalities, physical examination findings, and pain in manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2008) 89:2086-93. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.05.015
- 4. Arnet U, de Vries WH, Eriks-Hoogland I, Wisianowsky C, van der Woude LHV, Veeger D, et al. MRI evaluation of shoulder pathologies in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury and the relation to shoulder pain. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2021) 1-14. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2021.1881238. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mozingo JD, Akbari-Shandiz M, Murthy NS, Van Straaten MG, Schueler BA, et al. Shoulder mechanical impingement risk associated with manual wheelchair tasks in individuals with spinal cord injury. *Clin Biomech.* (2020) 71:221-9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2019.10.017
- Park SW, Chen YT, Thompson L, Kjoenoe A, Juul-Kristensen B, Cavalheri V, et al. No relationship between the acromiohumeral distance and pain in adults with subacromial pain syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:20611. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76704-z
- Michener LA, Subasi Yesilyaprak SS, Seitz AL, Timmons MK, Walsworth MK. Supraspinatus tendon and subacromial space parameters measured on ultrasonographic imaging in subacromial impingement syndrome. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* (2015) 23:363-9. doi: 10.1007/s00167-013-2542-8
- BaGcier F, Geler KD, Yorulmaz E, Altunok EC. Intra- and interrater reliability of ultrasound measurements of supraspinatus tendon thickness, acromiohumeral distance, and occupation ratio in patients with shoulder impingement syndrome. *Arch Rheumatol.* (2020) 35:385-93. doi: 10.46497/ArchRheumatol.2020.7515
- Fournier Belley A, Gagnon DH, Routhier F, Roy JS. Ultrasonographic measures of the acromiohumeral distance and supraspinatus tendon thickness in manual wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:517-24. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2016.06.018
- Mackenzie TA, Bdaiwi AH, Herrington L, Cools A. Inter-rater reliability of real-time ultrasound to measure acromiohumeral distance. *PM R.* (2016) 8:629-34. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.11.004

Zentralschweiz, Switzerland. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of anv potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

UA, FB, and MB initiated the study. UA, FB, MB, and AC contributed to the conception and design of the study. FB performed the data collection. UA was responsible for all analyses, drafting, and finalization of the paper. All authors critically revised the paper and have read and approved the final paper.

FUNDING

Swiss Paraplegic Research: open access publication fee.

- Morrow MM, Kaufman KR, An KN. Scapula kinematics and associated impingement risk in manual wheelchair users during propulsion and a weight relief lift. *Clin Biomech.* (2011) 26:352-7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.12.001
- Bossuyt FM, Boninger ML, Cools A, Hogaboom N, Eriks-Hoogland I, Arnet U, et al. Changes in supraspinatus and biceps tendon thickness: influence of fatiguing propulsion in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2020) 58:324-33. doi: 10.1038/s41393-019-0376-z
- Savoie A, Mercier C, Desmeules F, Fremont P, Roy JS. Effects of a movement training oriented rehabilitation program on symptoms, functional limitations and acromiohumeral distance in individuals with subacromial pain syndrome. *Man Ther.* (2015) 20:703-8. doi: 10.1016/j.math.2015.04.004
- Bossuyt FM, Arnet U, Cools A, Rigot S, de Vries W, Eriks-Hoogland I, et al. Compensation strategies in response to fatiguing propulsion in wheelchair users: implications for shoulder injury risk. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2020) 99:91-8. doi: 10.1097/PHM.00000000001267
- Brinkhof MW, Fekete C, Chamberlain JD, Post MW, Gemperli A. Swiss national community survey on functioning after spinal cord injury: Protocol, characteristics of participants and determinants of non-response. J Rehabil Med. (2016) 48:120-30. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2050
- Collinger JL, Impink BG, Ozawa H, Boninger ML. Effect of an intense wheelchair propulsion task on quantitative ultrasound of shoulder tendons. *PM R.* (2010) 2:920-5. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.06.007
- van der Scheer JW, de Groot S, Tepper M, Gobets D, Veeger DH, et al. Wheelchair-specific fitness of inactive people with long-term spinal cord injury. J Rehabil Med. (2015) 47:330-7. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0000000000 00289
- Mozingo JD, Akbari-Shandiz M, Van Straaten MG, Murthy NS, Schueler BA, et al. Comparison of glenohumeral joint kinematics between manual wheelchair tasks and implications on the subacromial space: a biplane fluoroscopy study. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* (2019) 62:102350. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2019.08.004
- Navarro-Ledesma S, Fernandez-Sanchez M, Luque-Suarez A. Does the pectoralis minor length influence acromiohumeral distance, shoulder painfunction, and range of movement? *Phys Ther Sport.* (2018) 34:43-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ptsp.2018.08.009
- 20. Ueda Y, Tanaka H, Tomita K, Tachibana T, Inui H, Nobuhara K, et al. Comparison of shoulder muscle strength, cross-sectional area, acromiohumeral distance, and thickness of the supraspinatus tendon between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with rotator cuff tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* (2020) 29:2043-50. doi: 10.1016/j.jse.2020.02.017

- Bossuyt FM, Mason B, Briley S, O'Brien T, Boninger M, Arnet U, et al. Shoulder tendon adaptations following a graded exercise test to exhaustion in highly trained wheelchair rugby athletes with different impairments. *Front Rehabilit Sci.* (2021). doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.755466. [Epub ahead of print].
- 22. Navarro-Ledesma S, Fernandez-Sanchez M, Luque-Suarez A. Differences in supraspinatus occupation ratio between the symptomatic, the contralateral asymptomatic shoulder and control subjects: a cross-sectional study. *Medicine.* (2021) 100:e24734. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000024734
- Malanga GA, Chu SK, Ramirez Del Toro J, Karnaugh RD, Dentico R, Komaroff E. Sonographic evaluation of supraspinatus cross-sectional area in collegiate baseball players. *PM R.* (2012) 4:488-92. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.02.002
- 24. Leong HT, Tsui S, Ying M, Leung VY, Fu SN. Ultrasound measurements on acromio-humeral distance and supraspinatus tendon thickness: test-retest reliability and correlations with shoulder rotational strengths. *J Sci Med Sport*. (2012) 15:284–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2011.11.259
- Preservation of upper limb function following spinal cord injury: a clinical practice guideline for health-care professionals. J Spinal Cord Med. (2005) 28:434-70. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753844
- Lin YS, Boninger M, Worobey L, Farrokhi S, Koontz A. Effects of repetitive shoulder activity on the subacromial space in manual wheelchair users. *Biomed Res Int.* (2014) 2014:583951. doi: 10.1155/2014/583951
- Zhao KD, Van Straaten MG, Cloud BA, Morrow MM, An KN, Ludewig PM. Scapulothoracic and glenohumeral kinematics during daily tasks in users of manual wheelchairs. *Front Bioengin Biotechnol.* (2015) 3:183. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00183
- Nawoczenski DA, Clobes SM, Gore SL, Neu JL, Olsen JE, Borstad JD, et al. Three-dimensional shoulder kinematics during a pressure relief technique and wheelchair transfer. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2003) 84:1293-300. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(03)00260-0
- 29. Morrow MM, Hurd WJ, Kaufman KR, An KN. Shoulder demands in manual wheelchair users across a spectrum of activities. J

Electromyogr Kinesiol. (2010) 20:61-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2009. 02.001

- Johansson F, Cools A, Gabbett T, Fernandez-Fernandez J, Skillgate E. Association between spikes in external training load and shoulder injuries in competitive adolescent tennis players: the SMASH cohort study. Sports Health. (2022) 14:103-10. doi: 10.1177/1941738121105 1643
- Chopp JN, Dickerson CR. Resolving the contributions of fatigue-induced migration and scapular reorientation on the subacromial space: an orthopaedic geometric simulation analysis. *Hum Mov Sci.* (2012) 31:448-60. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2011.09.005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor RJKV declared a past co-authorship with the author UA.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Arnet, Boninger, Cools and Bossuyt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Characterizing the Thermal Demands and Mobility Performance During International Wheelchair Rugby Competition

Erica H. Gavel^{1,2*}, Melissa A. Lacroix², Vicky L. Goosey-Tolfrey³ and Heather M. Logan-Sprenger^{1,2,4}

¹ Faculty of Science, Ontario Tech University, Oshawa, ON, Canada, ² Canadian Sport Institute Ontario, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ⁴ Faculty of Health Science, Ontario Tech University, Oshawa, ON, Canada

Objective: To determine the thermoregulatory responses and mobility performance of wheelchair rugby (WCR) players during international competition.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nachiappan Chockalingam, Staffordshire University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Paul Grimshaw, Hamad bin Khalifa University, Qatar Katarzyna Domaszewska, Poznan University of Physical Education. Poland

> *Correspondence: Erica H. Gavel erica.gavel@ontariotechu.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 17 January 2022 Accepted: 06 April 2022 Published: 29 April 2022

Citation:

Gavel EH, Lacroix MA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL and Logan-Sprenger HM (2022) Characterizing the Thermal Demands and Mobility Performance During International Wheelchair Rugby Competition. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:856904. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.856904 **Methods:** Eleven male National Team WCR players volunteered for the study. Testing occurred during a four game series against international competition (temp $24.7 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity 50.1 \pm 3.6%), with movement time (MT) and gastrointestinal temperature (T_{gi}) recorded continuously.

Results: The mean maximal T_{gi} was $38.6 \pm 0.6^{\circ}$ C (37.9–39.7) and did not significantly differ among Low-Class, Mid-Class, and High-Class athletes (p > 0.05). Moreover, there was a strong and significant relationship between minutes (min) played per quarter of the game and change in T_{gi} (r = 0.36, p = 0.01). Athletes moved a total of $27:43 \pm 9:40$ min:seconds (s), spent a total of $15:02 \pm 8.23$ min:s in Zone 1 (53.5%), $8:19 \pm 3:20$ min:s in Zone 2 (31.7%), and $5:59 \pm 1:51$ min:s in Zone 3 (21.3%). There were no differences among classification in total movement time (p = 0.169) or for speed in Zone 1, Zone 2, or Zone 3 (p > 0.05). The relationship between peak forward speed and total movement time was strong (p = 0.021, r = 0.68).

Conclusion: This study demonstrated that the time spent in absolute movement zones is not classification dependent, the change in core temperature is related to movement time per quarter. Furthermore, peak speeds obtained on-court were linked to overall movement time which suggests athletes should warm-up before going on court.

Keywords: wheelchair rugby, thermoregulation, wheelchair mobility, Paralympic sport, performance

INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair rugby (WCR) is an intermittent contact sport (1) which spends most time at low speeds (<50% of mean peak speed) (2, 3). In WCR, there are a total of seven classifications ranging from, 0.5 to 3.5 in order of greatest impairment to least impaired (i.e., 0.5, cervical spinal cord injury (cSCI); 3.5, quad-amputee). During an official World Wheelchair Rugby (4) game which consists of four 8-min quarters with stopped time, the total number of points on court permitted at any

time is 8.0 (n = 4 players) (4). With that, the demands of the game and activity profiles can be dependent upon classification (5, 6), e.g., Rhodes et al. (2), clearly showed that WWR Class 0.5 athletes significantly traveled less and had lower peak speeds relative to Class 3–3.5, 881 ± 137 m vs. 1153 ± 172 m and 3.0 vs. 3.8 m/s, respectively.

While WCR is competed indoors in a temperature-controlled gymnasium (18–20°C), it has been demonstrated in athletes with a cSCI (7, 8) and without a SCI, that exercising in thermoneutral environments may induce severe heat strain (9–11). For example, work by Griggs et al. (9) reported that WCR athletes with a cSCI reached a core temperature of $39.3 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C, whereas athletes without a SCI reached 38.8 ± 0.3° C. Moreover, in other wheelchair sports Logan-Sprenger and McNaughton (10), noted two athletes from the Canadian Senior Women's National wheelchair basketball team without a SCI were attaining (>39.3°C) which were sustained for 10–25 mins over multiple games. As such, while level of injury can influence ones' ability to regulate body temperature, people should also be mindful that athletes without SCI's may also experience heat strain.

During exercise, metabolic energy is converted to one of two forms, mechanical energy to perform external work (20– 30%), or thermal energy to produce heat (70–80%) (12). That said, if heat production exceeds heat dissipation, one will experience increases in core body temperature and decrements in physiological performance (13, 14). For example, Forsyth et al. (15) found that when the metabolic heat production was similar among athletes with cSCI, paraplegia, and non-SCI, those with cSCI displayed the greatest compromised sweat response. Moreover, similar outcomes were observed in work by Griggs et al. (9) where the level of injury was correlated with changes in core temperature and heat storage.

Although sport practitioners and coaches should be mindful that the level of SCI can be correlated to heat storage and increases in core temperature, one should also consider the influence overall playing time has on heat storage and potential detriments in performance. For example, although the work by Griggs et al. (16) demonstrated that athletes with a cSCI reported higher core temperatures than non-SCI athletes, this work was conducted in a practice setting where the athletes played the entire simulated game. Extending this work but within wheelchair basketball, Logan-Sprenger and McNaughton (10) gathered data during international competitive game play to which, the will-to-win was high, providing high ecological validity. As such, the intensity of play along with coach substitutions influencing playing time may be an important difference between a simulated game and a vital game for international ranking. As of late, no study has characterized mobility performance and examined the influence these demands may have on core body temperature, thermoperception, and peak speed during international WCR competition. Thus, the purpose of this study was to (1) characterize mobility performance, (2) describe the thermoregulatory responses, and (3) evaluate the physiological and thermoperception of international level WCR players during a World Wheelchair Rugby event against an international Top 10 ranking competitor.

METHODS

Subjects

Eleven (n = 11; cSCI = 10, quad amputee = 1) elite WCR players volunteered to participate in the study (see **Table 1**). The research team tested 3–4 athletes per game with each athlete being monitored once. As such, data collection occurred over four separate games to ensure all 11 athletes were tested. All participants were male and members of the Canadian National WCR Team. Typically, the team had three athletes with a cSCI, and one quad amputee on the floor at the same time. Each player had played at the international level for 10.5 ± 6.5 yrs and trained an average of 10-15 h per week. Participants were informed of the experimental protocol before written informed consent was obtained. All procedures were approved by the Ontario Tech University Ethics Committee (file #16414) and conformed to the principles defined in the Declaration of Helsinki.

Design

This was an observational study assessing wheelchair mobility performance, gastrointestinal temperature (T_{gi}), heart rate (HR), ratings of perceived exertion (RPE, Borg 6–20), thermal sensation (TS), and thermal comfort (TC) during a four game series against international competition at the 2019 Japan World Wheelchair Rugby Challenge.

Methodology

Upon waking on game day athletes were asked to provide a mid-stream urine sample for measurement of urine specific gravity (USG) (17) using a handheld refractometer (Atago-PEN-PRO, Geneq, Montreal QC) (17). Additionally, athletes were instructed to swallow an ingestible thermistor (e-Celcius; Bodycap; Herouville Saint-Clair, France) a minimum of 6 h before the game to measure gastrointestinal temperature (18, 19).

Athletes arrived at the gymnasium at their usual pregame time (\sim 2 h prior to the game); 1 game took place at 12:00 (noon) while the other 3 games started at 18:00. The athlete's water bottle(s) was labeled with the athletes' name and weighed prior to and upon completion of the game to determine total fluid intake throughout the game. Three athletes had a slushie drink following warm-up and before the start of the game and used a water spray during the match (Low-Class, n = 1; Mid-Class, n=2). T_{gi} was continuously measured and recorded throughout the game from the start of warm-up until the end of the game and downloaded intermittently. HR was collected throughout using a downloadable Polar® OH1 heart sensor (Polar, CAN). Each athlete's chair was equipped with an inertial measurement unit (IMU) (Shimmer, Cambridge MA) positioned on the axels and center of chair frame (20) to measure peak speed, realtime speed, and time spent in different speed zones which was recorded throughout the game. Speed zones were categorized as: Zone 1 = 0-1 m/s, Zone 2 = 1-2 m/s, Zone 3 = 2 m/s. Moreover, playing time and movement time were also recorded. Playing time was characterized as time defined by the "game clock" without the inclusion of stoppages, whereas movement time was the total time the athlete was on-court. For classification and positional analysis, athletes were grouped as Low-Class to

	IWRF class	Level of injury (LOI)	Completeness of lesion	Pre-USG	Total PT (mins:secs)	∆ Tc (°C)	Mean Tc (°C)	Peak Tc (°C)	Mean HR (bpm)	Peak HF (bpm)
SCI										
	0.5	C6	Complete	1.001	17:38	0.6	38.5	38.9	83	91
	1.0	C5	Complete	1.008	19:27	1.4	38.7	39.0	106	124
	1.0	C6	Incomplete	1.010	9:30	1.4	37.5	37.9	89	115
	1.5	C7	Complete	1.010	5:46	1.4	37.9	38.3	96	130
	2.0	C6	Incomplete	1.006	7:42	1.1	37.7	38.1	86	119
	2.0	C6	Complete	1.013	10:42	1.4	38.2	38.6	95	110
	2.0	C6	Incomplete	1.005	11:50	2.3	38.8	39.7	110	135
	2.0	C6	Incomplete	1.006	12:21	0.9	38.0	38.2	94	104
	3.0	C6	Incomplete	1.017	18:09	0.6	38.0	38.3	120	156
	3.0	C7	Complete	1.014	10:59	0.9	37.7	38.1	98	116
	3.5	QA	NA	1.013	23:25	0.7	38.5	38.8	134	176
/lean				1.010	12:38	1.2	38.2	38.6	99	123
D				0.003	6:40	0.5	0.5	0.7	10	16

TABLE 1 Descriptive characteristics of the male participants (mean \pm SD).

LOI, level of injury; QA, quad-amputee; BM, body mass; USG, urine specific gravity; PT, playing time; Δ Tc, change in core temperature from start to end of game; Mean Tc, core temperature from start to end of game; HR, heart rate.

TABLE 2 | WC kinematics throughout the WC game.

	IWRF class	Injury	Peak speed (m/s)	Movement time (mins)	Total distance (m)	Zone 1 (m)	Zone 2 (m)	Zone 3 (m)
	0.5	C6	2.59	26.1	3177.2	652.1 (19.8%)	1713.4 (51.8%)	0 (0%)
	1.0	C5	3.4	43.0	2484.9	423.9 (17.1%)	1139.7 (45.9%)	887.4 (4.0%)
	1.0	C6	3.6	37.4	1249.6	1079.7 (86.4%)	153.4 (12.3%)	16.6 (1.3%)
	1.5	C7	3.5	22.0	1449.0	212.3 (14.7%)	653.4 (45.1%)	548.6 (37.9%)
	2.0	C6	4.5	34.7	1905.8	377.3 (19.8%)	992.4 (52.1%)	534.8 (28.1%)
	2.0	C6	3.1	27.3	1541.2	330.6 (21.5%)	771.8 (50.1%)	407.3 (26.4%)
	2.0	C6	2.8	26.4	1884.5	266.4 (14.4%)	759.5 (40.3%)	774.0 (41.1%)
	2.0	C6	4.1	43.4	1316.2	212.0 (16.1%)	653.0 (49.6%)	411.3 (31.2%)
	3.0	C7	3.4	15.6	1055.6	180.1 (17.1%)	543.8 (51.5%)	320.2 (30.3%)
	3.0	C6	4.0	21.4	795.4	264.4 (18.2%)	715.5 (49.4%)	469.9 (32.4%)
	3.5	QA	5.3	37.5	3436.8	322.9 (9.4%)	1144.0 (33.3%)	1379.6 (40.1%)
an			3.8	27.4	1857.0	384.4 (23.4%)	814.7 (44.3%)	466.3 (25.6%)
)			0.77	9.4	877.1	269.1 (21.2%)	419.9 (12.3%)	383.8 (13.9%)

Zone 1, 0-1 m/s; Zone 2, 1-2 m/s; Zone 3, > 2 m/s; m, meters; s, seconds; %, percent of total distance spent in each velocity zone.

(0.5-1.5), Mid-Class (2.0-2.5), and High-Class (3.0-3.5) (4). RPE (21), TS (22), and TC (22) were collected upon substitution or at the completion of each quarter.

Statistical Analysis

All data was tested for normality of distribution and displayed as the mean and standard deviation. Differences between quarters were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA, and time verses group was tested using a mixed-ANOVA, to detect singular differences, a Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) *post-hoc* was performed. A Student's paired *t-test* was used to compare singular parameter differences where appropriate. Categorical data was tested using the Krusal-Wallis test, to detect singular differences a Dunn's *post-hoc* test was performed. A Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was detected to test differences in singular categorical data. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05. Correlations between variables were assessed using a Pearson's correlation

analysis. Exact *p*-values, Cohen's D, and 95% confidence intervals are presented to show magnitude of effect. The magnitude of effect was classed as trivial (<0.2), small (0.2-0) moderate (0.6–1.2), large (1.2–2.0), and very large (\geq 2.0) (23).

RESULTS

Ambient Conditions

The gymnasium temperature (°C) and relative humidity (RH) (%) was similar between games and remained stable within games (pre 24.6 \pm 0.8°C, RH 51.4 \pm 2.4%; post, 24.4 \pm 0.1°C, RH 50.4 \pm 3.0%, *p*>0.05).

Morning Urine Specific Gravity and Fluid Intake

All athletes were hydrated on game day (Table 1) with a mean USG of 1.010 \pm 0.004 (1.005–1.015). On average, athletes consumed 1073 \pm 840 milliliters (ml) (112–1,669 ml) of fluid per game.

Game Playing Time

There was large variability in playing time among athletes (2:58–23:25 min:s). On average, athletes played a total of $14:04 \pm 5:49$ min:s (**Table 1**). There were no differences in playing time among Low-Class, Mid-Class, and High-Class players (p = 0.169), and three athletes played >50% (>16 min) of the game (Low-Class: 19:27; High-Class: 18:09 min:s; High-Class: 23:25 min:s).

Movement Time and Time Spent in Velocity Zones

Excluding warm-up, athletes moved a total of $27:43 \pm 9:40$ min:s (12:10–43:10) over the course of the game (**Table 2**). On average, athletes spent a total of $15:02 \pm 8.23$ min:s in Zone 1 (53.5%), 8:19 \pm 3:20 min:s in Zone 2 (31.7%), and 5:59 \pm 1:51 min:s in Zone 3 (21.3%) (**Figure 1**). Movement time among Low-Class, Mid-Class, and High-Class did not significantly differ (p = 0.169) with athletes playing a mean of $31:27 \pm 9:27$, $25:48 \pm 10:22$, $25:18 \pm 11:27$ min:s, respectively.

There was no difference among classification in total movement time (p = 0.169) or for Zone 1 (p = 0.601), Zone 2 (p = 0.173), or Zone 3 (p = 0.222) (Figure 2). On average, time spent in Zone 1 was significantly greater than Zone 2 (p = 0.0154, 95% CI 74.4 to 757.4, ES = 1.09) and Zone 3 (p = 0.0002, 95% CI 298.7 to 981.4, ES = 1.53), whereas Zone 2 and Zone 3 did not significantly differ (p = 0.253, 95% CI -117.2 to 565.9, ES = 0.87).

There was a significant difference in cumulative distance between Zone 1 and Zone 2 (Zone 1, 384.4 ± 269.1 vs. Zone 2, 814.7 ± 419.9 m, p = 0.025, 95% CI -812.2 to -48.3, ES =1.22), while Zone 1 vs. Zone 3 (Zone 1, 384.4 ± 269.1 vs. Zone 3, 466.3 ± 383.8 m, p = 0.858, 95% CI -463.8 to 300.1, ES = 0.25) and Zone 2 vs. Zone 3 did not differ (Zone 2, 814.7 ± 419.9 vs. Zone 3, 466.3 ± 383.8 m, p = 0.079, 95% CI -33.55 to 730.44, ES = 0.87) (**Table 2**).

Peak speed in the game did not significantly differ between classification (Low-Class, 3.24 ± 0.45 m/s; Mid-Class, 4.44 ± 1.14 m/s; High-Class, 4.22 ± 0.94 m/s; p = 0.373). The



(zone 1–3) throughout a wheelchair rugby game. (*) denotes significance between Zone 1 and Zone 2, whereas (**) denotes significance between Zone 1 and Zone 3.



mean peak forward speed throughout games was 3.58 ± 0.9 m/s. There were no significant differences in peak speed between quarter 1, quarter 2, quarter 3, and quarter 4 (p = 0.338). Furthermore, there were no significant differences in time spent in Zone 1, Zone 2, and Zone 3 between quarters (p > 0.05).

Thermoregulatory Responses Across the Game

Mean T_{gi} was significantly greater from the start (following warm-up) to end of game (start, 37.9 ± 0.3°C vs. finish, 38.6 ± 0.7°C, p = 0.009). Mean T_{gi} significantly differed between quarter 1, quarter 2, quarter 3, and quarter 4 (p < 0.05). The mean rise of T_{gi} was 1.2 ± 0.5°C, and there was no significant rise in T_{gi} between quarter 1, quarter 2, quarter 3, and quarter 4 (p = 0.766). The mean maximal T_{gi} was 38.6 ± 0.6°C (37.9–39.7). T_{gi} did not significantly differ among Low-Class, Mid-Class, and High-Class athletes throughout the game (p > 0.05,





Figure 3). Furthermore, there were no significant differences between athletes with complete and incomplete SCIs (p > 0.05). Two of the 11 athletes (Low-Class; Mid-Class reached a T_{gi} of >39°C and at the start of quarter 4 sustained it

for $14:02 \pm 1:06$ min:s (13:15; 14:48) with a mean movement time of $30:10 \pm 4:08$ min:s (27:15; 33:05) and playing time of $14:00 \pm 2:59$ min:s. (19:27; 11:50).

Thermal Sensation, Thermal Comfort, Ratings of Perceived Exertion

The median TS for the game was 6 (1). TS did not significantly differ from the start to end of game [start, 6 (2) vs. end, 5 (2), p = 0.930]. The median TS did not significantly differ between quarters (p = 0.210) or between classifications (p = 0.178). As well, median TC was 2 (1). TC did not significantly differ from start to end of game [start, 2 (2) vs. end, 3 (2), p = 0.586]. TC did not significantly differ between quarters (p = 0.750) or among classification (p = 0.359). The median RPE was 15 (2). RPE significantly increased from the start to end of game [start, 13.0 (8) vs. end, 15.0 (2.5), p = 0.023]. The median RPE did not significantly differ between quarters (p = 0.875) or between classification (p = 0.951).

Correlations

There was a significant relationship between total movement time and time spent in Zone 1 (p = 0.002, r = 0.85); however, the relationship between total movement time and Zone 2 (p = 0.315, r = 0.35), and Zone 3 (p = 0.51, r = 0.24) was not strong. Moreover, the relationship between peak forward speed and total movement time per quarter was strong (p = 0.021, r = 0.68, **Figure 4A**).

There was not a significant relationship between total playing time and change in T_{gi} (p = 0.641, r = 0.41), change in T_{gi} and time spent in Zone 1 (p = 0.236, r = 0.19), Zone 2 (p = 0.112, r = 0.26), and Zone 3 (p = 0.134, r = 0.24), and peak T_{gi} and total movement time (p = 0.245, r = 0.438, Figure 4B). However, there was a strong relationship between movement time and change in T_{gi} per quarter (p = 0.014, r = 0.39, Figure 4C). There was a strong relationship between T_{gi} and RPE (p = 0.026, r = 0.77, Figure 4D) while the relationship between T_{gi} and TC (p = 0.341, r = -0.15) and TS (p = 0.61, r = -0.08) was not significant.

DISCUSSION

This is the first study in WCR to demonstrate that differences in core temperature may not be related to classification or physiological function, but with movement time per quarter. Furthermore, the results of this study also exhibited, (1) the mean movement time was 28.3 ± 8.5 min and did not significantly differ among classification, (2) athletes spent most of their time at low speeds (Zone 1=0-1 m/s) during the game, (3) there was a positive relationship between movement time and peak speed (r = 0.68, p = 0.021), (4) there were no significant differences among core body temperature and classification, and (5) TS and TC did not change over the course of the game.

Wheelchair Mobility Profiles

The present study supported previous findings suggesting that athletes spend most time in low intensity zones; 53.5% in Zone 1, 31.7% in Zone 2, and 21.3% in Zone 3 (1, 11, 12). That said, contrary to Rhodes et al. (1), we did not display any significant differences between classification groups, which may be due to a smaller sample size and competitor discrepancies (24) (i.e., Zonal Championships vs. World Wheelchair Rugby Challenge). Across

the game, we found no differences in mean peak speed between quarters which was also noted by Rhodes et al. (1). Interestingly, there was a strong correlation between movement time and peak speed, which warrants further investigation suggesting that warming-up courtside prior to being substituted into the game should be encouraged allowing athletes to achieve high wheelchair speeds when they are not the starting players. This is a topic of recent study (24) and needs to be considered alongside individual thermoregulatory responses.

Thermoregulatory Responses

Notably, the present study demonstrated a positive relationship between playing time per quarter and change in core temperature with no differences in core temperature between classification, which aligns with wheelchair basketball work done by Logan-Sprenger and McNaughton (10). In the study, the researchers demonstrated no core temperature difference between classification, instead they observed that the change in core temperature was dependant on minutes played, which is like the present study showcasing that the change in core temperature was dependent on minutes moved per quarter. Although, it is well established that sudomotor activity plays a pertinent role in thermoregulation (25), both the present study and the one by Logan-Sprenger and McNaughton (10) demonstrate that in team sports such as WC basketball and rugby, the increase in core temperature may be more dependent on playing time rather than muscular function and the inability to dissipate heat; however, more research is needed to better understand the relationship (26).

While the present study saw $\sim 1.2^{\circ}$ C change of core temperature over the course of the game, there were no differences among classification and only two athletes who reached $>39^{\circ}$ C and sustained it for ~ 14 min. This data, however, contrasts with work published by Griggs et al. (9) who demonstrated significant differences between classification. In the study by Griggs et al. (9), the authors reported that lower class players displayed an increase of 1.6°C and upperclass players showed an increase of 0.7°C. In contrast to our methodology, Griggs et al. (9) collected data during an intrasquad game where the athletes played the entire game under simulated game conditions. Given that the current study was against an international competitor at a World Wheelchair Rugby event, there was high variability in playing time (CV =36%) as the team was playing to win. As such, it is hard to compare Tgi responses between studies given that playing time and competition level differed (27).

Thermo-Perception

The current study demonstrated no correlation between core temperature and thermal sensation or comfort. Furthermore, there were no differences in thermal sensation or comfort from the start to end of the game, between quarters, or among classification groups, which is in line with work by Webborn et al. (28) and Griggs et al. (25). In the study by Webborn et al. (28), participants completed an intermittent sprint protocol with precooling, per-cooling, and no cooling. In the study, there was no significant relationship between core temperature changes and thermal sensation. Furthermore, similar results were exhibited by Griggs et al. (25) who analyzed the influence relative humidity had on heat storage for athletes with a SCI. In the study, there was no significant relationship between increases in core temperature and changes in thermal perception.

Thermo-physiological models have been developed to assess the influence of environmental conditions on the human body (29, 30); however, no model has been validated with the inclusion of exercise in athletes with a SCI or an impairment. For example, work by Flouris and Cheung (31) has demonstrated that thermoperception can vary for the same stimulus of skin and core body temperature during exercise in a hot environment. Furthermore, research by Nicotra and Ellaway (32) suggests that the level and completeness of the SCI can influence heat and cold thresholds for a similar stimulus, whereas work by Griggs et al. (25) reported no difference between paraplegic and tetraplegic in similar environmental conditions. Moreover, work by Webborn et al. (28) demonstrated that thermal sensation did not correlate to changes in core temperature or total time exercising.

LIMITATIONS

Although all athletes but one had a SCI, it's worth highlighting that we selected to include a player with quadruple amputation in the data analyses. Close inspection of our findings indicates that removal of the amputee would not impact the results too much as the athletes were grouped on a positional basis verses physiological function. Furthermore, their thermoregulatory responses were within 1 SD of the group responses. Secondly, given that the data was collected over a series of four separate games, one could suggest that certain games could be lower intensity than others. However, we observed no difference in RPE from one game to the next.

CONCLUSION

To our knowledge, no study has evaluated the relationship between activity profiles, thermoregulatory responses, and thermo-perception during international WCR match play. First off, this study demonstrated that the time spent in absolute

movement zones is not classification dependent, the change

REFERENCES

- Sporner ML, Grindle GG, Kelleher A, Teodorski EE, Cooper RA, et al. Quantification of activity during wheelchair basketball and rugby at the national veterans wheelchair games: a pilot study. *Prosthet Orthot Int.* (2009) 33:210–7. doi: 10.1080/03093640903051816
- 2. Rhodes JM, Mason BS, Perrat B, Smith MJ, Malone LA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, et al. Activity profiles of elite wheelchair rugby players during competition. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2015) 10:318–24. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0203
- Barry SM, James MR, Victoria LG-T. Validity and reliability of an inertial sensor for wheelchair court sports performance. J Appl Biomech. (2014) 30:326–31. doi: 10.1123/jab.2013-0148
- 4. WWR. World Wheelchair Rugby Guidelines (2021). Etoy.

in core temperature is related to movement time per quarter. Secondly, peak speeds obtained on-court were linked to overall movement time which suggests a mid-event warm-up could be beneficial. Finally, like previous work, thermo-perception models should be taken with caution when working with athletes with a SCI.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved Ontario Tech University Research by The provided Ethics Board. patients/participants their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors provided substantial contributions to the conception, study design, and the drafting of the work, or revising it critically. Final approval of the version submitted/published and consent for publication has been agreed by all authors.

FUNDING

EG was supported in this original investigation by funding from Mitacs and Own the Podium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the participants for their time and effort and acknowledge the Integrated Support Team and Coaches from Wheelchair Rugby Canada, and Drs. Marc Klimstra, Ming-Chang Tsai, Robert Rupf, and Matt Jensen for their assistance with data collection and the processing of IMU data.

- Tachibana K, Mutsuzaki H, Shimizu Y, Doi T, Hotta K, Wadano Y. Influence of functional classification on skill tests in elite female wheelchair basketball athletes. *Medicina*. (2019) 55:740. doi: 10.3390/medicina55110740
- Vanlandewijck YC, Evaggelinou C, Daly DJ, Verellen J, Van Houtte S, Aspeslagh V, et al. The relationship between functional potential and field performance in elite female wheelchair basketball players. J Sports Sci. (2004) 22:668–75. doi: 10.1080/02640410310001655750
- Freund PR, Brengelmann GL, Rowell LB, Halar E. Attenuated skin blood flow response to hyperthermia in paraplegic men. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol. (1984) 56:1104–9. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1984.56.4.1104
- Griggs KE, Leicht CA, Price MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Thermoregulation during intermittent exercise in athletes with a spinal-cord injury. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10:469–75. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0361

- Griggs KE, Havenith G, Price MJ, Mason BS, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Thermoregulatory responses during competitive wheelchair rugby match play. Int J Sports Med. (2017) 38:177–83. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-121263
- Logan-Sprenger HM, Mc Naughton LR. Characterizing thermoregulatory demands of female wheelchair basketball players during competition. *Res Sports Med.* 2019:1–12. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2019.1627546
- Attia M, Engel P. Thermoregulatory set point in patients with spinal cord injuries (spinal man). *Paraplegia*. (1983) 21:233–48. doi: 10.1038/sc.1983.37
- Ament W, Verkerke GJ. Exercise and fatigue. Sports Med. (2009) 39:389– 422. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200939050-00005
- Nybo L. Exercise and heat stress: cerebral challenges and consequences. Prog Brain Res. (2007) 162:29–43. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)62003-7
- Price MJ, Campbell IG. Effects of spinal cord lesion level upon thermoregulation during exercise in the heat. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1100–7. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000074655.76321.D7
- Forsyth P, Miller J, Pumpa K, Thompson KG, Jay O. Independent Influence of Spinal Cord Injury Level on Thermoregulation during Exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2019) 51:1710–9. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001978
- Griggs KE, Havenith G, Paulson TAW, J Price M, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Effects of cooling before and during simulated match play on thermoregulatory responses of athletes with tetraplegia. J Sci Med Sport. (2017) 20:819– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.03.010
- Chantraine A, Nusgens B, Lapiere CM. Biochemical analysis of heterotopic ossification in spinal cord injury patients. *Paraplegia*. (1995) 33:398– 401. doi: 10.1038/sc.1995.89
- Chotai SP, Mrak RE, Mutgi SA, Medhkour A. Ossification in an extraintradural spinal meningioma-pathologic and surgical vistas. *Spine J.* (2013) 13:e21–6. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2013.06.102
- Byrne C, Lim CL. The ingestible telemetric body core temperature sensor: a review of validity and exercise applications. *Br J Sports Med.* (2007) 41:126– 33. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.026344
- de Witte AMH, Hoozemans MJM, Berger MAM, van der Slikke RMA, van der Woude LHV, Veeger DHEJ. Development, construct validity and test-retest reliability of a field-based wheelchair mobility performance test for wheelchair basketball. J Sports Sci. (2018) 36:23–32. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1276613
- 21. Borg GA. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1982) 14:377–81. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198205000-00012
- 22. Gagge AP, Stolwijk JAJ, Hardy JD. Comfort and thermal sensations and associated physiological responses at various ambient temperatures. *Environ Res.* (1967) 1:1–20. doi: 10.1016/0013-9351(67)90002-3
- Batterham AM, Hopkins WG. Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. Int J Sports Physiol Perform. (2006) 1:50– 7. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.1.1.50
- O'Brien TJ, Briley SJ, Mason BS, Leicht CA, Tolfrey K, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. A high-intensity warm-up increases thermal strain but does not affect repeated sprint performance in athletes with a cervical spinal cord injury. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2022) 17:440–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2021-0073

- Griggs KE, Havenith G, Price MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Evaporative heat loss insufficient to attain heat balance at rest in individuals with a spinal cord injury at high ambient temperature. J Appl Physiol. (2019) 127:995–1004. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0089 3.2018
- Cramer MN, Jay O. Explained variance in the thermoregulatory responses to exercise: the independent roles of biophysical and fitness/fatness-related factors. J Appl Physiol. (2015) 119:982–9. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0028 1.2015
- Taylor JB, Mellalieu SD, James N, Shearer DA. The influence of match location, quality of opposition, and match status on technical performance in professional association football. J Sports Sci. (2008) 26:885– 95. doi: 10.1080/02640410701836887
- Webborn N, Price MJ, Castle P, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Cooling strategies improve intermittent sprint performance in the heat of athletes with tetraplegia. Br J Sports Med. (2010) 44:455–60. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.043687
- Tanabe S-I, Kobayashi K, Nakano J, Ozeki Y, Konishi M. Evaluation of thermal comfort using combined multi-node thermoregulation (65MN) and radiation models and computational fluid dynamics (CFD). *Energy and Buildings*. (2002) 34:637–46. doi: 10.1016/S0378-7788(02)00014-2
- Havenith G, Fiala D. Thermal indices and thermophysiological modeling for heat stress. *Compr Physiol.* (2015) 6:255–302. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140051
- Flouris AD, Cheung SS. Human conscious response to thermal input is adjusted to changes in mean body temperature. Br J Sports Med. (2009) 43:199–203. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.044552
- Nicotra A, Ellaway PH. Thermal perception thresholds: assessing the level of human spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2006) 44:617–24. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101877

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Gavel, Lacroix, Goosey-Tolfrey and Logan-Sprenger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



How Was Studied the Effect of Manual Wheelchair Configuration on Propulsion Biomechanics: A Systematic Review on Methodologies

Capucine Fritsch^{1,2*}, Yoann Poulet¹, Joseph Bascou¹, Patricia Thoreux^{3,4} and Christophe Sauret^{1,2}

¹ Centre d'Études et de Recherche sur l'Appareillage des Handicapés, Institution Nationale des Invalides, Paris, France, ² Arts et Métiers Institute of Technology, Université Sorbonne Paris Nord, IBHGC – Institut de Biomécanique Humane Georges Charpak, HESAM Université, 151 Bd de l'Hôpital, Paris, France, ³ Hôpital Hôtel-Dieu, AP-HP, Paris, France, ⁴ Université Sorbonne Paris Nord, Arts et Métiers Institute of Technology, IBHGC – Institut de Biomécanique Humane Georges Charpak, HESAM Université, 151 Bd de l'Hôpital, Paris, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dirkjan Veeger, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Philip Santos Requejo, Rancho Research Institute, United States Daniele Cafolla, Mediterranean Neurological Institute Neuromed (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Capucine Fritsch capucine.fritsch@invalides.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 26 January 2022 Accepted: 28 March 2022 Published: 02 May 2022

Citation:

Fritsch C, Poulet Y, Bascou J, Thoreux P and Sauret C (2022) How Was Studied the Effect of Manual Wheelchair Configuration on Propulsion Biomechanics: A Systematic Review on Methodologies. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:863113. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.863113 **Background:** For both sports and everyday use, finding the optimal manual wheelchair (MWC) configuration can improve a user's propulsion biomechanics. Many studies have already investigated the effect of changes in MWC configuration but comparing their results is challenging due to the differences in experimental methodologies between articles.

Purpose: The present systematic review aims at offering an in-depth analysis of the methodologies used to study the impact of MWC configuration on propulsion biomechanics, and ultimately providing the community with recommendations for future research.

Methods: The reviewing process followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flowchart on two databases (Scopus and PubMed) in March 2022.

Results: Forty-five articles were included, and the results highlighted the multiplicity of methodologies regarding different experimental aspects, including propulsion environment, experimental task, or measurement systems, for example. More importantly, descriptions of MWC configurations and their modifications differed significantly between studies and led to a lack of critical information in many cases.

Discussion: Studying the effect of MWC configuration on propulsion requires recommendations that must be clarified: (1) the formalism chosen to describe MWC configuration (absolute or relative) should be consistent with the type of study conducted and should be documented enough to allow for switching to the other formalism; (2) the tested MWC characteristics and initial configuration, allowing the reproduction or comparison in future studies, should be properly reported; (3) the bias induced by the experimental situation on the measured data must be considered when drawing conclusions and therefore experimental conditions such as propulsion speed or the effect of the instrumentation should be reported.

Conclusion: Overall, future studies will need standardization to be able to follow the listed recommendations, both to describe MWC configuration and mechanical properties in a clear way and to choose the experimental conditions best suited to their objectives.

Keywords: manual wheelchair, configuration, settings, methodology, experiment, kinematics, kinetics, PRISMA

INTRODUCTION

Manual wheelchairs (MWC) allow disabled people with impaired lower limb function to regain autonomy and physical mobility. However, if the MWC is not properly adapted to its user, propulsion can become exhausting, and could favor the appearance of musculoskeletal disorders either through an increase in shoulder net joint moment (1), a decrease in mechanical efficiency (2), or through ranges of motion closer to articular limits (3). Therefore, providing the user with an optimally fitted MWC is crucial and requires in-depth studies of the effect of MWC characteristics on propulsion. Among the different characteristics of a MWC, it is possible to distinguish dimensional (e.g., seat and backrest width and depth) and positional (e.g., camber, backrest, and seat angles) characteristics defining the MWC configuration (i.e., its geometry); and the resulting mechanical properties (e.g., mass, position of the center of mass (CoM), or rolling resistance, etc.). Sometimes, the literature also refers to the word "settings" which is used in the present article as the selected value for a given dimensional or positional characteristic. Besides, various scientific approaches can be implemented to study the effect of MWC characteristics on propulsion, such as physiology, biomechanics, and even human and social sciences. Among the different approaches, biomechanics (i.e., kinematics and kinetics) is particularly well-suited because it relies on physical quantities and measurement systems allowing to obtain instantaneous values, unlike physiological measurements (4).

Tackling the issue of identifying the optimal MWC challenging because the configuration is numerous characteristics involved and the multiple tasks that constitute MWC propulsion (e.g., slope, cross-slope, turning, curbs etc.) result in too many conditions to be tested by a single subject. Hence, researchers tend to isolate a single MWC characteristic in their studies and to focus on one task, generally straight-line propulsion on flat ground. To date, numerous articles have already attempted to quantify the effect of a MWC characteristic on propulsion biomechanics, with a growing interest over the past 20 years. This has led to some authors providing literature reviews with special emphasis on daily (5) or sport displacements (6-8). If some trends could be drawn, contradictory results were also obtained, which could be attributed to differences in methodologies and lack of standardization (7). Indeed, comparing the results of various studies requires dealing with similar experimental conditions (i.e., power output, speed, or metabolic power) (9); and similar MWC configurations to ensure the results portability. Also, some reserves could be expressed on the different studies due to the difficulty in isolating a change in a single setting (10) and by the effective control of the power output across the different tested conditions (11), in particular due to changes in rolling resistance (12, 13), and also due to the alteration of MWC stability (14–16).

Given the diversity of methodologies highlighted by previous authors, the purpose of this systematic review is to identify and report the multiplicity of methodologies used by the literature while studying the effect of MWC configuration on propulsion biomechanics, both for sports and everyday uses, with particular emphasis on experimental task, experimental environment, propulsion speed, MWC configuration reporting, number of configuration under study, measurement systems, MWC used, and participants. Lastly, the discussion strives to provide readers with guidance regarding experiments to be performed, literature analysis, and suggestions for future works.

METHODS

The present review aimed at identifying and analyzing the methodologies used in studies that dealt with MWC configurations and their impact on propulsion biomechanics. The review was conducted following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 updated guidance (17). PubMed and Scopus databases were individually searched for relevant articles, regardless of their publication date. The request, initially emitted on December 2020 and updated on March 2022 to add the articles that were published since, focused on retrieving all the articles considering the impact of MWC configuration on propulsion biomechanics and was worded as follows:

(wheelchair[Title]) ((setting*[Title/Abstract]) OR AND(configuration*[Title/Abstract]) (design[Title]) OR OR (characteri*[Title/Abstract]) (propert*[Title/Abstract]) OR *OR* (*seat*[*Title*/*Abstract*]) *OR* (*backrest*[*Title*/*Abstract*]) OR (camber[Title/Abstract]) OR (wheel[Title/Abstract]) OR (pushrim[Title/Abstract]) OR (handrim[Title/Abstract]) OR (footrest[Title/Abstract]) OR (fork[Title/Abstract]) OR (*caster*[*Title*/*Abstract*]) OR (*interface*[*Title*/*Abstract*]) OR (gear[Title/Abstract]) OR (profile[Title/Abstract]) OR (form[Title/Abstract]) OR (tube[Title/Abstract])) NOT (electric*[Title]).

Two authors took part in the screening process (Y. P., C. F.), following the PRISMA flowchart and independently managing half of the records. After duplicate removal, the remaining articles were first screened by title, then by abstract, and finally by full text. Inclusion criterion was studies covering the effect of MWC configuration on propulsion biomechanics from an experimental point of view. In contrast, exclusion criteria were the following: articles involving electric or power assisted wheelchairs; articles about sit-to-stand, reclining, stairclimbing and children-sized wheelchairs; articles involving other propulsion system than manual handrim or no propulsion at all; articles only studying physiological parameters; and articles that were not original studies or not written in English. When in doubt, records were identified and kept in a separate list so that the two authors could reach an agreement. Ultimately, 45 articles were retained and were sorted in main categories according to the characteristics they focused on. For the analysis, the same two authors collected the methodology described in each article, with special attention given to the description of the wheelchair configuration, the subjects' wheelchair experience, and the experimental tasks and devices.

The PRISMA Checklist is appended to this article (Supplementary Material).

RESULTS

The compilation on both databases resulted in 3,698 references. After duplicate removal, 2,775 references remained. The screening through the title filter resulted in 160 references. After reading the abstracts, 68 articles were selected, and finally, 44 articles were considered after the full texts were read. An additional relevant article, not identified through the screening process but found in the bibliography of another article, was included in this review (6). This approach is summarized in **Figure 1**.

The table which led to the redaction of the results section is appended to this article (**Supplementary Material**).

General Results

Over the 45 articles remaining from the screening process, 24 articles recruited exclusively MWC users, 17 articles exclusively able-bodied (AB) volunteers, and four articles included both MWC users and AB subjects (**Table 1**).

The results were organized per characteristics and gathered into three major parts:

- the characteristics related to the wheels (n = 17)
- the characteristics related to seating (n = 9)
- the characteristics describing the vertical and horizontal positions of the seat with respect to the rear wheels (n = 2 0)

In total, three articles studied characteristics included in two of the sections listed above.

Wheel-Related Articles

Seventeen articles studied wheel-related characteristics focusing either on the rear wheel camber angle (n = 8), on the rear wheel (n = 3) or handrim (n = 3) diameters, on handrim shapes (n = 2) or on tire pressure and type (n = 1).

Camber

Camber is by far the most studied wheel-related characteristic. The 8 articles focusing on camber angle can be organized following their experimental conditions: overground (n = 3), on a roller ergometer (n = 3) or on a treadmill (n = 2).

Overground

Methods: Three studies investigated the effect of camber angle through overground experiments, involving novice AB subjects (38, 39), or highly trained MWC basketball and tennis athletes (52). As one article is sports oriented and the others focus on daily life displacements, the range of studied camber angles varied noticeably between studies: from 15° to 24° (52), and from 0° to 15° (38, 39). On average, 3 different camber angles (minimum 2, maximum 4) were tested per study. Experiments were carried out using the same MWC without adjustment to the participant (38, 39) or using the same MWC but with seat height adjusted to the athlete's personal MWC by copying their elbow angle when hands were at the handrim top dead center (52).

Wheelchair configurations were described with varying levels of detail among the articles. MWC brand and model were always provided, along with rear wheel, caster and handrim diameters, or seat width, depth, and height.

All the articles specified taking care of preventing "toe-in toeout" (i.e., alignment of the wheels in the transverse plane) for each camber angle condition. The impact of varying camber on the MWC configuration was controlled and standardized by maintaining the top-to-top rear wheel width constant either at 48 cm (52), or at 40% of the user's arm span (38).

Experiments consisted of a straight-line propulsion over 4meters long displacements (with 3–4 propulsion cycles before and after the measurement area) at 1 m/s (controlled by measuring the time to complete the 4 meters) (38, 39), and of a combination of a 20 m sprint, linear mobility, and maneuverability drills at maximal speed (52).

Materials: Experiments were monitored with motion-capture systems (60 Hz) and 6-components wheel dynamometers (hereafter referred to as "instrumented wheels") (38, 39), using force plates to compute friction coefficients (39). Others implemented the velocometer device (63) to assess MWC speed (52).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (time to perform the task, MWC mean and peak velocities, number or frequency of pushes, start, release, and total push angles, stroke patterns, acceleration over the first 2 or 3 pushes) (n = 2), kinematics (trunk, shoulder, elbow and wrist peak joint angle and ranges of motion (RoM)) (n = 1) and kinetics (maximum power output, external mechanical work, mean rolling resistance coefficient) (n = 1).

Results: Results showed that the time required to perform a task increased with increasing the camber angle from 15 to 24°, leading to a deterioration of overground sprint and mobility drills performances (52). Similarly, the release angle and the trunk RoM were shown to increase with increasing camber angle (38). The last authors also found a trend of change in the stroke pattern toward a single looping over propulsion (SLOP) pattern (64). Finally, both rolling resistance and total power output were also found to increase with camber (39), explained by the modification of the wheel-ground contact surface.

Roller Ergometer

Methods: Three studies used commercially available roller ergometers and were all sports oriented (21, 35, 36). They



involved experienced MWC users such as MWC basketball and rugby athletes. Camber varied from 9° to 22° , with 3 different camber angles per study. Experiments were systematically performed using the same MWC for all subjects.

The initial MWC configuration was defined through brand, model, weight, overall length, seat and backrest angles, backrest height, seat depth and width, rear-wheel diameter and tire pressure in two studies (35, 36), whereas it was limited to weight, rear-wheel diameter, seat depth and height in the remaining article (21).

One study adjusted the initial configuration to every subject by mimicking the participants' own MWC configuration (21), but the resulting configurations were not reported. For the two other articles, the top-to-top rear wheel width was maintained constant (48 cm) between configurations (35, 36). Finally, two out of three

articles specified that a special care was taken to avoid "toe-in toe-out" between configurations.

For all studies, participants were asked to propel at maximal speed for 8 s.

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal (MWC average speed, push time, recovery time) (n = 2) and kinetic (residual torque, power output) (n=2) parameters.

Results: Temporal parameters showed conflicting results; one article reported an increase of the push time with camber angle (35) whereas another one did not report any change (21). Higher camber angles were associated with a decrease of the recovery time (21) and of the MWC speed (35). This last result can be explained by the increase of rolling resistance (35, 36) due to the type of contact between the wheels and the rollers.

TABLE 1 | Number and type of participants to each study.

Number of subjects	Able-bodied		Spinal cord injury (SCI)	Older people	Athletes*	
	Novice	Experienced				
1	(18, 19)				(20)	
2–5					(21, 22)	
6–10	(23–28) (29) (30) (31) (32, 33)		(29) (30) (31) (34)		(35–37)	
11–20	(38–43) (44)**	(45)	(46–49)	(50, 51)	(52–56)	
21 +	(57)		(58, 59) (44)**	(60)	(61, 62)	

Bold, same study involving different cohorts; *Athletes cohorts described by pathology or classification in the articles, not reported in this table; **Lin and Sprigle (44): cohort of SCI subjects with one subject with ataxia.

Finally, Faupin et al. (36) showed that reorienting the rollers perpendicular to the wheel plane allowed for a more realistic setup by maintaining residual torque closer to overground or treadmill conditions.

Treadmill

Methods: Two articles resorted to treadmill experiments to investigate the effect of camber on propulsion. One article studied daily life speeds and involved AB subjects (23), whereas the other article was sports oriented and recruited highly trained basketball and tennis wheelchair athletes (53). Camber angles were between 0° and 9° for the first study and between 15° and 24° for the second one. In each study, the same MWC was used for all participants.

Both articles described the initial MWC configuration through brand, model, weight, handrim or rear wheel diameter, tire brand or pressure and seat height. Seat height was adapted to the participants through the elbow angle when subjects were seated in the MWC with their back resting on the backrest and their hands placed at the handrim top dead center. For Veeger et al. (23), the elbow angle was fixed at 120° for all participants whereas Mason et al. (53) reproduced the angle of participants sitting in their own MWC. When varying configurations, Mason et al. (53) specified maintaining the participant's elbow angle constant and a 48 cm top-to-top rear wheel width across every tested configuration. Mason et al. also specified that "toe-in toeout" was controlled between configurations, while Veeger et al. (23) took special care in maintaining an equal rolling resistance between configurations.

Both experiments were performed on the same commercially available motor-driven treadmill. For each configuration, subjects were asked to propel for 12 min with increasing speed every 3 min (0.56, 0.83, 1.11, 1.39 m/s) (23), or to propel for 4 min at 2.2 m/s on a 0.7% gradient slope (53).

Materials: Both experiments were monitored with video cameras coupled with an optoelectronic motion capture system (53) and EMG electrodes (23).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (contact and release angles, push and recovery times) (n = 2), kinematics (shoulder flexion/extension

and abduction/adduction, elbow and trunk flexion, shoulder, elbow, and wrist angular velocities) (n = 2), kinetics (rolling resistance, power output) (n = 2) and muscular activity (upper limb and trunk muscles activation) (n = 1).

Results: One study reported differences in push time, push angle and shoulder abduction between 3° and 6° camber angles (23) whereas the other study did not report such results but an increase in shoulder, elbow and trunk RoM in the sagittal plane (53). Finally, one study reported a decrease in rolling resistance with camber (23) whereas the other study found an increase (53).

Rear-Wheel Diameter

Methods: Rear wheel diameter was studied in three articles involving experienced MWC basketball athletes. Experiments were either performed on the athlete's personal MWC (61), whose configuration was not reported, or on a MWC provided by the authors which was the same for all subjects (54, 55). In that case, the brand, model, gear ratio (i.e., handrim radius divided by wheel radius), camber, and tire pressure were reported. Furthermore, seat height was adapted to each participant through the reproduction of the elbow angle they have in their personal basketball MWC. This elbow angle and the gear ratio were maintained constant for every rear wheel diameter. The authors reported that they were not able to maintain the top-to-top rear wheel width constant between configurations due to camber. Besides, the authors did not report if the change in rear wheel size was associated with an adaptation of both the seat angle and the inclination of the caster fork axle with respect to the MWC frame, while the latter is crucial for turning maneuvers.

Regarding the experimental conditions, one study was carried out on a treadmill at 2.2 m/s (55) whereas the other two studies consisted of overground mobility tests performed at maximal speed such as a 20 m sprint, a linear mobility drill requiring multiple successive forward and backward propulsions and an agility drill composed of sharp turns (54) or the Wheelchair Mobility Performance test composed of 15 mobility exercises such as a 12-meter sprint and a rotation, with and without handling a ball (61).

Materials: Measurements involved video cameras (55, 61), a velocometer (54), and an instrumented wheel with additional

weight around the hub of the opposing wheel to counterbalance its weight and inertia (55).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (time to perform the task, stroke frequency, push time, push angle, acceleration over 2 and 3 pushes, peak velocity) (n = 3), upper limb kinematics (joints angular displacement at contact and release instants: shoulder flexion and abduction, elbow and trunk flexion, wrist extension) (n = 1) and handrim kinetics (resultant and tangential forces, fraction of effective force (FEF), mechanical work, and power) (n = 1).

Results: Results showed that larger rear-wheel diameter improved sprinting performances without negatively influencing initial acceleration or maneuverability performances (55, 61). If push time, stroke frequency and upper body joint kinematics were not found to be altered by rear wheel diameter, push angle was reported to increase with wheel diameter (55). Larger rear wheel diameters were also associated with smaller handrim total force and larger tangential component.

Handrim Diameter

Methods and Materials: Three studies focused on the effect of handrim diameter, either involving novice AB subjects using the same MWC (24, 25) or focusing on a single wheelchair racing athlete in his personal racing MWC (20). Handrim diameters ranging from 34 to 37 cm were studied for the racing MWC, while larger handrim diameters, from 32 to 54 cm, were studied in the two other articles (24, 25). In all studies, the handrim diameter varied while keeping the rear wheel diameter constant, inducing an alteration of gear ratio for each configuration.

Description of the MWC characteristics was done through rear wheel diameter and seat depth, width, and height with respect to the ground for one study (25), whereas only the brand and model was given for another article (20) and no information at all were reported in the third one (24).

The experiments on racing MWC took place on a 400 m long athletics track, on which the subject performed laps and 5 min bouts of propulsion, both with 200 m head starts at speeds ranging between 12 and 24 km/h (20). A 500 Hz camera mounted on the MWC allowed for the definition of the propulsion cycle parameters. Participants to the two other studies were asked to propel overground at self-selected speeds over 25 m (25) or for 5 propulsion cycles (24) in a motion-capture equipped runway. One study used pressure sensors, placed inside gloves (25), and the other used an instrumented wheel (24).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (stroke frequency, push time) (n = 1), upper limb kinematics (shoulder and elbow flexion/extension RoM, shoulder adduction/abduction and rotation RoM) (n = 1), and upper limb kinetics (hand pressure, mechanical power, power flow) (n = 2).

Results: Results on spatiotemporal parameters in racing MWC showed that smaller handrims resulted in longer push time and lower push frequency (20). In standard overground propulsion, even if the speed was self-selected, no differences in speed were observed between the different handrim diameters. However, larger handrim diameter was found to be associated

with larger shoulder and elbow RoM and larger hand contact forces and pressure (25) and related to greater work and total mechanical energy in upper extremity segments during propulsion (24).

Handrim Shape

Methods: Two articles studied handrim shape, involving novice AB subjects and using the same MWC for all subjects (26, 57). The articles compared the use of conventional 18- and 20-mm diameter cylindrical metallic handrim either to an oval shape section handrim or to an ergonomically shaped handrim.

The first study (26) used a custom built simulator described by handrim diameter, camber, backrest height and seat height and angle, asking participants to perform two submaximal exercice tests. For the second article, each handrim was mounted on a separate set of wheels with different tire type and pressure, which were reported along with backrest height and seat width and depth to describe the MWC configuration. The experiments consisted of 8-shape displacements at comfort speed.

Materials: Measurements were carried out using the custombuilt simulator or a Grip VersaTek Wireless System placed inside gloves allowing for the measurement of hand pressure (57).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (cycle time, push frequency, push angle) (n = 1), handrim kinetics (n = 1) and upper limb kinetics (hand pressure) (n = 1).

Results: No significant effect of handrim shape was observed on spatiotemporal propulsion parameters or in power output (26). The contoured handrim design was related to reduced levels of contact pressure on most hand regions, however it concentrated a high level of pressure on the medial phalanges, preventing the authors from recommending this feature (57).

Tire Type and Pressure

Methods: One article focused on the effect of tire type and pressure on physical strain and propulsion technique (40). Experiments were conducted on novice AB subjects. Two tire types (pneumatic and solid) and four pneumatic tire pressure conditions [100, 75, 50, and 25% of the recommended pressure (i.e., 6 bars in that case)] were evaluated. A configuration with extra mass (5 and 10 kg) added on the rear wheel axle was examined both for 100% pressure pneumatic tires and for solid tires. All the participants used the same MWC, defined by brand, model, total mass, rear wheel diameter, camber and seat and backrest angles with respect to the horizontal and frontal planes, respectively. The experiments consisted of 4-min bouts of propulsion at 1.11 m/s on a level treadmill.

Materials and parameters of interest: The MWC was equipped with 2 instrumented wheels, allowing for the measurement of spatiotemporal (push time, cycle time, push frequency and push angle) and kinetic (total and tangential forces, propelling torque, FEF and power) parameters.

Results: Results showed that lower tire pressure resulted in smaller cycle time and push angle, as well as in significantly lower FEF and higher power output. Solid tires were also found to increase power output. Additional mass did not have a significant impact on propulsion technique (timing and force application) or

power output, although a trend of increasing power output with solid tires was observed.

Seating-Related Articles

Nine articles studied seating-related characteristics, with focus on seat and backrest angles (n = 6), backrest height (n = 1), and footrest positioning (n = 2).

Seat and Backrest Angles

Methods: Six articles focused on seat and backrest angles. Two articles included the effect of both angles on propulsion with elderly people (50, 51) and four articles focused only on the effect of seat angle either on spine curvature and scapular kinematics during propulsion in users with spinal cord injury (SCI) (58), on mobility and propulsion kinematics in elite MWC rugby players (37), on seating ergonomics and mobility efficiency in SCI users (46), or on the position of the MWC-user's CoM during propulsion of one AB user (18). Overall, seat angles were studied in the range of 0° to 14° ; and backrest angles were studied between 95° and 105°. All articles defined seat and backrest angles with respect to the horizontal plane. However, one article, using a specific platform, tilted the entire MWC during its experiments (18). Except for the characteristics of interest (i.e., seat and backrest angles), the descriptions of the MWC configurations were scarce in all the retrieved studies.

Experiments were conducted at comfort speed (~ 1 m/s) using a custom-built ergometer (18, 50, 51), the participants' own MWC on a roller ergometer (58), or the same MWC for all participants, either using the same predefined configuration for all participants on a treadmill (46) or mimicking each participant's own MWC configuration during maximal speed overground mobility tests (37).

Materials: Experiments were monitored with optoelectronic motion capture systems (50, 51, 58), video cameras (37, 46), or inertial measurement units (IMU) (37). An instrumented wheel was used in two studies, adjusting the second wheel inertial properties by adding weight to it (50, 51).

Parameters of interest: Measurements included spatiotemporal data (push frequency, contact, release and total push angles, time to perform the task) (n = 4), kinematics (shoulder rotations, global CoM displacement) (n = 2) and kinetics (handrim forces, FEF, shoulder net joint moments, power output, mechanical efficiency) (n = 3).

Results: Results showed that push angle increased with increasing seat (46, 51) and backrest angles (51). During sprint and agility tasks, reduced seat angle was found to reduce the time required to perform the task (37). Regarding kinematics, seat angle did not alter glenohumeral rotation, but higher inclination resulted in higher scapulothoracic internal rotation (58). Regarding kinetics, FEF was improved with increasing seat and backrest angles (50) without affecting peak and mean shoulder net joint moment in elderly people (51).

Backrest Height

Methods: One article focused on backrest height (59). Experiments were conducted in SCI users with injury from T8 to L5 vertebrae. Two backrest heights were tested, described

as a fixed height of 40.6 cm for the highest condition and subject-specific (50% of the user's trunk length) for the lowest. All the participants used an identical MWC, provided into two seat widths to accommodate various body sizes but the MWCs characteristics were not reported. Only backrest height varied between tested configurations. The experiment consisted of four 30-s propulsions at 0.9 m/s on a treadmill, with varying slope inclination $(0-3^{\circ})$.

Materials and parameters of interest: An optoelectronic motion capture system was used, coupled with two instrumented wheels allowing for the determination of spatiotemporal (push time and push angle), kinematic (shoulder peak extension and shoulder flexion/extension RoM), and kinetic (mechanical effective force) parameters.

Results: Results showed a smaller push time and push angle and a higher push frequency with the higher backrest, which also resulted in smaller shoulder extension angles at the beginning of push phase and smaller shoulder flexion/extension RoM. The mechanical effective force was not found to be altered by seat height.

Footrest Positioning

Methods: Two articles studied the impact of footrest positioning on MWC propulsion in AB participants. One examined the effect of footrest angle, defined through knee flexion, on MWC turning maneuver (27), while the second studied the effect of footrest height, defined through hip flexion, on MWC linear acceleration during a straight-line displacement (45). The first article examined fully extended (0° knee flexion) and fully flexed (120° knee flexion) positions during angular velocity tests, requiring the participants to rotate the MWC over 900° (2.5 full turns) as fast as possible (27). Prior to angular velocity tests, the MWC-user's CoM, overall length, rolling and turning resistances and yaw mass moment of inertia (MoI) were determined. For the second article, three hip flexion angles (0°, 45°, and 90°) were tested, and the participants were asked to propel at maximal speed on a custom-built roller ergometer for 20 s.

Both articles used the same MWC for all participants without adjustments. The MWC characteristics were described through brand, model, seat width and depth, backrest height and rear wheel diameter for both articles, plus seat angle and rear wheel camber (45) or rear-wheel axle plate position, MWC-user's CoM, overall length, rolling and turning resistances and yaw mass MoI (27). During the experiments, the modifications in footrest positioning (height or angle) did not impact any other MWC geometrical characteristics.

Materials and parameters of interest: Both experiments were monitored by video cameras, allowing for the determination of spatiotemporal (task time, peak velocity and acceleration during the first 2 s from standstill, covered distance after 1, 2, and 3 s from standstill) (n = 2), and kinematic (trunk flexion/extension positions) (n = 1) parameters.

Results: Results showed that fully flexed knee position resulted in a greater angular velocity, a more rearward position of the CoM and thus a decrease in rolling and turning resistances. Results also showed an improvement of the covered distance during the first 3 s when thighs were parallel to the floor and

a reduced capacity to accelerate was noted with hip completely flexed (thighs on the trunk with vertical trunk). Regarding trunk kinematics, flexion/extension average position was altered but the trunk only actively participated in the first push in the condition with thighs parallel to the floor.

Seat Vertical and Horizontal Positions

Twenty articles studied the position of the seat relative to the wheels, with focus on the vertical position (seat height) (n = 6), on the horizontal position (seat fore-aft position) (n = 6), or on both (n = 8).

Seat Vertical Position (Seat Height)

The 14 articles studying seat height can be organized following their experimental propulsion conditions: overground (n = 5), on a treadmill (n = 2), on a roller ergometer (n = 4) or on a stationary wheelchair simulator (n = 3).

Overground

Methods: Articles studying the effect of seat height on the biomechanics of overground propulsion involved either AB participants (41) or experienced MWC users (37, 47, 56, 62). Three articles were sports oriented: two focused on MWC basketball (56, 62) and one on MWC rugby (37). For these studies, participants either performed the Wheelchair Mobility Performance test gathering 15 sport-specific tasks (56, 62) or a combination of 5 m sprints, Illinois Agility Test, and a specific "skill" test (37). Other experiments consisted of overground propulsion at a self-selected speed (47) or of maximal speed propulsion over a 3 m long ramp with a 1:12 slope (41). Two articles (56, 62) used the athlete's own MWC and moved the seat up and down by 7.5% of its initial position. Two other studies used a custom-made adjustable MWC and modified seat height either by plus and minus 15 mm (37) or using four pre-selected heights covering 10 cm from the lowest to the highest position (47). The last article tested four seat heights defined from elbow flexion angle $(0^\circ, 30^\circ, 60^\circ, and 90^\circ)$ using the same MWC for all participants (41).

MWC configurations were either not described (41, 56, 62) or described through seat depth, angle, and tire pressure (37) or through brand, model, rear and front wheel diameter and type, handrims diameter, seat width and depth and camber angle (47).

While varying seat position, one article specified keeping constant "all other configuration parameters" (37), and two other studies mentioned "preserving other chair ratios" and modifying backrest and footplate heights by the same amount as seat height (56, 62). One article provided the seat angles associated with the highest and lowest tested seat heights (47).

Materials: Experiments were monitored using an optoelectronic motion capture system combined with instrumented wheels (47), EMG electrodes (41), IMUs (37, 56) and video cameras (37, 62).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (time to perform the task, push frequency, push and recovery times, distance traveled per stroke, contact, release, and total push angles, MWC peak or average forward and rotational speed and acceleration) (n = 4), kinematics (elbow flexion angle) (n = 1), kinetics (axial, tangential and radial handrim forces, FEF, peak propelling torque) (n = 1) and muscular activity of the upper limbs (n = 1).

Results: Results showed an increase of both push time and push angle with lower seat heights (47). Regarding task time, contradictory results were obtained with either a decrease (56, 62) or an increase (37) with lower seat positions. Increasing seat height was also found to decrease the elbow flexion angle when the hand is at the handrim top dead center (47). Regarding handrim forces, lower seat positions were found to increase peak radial and axial forces but were not found to impact the tangential component, the mean FEF or the peak propelling torque (47). Finally, higher activation levels of the pectoralis major and of the triceps muscles were associated with lower seat positions (41).

Treadmill

Methods: Two articles used treadmill experiments, involving AB subjects propelling for 12 min with increasing speed every 3 min (0.56, 0.83, 1.11, 1.39 m/s) (28) or SCI MWC users propelling for 6 min at 1 m/s (46).

The first study (28) used the same solid-frame basketball MWC for all participants, with an adapted wood seat allowing for seat height modifications independently from seat foreaft position. The MWC initial configuration was described through brand, weight, caster and rear wheel diameters, handrim diameter, tire pressure and camber angle; and four different seat heights were investigated, defined through the elbow extension angle when the hand is placed at the handrim top dead center $(100^{\circ}, 120^{\circ}, 140^{\circ}, \text{ and } 160^{\circ})$. The second study (46) also used a single MWC for all participants adapted to fit each subject by modifying seat width and backrest angle. The MWC configuration was described by brand and model and two seating positions were investigated, defined through the seat angle (5° and 12°), with a difference in seat height of 55 mm.

Materials: Measurements involved video cameras for both articles and EMG electrodes (28).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (push angle, push frequency, contact and release angles) (n = 2), kinematics (trunk elbow and shoulder flexion/extension) (n = 1) and muscular activity (left arm and trunk muscles) (n = 1).

Results: Results showed a decrease in push angle and push frequency with increasing seat height in both articles. Regarding kinematics, higher seat heights resulted in a decrease of elbow flexion and shoulder extension and abduction, while elbow extension and trunk flexion were increased (28). Finally, a shorter activation period was found with a higher seat for upper-limb muscles, except for the triceps, which exhibited a longer activity (28).

Roller Ergometer

Methods: Over the four articles that used a roller ergometer, two included both AB participants and MWC users for comparison during daily locomotion (29, 30) and two focused on sports MWC, involving experienced MWC athletes. The latter studied rugby with propulsions at maximal speed for the equivalent of a 14 m sprint (21) and racing with propulsions at 60% of the

participant's maximal speed for three 90-s trials (22). For daily locomotion, participants were asked to propel at a self-selected speed for 15 propulsion cycles (29, 30).

All the articles used a single adjustable MWC for all their participants. The initial MWC configuration was either described through weight, rear-wheel diameter, seat depth and height (21); through brand, camber, seat and seat-to-backrest angles (22); or not described at all (29, 30). Overall, the configuration was specified to be controlled and/or maintained constant while changing the seat height. Regarding the number of tested configurations, two articles tested three seat heights (44, 47, 50 cm; distances taken between the ground and the back of the seat) (29, 30); one article investigated the participant's usual MWC seat height and two other heights (3 and 6 cm above the usual seat height) (21) and the last article tested two positions which were defined by the seat position at which the user's distal phalanges were aligned with the lowest portion of the handrims and 10 percent of the subject's arm length higher (22).

Materials: Experiments were performed on custom-built roller ergometers for all the articles, except for one that used a commercially available ergometer (21). Measurement systems included an optoelectronic motion capture system (29, 30), video cameras (22), and built-in sensors within the ergometer (21). Two articles included EMG electrodes on the participant's upper limbs (22, 29).

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (cycle, push and recovery times, push frequency, push, contact and release angles, mean MWC velocity and push phase acceleration) (n = 3), kinematics (trunk, shoulder, elbow and wrist RoM, trunk, arm and hand angular velocities and accelerations, shoulder, elbow and wrist joints velocities) (n = 2) and muscular activity of the upper limb muscles (n = 2).

Results: Results showed a decrease in cycle time (21, 30), an increase in push phase acceleration (21), and a decrease in upper limb RoMs (30) while increasing seat height. Regarding muscle activity, contradictory results were found with seat height associated both with an increase in upper-limb muscle activation during push phase (29), but also with a decrease in muscle activation over the whole cycle, including both push and recovery phases (22).

Stationary Wheelchair Simulator

Methods and materials: Three articles used stationary simulators to investigate the effect of seat height. Studies involved either AB participants (42), SCI subjects (48) or both (31). Participants were asked to propel at daily life speeds of 3 km/h with power output at 7.5 W for all participants (31), or between 0.42 and 0.83 m/s and with individual power output ranging from 5.5 to 14 W (48), or to perform maximum isometric exercises during 6 s per configuration (42).

The stationary wheelchair simulators were either described through camber, seat and seat-to-backrest angles, wheel and handrim diameters, size of the rim tube, top-to-top rear wheel width and seat fore-aft position (48); through seat fore-aft position and handrim diameter (31), or through handrim radius (42). In one article, the simulator was adapted to every participant

by aligning the subject's acromion vertically above the wheel axle (48).

Regarding the investigated seat heights, all three studies tested seat heights defined through the elbow flexion angle when hands are at the handrim top dead centers. One included two seat heights with values of 90° and 100°, corresponding to an average difference between seat heights of 3.3 cm (31). Another compared eight seat heights with steps of 10° from 70° to 140° (48). The last study investigated nine configurations, defined from both shoulder and elbow angles to define both vertical and foreaft position of the seat, (shoulder: from 30° to 70° with 10° increments; elbow: from 65° to 100° with 5° increments) (42). When altering seat height, one article mentioned keeping all the other settings constant (48). The seat and the wheels were separated in the other two custom-made ergometers (31, 42), allowing for the independent modification of seat height.

Parameters of interest: Parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (cycle, push, and recovery times) (n = 1), kinematics (trunk, shoulder, and elbow flexion/extension RoMs) (n = 1), kinetics (FEF, average and peak propelling torque) (n = 1) and upper limb muscles activation (n = 1).

Results: Despite the small difference (3.3 cm) between the seat heights tested, probably explaining the lack of differences observed in propulsion temporal characteristics (cycle, push, and recovery times), the lower seat position resulted in higher upper-limbs RoM in Hughes et al. (31). Regarding kinetics, FEF was found to increase with seat height (48) contrary to the average and peak torques during isometric measurement (42). Similarly, seat height was not found to influence anterior deltoid and triceps muscles activities (42).

Seat Horizontal Position (Seat Fore-aft Position)

Fourteen articles focused on seat fore-aft position and are presented below according to their experimental conditions: overground (n = 6), on a roller ergometer (n = 6), or on a stationary wheelchair ergometer (n = 2).

Overground

Methods: Six articles used overground propulsion and involved experienced MWC users (37, 47), novice AB participants (19, 32, 43) or older people with no information on their MWC experience (60). One article focused on MWC rugby athletes (37). Participants were asked to propel at a comfortable self-selected speed either for at least 4 cycles on a linear path on 4 different surfaces (60), for 10 m (32), for 20 m (47) or for 30 cycles (43); to perform a combination of 5 m sprints, Illinois agility test and a specific "skill" test (37), or a combination of a 15 m straight line sprint and a slalom course (19).

The six studies used a single MWC for all their participants. The initial configuration was either described through MWC brand, rear-wheel diameter, tire type, handrim diameter, front wheel type, seat width and depth and camber angle (47); through brand, mass, seat width, depth, height and inclination, cushion thickness and type, side guards material, rear and caster wheel types and diameters, handrim material and camber (60); through brand and seat height (32); through fore-aft seat position (19); through seat height, angle, and tire pressure (37) or not described (43). All articles except one (43) used an adjustable MWC, but only three reported a MWC adaptation to each participant (37, 47, 60), and Kotajarvi et al. (47) specified this adaptation to be the reproduction of the participant's backrest and footrest heights.

In all studies, changes in seat fore-aft position were defined by the difference with respect to an initial configuration, but only one study (19) also provided the actual fore-aft position of the seat with respect to the rear wheel center. The total amplitude of variation varied between 3 cm (37) and 8 cm (47, 60). Four studies specified that some or all the other settings were maintained constant and/or controlled between configurations (32, 37, 47, 60).

Materials: Regarding measurement devices, the experiments used optoelectronic motion capture systems (32, 47), video cameras (37), instrumented wheels (47, 60), IMUs or accelerometers (37, 43), and EMG electrodes (19, 32).

Parameters of interest: The parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (average speed, stroke time and frequency, stroke distance, push and recovery times and contact and release angles) (n = 3), kinematics (n = 1) (trunk, shoulder, elbow, and wrist ROMs), kinetics (total handrim force and, radial and tangential components, propelling torque, FEF) (n = 2) and upper limb muscles activations (n = 3).

Results: Results showed that the fore-aft seat position did not impact push frequency and stroke distance (60), but a more forward seat position was found to improve skill test performances with sports MWC (37). Regarding kinematics, a forward position of the seat was found to increase the RoM of all the upper limb joints (32). As for kinetics, a rearward seat position was associated with lower total and tangential handrim forces (60) and with reduced upper limb muscle activity in daily life (32) and for sport (19).

Roller Ergometer

Methods: Six articles used a roller ergometer to study the effect of seat horizontal position, all involving experienced MWC users, and two also including AB participants for comparison (29, 30). Sport propulsion was considered in two articles, with focus on rugby with propulsions at maximal speed for the equivalent of a 14 m sprint (21) and racing with propulsions at 60% of the participant's maximal speed for three 90-s trials (22). For daily life locomotion, participants were asked to propel at self-selected speed for 15 propulsion cycles (29, 30) or at comfort speed for two trials of graded propulsion at 8% incline (34, 49).

Most studies used a single adjustable MWC for all their participants, except for two studies that used two similar adjustable MWCs with different seat width to cover all anthropometric differences (34, 49). Overall, four studies added custom-made adjusting systems on a MWC (29, 30, 34, 49). Three studies used individual initial configurations, either based on the reproduction of the participant's own MWC (21) which were not reported or based on the vertical alignment of the subject's shoulder with the rear-wheel center (34, 49). The initial MWC configuration was either described through weight, rearwheel diameter, seat depth and height (21); through brand, wheel camber, seat and seat-to-backrest angles (22); through brand, seat width and camber (34); through brand and seat width (49); or not described (29, 30).

Seat fore-aft position was identified by the horizontal distance between the rear-wheel axle and the back of the seat, either as an absolute value (22, 29, 30), or relative to its initial position (21, 34, 49).

Regarding the number of tested configurations, the studies investigated between 2 and 4 fore-aft positions of the seat with the total amplitude of variation going from 6 to 10 cm. Three articles specified controlling and/or maintaining the MWC configuration constant while changing the seat fore-aft position (21, 22, 30).

Materials: Regarding experimental conditions, studies were performed on a commercially available ergometer (21), on custom-built roller ergometers (22, 29, 30), or on a roller ergometer with removable flywheels (34, 49). Measurement systems included optoelectronic motion capture systems (29, 30, 34, 49), video cameras (22), instrumented wheels (34, 49), and surface (22, 29) or fine-wire EMG electrodes (34, 49).

Parameters of interest: The parameters of interest included spatiotemporal parameters (cycle, push, and recovery times; push frequency; push, contact and release angles; MWC average speed and push phase MWC mean acceleration) (n = 5), kinematics (trunk, shoulder, elbow, and wrist RoM; and trunk, arm and hand angular velocities and accelerations) (n = 2), kinetics (propelling torque and power; shoulder net joint force) (n = 1) and upper limb muscle activation (n = 4).

Results: Results showed an increase of the push angle (21, 30), an increase of upper limb joint RoM (30), and a decrease of peak elbow extension velocity (22) with a more backward seat position. The net shoulder force direction was also impacted by the seat fore-aft position (49). Finally, EMG outputs showed that the combination of backward and low seat position was associated with the lowest muscle activation level (pectoralis major and anterior deltoid muscles) (22, 34). However, other authors found contradictory results with a higher muscle activation for a backward position of the seat (29).

Stationary Wheelchair Simulator

Methods: Two articles used stationary MWC simulators (31, 42) to study the effect of seat fore-aft position on propulsion, involving either AB subjects (42) or both AB and SCI subjects (31); either performing maximum isometric pushes (42), or propelling in a straight line at 3 km/h with a power output of 7.5 W (31).

In both articles, the fore-aft position was modified through the position of the handrim hub relative to the back of the seat. The other MWC characteristics were not described. One study aligned the backrest with the hub as an initial position, and then defined two other tested positions with respect to the user's arm length (31). The second article considered 9 positions by altering both the vertical and fore-aft rear wheel positions, defined through shoulder and elbow flexion angles (42).

Materials: In addition to the measurements provided by the simulators, rotary potentiometers (31) and EMG electrodes were used (42).

Parameters of interest: The parameters of interest were kinematics (upper limb joint RoM) (n = 1), kinetics (peak

and average torque, force vector) (n = 1) and muscular activity (n = 1).

Results: Results showed greater elbow and shoulder RoM in the frontal and transverse planes for frontward seat positions whereas shoulder RoM in the sagittal plane was greater for rearward seat positions (31). Isometric torque increased for a rearward seat position and the upper limb muscles seemed to be recruited differently between the handrim positions (42).

DISCUSSION

Numerous articles revolving around MWC configuration and its impact on propulsion biomechanics were published in the last 40 years. From this consideration, the present review aimed at identifying and reporting the multiplicity of methodologies used in the literature to investigate the effect of MWC configurations on propulsion biomechanics, both for sports and everyday use. In doing so, this review highlighted issues in the methods implemented to study MWC configuration that are discussed below.

Standardizing the Description of MWC Configuration

An Intelligible Description of MWC Configuration

The first issue raised by this review is the lack of essential details in the description of MWC configurations despite it being crucial to ensure results portability to clinical or sports fields and to allow the comparison and aggregation of results between studies. Indeed, some articles reported information limited to MWC brand and model, which does not provide information about MWC characteristics. Therefore, it requires the reader to make tedious research on manufacturer commercial and technical booklets, which also limits the comparison of studies. Similarly, reporting tire type does not provide the reader with intelligible information; reporting rolling and steering resistances would be more informative. However, the level of essential details that are required also depends on the experimental propulsion condition (i.e., overground, treadmill, roller ergometers or stationary wheelchair ergometer) and the studied propulsion task. For instance, when studying turning, assessment of both the MWC CoM location and yaw mass MoI are crucial, which is not the case when studying straight line propulsion. Also, reporting the MWC mass when propelling on a roller ergometer is not relevant because the only useful information is the rolling resistance resulting from the load applied by the rear wheels on the rollers.

Hence, it seems necessary to standardize MWC configuration description, which would facilitate the comparison of results between studies and the reproduction of similar experimental conditions. It is also critical to ensure the efficient integration of results to clinical and sports fields for the benefit of MWC users. The following list displays the MWC parameters that should be systematically reported for an intelligible description of the MWC characteristics directly or indirectly linked to the MWC configuration:

• Dimensional parameters: rear wheel, caster and handrim diameters; seat width and depth; backrest width and

height; rear and front wheel track; wheelbase; caster trail; footrest length.

- Positional parameters: rear wheel camber; backrest and seat angles; back of the seat fore-aft position with respect to the rear wheel axle; back seat height with respect to the ground; footrest position and orientation; fork axis angle.
- Mechanical parameters: inertial parameters (mass, CoM, yaw mass MoI); rolling and steering resistances.

However, obtaining all those parameters is not straightforward and determining MWC positional, dimensional, and mechanical characteristics is time consuming (12, 13, 65–69). The development of material and computer tools that allow a quick and easy determination of MWC characteristics would also favor their more systematic reporting in future publications. Additionally, reporting all these details will take a noticeable writing space in papers where word limits encourage not to report such level of information. Sharing additional data as Supplementary Material, for instance, would allow to overcome this issue.

Description of Configuration Changes

Another challenge is the standardization of how the configuration is altered between tested configurations during the experiments. Firstly, some articles only reported the range of variation in the characteristic of interest without reporting the actual initial setting and the whole description of the MWC configuration, thus preventing reproducing their experiments. Secondly, most of MWC geometrical characteristics are interdependent (70), and one must be careful, when modifying a MWC dimensional or positional characteristic, to consider its impact on the others. Indeed, modifying one characteristic could require several adjustments to keep the rest of the configuration constant (e.g., the modification of rear wheel camber implies a variation in at least nine parameters of the MWC) (10). However, it might be impossible for many commercial MWCs. In that case, impacted settings should be monitored and reported.

Also, there can be an ambiguity between modifying a geometrical characteristic and modifying the mechanical system that allows this change. For instance, altering the seat angle could necessitate several mechanical changes if the seat height is expected to be maintained constant. Most of the articles indicated that the other settings were either "controlled" or "maintained constant," without providing a clear overview on what was actually unchanged and how it impacted the results.

Therefore, researchers are encouraged to select a MWC with adjustment modalities that do not generate other setting changes than the one under study. When not possible, a careful examination of the interdependent characteristics and how to correct them to maintain the rest of the configuration constant is necessary. When performed, authors are encouraged to specify that they have checked all the characteristics of the MWC for each configuration. Regarding mechanical properties, changes in MWC configuration result in changes in MWC-user's CoM position and yaw mass MoI; and in rolling and turning resistances. The researchers are thus incited either to

try to compensate or, at least, to assess their impact on the provided results.

"Absolute" vs. "Relative" Formalisms

Beyond the fact that, in the literature, multiple designations can sometimes refer to the same geometrical characteristic (e.g., seat fore-aft position and rear wheel axle fore-aft position), **Table 2** illustrates that two formalisms are commonly used to describe MWC configurations and their changes. Firstly, MWC characteristics can be expressed as dimensional measurements such as distances between points or angles between planes, as defined by the international standard ISO 7176-7 or in usual MWC provider datasheet. This formalism will be referred to as "absolute." Differently, MWC parameters can be defined according to the user's anthropometric parameters, the most frequent example being seat height defined from the user's elbow extension angle when hands are placed at the handrim top dead center (28). This formalism will be referred to as "relative" hereafter.

The "absolute" formalism has the merit of being selfexplanatory as it echoes the measurements of manufacturers and occupational therapists. Still, some of the recommendations provided by the ISO standards are not practical to implement in a clinical or even research context (e.g., seating and wheel dimensions measured with a specific dummy in the MWC seat) and therefore are not always followed (71), leading to different measurements for the same characteristic (e.g., seat depth taken as seat upholstery depth or as the distance between the front of the seat upholstery and the intersection between the seat and the backrest).

The "relative" formalism can impose closer joint configurations between subjects, mitigating the effect of anthropometric differences and therefore of inter-individual variations on the studied outcome parameters (48), which is relevant to study the performance of the musculoskeletal system. Yet, by doing so, the absolute differences between the configurations are different for each participant, leading to non-uniform variations in the MWC mechanical parameters such as stability or rolling resistance among participants.

Both formalisms have their pros and cons, but the lack of consensus over which formalism to use with respect to the aim of the study combined with the almost systematic absence of the necessary data to switch from one formalism to the other complicates the comparison of results across articles.

Hence, the authors suggest the community provide a consensual way to describe MWC configurations, which would depend on the purpose of the study and would involve absolute or relative descriptions. Future articles are also encouraged to provide data allowing for the conversion from one formalism to the other.

Importance of Methods and Experimental Setups

The multiplicity of methodologies used in the literature to study the effect of MCW configurations on propulsion biomechanics is explained by the fact that they each have their own advantages and drawbacks. The following paragraphs tackle the main methodological aspects:

Experimental Environments

When studying MWC propulsion, the first important methodological choice is the "experimental environment." It can vary from free overground propulsion to propulsion on a wheelchair treadmill, on a roller ergometer or on a stationary wheelchair simulator. Each condition has its advantages and disadvantages, summarized in Table 3. For instance, overground propulsion appears to be the most ecologically valid testing environment, offering infinite trajectory possibilities, but it reaches its limitations when trying to monitor propulsion biomechanics and to control power output between configurations. Conversely, treadmills and roller ergometers are suitable for instrumentation, but a familiarization period is needed for the user and only straightline propulsion can be simulated. Studies on treadmills must also prevent the subject from falling using a security system which impacts measurements.

Comparisons of different experimental environments (e.g., overground, treadmill, roller ergometer, stationary wheelchair simulator) were previously performed by numerous authors (72–75) who agreed that the different experimental environments could be considered similar for the study of MWC propulsion. However, they only considered straight line displacement at steady state speeds. Moreover, it was already shown that MWC configuration affects the fore-aft stability during overground propulsion (16) and that roller ergometers or stationary wheelchair simulators prevent such a phenomenon from occurring. Hence, recommendations about which experimental environment should be used depending on the purpose of the study would provide more adapted results when studying the effect of MWC configuration.

Control of Propulsion Speed and/or Power Output

Among the articles included in this review, most do not report the actual resistance or power output. Also, many asked the participants to choose "comfort" or "self-selected" propulsion speeds without reporting the actual speed. The impossibility to assess power output prevents from making synthesis by compiling results of different studies because speed and power output can critically influence the effect of a change in MWC characteristics on propulsion biomechanics (16). Therefore, both speed and power output should always be documented. However, accurate assessment of power output is not always straightforward and special care is necessary for its quantification (9, 76).

In addition, this assessment needs to be done for every configuration tested by a participant because both resistances (rolling and steering) and MoI are affected by changes in MWC configuration. Depending on the objective of the study, it would be necessary either to maintain power output between configurations or to report the resulting change in power output due to a change in MWC configuration. Indeed, if the goal focuses on performance of the musculoskeletal system resulting from changes in joints configuration induced by a change in MWC configuration, it would be necessary to maintain the power output between configurations. Because altering the velocity is known to affect propulsion biomechanics (77, 78), the rolling resistance needs to be adapted, that is necessary for experiment TABLE 2 | List of the different geometrical characteristics of a MWC and definitions used throughout the literature.

MWC geometrical characteristics	Represer	ntation(s)*	Туре	Different definitions in literature
	Absolute	Relative	-	
Wheel camber			Positional	Angle of the main wheels in relation to the vertical
Wheels/ handrim size			Dimensional	 Diameter of the rear-wheels only (Change in the gear ratio) Diameter of the handrim only (Change in the gear ratio) Diameter of both the rear-wheels and the handrim (No change in the gear ratio)
Seat angle			Positional	Seat angle from the horizontal planeSystem tilt angle (seat and backrest tilt)Seat dump
Backrest angle			Positional	 Seat-to-backrest angle Angle between backrest and the horizontal or vertical plane
Backrest height			Dimensional	 Distance between the back of the seat and the top of the backrest Backrest placed at a specific trunk height
Footrest positioning			Positional	Hip flexion angleKnee flexion/extension angle
Seat height			Positional	 Vertical distance between the floor and the back of the seat Vertical distance between the rear-wheel axle and the back of the seat Elbow flexion/extension angle Elbow and shoulder flexion/extension angles Difference in height at the top of the head Padding thickness
Seat fore-aft position / Rear wheel axle fore-aft position			Positional	 Fore-aft position of the seat (Rear-wheel axle horizontal position) relative to the rear-wheel hub (resp. to the seat) (absolute or relative to anthropometric features) Elbow and shoulder flexion/extension angles Backrest thickness Seat depth

*Examples arbitrarily chosen by the authors.

TABLE 3 | Experimental conditions advantages and disadvantages for manual wheelchair (MWC) propulsion evaluation.

Experimental environment	Advantages	Disadvantages
Overground	 Most ecologically valid ("realistic") testing environment (requires trajectory and stability management while propelling) All movements are possible Can fit any MWC (including the user's own MWC) 	 Changes are limited by the used MWC Instrumented wheels change the MWC inertial properties, influencing propulsive torque Difficult to control the velocity or the power output
Treadmill	 Can fit any MWC (including the user's own MWC) Need to control trajectory and stability Physiological and kinetics results close to overground propulsion Control of speed and power-output Effect of trunk motion taken into account 	 Changes are limited by the used MWC No acceleration or sprint testing No turning, asymmetric propulsion Cross-slopes conditions difficult to safely reproduce Familiarization period needed Security system impacts measurements
Roller ergometer	 Can fit any MWC (including the user's own MWC) Physiological and kinetics results closest to overground propulsion regarding other ergometers Control of resistance/power output with certain ergometers 	 Changes are limited by the used MWC Straight line propulsion simulation only (except for separated rollers ergometers with visual feedback) Trunk motion has no impact on MWC velocity and stability
Stationary wheelchair simulator	 Easy to adapt to every participant Any setting can be varied independently Adjustable resistance Can be easy to change the settings without interdependence with others setting 	 Straightforward propulsion simulation only (except for haptic controlled ergometer and visual feedback) Trunk motion has no impact on MWC velocity and stability

with propulsion overground, on a treadmill and on roller ergometers. Through all the studies included in this systematic review, there is only one study that performed such adaptation in power output (23). However, if the objective of the study is actual displacement performance, change in power output should not be compensated for, but should still be assessed and reported.

Moreover, regarding speed, it has already been shown that participants' self-selected speed on a treadmill is lower than their speed overground (79). Also, the usual speed studied in the literature (1 m.s^{-1}) is above the average daily propulsion speed of MWC users $(0.5-0.8 \text{ m.s}^{-1})$ (80), but this is a consequence of averaging speed over short displacements from standstill to full stop. Other tasks than steady-state propulsion, while more representative of daily propulsion, are however left out when

studying the effect of MWC configurations, likely due to the experimental environment.

Measurement Systems

Along with the various experimental environments, a wide variety of measurement systems were used, from optoelectronic motion capture systems to IMUs, EMGs, pressure sheets, video cameras, force plates and instrumented wheels; each coming with its own pros and cons. For instance, IMUs allow to overcome the spatial restriction imposed by optoelectronic motion capture systems, enabling field measurements, but are less accurate to assess body orientation (81). Ideally, beyond their level of accuracy, measurement systems would not noticeably impact the subject's propulsion and the MWC characteristics. However, it is necessarily the case for some measurement systems such as instrumented wheels which modify wheel and MWC mass and mass moments of inertia (82, 83). Yet, the interest of measuring one parameter could be higher than the limitation induced by the measurement system. When using such a system, its expected impact on the results should be discussed in the study.

MWC Used

Another important methodological choice is the MWC used for experimentation, which can either be the participant's own MWC or the same MWC for all participants, with adaptations to each participant or not. Using the same MWC for all participants standardizes some variables and makes the experiments easier to carry out and the results easier to interpret. Using each subject's personal MWC would be more realistic but would generate variations on MWC configurations and thus on power output. In that case, a precise description of each MWC initial configuration should be provided for this choice to be relevant.

Participants

Choosing to study participants in their own MWC implies the recruitment of experienced MWC users for the experiments, which is generally associated with recruitment difficulties. Despite these difficulties, over 60% of the articles included in this review involved experienced MWC users (Table 1). The other articles involved novice AB subjects. The impact of studying MWC propulsion with novice AB participants has already been investigated multiple times, showing differences in power output (84), mechanical efficiency (85), energy expenditure (86), upper limb muscle recruitment (29) and kinematics (30). Based on these findings, generalization of results obtained on AB subjects to MWC users should be cautiously done. Despite numerous studies on the training of novice AB subjects (14, 87-91) showing significant improvements in propulsion technique, no article has yet been published on the amount of training necessary to achieve propulsion parameters (i.e., stroke pattern, timings, joint kinematics, forces, etc.) like those of experienced MWC users. One must be careful about the fact that the fatigue onset does not emerge at the same time for experienced and inexperienced users, and therefore propulsion time must be adapted when developing an experimental protocol. Additionally, AB subjects' morphology can be different from impaired users. However, despite these notable differences between MWC users and AB subjects, it remains possible that the conclusions on the effect of a MWC adjustment obtained in AB subjects remain valid for MWC users.

An alternative to recruiting AB subjects to compensate for the difficulty of recruiting MWC users is to enroll MWC athletes instead. Indeed, despite differences in their physical abilities, a recent study found that athletic users, that are generally easier to recruit for experiments, could be considered equivalent to non-athletic users when studying kinematic and kinetic parameters during daily propulsion (92).

It should be noted that MWC users are often considered as a homogeneous population despite being composed of a wide variety of people (spinal cord injury, multiple sclerosis, cerebral palsy, lower limb amputees, elderly people, etc.). This variability within the same group should be considered in studies, either by including diverse participants or by replicating the experiments on multiple cohorts.

Experimental Task

Obviously, the experimental task plays a major role in the comparison of results. Despite the recent recommendations that biomechanical research should concentrate on initiating movement, maneuvering MWC and stopping to be more representative of the actual use of a MWC in a natural environment (80, 93, 94), researchers still tend to focus on studying straight-line propulsion at steady-state speed (61% of the studies). This is less of a concern for sports-oriented studies which tend to implement multiple tasks involving different speeds in their experimental protocols. However, in the latter case, the trend of developing specific tests in each study could make comparison and literature synthesis difficult.

Number of MWC Characteristics Investigated

The next challenge to consider is the number of MWC characteristics investigated. Because geometrical characteristics might not have independent effects on outcome parameters, conclusions drawn from experiments performed using a given initial configuration might differ when another initial configuration is used. In other words, it means that the crosseffect of geometrical characteristics should be considered and that future studies should vary multiple geometrical characteristics and interpret the results accordingly. However, as displayed in Table 4, most articles studied a single MWC characteristic and a large majority studied either one or two MWC characteristics (respectively 60% and 88% of the studies). Indeed, increasing the number of investigated characteristics impacts the number of configurations to test which could compromise results due to subject fatigue or weariness. This bias can be reduced through order randomization of the tested configurations, which most of the studies did (i.e., 88% of the studies). Additionally, one must consider the amount of time necessary for one participant to adapt to a new configuration, which also impacts the total duration of the experiment.

TABLE 4 | Total number of configurations tested, and MWC characteristics investigated per article reviewed*.

Total number of tested configurations	Number of MWC characteristics investigated							
	1	2	3	4				
1		(44)						
2	(20, 26, 27, 34, 39, 49, 57–59)	(46)						
3	(24, 25, 32, 35, 36, 38, 43, 45, 54, 55)							
4	(19, 23, 28, 41, 52, 53)	(60)						
6		(22, 31)	(56, 62)					
8	(48)		(40)					
9		(42, 47, 50, 51)		(21, 37)				
12		(29, 30)						
27		(18)						

*Articles comparing distinct MWCs rather than a single MWC with distinct settings were not included in the table (n = 2).

Promising techniques exist today to overcome the issue of testing multiple characteristics simultaneously such as fractional factorial experimental design or numerical simulations.

Factorial Experimental Design

Because the number of investigated configurations increases exponentially with the number and the range of settings under study when using full factorial experimental design, some authors proposed to use fractional factorial designs, allowing for proper extrapolation of the results from a minimal number of configurations. Two articles listed in this review (21, 37) used Taguchi's methods (95) to reduce the number of configurations to test from 81 to 9, while varying simultaneously 4 settings. It must be noted that one hypothesis of Taguchi's experimental design is that input variables should be independent or have known simultaneous effect on the outcome parameters. This hypothesis was a major concern in both articles and remains unverified.

Therefore, further studies should first consider studying setting interactions to define those that can be neglected. Then, future studies could rely on experimental design to expand knowledge on MWC.

Numerical Simulations

Another solution to avoid experimental limitations is to resort to numerical simulation. Some studies already embraced this approach based on simplified 2-D wheelchair propulsion models (14, 96–99), or through 3-D musculoskeletal simulations (100). Still, all these techniques rely on experimental data to feed the model.

Recently, fully-predictive simulation relying on optimal control theory was implemented to study MWC propulsion (101) and the technique was used to study the effect of seat position during sport propulsion on roller ergometer

(102), drawing meaningful perspectives. Contrary to the other previous numerical techniques, fully-predictive optimal control simulation does not require experimental data. However, these simulations are still relying on simplified 2-D models due to computational cost, and their application is limited to straight line propulsion on ergometer where they represent the model that needs to be implemented.

Hence, despite the unquestionable interest of numerical techniques to limit or to dispense with subjects' participation in experiments, a substantial workload remains. In particular, further work should focus on the validation of numerical techniques and the inclusion of subjects' variability to represent the various physical capacities of MWC users.

LIMITATIONS

Through the methodological process described in the "Methods" section, it remains possible that the current review is still not exhaustive and that some articles are missing. In particular, articles not written in English were excluded and could have brought broader knowledge. However, the authors think this would neither alter the analysis done on methodology nor the recommendations that were made for future studies.

The authors also acknowledge that the focus of the present review on MWC propulsion does not allow to draw conclusions on the effects of MWC configuration in the MWC user daily life, as stability, accessibility, compatibility with accommodation arrangement, etc. should also be considered. However, most of the recommendations made here to study propulsion would remain valid for these other aspects.

Another limitation of this review is the focus on experimental methodology, which does not include biomechanical models and data processing choices, such as angle sequences or even coordinate system in which forces and moments are expressed (103–105). Standardization efforts are also needed on these aspects.

Despite these limitations, this review provides the scientific community with perspectives to coordinate research teams especially through consensual standardization and assistance for methodological choices depending on the aim of the study.

A quality assessment of the articles was not considered relevant in this review as the goal was to identify the different methodological choices necessary to study the effect of MWC configurations on propulsion and not to evaluate results from the different articles relative to their methodologies.

REFERENCES

- van Drongelen S, Van Der Woude LHV, Janssen TW, Angenot EL, Chadwick EK, Veeger DHEJ. Mechanical load on the upper extremity during wheelchair activities. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2005) 86:1214–20. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.09.023
- van der Woude LHV, de Groot S, Hollander A, Van Ingen Schenau G, Rozendal R. Wheelchair ergonomics and physiological testing of prototypes. *Ergonomics*. (1986) 29:1561–73. doi: 10.1080/001401386089 67269

CONCLUSION

The 45 articles reviewed in this article were designed to understand the impact of MWC configuration on propulsion biomechanics, a goal that is still not fully accomplished today. To achieve a global understanding of the relationship between MWC configuration and propulsion biomechanics, it is crucial to evaluate the impact of each MWC characteristic, in the wider range possible, on each outcome parameter studied, and for each experimental task (e.g., straight-line propulsion, turns, curbs, slope, cross-slope). Such a huge amount of work could only be done through collaboration between research teams on a global scale. However, this work needs standardization and recommendations beforehand, to avoid the pitfalls caused by using unsuitable methodologies (mainly due to limitations of lab facilities). Indeed, because each equipment is more adapted to certain study objectives than others, future recommendations could assist researchers in adapting their research goal to their available equipment. A standardization effort in reporting MWC configuration should also be done earlier on.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF and YP: conceptualization, methodology, screening, analysis, and writing—original draft. JB and PT: supervision and writing review and editing. CS: conceptualization, methodology, analysis, supervision, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the French Ministry of Sports (grant 19r27) and was part of the Paraperf Project supported by the Program Investir l'avenir (grant ANR-19-STPH-0005).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2022.863113/full#supplementary-material

- 3. Louis N. Analyse biomécanique de la propulsion en fauteuil à mains courantes : indices d'évaluation ergonomique (2011).
- Sauret C, Bascou J, de Saint Rémy N, Pillet H, Vaslin P, Lavaste F. Assessment of field rolling resistance of manual wheelchairs. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2012) 49:63–74. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2011.03.0050
- Medola FO, Elui VMC, Santana Cda S, Fortulan CA. Aspects of manual wheelchair configuration affecting mobility: a review. J Phys Ther Sci. (2014) 26:313–8. doi: 10.1589/jpts.26.313
- 6. Laferrier JZ, Rice I, Pearlman J, Sporner ML, Cooper R, Liu T, et al. Technology to improve sports performance in wheelchair

sports. Sport Technol. (2012) 5:4-19. doi: 10.1080/19346182.2012.6 63531

- Mason BS, van der Woude LHV, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. The ergonomics of wheelchair configuration for optimal performance in the wheelchair court sports. *Sports Med.* (2013) 43:23–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-012-0005-x
- Rietveld T, Vegter RJK, der Woude LHV, de Groot S. The interaction between wheelchair configuration and wheeling performance in wheelchair tennis: a narrative review. *Sport Biomech.* (2021). doi: 10.1080/14763141.2020.1840617. [Epub ahead of print].
- de Groot S, Cowan RE, MacGillivray MK, Leving MT, Sawatzky BJ. The effect of external power output and its reliability on propulsion technique variables in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2022) 30:296–304. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2022.3147689
- Trudel G, Kirby L, Bell AC, Kirby RL, Bell AC. Mechanical effects of rear-wheel camber on wheelchairs. *Assist Technol.* (1995) 7:79– 86. doi: 10.1080/10400435.1995.10132256
- de Klerk R, Vegter RJK, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Mason BS, Lenton JP, Veeger DHEJ, et al. Measuring Handrim wheelchair propulsion in the lab: a critical analysis of stationary ergometers. *IEEE Rev Biomed Eng.* (2020) 13:199– 211. doi: 10.1109/RBME.2019.2942763
- Sauret C, Vaslin P, Bascou J, Pillet H, Lavaste F. Rolling resistance index of manual wheelchairs. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin.* (2011) 14:65–6. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2011.592365
- Sauret C, Vaslin P, Dumas R, Cheze L, Lavaste F. Computation of the mechanical power of a manual wheelchair user in actual conditions: preliminary results. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2012) 15(Suppl. 1):173–4. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2012.713668
- Hybois S, Siegel A, Bascou J, Eydieux N, Vaslin P, Pillet H, et al. Shoulder kinetics during start-up and propulsion with a manual wheelchair within the initial phase of uninstructed training. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2018) 13:40–6. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2016.1278471
- Sauret C, Vaslin P, Bascou J, Pillet H, Lavaste F. Proposal of an index for evaluating pitch instability during actual locomotion with a manual wheelchair. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2013) 16(sup.1):130– 1. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2013.815952
- Sauret C, Vaslin P, Lavaste F, de Saint Remy N, Cid M. Effects of user's actions on rolling resistance and wheelchair stability during handrim wheelchair propulsion in the field. *Med Eng Phys.* (2013) 35:289– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2012.05.001
- Page M, McKenzie J, Bossuyt P, Boutron I, Hoffmann T, Mulrow C, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Wieczorek B, Kukla M. Effects of the performance parameters of a wheelchair on the changes in the position of the centre of gravity of the human body in dynamic condition. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0226013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226013
- Bertolaccini Gda S, Carvalho Filho IFPde, Christofoletti G, Paschoarelli LC, Medola FO. The influence of axle position and the use of accessories on the activity of upper limb muscles during manual wheelchair propulsion. *Int J Occup Saf Ergon.* (2018) 24:311–5. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2017.1294369
- Costa G, Rubio M, Belloch S, Soriano P. Case study: effect of handrim diameter on performance in a paralympic wheelchair athlete. *Adapt Phys Activ Q.* (2009) 26:352–63. doi: 10.1123/apaq.26.4.352
- Usma-Alvarez CC, Fuss FK, Subic A. User-centered design customization of rugby wheelchairs based on the Taguchi method. J Mech Des Trans ASME. (2014) 136. doi: 10.1115/1.4026029
- Måsse LC, Lamontagne M-E, O'Riain MD. Biomechanical analysis of wheelchair propulsion for various seating positions. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (1992) 29:12–28. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.1992.07.0012
- Veeger DHEJ, Van Der Woude LHV, Rozendal RH. The effect of rear wheel camber in manual wheelchair propulsion. J Rehabil Res Dev. (1989) 26:37–46.
- Guo LY, Su FC, An KN. Effect of handrim diameter on manual wheelchair propulsion: mechanical energy and power flow analysis. SPE Prod Oper. (2006) 21:107–13. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2005.08.015
- Kabra C, Jaiswal R, Arnold G, Abboud R, Wang W. Analysis of hand pressures related to wheelchair rim sizes and upper-limb movement. *Int J Ind Ergon.* (2015) 47:45–52. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2015.01.015

- van der Linden ML, Valent L, Veeger HEJ, van der Woude LHV. The effect of wheelchair Handrim tube diameter on propulsion efficiency and force application (tube diameter and efficiency in wheelchairs). *IEEE Trans Rehabil Eng.* (1996) 4:123–32. doi: 10.1109/86.536767
- MacPhee A, Kirby L, Bell A, MacLeod D. The effect of kneeflexion angle on wheelchair turning. *Med Eng Phys.* (2001) 23:275– 83. doi: 10.1016/S1350-4533(01)00024-8
- Van Der Woude LHV, Veeger DHEJ, Rozendal RH, Sargeant TJ. Seat height in handrim wheelchair propulsion. J Rehabil Res Dev. (1989) 26:31–50.
- Louis N, Gorce P. Surface electromyography activity of upper limb muscle during wheelchair propulsion: influence of wheelchair configuration. *Clin Biomech*. (2010) 25:879–85. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.07.002
- Gorce P, Louis N. Wheelchair propulsion kinematics in beginners and expert users: influence of wheelchair settings. *Clin Biomech.* (2012) 27:7– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2011.07.011
- Hughes C, Weimar W, Sheth P, Brubaker C. Biomechanics of wheelchair propulsion as a function of seat position and user-to-chair interface. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1992) 73:263–9.
- Lafta H, Guppy R, Whatling G, Holt C. Impact of rear wheel axle position on upper limb kinematics and electromyography during manual wheelchair use. *Int Biomech.* (2018) 5:17–29. doi: 10.1080/23335432.2018.1457983
- Rudins A, Laskowski E, Growney E, Cahalan T, An K-N. Kinematics of the elbow during wheelchair propulsion: a comparison of two wheelchairs and two stroking techniques. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1997) 78:1204– 10. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90333-6
- Gutierrez DD, Mulroy SJ, Newsam CJ, Gronley JAK, Perry J. Effect of fore-aft seat position on shoulder demands during wheelchair propulsion: part 2: an electromyographic analysis. J Spinal Cord Med. (2005) 28:222– 9. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753816
- 35. Faupin A, Campillo P, Weissland T, Gorce P, Thevenon A. The effects of rear-wheel camber on the mechanical parameters produced during the wheelchair sprinting of handibasketball athletes. J Rehabil Res Dev. (2004) 41:421–8. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2003.04.0050
- Faupin A, Gorce P, Thevenon A. A wheelchair ergometer adaptable to the rear-wheel camber. Int J Ind Ergon. (2008) 38:601-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2008.01.008
- Haydon DS, Pinder RA, Grimshaw PN, Robertson WSP. Wheelchair Rugby chair configurations: an individual, Robust design approach. Sport Biomech. (2019) 21:104–19. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2019.1649451
- Tsai C-Y, Lin C-J, Huang Y-C, Lin P-C, Su F-C. The effects of rear-wheel camber on the kinematics of upper extremity during wheelchair propulsion. *Biomed Eng Online.* (2012) 11:87. doi: 10.1186/1475-925X-11-87
- Huang Y-C, Guo L-Y, Tsai C-Y, Su F-C. Mechanical energy and power flow analysis of wheelchair use with different camber settings. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin.* (2013) 16:403–12. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2011.623675
- de Groot S, Vegter R, van der Woude L. Effect of wheelchair mass, tire type and tire pressure on physical strain and wheelchair propulsion technique. *Med Eng Phys.* (2013) 35:1476–82. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2013.03.019
- Lee S-Y, Kim SC, Lee MH. Effect of wheelchair seat height on shoulder and forearm muscle activities during wheelchair propulsion on a ramp. J Phys Ther Sci. (2012) 24:495–7. doi: 10.1589/jpts.24.495
- Murata J, Shimizu J-I, Inoue K, Matsukawa K. The effect of Handrim position on torque development for wheelchair propulsion. *Scand J Occup Ther*. (2001) 8:79–84. doi: 10.1080/110381201300173612
- Lee J-H, Yoo I-G. A study on effects of backrest thickness on the upper arm and trunk muscle load during wheelchair propulsion. *J Phys Ther Sci.* (2016) 28:1493–5. doi: 10.1589/jpts.28.1493
- Lin J-T, Sprigle S. The influence of operator and wheelchair factors on wheelchair propulsion effort. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2020) 15:328– 35. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1578425
- Vanlandewijck YC, Verellen J, Tweedy SM. Towards evidencebased classification in wheelchair sports: impact of seating position on wheelchair acceleration. J Sports Sci. (2011) 29:1089–96. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.576694
- 46. Samuelsson K, Tropp H, Nylander E, Gerdle B. The effect of rear-wheel position on seating ergonomics and mobility efficiency in wheelchair users

with spinal cord injuries: a pilot study. J Rehabil Res Dev. (2004) 41:65-74. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2004.01.0065

- Kotajarvi B, Sabick M, An K-N, Zhao K, Kaufman K, Basford J. The effect of seat position on wheelchair propulsion biomechanics. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2004) 41:403–14. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2003.01.0008
- Van Der Woude LHV, Bouw A, van Wegen J, van As H, Veeger DHEJ, de Groot S. Seat height: effects on submaximal hand rim wheelchair performance during spinal cord injury rehabilitation. *J Rehabil Med.* (2009) 41:143–9. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0296
- Mulroy SJ, Newsam CJ, Gutierrez DD, Requejo P, Gronley JAK, Haubert LL, et al. Effect of fore-aft seat position on shoulder demands during wheelchair propulsion: part 1. A kinetic analysis. J Spinal Cord Med. (2005) 28:214–21. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753815
- Aissaoui R, Arabi H, Lacoste M, Zalzal V, Dansereau J. Biomechanics of manual wheelchair propulsion in elderly: system tilt and back recline angles. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2002) 81:94–100. doi: 10.1097/00002060-200202000-00004
- Desroches G, Aissaoui R, Bourbonnais D. Effect of system tilt and seat-tobackrest angles on load sustained by shoulder during wheelchair propulsion. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2006) 43:871–82. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2005.12.0178
- Mason BS, Van Der Woude LHV, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. The effects of rear-wheel camber on maximal effort mobility performance in wheelchair athletes. *Int J Sports Med.* (2012) 33:199–204. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1295443
- Mason BS, Van Der Woude LHV, de Groot S, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Effects of camber on the ergonomics of propulsion in wheelchair athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2011) 43:319–26. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181edf973
- Mason BS, Van Der Woude LHV, Lenton JP, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. The effect of wheel size on mobility performance in wheelchair athletes. *Int J Sports Med.* (2012) 33:807–12. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1311591
- Mason BS, Van Der Woude LHV, Tolfrey K, Lenton JP, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Effects of wheel and hand-rim size on submaximal propulsion in wheelchair athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2012) 44:126–34. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31822a2df0
- 56. van der Slikke RMA, de Witte AMH, Berger MAM, Bregman DJJ, Veeger DJHEJ. Wheelchair mobility performance enhancement by changing wheelchair properties: what is the effect of grip, seat height, and mass? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2018) 13:1050–8. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0641
- 57. Silva DC, Paschoarelli LC, Medola FO. Evaluation of two wheelchair hand rim models: contact pressure distribution in straight line and curve trajectories. *Ergonomics.* (2019) 62:1563–71. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2019.1660000
- Cloud BA, Zhao KD, Ellingson AM, Nassr A, Windebank AJ, An K-N. Increased seat dump angle in a manual wheelchair is associated with changes in thoracolumbar lordosis and scapular kinematics during propulsion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:2021–7.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.02.014
- Yang Y-S, Koontz A, Yeh S-J, Chang J-J. Effect of backrest height on wheelchair propulsion biomechanics for level and uphill conditions. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2012) 93:654–9. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2011.10.023
- Cowan R, Nash M, Collinger J, Koontz A, Boninger M. Impact of surface type, wheelchair weight, and axle position on wheelchair propulsion by novice older adults. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2009) 90:1076– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.034
- Veeger TTJ, De Witte AMH, Berger MAM, Van Der Slikke RMA, Veeger DHEJ, Hoozemans MJM. Improving mobility performance in wheelchair basketball. J Sport Rehabil. (2017) 28:59–66. doi: 10.1123/jsr.2017-0142
- 62. De Witte A, Van Der Slikke R, Berger MAM, Hoozemans MJM, Veeger DHEJ, Van Der Woude LHV. Effects of seat height, wheelchair mass and additional grip on a field-based wheelchair basketball mobility performance test. *Technol Disabil.* (2020) 32:93–102. doi: 10.3233/TAD-190251
- Moss AD, Fowler NE, Tolfrey VL. Short communication A telemetry-based velocometer to measure wheelchair velocity. J Biomech. (2003) 36:253– 7. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9290(02)00366-4
- Boninger M, Souza A, Cooper R, Fitzgerald S, Koontz A, Fay B. Propulsion patterns and pushrim biomechanics in manual wheelchair propulsion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2002) 83:718–23. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.32455
- 65. Bascou J, Sauret C, Pillet H, Vaslin P, Thoreux P, Lavaste F. A method for the field assessment of rolling resistance properties of manual

wheelchairs. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin. (2013) 16:381-91. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2011.623673

- 66. Fallot C, Bascou J, Pillet H, Sauret C, Fallot C, Bascou J, et al. Manual wheelchair's turning resistance : swivelling resistance parameters of front and rear wheels on different surfaces. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2019) 16:324–31. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1675781
- Loisel J, Bascou J, Poulet Y, Sauret C. Evaluation of a simple characterisation method of the 3D-position of a manual wheelchair centre of mass. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2020) 23(sup.1):S172–74. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2020.1815328
- Loisel J, Poulet Y, Bascou J, Sauret C. Evaluation of the spring-loaded turntable method to determine the yaw mass moment of inertia of a manual wheelchair. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2021) 24(Supp. 1):288– 9.
- Poulet Y, Loisel J, Sauret C. Evaluation of the direct linear transformation method for the assessment of manual wheelchair s' configuration. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2021) 24(Supp. 1):286–7.
- Vaslin P, Ben Touhami H, Zhao J, Sauret C, Bascou J, Fodé P, et al. 2-D geometric model of wheelchair adjustment. In: *Rehabmove 2014 5th Int. State-of-the-Art Congr. Rehabil. Mobility, Exerc. Sport.* Groningen (2014).
- Cornwell M. What is ISO 7176 wheelchairs part 7? Measurement of seating and wheel dimensions. *Physiotherapy*. (1997) 83:197– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9406(05)66079-8
- Kwarciak A. Comparing handrim biomechanics for treadmill and overground wheelchair propulsion. *Spinal Cord.* (2011) 49:457–62. doi: 10.1038/sc.2010.149
- Koontz A. Comparison between overground and dynamometer manual wheelchair propulsion. *Physiol Behav.* (2012) 176:139– 48. doi: 10.1123/jab.28.4.412
- Mason BS, Lenton JP, Leicht CA, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. A physiological and biomechanical comparison of over-ground, treadmill and ergometer wheelchair propulsion. J Sports Sci. (2014) 32:78–91. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.807350
- 75. de Klerk R, Velhorst V, Veeger DHEJ, van der Woude LHV, Vegter RJK. Physiological and biomechanical comparison of overground, treadmill, and ergometer handrim wheelchair propulsion in able-bodied subjects under standardized conditions. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2020) 17:136. doi: 10.1186/s12984-020-00767-2
- 76. de Groot S, Zuidgeest M, van der Woude LHV. Standardization of measuring power output during wheelchair propulsion on a treadmill. Pitfalls in a multi-center study. *Med Eng Phys.* (2006) 28:604–12. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2005.09.004
- Slowik JS, Requejo PS, Mulroy SJ, Neptune RR. The influence of speed and grade on wheelchair propulsion hand pattern. *Clin Biomech.* (2015) 30:927–32. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2015.07.007
- Russell IM, Raina S, Requejo PS, Wilcox RR, Mulroy S, McNitt-Gray JL. Modifications in wheelchair propulsion technique with speed. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol.* (2015) 3:171. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00171
- Chénier F, Champagne A, Desroches G, Gagnon DH. Unmatched speed perceptions between overground and treadmill manual wheelchair propulsion in long-term manual wheelchair users. *Gait Posture*. (2018) 61:398–402. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.02.009
- Sonenblum SE, Sprigle SH, Lopez RA. Manual wheelchair use: bouts of mobility in everyday life. *Rehabil Res Pract.* (2012) 2012:753165. doi: 10.1155/2012/753165
- van Dijk MP, Kok M, Berger MAM, Hoozemans MJM, Veeger DHEJ. Machine learning to improve orientation estimation in sports situations challenging for inertial sensor use. *Front Sports Act Living.* (2021) 3:670263. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2021.670263
- Sprigle SH, Huang M, Lin J-T. Inertial and frictional influences of instrumented wheelchair wheels. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng. (2016) 3:2055668316649892. doi: 10.1177/2055668316649892
- Alcoléa V, Medola FO, Bertolaccini Gda S, Sandnes FE. Effect of added mass location on manual wheelchair propulsion forces. *Adv Intell Syst Comput.* (2020) 1026:747–53. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-27928-8_114
- 84. Symonds A, Holloway C, Suzuki T, Smitham P, Gall A, Taylor SJ. Identifying key experience-related differences in over-ground manual
wheelchair propulsion biomechanics. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng. (2016) 3:2055668316678362. doi: 10.1177/2055668316678362

- Brown DD, Knowlton RG, Hamill J, Schneider TL, Hetzler RK. Physiological and biomechanical differences between wheelchair-dependent and ablebodied subjects during wheelchair ergometry. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*. (1990) 60:179–82. doi: 10.1007/BF00839155
- Croft L, Lenton J, Tolfrey K, Goosey-Tolfrey V. The effects of experience on the energy cost of wheelchair propulsion. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2013) 49:865–73.
- Rodgers MM, Keyser RE, Rasch EK, Gorman PH, Russell PJ. Influence of training on biomechanics of wheelchair propulsion. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2001) 38:505–11.
- de Groot S, Veeger D, Hollander P, Van der Woude L. Wheelchair propulsion technique and mechanical efficiency after 3 wk of practice. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2002) 34:756–66. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200205000-00005
- de Groot S, Veeger H, Hollander A, van der Woude L. Adaptations in physiology and propulsion techniques during the initial phase of learning manual wheelchair propulsion. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2003) 82:504– 10. doi: 10.1097/01.PHM.0000069941.77921.AA
- de Groot S, de Bruin M, Noomen S, van der Woude L. Mechanical efficiency and propulsion technique after 7 weeks of low-intensity wheelchair training. *Clin Biomech.* (2008) 23:434–41. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2007.11.001
- 91. Eydieux N, Hybois S, Siegel A, Bascou J, Vaslin P, Pillet H, et al. Changes in wheelchair biomechanics within the first 120 minutes of practice: spatiotemporal parameters, handrim forces, motor force, rolling resistance and fore-aft stability. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2020) 15:305– 13. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1571117
- Briley SJ, Vegter RJK, Tolfrey VL, Mason BS. Propulsion biomechanics do not differ between athletic and nonathletic manual wheelchair users in their daily wheelchairs. J Biomech. (2020) 104:109725. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2020.109725
- Tolerico M, Ding D, Cooper R, Spaeth D, Fitzgerald S, Cooper R, et al. Assessing mobility characteristics and activity levels of manual wheelchair users. J Rehabil Res Dev. (2007) 44:561–71. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2006.02.0017
- 94. Sonenblum SE, Sprigle SH. Wheelchair use in ultra-lightweight wheelchair users. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol. (2016) 12:396– 401. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2016.1178819
- 95. Taguchi G, Chowdhury S, Wu Y. *Taguchi's Quality Engineering Handbook*. New Jersey, NJ: John Wiley and Sons (2005). doi: 10.1002/9780470258354
- Cooper RA. A systems approach to the modeling of racing wheelchair propulsion. J Rehabil Res Dev. (1990) 27:151– 62. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.1990.04.0151
- Richter WM. The effect of seat position on manual wheelchair propulsion biomechanics: a quasi-static model-based approach. *Med Eng Phys Phys.* (2001) 23:707–12. doi: 10.1016/S1350-4533(01)00074-1

- Morrow DA, Guo LY, Zhao KD, Su FC, An KN. A 2-D model of wheelchair propulsion. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2003) 25:192–6. doi: 10.1080/0963828021000030873
- Munaretto J, McNitt-Gray J, Flashner H, Requejo P. Reconfiguration of the upper extremity relative to the pushrim affects load distribution during wheelchair propulsion. *Med Eng Phys.* (2013) 35:1141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2012.12.002
- Slowik J, Neptune R. A theoretical analysis of the influence of wheelchair seat position on upper extremity demand. *Clin Biomech.* (2013) 28:378–85. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2013. 03.004
- 101. Ackermann M, Leonardi F, Costa HR, Fleury AT. Modeling and optimal control formulation for manual wheelchair locomotion: the influence of mass and slope on performance. In: *Proceedings of the IEEE RAS and EMBS International Conference on Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics*. São Paulo: IEEE (2014). p. 1079–84. doi: 10.1109/biorob.2014.6913924
- Brown C, McPhee J. Predictive forward dynamic simulation of manual wheelchair propulsion on a rolling dynamometer. J Biomech Eng. (2020) 142. doi: 10.1115/1.4046298
- Morrow MMB. Upper extremity joint kinetics expression during wheelchair propulsion. *Bone*. (2010) 23:1–7. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2008.12.0165
- Desroches G, Chèze L, Dumas R. Expression of joint moment in the joint coordinate system. J Biomech Eng. (2010) 132:1–4. doi: 10.1115/1.4002537
- 105. O'Reilly O, Sena M, Feeley B, Lotz J. On representations for joint moments using a joint coordinate system. J Biomech Eng. (2013) 135:1– 4. doi: 10.1115/1.4025327

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Fritsch, Poulet, Bascou, Thoreux and Sauret. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Impact of Sprinting and Dribbling on Shoulder Joint and Pushrim Kinetics in Wheelchair Basketball Athletes

Félix Chénier^{1,2*}, Ilona Alberca³, Dany H. Gagnon^{2,4} and Arnaud Faupin³

¹ Mobility and Adaptive Sports Research Lab, Department of Physical Activity Science, Université du Québec à Montréal (UQAM), Montreal, QC, Canada, ² Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal (CRIR), Montreal, QC, Canada, ³ Université de Toulon, Impact de l'Activité Physique sur la Santé (UR IAPS n°201723207F), Campus de La Garde, Toulon, France, ⁴ School of Rehabilitation, Université de Montréal, Faculty of Medicine, Montreal, QC, Canada

Background: While wheelchair basketball is one of the most popular Paralympic sports, it eventually causes shoulder problems and pain in many athletes. However, shoulder kinetics has never been assessed during propulsion in wheelchair basketball. This study analyzes the impact of sprinting and dribbling on pushrim and shoulder kinetics in terms of external forces and net muscular moments.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Riemer J. K. Vegter, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Rienk Van Der Slikke, The Hague University of Applied Sciences, Netherlands Ciro Winckler, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil Jeffery Wade Rankin, Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Félix Chénier chenier.felix@uqam.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 26 January 2022 Accepted: 10 May 2022 Published: 02 June 2022

Citation:

Chénier F, Alberca I, Gagnon DH and Faupin A (2022) Impact of Sprinting and Dribbling on Shoulder Joint and Pushrim Kinetics in Wheelchair Basketball Athletes. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:863093. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.863093 **Methods:** A group of 10 experienced wheelchair basketball athletes with various classifications performed four, 9-m sprints on a basketball court using classic synchronous propulsion, and four sprints while dribbling forward. Pushrim and shoulder kinetics were calculated by inverse dynamics, using a motion capture device and instrumented wheels.

Findings: Sprinting was associated to peak shoulder load from 13 to 346% higher than in previous studies on standard wheelchair propulsion in most force/moment components. Compared to sprinting without a ball, dribbling reduced the speed, the peak external forces in the anterior and medial direction at the shoulder, and the peak net shoulder moment of internal rotation.

Interpretation: The high shoulder load calculated during both sprinting and dribbling should be considered during training sessions to avoid overloading the shoulder. Dribbling generally reduced the shoulder load, which suggests that propelling while dribbling does not put the shoulder at more risk of musculoskeletal disorders than sprinting.

Keywords: wheelchair sports, adaptive sports, performance, shoulder dynamics, biomechanics

INTRODUCTION

Adaptive sports offer many important benefits for people with disorders and disabilities, such as decreasing the risk of cardiovascular disease, improving general health and enhancing quality of life (1). Among the various adaptive sports available, wheelchair basketball (WB) is one of the most popular and is the most advanced in terms of organization, standardization and training quality (2–4). Each player is assigned a classification according to their functional ability. In Canada, where classification closely follows the International Wheelchair Basketball Federation (IWBF) but also allows

able-bodied athletes to play, this classification ranges from 1 point (players with the least ability) to 4.5 points (minimal to no impairment).

This sport, which is very similar to its abled-bodied counterpart, contains intermittent phases of high intensity combining wheelchair maneuvers and ball handling. However, it is possible that such high intensity may be detrimental to the athletes' musculoskeletal integrity. In everyday mobility, propelling a standard manual wheelchair (MW) is considered in itself a high intensity activity and causes musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) in half of all MW users, especially at the shoulder (5–7).

It is still unclear whether playing WB puts the musculoskeletal system at higher risk compared to standard wheelchair propulsion. Finley and Rogers (6) found no difference in the occurrence of shoulder pain between athletic and nonathletic MW users. Wheelchair sports could have a protective effect by delaying the onset of symptoms (8), but these observations contradict those of Mateus (9) where 17 of 25 participants who reported pain during the last year attributed their pain to WB. Furthermore, Akbar et al. (10) reported that 76% of athletes who perform overhead sports such as WB have rotator cuff impairments, compared to 25% in nonathletes.

Nevertheless, elite wheelchair athletes are subject to high shoulder injury rates (11). In WB, the most reported disorders are rotator cuff impingement or a tear, biceps tendinopathy, and acromioclavicular joint pathology (12, 13). While it is unclear if these injuries are due to overhead movements, to wheelchair maneuvering, or (probably) to a combination of both, Mercer et al. (14) found in a previous study on the propulsion of standard MW, that specific components of shoulder load are associated to shoulder disorders:

- increased external glenohumeral forces in posterior and lateral directions, and increased internal moments in flexion and adduction, are related to a higher prevalence of coracoacromial ligament edema and/or thickening that may lead to subacromial impingement and rotator cuff tear;
- 2) increased external glenohumeral forces in superior direction and increased internal moment in external rotation, are related to increased signs of symptomatic shoulder pathology.

To date, measurement of shoulder joint kinetics in WB athletes has been performed only in non-ecological conditions such as isokinetic testing (15). Therefore, the aim of this exploratory work is to measure the shoulder kinetics in WB athletes during the propulsion of a sports wheelchair in ecological conditions, and to compare these measurements to previous measurements in standard MW propulsion. This work focuses on two mobility aspects of WB: sprinting and dribbling. We assessed the impact of these tasks on both pushrim and shoulder kinetics, and more precisely: on the three components of the pushrim forces (tangential, radial, and mediolateral) and the propulsive moment, to obtain insight on the efficiency of the applied force during the complete push phase, on shoulder dynamics, to evaluate the effect of sprinting and dribbling in relation to the association between shoulder load and MSD described by Mercer et al. (14). We hypothesized that shoulder load would be higher in sports wheelchair sprinting than in previous studies on standard MW propulsion. Moreover, in light of our previous results (16) where dribbling reduced the mean propulsive moments compared to sprinting, we hypothesized that dribbling would generally decrease the shoulder load.

METHODS

Participants

Ten WB athletes participated in this experiment. To be included, athletes could not have a current or recent (\leq 3 months) injury or pain that could interfere with their ability to carry out the tasks. The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Research Ethics Committee of Université du Québec à Montréal (UQAM) (certificate #CIEREH 2879_e_2018). This work is based on the same data as presented in Chénier et al. (16), except that participant #9 in the first study was replaced by participant #4 due to a problem with the motion capture device. Participant demographics are provided in **Table 1**, where participants are ordered by classification and by years of experience in WB.

Tasks

After a personal 5-min warm-up, every participant performed 9-m sprints at maximal speed in a straight line from a stopped position on a wooden basketball court. Participants were asked to propel synchronously, with both arms pushing at the same time, in two conditions:

- 1) Classic Propulsion (CP), during four sprints, without a ball.
- 2) Dribble Propulsion (DP), during four sprints, where they were instructed to forward dribble. After two acceleration pushes, they had to push the ball forward, give one push on the wheels, recover the ball on the rebound, then place the ball on their knees, as described in Chénier et al. (16). They were asked to repeat this sequence until they had completed the 9-m distance.

A total of eight sprints was recorded: 2 conditions \times 2 sides (right/left) \times 2 repetitions. The order of the sprints was randomized, and participants were allowed to rest for a self-selected duration between trials.

Instrumentation

Kinetics

Participants used their own sports wheelchair equipped bilaterally with two instrumented wheels (SmartWheel). A wheel size of 25 or 26 inches was selected based on the participant's wheelchair. The instrumented wheels measured the propulsion forces and moments in 3D around the wheel hubs at 240 Hz. These wheels have a weight and moment of inertia of approximately 4.9 kg and 0.15 kg·m² (17). To limit the added resistance due to their increased weight, the SmartWheels' standard solid tires were switched to inflatable tires and fully inflated to 110 PSI.

Participant	Sex	Age	Dominant	Disorder	Height	Weight	BMI	Experience	Classification	Belt/	Wheel	Wheel
	(M/F)	(years)	limb (R, L)		(ш)	Weight (kg)	(kg/m²)	(years)	(1.0–4.5)	strap	size (in)	camber (deg)
	ш	31	œ	SCI T6-A	1.60	61	23.8	ო	1.0	torso thigh	25	20
	Σ	60	ш	SCI D6-D7-A	1.83	71	21.2	9	1.0	torso thigh	26	16
	Σ	29	L	CP	1.68	60	21.3	10	1.0	thigh	25	19
	Σ	40	ш	SCI T12-A	1.75	66	21.6	12	1.0	torso thigh	25	22
IJ	Σ	34	ш	SCI T7-A	1.50	73	32.4	10	1.5	thigh	26	18
0	Σ	33	ш	SCI T10-A	1.76	95	30.7	1.5	2.0	thjgh	26	19
	Σ	32	ш	MD	1.73	52	17.4	9	2.0	thigh legs	25	22
00	Σ	23	ш	SD	1.63	58	21.8	11	2.0	thigh	26	17
6	L	30	ш	DN	1.61	62	23.9	ო	4.5	thigh	26	20
10	Σ	24	ш	QN	1.78	78	24.6	16	4.5	thigh	26	20
Mean (SD)	7×M 3×F	33.6 (10.5)	9×R1×L	/	1.69 (0.10)	67.6 (12.3)	23.9 (4.5)	7.9 (4.7)	2.1 (1.4)	/	4×25in 6×26in	19.3 (1.9)

Kinematics

An optoelectronic system consisting of 14 cameras (Prime13, Optitrack) was used to measure the participants' kinematics unilaterally. The cameras were arranged to build an acquisition volume that covered the entire sprint. The following landmarks were recorded at 120 Hz: second metacarpal distal heads, center of the hand, ulnar and radial styloid processes, lateral and medial elbow epicondyles, acromion, C7, T12, and both rear wheel centers. Landmarks that could not be followed directly due to occlusion (e.g., rear wheel center of the opposite side, medial elbow epicondyle) were reconstructed using rigid clusters of three to four markers affixed on the wheelchair, arms, and forearms. The position of the second metacarpal distal heads was not measured directly but was calculated using the styloid processes and hand markers. The rear wheel camber was measured using static kinematic acquisitions where different points of the wheels were probed and expressed relative to the wheelchair.

Data Processing

Kinetics

The dynamic offsets in the measured pushrim forces and moments due to the wheel camber were canceled as described in Chénier et al. (18). Synchronization between kinetics and kinematics was done at the beginning of each recording, by gently impacting the instrumented pushrim with a stick instrumented with a reflective marker. This impact was identified as a simultaneous event in both instruments: as a force spike in the kinetic data, and as a sudden stop of the marker's motion in the kinematic data.

Kinematics

Marker positions were filtered at 10 Hz using a second-order, nolag Butterworth filter. The definition of the coordinate system is provided in Figure 1A. The forearm and humerus coordinate systems were defined following the recommendations of the International Society of Biomechanics (ISB) (19), using both elbow epicondyles and both styloid processes, and approximating the glenohumeral joint by the acromion. Because of the flexed position adopted by some participants, the thorax could only be defined by markers in the back (T12 and C7). Since propulsion was synchronous, we considered that the thorax was not axially rotated, and therefore the y axis of the thorax was defined as the line from T12 to C7, and the yz plane of the thorax was defined by its y axis and the wheelchair's mediolateral axis. The coordinate systems of the wheel hubs were defined at the hub centers with their y and z axes inclined according to the wheel camber. All left side recordings were mirrored across the wheelchair mediolateral axis, and all subsequent data processing was considered right sided.

Inverse Dynamics

A generic inverse dynamics method composed of four segments (wheel, forearm+hand, arm, thorax) was used to iteratively calculate the shoulder joint kinetics from the wheel's hub to the second metacarpal distal head, then to the elbow center and finally to the shoulder joint (20). Inertial characteristics (mass, moments of inertia) were personalized based on each



participant's mass, sex and segments length, using inertial data compiled by Winter [(21), chap. 4. Anthropometry].

Push Selection

For all conditions, pushes 1 and 2 were considered to be transitional and were discarded from the analysis. For the CP condition, all pushes after push 3 (included) were analyzed. For the DP condition, pushes performed while the ball was in the air, and deemed valid as described in section 3.2 were analyzed.

Outcome Variables

Speed was defined as the speed reached at the end of the fourth push and was calculated based on the wheel angles, using a 131-point, first-order derivative Savitzky-Golay filter (22).

The total pushrim force and the three pushrim force components were calculated by converting the pushrim forces F_x , F_y and F_z and moment M_z (measured in the non-rotating hub coordinate system), to the point of force application estimated by the position of the second metacarpal distal head as shown in **Figure 1B**:

- Total pushrim force: $F_{tot} = \sqrt{F_x^2 + F_y^2 + F_z^2}$
- Tangential pushrim force: $F_{tan} = F_x \sin \theta F_y \cos \theta$
- Radial pushrim force: $F_{rad} = -F_x \cos \theta F_y \sin \theta$
- Medial pushrim force: $F_{med} = -F_z$
- Propulsive moment: $M_{prop} = M_z$

where θ is an angle in the wheel plane, between a horizontal line and a line from the wheel center to the projected second metacarpal distal head.

Shoulder forces and moments were expressed in the thorax coordinate system. The reported forces are external, i.e., a superior shoulder force means that the external reaction force pushes the humeral head upward relative to the thorax. The reported moments are internal and relate to the net muscular action at the shoulder joint.

For each analyzed push, the following outcome variables were calculated:

- Pushrim kinetics: peak values of F_{tot} , F_{tan} , $-F_{tan}$, F_{rad} , $-F_{rad}$, F_{med} , $-F_{med}$, M_{prop} and $-M_{prop}$;
- External shoulder forces: peak values of anterior, posterior, superior, inferior, lateral and medial forces.
- Internal shoulder moments: peak values of flexion, extension, adduction, abduction, internal rotation, and external rotation moments.

Statistical Analysis

For each outcome variable, data normality of the difference between both conditions was verified using a Shapiro-Wilk test with $\alpha = 0.05$. For data where normality was confirmed, parametric tests (paired *t*-tests) with $\alpha = 0.05$ were used to test for the mean difference between both propulsion conditions. Due to the exploratory nature of this work, significance thresholds were not corrected for multiple comparisons. The effect size was reported for every comparison using:

$$d = \frac{\text{mean} (x_{\text{DP}}) - \text{mean} (x_{\text{CP}})}{\text{s.d.} (x_{\text{CP}})}$$

and was interpreted using Cohen's recommendation: small (d = 0.2), moderate (d = 0.5) and large (d = 0.8) (23). For data that fail the Shapiro-Wilk normality test, non-parametric tests (Wilcoxon's signed rank tests) were used instead, and the effect size was calculated using the rank-biserial correlation.

For each condition, we also plotted typical profiles for the pushrim forces, shoulder forces and shoulder moments during the push. To reduce both the intra-participant and interparticipant variability, each assessed variable x was first time-normalized from -25 to 125% of the push, and then amplitude-normalized using:

normalized
$$(x (\%push)) = x (\%push) \times \frac{(\overline{A_{p-p}})}{A_{p-p}}$$

where A_{p-p} is the peak-to-peak amplitude of *x* for a given push cycle, and $\overline{A_{p-p}}$ is the averaged A_{p-p} over every push of a given condition (CP, DP).

All calculations were performed with Python/SciPy using Kinetics Toolkit (24). Statistics were calculated using JASP 0.14.1.

Comparison to Other Studies

The calculated shoulder kinetics were compared to results from 10 studies from 2001 and up that used a similar method (inverse dynamics with rigid bodies) to calculate the shoulder load during standard MW propulsion. To avoid comparing too different conditions, we only included results from non-elderly wheelchair users, without upper-limb impairment, who propelled a real wheelchair (as opposed to an integrated, custom ergometer). This resulted in a total of 10 studies, in which the participants propelled on rollers, treadmills or an ascending ramp at speeds from 0.8 to 2.2 m/s (14, 25–32).

RESULTS

Outcome Variables

Table 2 shows the outcome variables and their comparison between both conditions. Individual results are also available as graphs in **Supplementary Material**.

Pushrim Kinetics

In both CP and DP, the tangential and inward radial forces were the two most important force components. A braking moment and a negative tangential force were observed. Dribbling had no effect on the propulsive components of the pushrim kinetics (i.e., the peak tangential force and peak propulsive moment). However, dribbling generally reduced the peak negative tangential force in 9 of the 10 participants (-5.6 N, -27%, p = 0.01, d < -0.8). Dribbling also mainly reduced the non-propulsive force components: the peak lateral force decreased in 9 participants (-4.9 N, -44%, p < 0.01, d < -0.8), and the peak inward force decreased in 8 participants (-26.6 N, -17%, p = 0.04, d = -0.77), although at the expense of an increase in peak outward force in 7 participants (+5.6 N, +35%, p = 0.01, d > 0.8).

Shoulder Forces

In the following sections, each main force/moment component is reported and compared to its maximal counterpart from the 10 studies indicated in section 3.4.7. The main external shoulder force was in the posterior direction (172 N), which is 87% higher than the same component measured by Kloosterman et al. (28) with 11 wheelchair users who propelled at 0.9 m/s on a treadmill (92 N). The second highest shoulder force component was in the anterior directions (118 N), which is 136% higher than the same component measured by Gil-Agudo et al. (26) with 16 wheelchair users who propelled at 1.1 m/s on a treadmill (50 N). Compared to sprinting, dribbling reduced the peak anterior force in 9 participants (-27.4 N, -23%, p < 0.01, d < -0.8), and the peak medial force 9 participants (-18.6 N, -30%, p < 0.01, d < -0.8).

Shoulder Moments

The main net joint moment was in flexion (65 Nm), which is 64% higher than the same component measured by Sabick et al. (33) with 16 wheelchair users who propelled on a 20:1 ascending ramp (40 Nm). The second main moments were both in adduction and external rotation. Adduction (41 Nm) was 31% higher than the same component measured by Koontz et al. (29) with 27 individual with SCI who propelled at 1.8 m/s on rollers (21 Nm). External rotation (41 Nm) was 101% higher than the same component measured by Collinger et al. (25) in a multisite study with 61 wheelchair users who propelled at 1.8 m/s on rollers (21 Nm). Compared to sprinting, the main effect of dribbling on shoulder moments was in the transverse and sagittal planes. Dribbling reduced the peak internal rotation moment in 7 participants (-4.74 Nm, -20%, p = 0.05, d = -073).

Kinetic Profiles

Figure 2 shows the typical profile for the pushrim forces, shoulder forces and shoulder moments from -25 to 125% of the push. Both conditions have similar profiles. At the shoulder, external forces in posterior, inferior and lateral direction, and net moments in flexion, adduction and external rotation were observed during the push. The inverse was observed after releasing the pushrims. In DP, we observed a decreased inward radial pushrim force, which peaks at about 25% of the push in the CP condition compared to a plateau between 30 and 65% of the push in the DP condition. We also observed a decreased anterior shoulder force and a decreased shoulder moment of internal rotation during the transition from push to recovery, at about 110% of the push. Finally, we observed a decreased slope for each pushrim force component, a delayed anterior shoulder force and a delayed shoulder moment of flexion.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this work was to assess the effect of sprinting and dribbling using a sports wheelchair on the different components of the pushrim and shoulder kinetics. Compared to previous studies on standard MW propulsion, the shoulder load is much higher, independently of the CP or DP condition. Obviously, difference in speeds between these studies and ours most

	CP		DP		Diff		р	d	np	Standard MW ^a
Speed (m/s)	2.57	(0.32)	2.39	(0.31)	-0.18	(0.16)	0.007	<u>-1.11</u>		
Peak pushrim kinetics										
Total force F_{tot} (N)	215.8	(46.7)	202.0	(44.3)	-13.7	(24.2)	0.11	-0.57		
Forward tangential force F_{tan} (N)	146.9	(41.9)	140.1	(32.5)	-6.7	(19.1)	0.30	-0.35		
Negative tangential force $-F_{tan}$ (N)	21.0	(7.4)	15.5	(6.4)	-5.6	(4.9)	0.01	-0.86		
Inward radial force F_{rad} (N)	160.3	(37.1)	133.7	(49.3)	-26.6	(34.5)	0.04	-0.77		
Outward radial force $-F_{rad}$ (N)	15.8	(11.6)	21.5	(11.6)	5.6	(5.2)	0.01	1.09		
Medial force F_{med} (N)	86.4	(35.7)	90.1	(32.7)	3.7	(10.8)	0.31	0.34		
Lateral force $-F_{med}$ (N)	11.2	(7.7)	6.3	(4.6)	-4.9	(4.2)	0.005	<u>-1.17</u>		
Propulsion moment M_{prop} (Nm)	37.2	(9.5)	35.80	(8.35)	-1.42	(4.40)	0.70	-0.16	*	
Braking moment $-M_{prop}$ (Nm)	5.1	(1.7)	4.25	(1.52)	-0.82	(1.38)	0.08	-0.64	*	
Peak shoulder forces										
Anterior (N)	118.4	(24.9)	91.0	(27.9)	-27.4	(21.8)	0.003	-1.25		5–50
Posterior (N)	171.8	(42.4)	157.6	(35.3)	-14.2	(27.4)	0.16	-0.53		27–92
Superior (N)	60.1	(19.1)	64.3	(15.4)	4.2	(14.2)	0.38	0.30		-16-108
Inferior (N)	79.8	(22.8)	88.1	(44.4)	8.3	(32.7)	0.45	0.25		-33-58
Lateral (N)	66.6	(30.3)	61.5	(28.3)	-5.1	(11.0)	0.18	-0.46		7–50
Medial (N)	66.5	(23.4)	48.0	(20.7)	-18.6	(11.7)	<0.001	-1.59		7–15
Peak shoulder moments										
Flexion (Nm)	65.3	(17.8)	58.78	(13.4)	-6.49	(9.8)	0.07	-0.66		6–40
Extension (Nm)	31.0	(8.5)	24.61	(11.4)	-6.40	(15.2)	0.22	-0.42		5–17
Adduction (Nm)	40.6	(13.0)	40.72	(15.6)	0.11	(6.2)	0.56	0.24		0–31
Abduction (Nm)	30.3	(12.8)	21.03	(9.8)	-9.24	(10.8)	0.85	0.00		0-12
Internal rotation (Nm)	23.8	(11.7)	19.02	(12.9)	-4.74	(6.5)	0.05	-0.73		0–21
External rotation (Nm)	41.3	(17.3)	38.83	(15.0)	-2.48	(6.8)	0.28	-0.36		0-21

Parentheses, standard deviation; d, effect size; np, non-parametric test.

Bold and underlined p-values indicate p < 0.05 and p < 0.01.

Bold and underlined d-values indicate **moderate** (0.5) to **large** (>0.8) effect sizes.

*Non-parametric test.

^a Peak shoulder kinetics ranges from previous studies on standard MW propulsion on treadmill or rollers from 0.8 to 2.2 m/s (14, 25–33).

probably account for these large differences. However, while the participants in our study propelled only 0.4 m/s faster than in Mulroy et al. (31), with 2.6 m/s compared to 2.2 m/s, the posterior shoulder force was 130% higher (172 vs. 75 Nm) and the flexion moment was 170% higher (65 vs. 24 Nm). Apart from the superior and inferior shoulder force that varies a lot between studies, every shoulder force of moment component was 13% to 346% higher than its highest counterpart in every other study. In addition to the wheelchair's geometry and user's position that are different between standard and sport wheelchairs, these large differences in shoulder kinetics may be explained by two reasons. The first reason is that every of these other studies were performed during continuous propulsion on rollers or treadmill, whereas our study was conducted on the ground. While our conditions were more ecologically valid, the athletes did not completely reach their maximal velocity after only two pushes; the remaining acceleration requires higher propulsion moments. The second reason relates to the limbs' inertia. Since the speed was higher in our study, the joint forces required for accelerating and decelerating the limbs were also higher. The effect of these inertial components can be seen in Figure 2, where immediately after the push, no force is applied on the wheel, but important shoulder forces and moments can still be observed, especially in the anterior shoulder force and in the shoulder moments of flexion, adduction and external rotation.

The values found in this work are generally high and may be worrisome. For example, the peak posterior shoulder force was 172 N, compared to 42 N in Mercer et al. (14) who correlated such high values to an increased risk of coracoacromial ligament disorder. Moreover, the peak shoulder moment of external rotation was 41 N, compared to 9 N in Mercer et al. (14) who correlated such high values to symptomatic shoulder pathology. This raises a flag on the intensity of propelling in WB compared to everyday propulsion. However, in WB, half of the game time is spent coasting or resting, and a rather small percentage of the time is performed sprinting (9%) or dribbling (<1%) (34). Thus, we believe that the causes of shoulder disorders could not only be associated with sprinting or dribbling, but most probably to a combination of tasks such as accelerating, challenging/handling the ball, and sprinting. However, this high load should be considered when planning training sessions to avoid overloading the shoulder.



When comparing CP and DP, dribbling reduced every peak force value except the positive tangential and medial forces. Dribbling also reduced the peak negative tangential forces. This combined reduction in peak force components is viewed as a beneficial change in terms of push efficiency. However, these differences may be attributable to the reduced speed observed during dribbling: similar relationships between speed and pushrim kinetics have been observed in a study by Kwarciak et al. (35) where 54 participants with paraplegia who propelled their own wheelchair on rollers increased the amplitude and the number of occurrences of negative moments as speed increased. In terms of shoulder kinetics, we expected that dribbling would decrease the shoulder load. We indeed observed a reduction in the peak posterior shoulder force, such a component being associated with coracoacromial ligament edema or thickening in standard MW propulsion (14). Since dribbling was not associated with other specific kinetic components related to shoulder disorders, this suggests that propelling while dribbling may be less detrimental to the shoulder joint than sprinting.

In this work, we chose to refer to the shoulder moments in the thorax reference frame to be consistent with Mercer et al. (14). However, special care must be taken in interpreting the results in this reference frame, especially shoulder moments of internal/external rotation. When the arms are not elevated, the reported moments of rotation in either the thorax or humeral reference frame are similar because the humeral and thorax longitudinal axes are nearly coincident. However, when the arm is more elevated like it is in sports wheelchair propulsion, the reported shoulder rotation moments may include significant crosstalk (moments from other axes). For example, for a 90degree abduction, a moment reported in the thorax reference frame as an external rotation would be better understood as a moment of horizontal abduction. This example highlights the difficulty of comparing shoulder load between tasks that are kinematically different. Currently, there is no consensus on the best way to report shoulder kinetics. Some authors (including those of this work) reported shoulder kinetics in the thorax reference frame (14). Others reported the forces in the thorax frame but the moments in the humeral frame (25), while others used four components instead of three, with three standard anatomical axes associated with the thorax reference frame, and an additional axis (the humerus longitudinal axis) to express

humeral rotation moments (29, 36). Research is still needed to define what axes are the best axes to report shoulder kinetics as a function of the studied task.

Among the limits of the study, we note the limited number of participants and their variety of disorders and classifications. However, since the observed differences between both conditions and between previous literature were generally large, we believe that this work allowed much needed insight to be gained on the impact of wheelchair propulsion in WB on shoulder load. Another limitation is the evaluation of the associated risks of shoulder disorders using the work of Mercer et al. (14) who assessed these risks for standard MW propulsion on rollers, not for sports wheelchair propulsion on a basketball court. It is therefore important to consider these comparisons as indicative and not as a direct relationship between propulsion and specific shoulder disorders. Finally, using SmartWheel instrumented wheels increased the rolling resistance and wheelchair inertia due to their added weight. We however limited this effect by using fully inflatable tires instead of the standard solid Smart Wheel tires.

As highlighted in this work, the differences between sprinting and dribbling on shoulder load seem much lower than the differences between everyday propulsion and sports propulsion. Consequently, we believe that including dribbling sessions in addition to sprinting sessions during training should not be riskier for the shoulder, which supports our previous conclusions based on spatiotemporal and generic pushrim kinetic parameters (16). Future work should reproduce a similar analysis to other tasks found in WB, such as accelerating, changing direction, and challenging and handling the ball, which would increase our understanding of the risks of MSD associated with WB.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Slater D, Meade MA. Participation in recreation and sports for persons with spinal cord injury: review and recommendations. *NeuroRehabilitation*. (2004) 19:121–9. doi: 10.3233/NRE-2004-19206
- Molik B, Kosmol A, Laskin JJ, Morgulec-Adamowicz N, Skucas K, Dabrowska A. et al. Wheelchair basketball skill tests: differences between athletes' functional classification level and disability type. *Fiz. Rehabil.* (2010) 21:11–19.
- Seron BB, Oliveira de Carvalho EM, Greguol M. Analysis of physiological and kinematic demands of wheelchair basketball games—a review. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2019) 33:1453–62. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0000000000003069
- Wang YT, Chen S, Limroongreungrat W, Change L-S. Contributions of selected fundamental factors to wheelchair basketball performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2005) 37:130–7. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000150076.36 706.B2
- Churton E, Keogh JWL. Constraints influencing sports wheelchair propulsion performance and injury risk. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil.* (2013) 5:3. doi: 10.1186/2052-1847-5-3
- Finley MA, Rodgers MM. Prevalence and identification of shoulder pathology in athletic and nonathletic wheelchair users with shoulder pain: a pilot study. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2004) 41:395–402. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2003.02.0022

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Université du Québec à Montréal's Comité institutionnel d'éthique de la recherche avec des êtres humains (CIEREH). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FC contributed to the study design, to the data processing and is the main author of the manuscript. IA contributed to data processing. DG and AF contributed to the study design. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the Fonds de recherche du Québec via the Société Inclusive intersectoral initiative.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors want to thank Etienne Marquis, Kim Lefebvre, Guy El Hajj Boutros and Pierre-Olivier Bédard for helping with the data acquisition process, and Pierre-Emmanuel Porquet, Marine Gailhard and the athletes of the Centre d'intégration à la vie active (CIVA), Montreal, for their participation in this project.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2022.863093/full#supplementary-material

- Jain NB, Higgins LD, Katz JN, Garshick E. Association of shoulder pain with the use of mobility devices in persons with chronic spinal cord injury. *Phys Med Rehabil.* (2010) 2:896–900. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.05.004
- Fullerton HD, Borckardt JJ, Alfano AP. Shoulder pain: a comparison of wheelchair athletes and nonathletic wheelchair users. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1958–61. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000099082.54522.55
- 9. Mateus I. S. M. (2016). The Prevalence and Profile of Musculoskeletal Pain in Elite Wheelchair Basketball Players of Different Point Classifications in South Africa (Thesis). Durban University of Technology, Durban, South Africa.
- Akbar M, Brunner M, Ewerbeck V, Wiedenhöfer B, Grieser T, Bruckner T, et al. Do overhead sports increase risk for rotator cuff tears in wheelchair users? Arch. *Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:484–8. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014. 09.032
- Fairbairn JR, Huxel Bliven KC. Incidence of shoulder injury in elite wheelchair athletes differ between sports: a critically appraised topic. J Sport Rehabil. (2019) 28:294–8. doi: 10.1123/jsr.2017-0360
- Dutton RA. Medical and musculoskeletal concerns for the wheelchair athlete: a review of preventative strategies. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2019) 18:9. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0000000000 00560

- Heyward OW, Vegter RJK, Groot S, de Woude LHV, van der. Shoulder complaints in wheelchair athletes: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0188410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188410
- Mercer JL, Boninger ML, Koontz A, Ren D, Dyson-Hudson T, Cooper R. Shoulder joint kinetics and pathology in manual wheelchair users. *Clin Biomech.* (2006) 21:781–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.04.010
- Villacieros J. Relationship between sprint velocity and peak moment at shoulder and elbow in elite wheelchair basketball players. *Int J Env Res Public Health.* (2020) 12:1–12. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17196989
- Chénier F, Alberca I, Marquis E, Gagnon DH, Faupin A. Impact of dribbling on spatiotemporal and kinetic parameters in wheelchair basketball athletes. *Clin Biomech.* (2022) 91:105545. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2021.105545
- Sprigle S, Huang M, Lin J-T. Inertial and frictional influences of instrumented wheelchair wheels. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng. (2016) 3:205566831664989. doi: 10.1177/2055668316649892
- Chénier F, Aissaoui R, Gauthier C, Gagnon DH. Wheelchair pushrim kinetics measurement: A method to cancel inaccuracies due to pushrim weight and wheel camber. *Med Eng Phys.* (2017) 40:75–86. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2016.12.002
- Wu G, Van Der Helm FCT, Veeger HEJD, Makhsous M, Van Roy P, Anglin C, et al. ISB recommendation on definitions of joint coordinate systems of various joints for the reporting of human joint motion -Part II: shoulder, elbow, wrist and hand. J Biomech. (2005) 38:981– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.05.042
- Dumas R, Aissaoui R, De Guise JA. A 3D generic inverse dynamic method using wrench notation and quaternion algebra. *Comput Meth Biomech Biomed Eng.* (2004) 7:159–66. doi: 10.1080/10255840410001727805
- 21. Winter DA. Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement. 4th ed. Waterloo, ON: John Wiley and Sons; University of Waterloo. (2009).
- Chénier F, Bigras P, Aissaoui R. A new dynamic model of the wheelchair propulsion on straight and curvilinear levelground paths. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin.* (2015) 18:1031-43. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2013.869318
- 23. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates (1988).
- Chénier F. Kinetics toolkit: an open-source python package to facilitate research in biomechanics. J Open Source Softw. (2021) 6:3714. doi: 10.21105/joss.03714
- Collinger JL, Boninger ML, Koontz AM, Price R, Sisto SA, Tolerico ML, et al. Shoulder biomechanics during the push phase of wheelchair propulsion: a multisite study of persons with paraplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2008) 89:667–76. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.09.052
- Gil-Agudo A, Del Ama-Espinosa A, Pérez-Rizo E, Pérez-Nombela S, Crespo-Ruiz B. Shoulder joint kinetics during wheelchair propulsion on a treadmill at two different speeds in spinal cord injury patients. *Spinal Cord.* (2010) 48:290–6. doi: 10.1038/sc.2009.126
- Gil-Agudo A, Del Ama-Espinosa A, Pérez-Rizo E, Pérez-Nombela S, Pablo Rodríguez-Rodríguez L. Upper limb joint kinetics during manual wheelchair propulsion in patients with different levels of spinal cord injury. *J Biomech*. (2010) 43:2508–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.05.021
- Kloosterman MGM, Buurke JH, de Vries W, Van der Woude LHV, Rietman JS. Effect of power-assisted hand-rim wheelchair

propulsion on shoulder load in experienced wheelchair users: a pilot study with an instrumented wheelchair. *Med Eng Phys.* (2015) 37:961–8. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2015.07.004

- Koontz AM, Cooper RA, Boninger ML, Souza AL, Fay BT. Shoulder kinematics and kinetics during two speeds of wheelchair propulsion. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2002) 39:635–49.
- Kulig K, Newsam CJ, Mulroy SJ, Rao S, Gronley JK, Bontrager EL, et al. The effect of level of spinal cord injury on shoulder joint kinetics during manual wheelchair propulsion. *Clin Biomech.* (2001) 8. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(01)00066-3
- Mulroy SJ, Newsam CJ, Gutierrez D, Requejo P, Gronley JK, Lighthall Haubert L, et al. Effect of fore-aft seat position on shoulder demands during wheelchair propulsion: part 1. A kinetic analysis. J Spinal Cord Med. (2005) 28:214– 21. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753815
- 32. Requejo PS, Mulroy SJ, Ruparel P, Hatchett PE, Haubert LL, Eberly VJ, et al. Relationship between hand contact angle and shoulder loading during manual wheelchair propulsion by individuals with paraplegia. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil.* (2015) 21:313–24. doi: 10.1310/sci2104-313
- Sabick MB, Kotajarvi BR, An K-N. A new method to quantify demand on the upper extremity during manual wheelchair propulsion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2004) 85:1151–9. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2003.10.024
- Bloxham LA, Bell GJ, Bhambhani Y, Steadward RD. Time motion analysis and physiological profile of canadian world cup wheelchair basketball players. *Sports Med Train Rehabil.* (2001) 10:183–98. doi: 10.1080/10578310210398
- Kwarciak AM, Sisto SA, Yarossi M, Price R, Komaroff E, Boninger ML. Redefining the manual wheelchair stroke cycle: identification and impact of nonpropulsive pushrim contact. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2009) 90:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008. 07.013
- Russell IM, Wagner EV, Requejo PS, Mulroy S, Flashner H, McNitt-Gray JL. Characterization of the shoulder net joint moment during manual wheelchair propulsion using four functional axes. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* (2022) 62:102340. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2019.07.010

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chénier, Alberca, Gagnon and Faupin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Influence of Wheelchair Type on Kinematic Parameters in Wheelchair Rugby

Sadate Bakatchina^{1*}, Thierry Weissland², Florian Brassart¹, Ilona Alberca¹, Opale Vigie¹, Didier Pradon³ and Arnaud Faupin¹

¹ Laboratory Physical Activity Impact on Health (IAPS), University of Toulon, Toulon, France, ² Laboratory of Material to System Integration (IMS), University of Bordeaux, Pessac, France, ³ Pole Parasport - ISPC Synergies, CHU Raymond Poincaré, APHP, Garches, France

Introduction: In wheelchair rugby, players use either an offensive or defensive wheelchair depending on their field position and level of impairment. Performance of wheelchair rugby players is related to several parameters, however it is currently unclear if differences in performance are related to wheelchair type or no: the effect of wheelchair type on performance variables has not been evaluated. The aim of this study was to compare offensive and defensive wheelchairs on performance variables during a straight-line sprint.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dirkjan Veeger, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Marc Klimstra, University of Victoria, Canada Rowie Johanna Francisca Janssen, University of Groningen, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Sadate Bakatchina sadate.bakatchina@univ-tln.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Biomechanics and Control of Human Movement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

> Received: 24 January 2022 Accepted: 18 March 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

Citation:

Bakatchina S, Weissland T, Brassart F, Alberca I, Vigie O, Pradon D and Faupin A (2022) Influence of Wheelchair Type on Kinematic Parameters in Wheelchair Rugby. Front. Sports Act. Living 4:861592. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.861592 **Methods:** Thirteen able-bodied people performed two 20 m sprint trials: one with an offensive and one with a defensive wheelchair. Data were collected using inertial measurement units fixed on the wheelchair. Peak wheelchair velocities and left-right asymmetries in peak wheel velocities were measured during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases. Sprint time, cycle frequency, and mean and maximum velocity were calculated over the entire sprint.

Results: The peak velocities of the first 2 pushes (acceleration phase) were significantly higher with the defensive than the offensive wheelchair (p < 0.04 and p < 0.02). Mean and maximum sprint velocity were significantly higher (p < 0.03 and p < 0.04, respectively) with the defensive wheelchair. Cycle frequency and asymmetry did not differ between wheelchairs.

Conclusion: Performance was higher with the defensive than the offensive wheelchair, suggesting that the frequent finding that the higher performance of offensive as compared to defensive players is not related to the use of an offensive wheelchair.

Keywords: wheelchair rugby, sprint, peak velocity, asymmetry, inertial measurement unit

INTRODUCTION

Wheelchair rugby is a high-performance team sport which was included in the Paralympic program in 2000. Wheelchair rugby players have different types of disabilities (IWRF International wheelchail rugby federation, 2021) that may result from conditions such as spinal cord injury, amputation, polio, cerebral palsy, peripheral neuropathy, or congenital limb deficiency (Gee et al., 2018; Bakatchina et al., 2021a; IWRF International wheelchail rugby federation, 2021). For training

and during matches, players are often grouped according to their level of impairment: high point (HP), mid-point (MP) and low point (LP) (IWRF International wheelchail rugby federation, 2021). LP players have a low level of physical ability whereas HP players have a high level of physical ability (IWRF International wheelchail rugby federation, 2021). MP players have intermediate level of physical ability. Studies have classified wheelchair rugby players into two groups: LP and HP (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018) or three groups: LP, MP and HP (Usma-Alvarez et al., 2014; Rhodes et al., 2015a; Haydon et al., 2016, 2018a). Others classified players according to the type of wheelchair used during the game: offensive and defensive players (Bakatchina et al., 2021a). The wheelchairs used during matches have been designed for use by players with different levels of impairment. Offensive wheelchairs (OW) have a front bumper to prevent other wheelchairs from hooking them during the game; defensive wheelchairs (DW) have a bumper that allows them to hook and hold other wheelchairs. OWs are shorter and heavier than DWs (Haydon et al., 2016), consequently OW and DW can be differentiated by the mass distribution. LP players use DW and HP players use OW; MP players can use either type, depending on the coach's strategy.

Comparison of wheelchair rugby players using OW or DW found that those who used an OW achieved higher peak velocities during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases than those who used a DW (Bakatchina et al., 2021a). However, cycle frequency, which is an indicator of injury risk (Boninger et al., 1999), was higher in players using an OW than those who used a DW (Bakatchina et al., 2021a). According to Boninger et al. (1999), gesture repetition such as cycle frequency during manual wheelchair propulsion would more expose the wheelchair users to risks of injury to their upper limbs. The literature indicated that performance in wheelchair rugby players is related to several parameters such as: players' classification (Sarro et al., 2010; Rhodes et al., 2015a,b; Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018), training hours (Furmaniuk et al., 2010; Berzen and Shayke Hutzler, 2012) experience in wheelchair using, gender and age. In addition, the performance during wheelchair manual propulsion is related to the rolling resistances which are the forces that oppose wheelchair displacement causing wheelchair deceleration (Sauret et al., 2009). Thus, wheelchair velocity decreases during wheelchair deceleration (Sauret et al., 2009) impacting player's performance in terms of sprint time during straight-line sprint.

HP players are faster and achieve higher peak power and peak velocity compared to LP players during a 15 s sprint on an instrumented ergometer (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018). However, HP players have higher left-right asymmetry in peak wheel velocity (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018). During matches, HP players achieve higher velocities than LP and MP players (Rhodes et al., 2015a,b) and they spend more time performing high-intensity activities and cover higher distances during the game (Rhodes et al., 2015b). Furthermore, the rate of decrease in velocity between the first and second halves of the match is lower in HP than LP players (Sarro et al., 2010). Wheelchair configuration parameters influence performance, for example camber angle, seat height, seat depth and wheel diameter (Faupin et al., 2004; Mason et al., 2011, 2012, 2013). Larger camber angle is associated with higher power generation (Faupin et al., 2004; Mason et al., 2011) and lower velocities during straightline wheelchair propulsion (Faupin et al., 2004). Large diameter wheels increased 20 m sprint time and maximum velocity compared to small diameter wheels (Mason et al., 2012).

During a wheelchair rugby game, the ability of players to sprint, pivot, and brake while dribbling or holding the ball are key performance variables. During counter-attacks, players must sprint in a straight line. This important ability can be evaluated using the straight-line sprint test (Gee et al., 2018; Haydon et al., 2018b; Bakatchina et al., 2021a). Performance on the test can be evaluated by measuring kinematic variables such as velocities, accelerations and cycle frequencies (Gee et al., 2018; Bakatchina et al., 2021a). Analysis of these variables during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases (Haydon et al., 2018b; Bakatchina et al., 2021a) is useful when determining the attributes of a wheelchair. Only Bakatchina and collaborators evaluated peak velocities during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases of a 20 m straight-line sprint on the field; they found that players using an OW achieved higher peak velocities compared to players using a DW. To our knowledge, no study has investigated the specific influence of wheelchair types (OW or DW) during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases of a 20 m straight-line sprint on the field in wheelchair rugby. However, it is unclear if the difference in performance was related to the wheelchair type or no. Given that the wheelchair is one of the most important parameters of performance in wheelchair sport (Goosey-Tolfrey, 2010), it is important to analyze the impact of the type of wheelchair on kinematic performance variables. This will serve both to optimize wheelchairs and to guide coaches in their allocation of different wheelchair types to different players. To evaluate the specific effects of OW and DW on performance parameters, the inclusion of able-bodied people is important

TABLE 1 | Individual anthropometric characteristics: gender, age, mass, and height.

	Gender	Age (years old)	Mass (kg)	Height (cm)
		(Jears old)	(19)	(only
AB1	Μ	20	67	173
AB2	Μ	20	72	179
AB3	Μ	21	69	175
AB4	F	20	59	163
AB5	F	22	55	162
AB6	F	23	68	165
AB7	F	21	52	163
AB8	Μ	23	70	185
AB9	F	21	66	172
AB10	Μ	20	77	176
AB11	F	21	63	170
AB12	F	22	80	181
AB13	F	21	50	164
M (Q1; Q3)	8F; 5M	21 (20; 22)	67 (59; 70)	172 (164; 170

M (median), Q1 (first quartile) and Q3 (third quartile).



TABLE 2 | Wheelchairs characteristics.

	Mass (kg)	Seat angle (°)	Camber angle (°)	Frame length (m)	seat length (m)	Wheel diameter (inch)
OW	21.8	22.4	18	0.53	0.38	25
DW	20.7	26.4	18	0.68	0.36	25

OW, Offensive wheelchair; DW, Defensive wheelchair.

because they are not yet used to a DW or an OW, so they are unbiased participants.

Consequently, the aim of this study was to compare kinematic variables between OW and DW during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases of a 20 m straight-line sprint, using IMUs. We hypothesized that: (i) peak velocities during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases would be higher with the OW, (ii) asymmetry and cycle frequency across the whole sprint would be higher with the OW, exposing the user at risk of injury, and (iii) The rolling resistance would be greater with the DW.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 13 able-bodied adults (7 females and 6 males) (**Table 1**) trained in wheelchair propulsion (see below) were included. None had experienced any upper limb injuries or pain within 6 months preceding the study. All participants were informed of the purpose of the study and any risks that may arise during the

test; they all provided informed consent. We chose to perform this study in able-bodied people because we wished to evaluate the specific effects of wheelchair type without the confounding factor of disability; furthermore, studies have shown that trained able-bodied people provide consistent results in experiments using manual wheelchairs (van der Woude et al., 2003; Faupin et al., 2008). The study was approved by the National Ethics Committee for Research in the Physical Activity and Sports Sciences (CERSTAPS N° 2018-16-07-26).

Wheelchairs

According to Haydon et al. (2016), there are two typical wheelchairs: OW & DW. All participants included in current study used one typical DW (**Figure 1A**) and one typical OW (**Figure 1B**). The OW weighed 21.8 kg, had a camber angle of 18° and 25-inch wheels (**Table 2**). The DW weighed 20.7 kg, had an 18° camber and 25-inch wheels (**Table 2**). We measured frame length, seat length and seat angle (**Table 2**) according to Haydon et al. (2016). We checked the function of the front casters and rear wheels of each wheelchair before testing.

Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU)

IMUs are composed of a gyrometer, an accelerometer and a magnetometer which, respectively, allow the measurement of rotational velocity (Usma-Alvarez et al., 2011; van der Slikke et al., 2016; Bakatchina et al., 2021a,b), acceleration (Usma-Alvarez et al., 2011; van der Slikke et al., 2016; Haydon et al., 2018b) and orientation with respect to the magnetic north. We used 2 IMU: 128 Hz, 3×3 (accelerometer, gyrometer, magnetometer, and Bluetooth module, WheelPerf System, AtoutNovation, France) (**Figure 1**) and synchronized them with



a tablet computer using Bluetooth version 4.0 technology as described by Bakatchina et al. (2021b).

Test Protocol

Prior to the test, participants underwent five 2 h training sessions in wheelchair propulsion. We followed the description by Alberca et al. (2021), thus the training included: forward, backward and slalom propulsion over 5, 10, and 20 m. At the beginning of each training session, participants performed a 5-10 min warm-up consisting of forward and backward propulsion and repeated sprints over 20 m. After the warm-up, the participants practiced propelling the wheelchair in a straight line (forward and backward) and around a slalom course at different speeds over 5, 10, and 20 m using both types of wheelchairs. Just before the test, they warmed up for 8-10 min as described by Bakatchina et al. (2021a). They then performed one maximum velocity 20 m sprint with OW and one maximum velocity 20 m sprint with DW, recovery time between both sprints was 10 min. A standing start was used (participants started 20 cm from the starting line). No instructions were given regarding trunk movement during the sprint. Participants sprinted up to the finish line and slowed after crossing the line. The tests were performed in a sports hall on parquet flooring. The same OW and DW were used by all participants and the order of the wheelchairs was randomized.

Rolling resistance tests were then performed with a 20 kg mass placed on the front (first condition) and the rear (second condition) of each wheelchair type seat as described by Bascou et al. (2019). For each condition (forwards and backwards), six trials of deceleration test were performed with each wheelchair type over 5 m. Trials were performed by the experimenter who pushed the wheelchair and stopped it manually on 5 m. Each deceleration test was performed as reported by Bascou and collaborators: "(1) 2 s static phase on a departure mark fixed on the ground, (2) clean manual push to accelerate the manual

wheelchair between two 1 m-separated marks, (3) deceleration while verifying the straightness of the manual wheelchair path, (4) clean manual stop between two ending marks, (5) 2 s static phase" (Bascou et al., 2019).

Data Processing

We placed one IMU on each rear wheel (**Figure 1**) as described by Bakatchina et al. (2021a). They were positioned between two spokes near the hub and aligned vertically with respect to the horizontal axis of the wheel plane, with the z-axis perpendicular to the vertical axis of the wheel plane. We calculated the rotational velocity of the wheel around the z-axis as described by Fuss (2012) using the gyrometer data. To remove random noise, we used a Butterworth filter (fourth-order zero lag: lowpass-filtered) (Cooper et al., 2002; Bergamini et al., 2015) with a cut-off frequency of 8 Hz (Bakatchina et al., 2021a).

We used the finder function of the Matlab program to identify the minimum and maximum peaks on the rotational velocity curve as described by Bakatchina et al. (2021a). Kinematic parameters were calculated during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases. The acceleration phase was defined as the first 3 pushes and the constant peak velocity phase as the last five pushes (Bakatchina et al., 2021a) (**Figure 2**).

We calculated the following performance variables according to Bakatchina et al. (2021a): the peak velocity of each of the first 3 pushes (V1, V2, and V3), the mean velocity of the last 5 pushes (Vend) during the constant peak velocity phase, sprint time, and mean and maximum velocity over the whole sprint. Cycle frequency (F) was defined as the number of cycles per minute and asymmetry (Asy) as the difference between the peak velocities of the right and the left wheels (Equation 1) (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018; Bakatchina et al., 2021a).

$$Asy = \frac{|V dh - V non - dh|}{V non - dh} \times 100 (\%)$$
(1)



where Asy: asymmetry; V dh: peak velocity of the dominant hand; V non-dh peak velocity of the non-dominant hand (2). Dominant hand was the hand that achieved higher peak velocity and non-dominant hand achieved lower velocity.

During propulsion, drag force (DF) is composed of rolling resistance forces (RRF), air resistance forces (ARF), gravitational forces (GF), and internal frictional forces (IFF) (Equation a) (van der Woude et al., 2001; Rietveld et al., 2021). ARF, GR and IFF are negligible (Equation b) as indicated by Rietveld et al. (2021). We calculated deceleration values (**Figure 3**) by deriving the linear velocity (c) of the wheels. We then calculated rolling resistance according to Equation (d).

 $DF = RRF + ARF + GR + IFF \qquad (a)$

$$DF = RRF = m.a (b)$$

$$a = \frac{d(v)}{t} \tag{c}$$

$$RRF = |m.a| \tag{d}$$

where m: mass of the wheelchair and the 20 kg additional masses; a: deceleration value; v: linear velocity.

Sprint times were also collected using cell gates (Brower Timing Systems, WITTY.GATE). The cell gates were placed at the start and finish lines connected to an electronic timer allowing to display the time of each sprint after.

Statistical Analyses

We used velocity data from the (Bakatchina et al., 2021a) and $G^*Power 3.1$ software to determine the minimum number of participants required for this study. This minimum number found is 8, which is less than the number of participants included in our study. Because the distribution of the variables was not normal according to the Lilliefors normality test, we calculated medians (M) and first (Q1) and third (Q3) quartiles.

We compared variables between the OW and DW using the Wilcoxon test. We calculated effect sizes for all variables: low (r < 0.3), medium (0.3 < r < 0.5), and large ($r \ge 0.5$). STATISTICA version 7.1 was used for all statistical analyses and p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Sprint times were faster with DW than OW (**Table 3**). Significant differences were found in terms of velocities between both wheelchairs (**Figure 4**). Peak velocity values V1 and V2 were higher with DW (**Table 3**). Mean (Vav) and maximum velocity were significantly higher with DW (**Table 3**). The values of V3 and Vend did not differ significantly between wheelchairs (**Table 3**). The magnitude of these effects was either medium or large (range from 0.44 to 0.88).

In addition, neither cycle frequency nor asymmetry during the acceleration and constant peak velocity phases differed between the wheelchairs (**Table 3**).

Rolling resistance values differed significantly between OW and DW for each condition. For both the first condition (additional mass placed on the front of the seat) and second condition (additional mass placed on the rear of the seat), rolling resistance was significantly higher with DW compared to the OW, with large effect sizes (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

Performance in wheelchair rugby players is related to several such as: players level of impairment, experience in a wheelchair using, training hours, physical and technical capacities, gender, and age. Currently, it is unclear if differences in performance between rugby wheelchair players could be related to their wheelchair type or no. Consequently, we investigated the influence of an TABLE 3 | M (median), Q1 (first quartile) and Q3 (third quartile) of velocities (m.s⁻¹); time (s); asymmetry (%): relative difference in velocity between the left and right side; F (cycle.min⁻¹): Cycle Frequency and RR (N): rolling resistance.

		OW M (Q1; Q3)	DW M (Q1; Q3)	p	r
Velocity	V1	1.83 (1.75; 1.98)	2.00 (1.82; 2.09)	0.04*	0.55
(m.s-1)	V2	2.36 (2.17; 2.57)	2.59 (2.33; 2.69)	0.02*	0.63
	V3	2.72 (2.48; 2.89)	2.94 (2.80; 3.15)	(0.11) NS	0.44
	Vend	3.75 (3.43; 4.04)	3.91 (3.56; 4.21)	(0.07) NS	0.49
	Vmax	3.84 (3.60; 4.30)	4.09 (3.67; 4.37)	0.03*	0.59
	Vmean	2.70 (2.42; 2.82)	2.74 (2.59; 3.06)	0.04*	0.55
Time (s)	Т	7.42 (7.12; 8.26)	7.31 (6.57; 7.72)	0.04*	0.56
(%)	Asy1	4 (3; 5)	6 (3; 8)	(0.27) NS	0.30
rries	Asy2	3 (1; 7)	3 (2; 6)	(0.80) NS	0.07
Asymetries (%)	Asy3	5 (3; 6)	4 (1; 6)	(0.13) NS	0.42
Asy	Asy end	3 (3; 4)	2 (2; 3)	(0.08) NS	0.47
Cycle frequency (cycle.min ⁻¹)	F	94.74 (85.80; 105.83)	94.32 (84.04; 101.83)	(0.88) NS	0.16
Rolling resistance (N)	RR front	6.26 (5.35; 7.05)	9.34 (8.17; 9.74)	0.002**	0.88
	RR rear	5.57 (5.05; 6.27)	7.88 (6.64;8.5)	0.004**	0.81

DW, defensive wheelchair; OW, offensive wheelchair. Significant differences (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01). No significant difference (NS). Effect size (r).



OW and a DW on kinematic variables during a straight-line sprint. To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare the impact of wheelchair type on kinematic variables in wheelchair rugby. Our results showed that all kinematic performance variables were higher for the DW than the OW. In addition, no difference in terms of asymmetry was found between both wheelchairs. However, the results of this study confirmed our third hypothesis that the rolling resistance would be greater with the DW. Peak velocities during the first 2 pushes (i.e., acceleration phase) were significantly higher with the DW than the OW, with a large effect size ($r \ge 0.55$). These results are not similar to those of Bakatchina et al. (2021a) who compared players using a DW with players using an OW and found that players using an OW developed higher peak velocities than the players using a DW during the acceleration phase. The mean and maximal velocity during the 20 m sprint were also higher and sprint time was shorter with the DW, with large effect sizes ($r \ge 0.55$). These

differences between our results and those of Bakatchina et al. (2021a) can be attributed by the fact that the participants in our study are able-bodied people while those in Bakatchina et al. (2021a) were people with impairments.

The difference in terms of first and second peak velocities, mean velocity, maximal velocity and sprint time found between the OW and the DW in the current study could be related to maneuverability, stability and steering during wheelchair propulsion. OW was handy allowing the user to prevent other wheelchairs from hooking it in practice. In addition, the OW was shorter than the DW (Haydon et al., 2016), which could cause more maneuverability leading instability with OW. According to Tomlinson (2000) who studied the managing maneuverability and rear stability of adjustable manual wheelchairs, they showed that the stability decreases as maneuverability improves. The instability of OW would cause a high variability in kinetic or kinematic variables between both sides of wheelchair as described by Vegter et al. (2013) and Soltau et al. (2015) who compared simultaneous results of two wheels attached to the different sides of the wheelchair. This kinetic or kinematic variables variability between both sides of the wheelchair would cause a steering movement (Wieczorek and Kukla, 2020) which would prevent OW to run in a straight line (De Groot et al., 2002; Soltau et al., 2015) causing a decrease in the performance variables. Steering movement corrections by OW user during a straight-line sprint would lead to increase energy cost (Vegter et al., 2014; Soltau et al., 2015), and causing a decrease performance in terms of mean velocities and sprint time.

Differences in performance between OW and DW could also be related to the user's position in the manual wheelchair. The performance of manual wheelchair players is also related to the wheelchair user position relative to the main axle position (Brubaker, 1986). Thomas et al. (2018) indicated that reclining the wheelchair seat relative to the horizontal axis increased stability in a wheelchair user. According to Haydon et al. (2016), the seat angle of the DW used by LP players was significantly higher than the seat angle of the OW used by HP players. In the current study the seat angle of the DW was slightly higher compared to the OW (26.4° for DW and 22.4° for OW). Consequently, participants would be more stable with the DW during propulsion causing a better sprint time and a high development of peak velocities.

Asymmetry is considered to be related to both decreased performance and increased risk of injury (Vegter et al., 2013; Gagnon et al., 2016). Comparison of asymmetry during straightline sprinting is important as this is a component of matches. We found no difference in asymmetry between the OW and the DW during either the acceleration or the constant peak velocity phases. The asymmetry values were similar to those reported by Bakatchina et al. (2021a) in a comparison of players using an OW and players using a DW. Cycle frequency is also a key determinant of propulsion injury risk (Boninger et al., 1999). However, our study showed no significant difference in cycle frequency between OW and DW. This contrasts with the findings of Goosey-Tolfrey et al. (2018) who found a higher cycle frequency in HP players than LP players. Cycle frequency may be related to the level of impairment, which would explain the between-group difference in the (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018) study, and the lack of difference in the present study of ablebodied individuals.

Rolling resistance values differed significantly between both wheelchair types for each condition; they were higher with DW than OW in both conditions (when the 20 kg additional mass was placed in front or rear for both wheelchair types). These higher rolling resistance values with DW could be related to the frame length of DW which was higher compared to the OW (Haydon et al., 2016), resulting in a more distribution of DW mass on the front casters. According to Rémy N de et al. (2003) and Sauret et al. (2013), when the mass distribution of the wheelchair-user system is higher on the front of the wheelchair, rolling resistance during wheelchair propulsion is increased.

PERSPECTIVES

In wheelchair rugby, the choice of the wheelchair type (DW or OW) is related to several factors such as: players' physical capacity or coach's strategies. The current results indicate performance in wheelchair rugby could be related to the wheelchair type. For example, MP players may use either an OW or a DW during the game, therefore some wheelchair rugby clubs have two types of wheelchairs for each MP so that the coach can change the role of the MP between seasons or at halftime. Consequently, coaches and MP players could optimize the choice of wheelchair type improving players performance and coach's strategy. Performance is also partly related to the functional capacity of the abdominal muscles (Vanlandewijck et al., 2010); we believe it would be pertinent to review the configuration of the OW to decrease steering movement in HP players during straight-line sprint. In addition, the ability to accelerate and pivot whilst maintaining control of the ball are also key performance variables in wheelchair rugby. Consequently, future studies should compare the performance of these wheelchairs during pivoting tasks such as the 8 test.

CONCLUSIONS

Wheelchair configuration is considered as a key performance variable in wheelchair rugby; few studies have evaluated interactions between the user and the wheelchair. The results of our study suggest that wheelchair type influences performance in wheelchair rugby. Mean and maximal velocity and peak velocity during the acceleration phase were higher with the DW than the OW. Sprint time was also faster with the DW. Cycle frequency and asymmetry, which are risk parameters for injury and indicators of highperformance parameters in HP players, do not appear to be influenced by wheelchair type. These results should provide guidance to coaches in the choice of wheelchair type for MP players.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data presented in the study are not readily available because the participants did not consent to sharing their data when they entered the study. To access the raw data, please contact us at: sadate.bakatchina@univ-tln.fr.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by National Ethics Committee for Research in the Physical Activity and Sports Sciences (CERSTAPS No 2018-16-07-26). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Alberca, I., Astier, M., Watelain, E., Pradon, D., Chénier, F., and Faupin, A. (2021). Approche comparée de l'apprentissage synchrone vs asynchrone de la propulsion en fauteuil roulant manuel. *Sci. Sports* 36, e33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.scispo.2020.04.003
- Bakatchina, S., Weissland, T., Astier, M., Pradon, D., and Faupin, A. (2021a). Performance, asymmetry and biomechanical parameters in wheelchair rugby players. *Sports Biomech.* doi: 10.1080/14763141.2021.1898670. [Epub ahead of print].
- Bakatchina, S., Weissland, T., and Faupin, A. (2021b). Les dispositifs d'évaluation des parasportifs pratiquant des sports de petits terrains en fauteuil roulant manuel. *Mov. Sport Sci/Sci Mot.* 114, 55–69. doi: 10.1051/sm/2020016
- Bascou, J., Brassart, F., Sauret, C., and Weissland, T. (2019). Do smartphones allow the estimation of sport wheelchair rolling resistances? *Comput. Methods Biomech. Biomed. Eng.* 22, S505–S506. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2020.1714998
- Bergamini, E., Morelli, F., Marchetti, F., Vannozzi, G., Polidori, L., Paradisi, F., et al. (2015). Wheelchair propulsion biomechanics in junior basketball players: a method for the evaluation of the efficacy of a specific training program. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015, 275965 doi: 10.1155/2015/275965
- Berzen, J., and Shayke Hutzler, Y. (2012). Evaluating performance progression in beginner wheelchair rugby. *Eur. J. Adapt. Phys. Act.* 5, 53–64. doi: 10.5507/euj.2012.005
- Boninger, M. L., Cooper, R. A., Baldwin, M. A., Shimada, S. D., and Koontz, A. (1999). Wheelchair pushrim kinetics: body weight and median nerve function. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 8, 910–915. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90082-5
- Brubaker, C. E. (1986). Wheelchair prescription: an analysis of factors that affect mobility and performance. J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. 23, 19–26.
- Cooper, R. A., DiGiovine, C. P., Boninger, M. L., Shimada, S. D., Koontz, A. M., and Baldwin, M. A. (2002). Filter frequency selection for manual wheelchair biomechanics. J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. 39, 323–336.
- De Groot, S., Veeger, D. H. E. J., Hollander, A. P., and Van der Woude, L. H. V. (2002). Wheelchair propulsion technique and mechanical efficiency after 3 wk of practice. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 34, 756–766. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200205000-00005
- Faupin, A., Campillo, P., Weissland, T., Gorce, P., and Thevenon, A. (2004). The effects of rear-wheel camber on the mechanical parameters produced during the wheelchair sprinting of handibasketball athletes. *JRRD* 41, 421–428. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2003.04.0050
- Faupin, A., Gorce, P., and Thevenon, A. (2008). A wheelchair ergometer adaptable to the rear-wheel camber. *Int. J. Ind. Ergon.* 38, 601–607. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2008.01.008
- Furmaniuk, L., Cywińska-Wasilewska, G., and Kaczmarek, D. (2010). Influence of long-term wheelchair rugby training on the functional abilities in persons with

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB contributed to conception, design, organized the database and of the study, performed the statistical analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TW, FB, IA, OV, DP, and AF wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all those who participated in this study and to the technical staff who facilitated the organization of the field tests. We thank the Fédération Française Handisport (FFH), Ministry of Sports and National Research Agency (ANR) who provided financial support for this study. It was realized within the framework of the priority research program Sport of very high performance PARAPERF ANR-19-STHP-0005. We also thank Johanna Robertson for language assistance.

tetraplegia over a two-year post-spinal cord injury. J. Rehabil. Med. 42, 688–90. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0580

- Fuss, F. K. (2012). Speed measurements in wheelchair sports theory and application. Sports Technol. 5, 29–42. doi: 10.1080/19346182.2012.754895
- Gagnon, D. H., Roy, A., Gabison, S., Duclos, C., Verrier, M. C., and Nadeau, S. (2016). Effects of seated postural stability and trunk and upper extremity strength on performance during manual wheelchair propulsion tests in individuals with spinal cord injury: an exploratory study. *Rehabil. Res. Pract.* 2016, 6842324. doi: 10.1155/2016/6842324
- Gee, C. M., Lacroix, M. A., and West, C. R. (2018). A 20×20 m repeated sprint field test replicates the demands of wheelchair rugby. J. Sci. Med. Sport 7, 753–757. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.12.006
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V. (2010). Supporting the paralympic athlete: focus on wheeled sports. *Disabil. Rehabil.* 32, 2237–2243. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.491577
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., Vegter, R. J. K., Mason, B. S., Paulson, T. A. W., Lenton, J. P., van der Scheer, J. W., et al. (2018). Sprint performance and propulsion asymmetries on an ergometer in trained high- and low-point wheelchair rugby players. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 5, 1586–1593. doi: 10.1111/sms.13056
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2016). Elite wheelchair rugby: a quantitative analysis of chair configuration in Australia. *Sports Eng.* 3, 177–184. doi: 10.1007/s12283-016-0203-0
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2018a). Using a robust design approach to optimize chair set-up in wheelchair sport. *Proceedings* 6, 482. doi: 10.3390/proceedings2060482
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2018b). Overground-Propulsion kinematics and acceleration in elite wheelchair rugby. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 13, 156–162. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0802
- IWRF International wheelchail rugby federation (2021). Wheelchair Rugby Classifier Handbook 2021. Available online at: https://www.iwrf.com/resources/ IWRF_Classifier_Handbook_2021.pdf. (accessed: March 19, 2021).
- Mason, B., Van Der Woude, L., D. E., Groot, S., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. (2011). Effects of camber on the ergonomics of propulsion in wheelchair athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 319–326. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181edf973
- Mason, B. S., van der Woude, L. H. V., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2013). The ergonomics of wheelchair configuration for optimal performance in the wheelchair court sports. *Sports Med.* 43, 23–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-012-0005-x
- Mason, B. S., Van Der Woude, L. H. V., Tolfrey, K., Lenton, J. P., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2012). Effects of wheel and hand-rim size on submaximal propulsion in wheelchair athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 126–134. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31822a2df0
- Rémy N de, S., Vaslin, P., Dabonneville, M., Martel, L., and Gavand, A. (2003). Dynamique de la locomotion en fauteuil roulant manuel : influences de la masse totale et de sa répartition antéropostérieure sur la résultante des forces de freinage. Sci. Sports 18, 141–149. doi: 10.1016/S0765-1597(03)00076-5

- Rhodes, J. M., Mason, B. S., Malone, L. A., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2015a). Effect of team rank and player classification on activity profiles of elite wheelchair rugby players. J. Sports Sci. 19, 2070–2078. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2015. 1028087
- Rhodes, J. M., Mason, B. S., Perrat, B., Smith, M. J., Malone, L. A., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2015b). Activity profiles of elite wheelchair rugby players during competition. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 3, 318–324. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0203
- Rietveld, T., Vegter, R. J. K., der Woude, L. H. V., and de Groot, S. (2021). The interaction between wheelchair configuration and wheeling performance in wheelchair tennis: a narrative review. *Sports Biomech.* doi: 10.1080/14763141.2020.1840617. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sarro, K. J., Misuta, M. S., Burkett, B., Malone, L. A., and Barros, R. M. L. (2010). Tracking of wheelchair rugby players in the 2008 Demolition Derby final. J. Sports Sci. 2, 193–200. doi: 10.1080/02640410903 428541
- Sauret, C., Vaslin, P., Dabonneville, M., and Cid, M. (2009). Drag force mechanical power during an actual propulsion cycle on a manual wheelchair. *IRBM* 30, 3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.irbm.2008.10.002
- Sauret, C., Vaslin, P., Lavaste, F., de Saint Remy, N., and Cid, M. (2013). Effects of user's actions on rolling resistance and wheelchair stability during handrim wheelchair propulsion in the field. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 35, 289–297. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2012.05.001
- Soltau, S. L., Slowik, J. S., Requejo, P. S., Mulroy, S. J., and Neptune, R. R. (2015). An investigation of bilateral symmetry during manual wheelchair propulsion. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 3, 86. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015. 00086
- Thomas, L., Borisoff, J., and Sparrey, C. J. (2018). Manual wheelchair downhill stability: an analysis of factors affecting tip probability. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 15, 95. doi: 10.1186/s12984-018-0450-3
- Tomlinson, J. D. (2000). Managing maneuverability and rear stability of adjustable manual wheelchairs: an update. *Phys. Ther.* 80, 904–911. doi: 10.1093/ptj/80.9.904
- Usma-Alvarez, C. C., Fuss, F. K., and Subic, A. (2011). Effects of rugby wheelchair design on output velocity and acceleration. *Procedia Eng.* 13, 315–321. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2011.05.091
- Usma-Alvarez, C. C., Fuss, F. K., and Subic, A. (2014). User-centered design customization of rugby wheelchairs based on the taguchi method. J. Mech. Des. 4, 041001. doi: 10.1115/1.4026029
- van der Slikke, R. M. A., Berger M. A. M., Bregman, D. J. J., and Veeger, H. E. J. (2016). From big data to rich data: the key features

of athlete wheelchair mobility performance. J. Biomech. 49, 3340–3346. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.08.022

- van der Woude, L. H., Dallmeijer, A. J., Janssen, T. W., and Veeger, D. (2001). Alternative modes of manual wheelchair ambulation: an overview. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 80, 765–777. doi: 10.1097/00002060-200110000-00012
- van der Woude, L. H. V., Formanoy, M., and de Groot, S. (2003). Hand rim configuration: effects on physical strain and technique in unimpaired subjects? *Med. Eng. Phys.* 25, 765–774. doi: 10.1016/S1350-4533(03)00102-4
- Vanlandewijck, Y., Verellen, J., and Tweedy, S. (2010). Towards evidence-based classification - the impact of impaired trunk strength on wheelchair propulsion. *Adv. Rehabil.* 3, 1–5. doi: 10.2478/v10029-010-0001-8
- Vegter, R. J. K., de Groot, S., Lamoth, C. J., Veeger, D. H., and van der Woude, L. H. V. (2014). Initial skill acquisition of handrim wheelchair propulsion: a new perspective. *IEEE Trans. Neural. Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 22, 104–113. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2280301
- Vegter, R. J. K., Lamoth, C. J., de Groot, S., Veeger, D. H. E. J., and van der Woude, L. H. V. (2013). Variability in bimanual wheelchair propulsion: consistency of two instrumented wheels during handrim wheelchair propulsion on a motor driven treadmill. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 10, 9. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-10-9
- Wieczorek, B., and Kukla, M. (2020). Biomechanical relationships between manual wheelchair steering and the position of the human body's centre of gravity. J. Biomech. Eng. 142, 081006. doi: 10.1115/1.4046501

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bakatchina, Weissland, Brassart, Alberca, Vigie, Pradon and Faupin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Impact of Holding a Badminton Racket on Spatio-Temporal and Kinetic Parameters During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion

Ilona Alberca^{1*}, Félix Chénier^{2,3}, Marjolaine Astier^{1,4}, Marion Combet⁴, Sadate Bakatchina¹, Florian Brassart¹, Jean-Marc Vallier¹, Didier Pradon⁵, Bruno Watier⁶ and Arnaud Faupin¹

¹ IAPS, Université de Toulon, La Garde, France, ² Mobility and Adaptive Sports Research Lab, Department of Physical Activity Sciences, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ³ Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Institut Universitaire sur la Réadaptation en Déficience Physique de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁴ Université de Toulon, LAMHESS, EA 6312, La Garde, France, ⁵ Pole Parasport - ISPC Synergies, Hôpital Raymond-Poincaré, Garches, France, ⁶ LAAS-CNRS, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, UPS, Toulouse, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Riemer J. K. Vegter, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Jolanta Marszalek, Józef Piłsudski University of Physical Education in Warsaw, Poland Ursina Arnet, Swiss Paraplegic Research, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Ilona Alberca ilona.alberca@univ-tln.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Biomechanics and Control of Human Movement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

> Received: 26 January 2022 Accepted: 20 May 2022 Published: 27 June 2022

Citation:

Alberca I, Chénier F, Astier M, Combet M, Bakatchina S, Brassart F, Vallier J-M, Pradon D, Watier B and Faupin A (2022) Impact of Holding a Badminton Racket on Spatio-Temporal and Kinetic Parameters During Manual Wheelchair Propulsion. Front. Sports Act. Living 4:862760. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.862760 **Introduction:** Para badminton entered the Paralympic world for the first time with the 2021 Paralympic Games in Tokyo. The particularity of this sport lies in the handling of the wheelchair and the racket simultaneously. To the best of our knowledge, and considering the youthfulness of this sport, it appears that no study has looked at the impact of the badminton racket on the kinetic and spatiotemporal parameters. Therefore, the aim of our study was to investigate the impact of the badminton racket on the amplitude of kinetic and spatiotemporal parameters of wheelchair propulsion, considered as propulsion effectiveness and risk of injury criteria. We hypothesized that holding a badminton racket while propelling the wheelchair modifies the kinetics and temporal parameters of the athlete's propulsion due to the difficulty to hold the handrim, therefore decreasing propulsion effectiveness and increasing risk of injury.

Materials and Methods: For six 90-min sessions, 16 able-bodied individuals were introduced to badminton. No injuries hindered their propulsion. They had to propel with and without a racket held on the dominant side along a 20m straight line at a constant velocity of 5 km/h. They all used the same sports wheelchair equipped with two instrumented wheels (SmartWheel).

Results: Participants increased their maximal total force and force rate of rise but decreased their fraction of effective force with their dominant hand compared to the non-dominant hand when using a racket. In addition, they decreased their fraction of effective force, push time, cycle time, and push angle, and increased their maximal propulsive moment, maximal total force, and force rate of rise when comparing the same dominant hand with and without the racket.

Discussion: Using a badminton racket modifies the athlete's force application in a way that is generally related to lower propulsion effectiveness and a higher risk for injury. Indeed, it seems that propulsion with a racket prevents from correctly grabbing the handrim.

Keywords: biomechanics, wheelchair, risk of injury, propulsion effectiveness, Para badminton

INTRODUCTION

Para badminton is a young sport as it was first played in the 1990s when several German athletes became interested in adapting the rules of classical badminton for the people with disabilities. It entered the Paralympic world for the first time with the 2021 Paralympic Games in Tokyo.

Small-court wheelchair sports, such as Para badminton, are described as intermittent aerobic activities that are interspersed with brief periods of high-intensity work (Coutts, 1992; Bloxham et al., 2001; Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2006; Roy et al., 2006; Mota and Almeida, 2020). The nature of the discipline requires athletes to perform rotations, abrupt forward and backward movements, and short sprints. The different shots performed by the players such as the release, the smash, or the drive require high-intensity efforts (Yüksel, 2018a,b). Like wheelchair tennis, the originality of this sport lies in the handling of the wheelchair while holding and using a racket. To the best of our knowledge, no study has investigated the impact of the badminton racket on propulsion effectiveness and risk of injury. However, the wheelchair tennis has been the subject of more studies, some of which focusing on the impact of the racket on kinetic and temporal parameters of the propulsion. These studies have shown that:

- Maximal velocity is reduced on the first three pushes with a racket (Goosey-Tolfrey and Moss, 2005).
- Power loss and power output generation are higher with the racket due to the longer time needed to couple the hand with the racket to the rim (de Groot et al., 2017).
- The arm holding the tennis racket has to withstand higher forces when propelling the wheelchair in sprints, compared to the arm without the racket (de Groot et al., 2017).

Taken together, these findings in wheelchair tennis suggest that the use of the racket induces adjustment in the mechanical spatiotemporal parameters of the athletes related to a decrease in propulsion effectiveness (Goosey-Tolfrey and Moss, 2005; de Groot et al., 2017). Likewise, an increase in the forces carried by an upper limb is associated with an increased risk of injury (Boninger et al., 2005).

The area of interest here is Para badminton, which remains largely unstudied in the scientific literature. However, wheelchair tennis and Para badminton are being the two disciplines close to each other; we can assume that in badminton also, the racket could have a negative impact on the propulsion effectiveness and the injury risk of the athletes. Propulsion effectiveness and injury risk are related to several kinetic and spatio-temporal parameters such as total force, propulsive moment, force rate of rise, fraction of effective force, power, push and cycle time, and push angle (Boninger et al., 2000, 2005; Chow et al., 2001; de Groot et al., 2002, 2008; Goosey-Tolfrey and Moss, 2005; Koopman et al., 2016). Comprehensive analysis including forces developed by the athletes would allow calculating parameters related to the propulsion effectiveness and the risk of injury. Therefore, the aim of our study is to investigate the impact of holding a badminton racket on the kinetic and spatiotemporal parameters of wheelchair propulsion. Specifically, we would like to analyze the impact of the badminton racket during wheelchair propulsion on maximal total force, maximal propulsive moment, rate of rise, fraction of effective force, maximal power output, push and cycle time and push angle. Those are essential parameters that can impact propulsion effectiveness, defined here as the ability to reach and maintain a given velocity, and risk of injury. Based on results in wheelchair tennis we hypothesized that wheelchair propulsion while holding a badminton racket modifies the kinetics and temporal parameters of the athlete's propulsion due to the difficulty to hold the handrim, therefore decreasing propulsion effectiveness and increasing risk of injury (Goosey-Tolfrey and Moss, 2005; Sindall et al., 2013; de Groot et al., 2017).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

The design of our study focused on the comparison of the measured parameters according to two conditions: propulsion without holding a badminton racket and propulsion while holding a badminton racket. In order to make this comparison and after a 5-min wheelchair warm-up, participants had to propel along with a 20-meter straight line at a constant velocity of 1.4 m/s (5 km/h) using a regular sound signal in a sports complex. They started the test at a standstill. Markers were placed at regular intervals along the 20-meter straight line. Each time the signal sounded; the participant had to be at the next markers, and so on for each marker until the end of the 20 meters. The participant had to propel continuously without braking or accelerating abruptly. To get used to the sound system, the participants were allowed to practice the course prior to the registration of the trial. Two passages were made in a randomized order: with and without a badminton racket. The racket was the same for all participants (Yonex Astrox Smash Navy Blue, 73 g) and was held on the dominant side. Because the test was submaximal, a 1-min recovery time was implemented between each trial.

Setting

The tests done in this study were performed at the University of Toulon (La Garde, France) on November 21, 2018. The experimental protocol was approved by the Comité d'Ethique pour les Recherches en STAPS (CERSTAPS) from Conseil National des Universités de France [certificate #CERSTAPS 2018-16-07-26] filed on June 6, 2018 and accepted on July 7, 2018. Participants were recruited starting in September, 2018.

Participants

Our study included 16 able-bodied sports students. Our exclusion criteria were injury or pain that could interfere with wheelchair propulsion. We used a statistical power test to determine the sample size needed for the study. The article by de Groot et al. (2017) was used as a reference for this test. Thus, for a statistical power of 0.95, the calculation of statistical power gave us an average of 8 participants for the statistical tests we wished to perform on our measures. Based on this average, 16 participants were included in the study. Statistical power was calculated using G*Power software (G* Power, 2020; g-power.apponic.com). All participants were introduced to wheelchair maneuverability and

TABLE 1 | Participants' characteristics.

Participant	Gender	Age (years)	Height (cm)	Body mass (kg)	BMI (kg/m²)	Dominant hand
S1	Man	42	180	75	23.2	R
S2	Man	27	179	65	20.3	R
S3	Woman	20	165	60	22.0	R
S4	Man	22	175	95	31.0	R
S5	Man	21	180	75	23.2	R
S6	Man	21	179	75	23.4	R
S7	Man	21	171	64	21.9	R
S8	Man	20	174	61	20.2	R
S9	Woman	21	169	52	18.2	R
S10	Woman	24	172	59	19.9	L
S11	Woman	19	161	50	19.3	R
S12	Man	19	176	77	24.9	L
S13	Woman	20	170	63	21.8	R
S14	Woman	22	163	62	23.3	L
S15	Man	19	175	95	31.0	R
S16	Man	22	175	63	20.6	R
Mean(SD)		22.5(5.6)	172.8(5.9)	68.2(13.1)	22.8(3.7)	

With SD, standard deviation; BMI, Body Mass Index.

TABLE 2 | Description and equations for the outcome measures.

Parameters	Description	Equations
	Pushrim kinetics	
Maximal total force (Ftot _{peak}) [N]	Sum of the maximal forces in the 3 planes of space applied to the handrim for each push	$max(sqrt(Fx^2 + Fy^2 + Fz^2))$
Maximal propulsive moment (Mz _{peak}) [Nm]	Maximal propelling moment applied to the handrim for each push	Calculation carried out by the SmartWheel software
Rate of rise (RoR) [N.s ⁻¹]	Rate of rise in maximal total force for each push	dFtot _{max} dt
Fraction of Effective Force (FEF) [%]	Percentage of forces useful for propulsion	abs (<u>Ftan</u>) x 100
Maximal power output (PO _{peak}) [W]	Maximal power output developed by the participant to the handrim for each push	$peak[\theta \times Mz]$
Angular impulse (Al) [Nm.s]	Gain of propulsive moment during one push	Mz _{mean} x PT
	Temporal parameters	
Push time (PT) [s]	Contact time between hand and wheelchair handrim	t_{end} (i) - t_{start} (i)
Cycle time (CT) [s]	Time between the start of first push and next push for each push	$t_{start2}(i) - t_{start1}(i)$
Push angle (PA) [°]	Wheel angle course during push time	Calculation carried out by the SmartWheel software

With Fx, horizontal force; Fy, vertical force; Fz, mediolateral force; r, wheel radius; start, start of a push; end, end of a push; t, time (s); v, wheel velocity; i, push considered.

Para badminton during 6 practice sessions of 90 min. They were novices in wheelchair handling and wheelchair propulsion. These practice sessions are part of their school curriculum in Sciences et Techniques des Activités Physiques et Sportives (STAPS). Characteristics of all participants are presented in **Table 1**.

Data Measurement

Participants used a single multi-sport wheelchair with a wheel size of 26 inches and a camber angle of 18 degrees, which is similar to chairs used in Para badminton. The chair was equipped bilaterally with two instrumented wheels (SMARTWheel. 2013 edition, Outfront LCC). Measurement

tools such as instrumented wheels allow to measure parameters in conditions close to the original discipline and without impeding propulsion. These wheels have a weight and moment of inertia of ~4.9 and 0.15 kg·m² (Sprigle et al., 2016). With these tools, we can measure the wheel angle θ , forces F_x , F_y , F_z (F_y is the force applied up and down on the pushrim; F_x is force applied laterally; F_z is the force out of the plane of the wheel *SmartWheel 2008*¹ p. 46. *Users Guide*, 2014) and force moments M_x , M_y , M_z applied on each handrim for all sessions at 240 Hz. Dynamic kinetic offsets were canceled using a method described in Chénier et al. (2017)

¹SmartWheel 2008 Users Guide (2014).

because the recorded kinetics may include dynamic offsets that affect the accuracy of the measurements. Wheelchair velocity was calculated from wheel angles using a 131-point first-order Savitzky-Golay derivative filter (Chénier et al., 2015).

All pushes recorded by the instrumented wheels were segmented. A 30 N threshold selected experimentally based on the recorded dataset helped us to make this segmentation. This automated segmentation was manually checked for each of the push for each trial to correct any errors. For each run, the first two and last pushes were excluded and considered as transitional pushes.

Variables

The parameters presented in **Table 2** were calculated and averaged over all the selected pushes in a bilateral manner. Thus, we obtained kinetic and spatiotemporal data for the dominant and non-dominant hand of each participant.

All data processing and calculations were performed using Python/SciPy and the Kinetics Toolkit library (Chénier, 2021).

Statistical Methods

A total of 10 variables were calculated. The means and standard deviation of these variables were calculated per condition and per limb separately. All data were analyzed using SPPS version 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois USA).

The Shapiro–Wilk test showed that all outcomes' measures were not normally distributed. Thus, the statistical analyses were performed on the log-transformed data. A repeated measures ANOVA was then performed (with two within factors: with racket vs. without racket; dominant vs. non-dominant hand) to look at the existing differences between dominant and non-dominant hand according to the with-or-without-racket condition. A Mauchly sphericity test was performed to check if the sphericity hypothesis was violated. This was the case for all the calculated variables. A Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. A Bonferroni adjustment was made for multiple comparisons with p = 0.05. For each significant difference, the effect size η_p^2 was calculated using the following equation:

$$\eta_p^2 = \frac{SS_{effect}}{SS_{effect} + SS_{error}}$$
(1)

With η_p^2 : partial eta-squared of the considered variable; SS_{effect} : effect sums of squares of the considered variable; SS_{error} : error sums of squares of the considered variable.

Effect size was interpreted according to Cohen (1988): small $(\eta_p^2 = 0.01)$, medium $(\eta_p^2 = 0.06)$, and large $(\eta_p^2 = 0.14)$.

We also performed a paired student test to compare the parameters of the same hand with and without a racket on the log-transformed data. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. For each significant difference, the effect size d was calculated using the following equation:

$$d = \frac{mean(X_0) - mean(X_1)}{s.d.(X_0)}$$
(2)

	-	With racket		Wit	Without racket						ANOVA	٨			
	۵	QN		۵	QN		Con	Condition effect	ct	S	Side effect		Intera	Interaction (Condition × Side)	tion × Side)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	٥	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	σ	Ľ	d	J12	Ľ	ď	ŋ²	L.	ď	η
P _{peak} [W]	112.53 (63.74)	105.00 (51.43)	0.130	104.78 (65.87)	95.98 (55.43)	0.145	4.879	0.028	0.025	6.298	0.013	0.032	0.252	0.616	0.001
Mz _{peak} [N.s]	22.24 (8.21)	21.61 (8.76)	0.074	20.55 (10.53)	19.56 (10.22)	0.095	7.049	0.009	0.036	5.680	0.018	0.029	0.343	0.559	0.002
Ftot _{peak} [N]	117.77 (45.36)	86.53 (40.75)*	0.725	86.53 (38.65)	73.75 (38.81)*	0.330	32.738	<0.001	0.148	123.513	<0.001	0.395	12.211	<0.001	0.061
FEF [%]	29.36 (6.93)	40.85 (14.15)*	1,031	35.82 (10.94)	41.14 (13.14)*	0.440	33.888	<0.001	0.152	124.709	<0.001	0.398	25.260	<0.001	0.118
Ror [N/s]	587.42 (305.96)	388.64 (228.52)	0.736	388.65 (210.90)	289.02 (181.49)	0.506	43.815	<0.001	0.188	118.824	<0.001	0.386	1.765	0.186	0.009
AI [Nm.s]	4.01 (2.00)	4.00 (2.19)	0.005	4.25 (2.41)	4.10 (2.44)	0.062	0.102	0.750	0.001	0.286	0.594	0.002	1.191	0.276	0.006
PT [s]	0.34 (0.10)	0.34 (0.08)	0	0.36 (0.07)	0.37 (0.07)	0.143	12.254	<0.001	0.061	0.003	0.955	0.000	0.004	0.950	0.000
CT [s]	1.13 (0.43)	1.11 (0.39)	0.049	1.29 (0.45)	1.30 (0.45)	0.022	12.797	<0.001	0.063	0.394	0.531	0.002	0.685	0.409	0.004
PA [°]	84.68 (30.47)	83.22 (19.44)	0.057	90.98 (19.60)	91.06 (19.23)	0.004	10.886	0.001	0.054	0.196	0.659	0.001	0.043	0.836	0.000

	Domina	ant hand		T-test	
	With racket	Without racket		With racket \times Without rac	ket
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	t	Р	d
P _{peak} [W]	112.53 (63.74)	104.78 (65.87)	1.867	0.032	0.120
Mz _{peak} [N.s]	22.24 (8.21)	20.55 (10.53)	2.356	0.010	0.179
Ftot _{peak} [N]	117.77 (45.36)	86.53 (38.65)	7.530	<0.001	0.741
FEF [%]	29.36 (6.93)	35.82 (10.94)	8.197	<0.001	0.705
Ror [N/s]	587.42 (305.96)	388.65 (210.90)	7.597	<0.001	0.756
AI [Nm.s]	4.01 (2.00)	4.25 (2.41)	0.330	0.371	0.108
PT [s]	0.34 (0.10)	0.36 (0.07)	3.086	0.001	0.231
CT [s]	1.13 (0.43)	1.29 (0.45)	3.134	<0.001	0.363
PA [°]	84.68 (30.47)	90.98 (19.60)	2.555	0.006	0.246

TABLE 4 | Kinetic and spatiotemporal parameters in a 20-meter wheelchair straight propulsion of the same dominant hand with and without racket.

With racket, racket held in the dominant hand; SD, standard deviation; t, results of the t-test; d, effect size for the significant difference; p, p-value fixed at 0.05; ANOVA. Bold values indicate the significant values.

With X: studied parameter, 0: data without racket or dominant hand according to the statistical analysis and 1: data with racket or non-dominant hand according to the statistical analysis.

Effect size was interpreted according to (Cohen, 1988): small (d = 0.2), moderate (d = 0.5), and large (d = 0.8) (Cohen, 1988).

RESULTS

We checked the average velocity of the participants to ensure that the constant velocity requirement was met. The participants reached a mean velocity of 1.44 m/s during the runs with racket and 1.42 m/s during the runs without racket, which corresponds to the imposed velocity.

Bilateral Analysis

The results of the bilateral analysis are presented in Table 3. When comparing the results of both hands with and without a racket, an effect of the racket was found for all parameters except AI. Indeed, with racket P_{peak} (p = 0.028) and Mz_{peak} (p = 0.009) increase slightly and Ftot_{peak} (p < 0.001) and Ror (p < 0.001) increase largely. On the contrary, FEF (p < 0.001)decreases largely, PA (p = 0.001) decreases slightly and PT (p< 0.001) and CT (p < 0.001) decrease moderately in condition with racket. Significant differences between dominant and nondominant hand regardless of the condition were noted for Ppeak (p = 0.013), Mz_{peak} (p = 0.018), Ftot_{peak} (p < 0.001), FEF (p < 0.013)0.001), and Ror (p < 0.001). P_{peak} and Mz_{peak} are slightly higher on the dominant hand and Ftot_{peak} and Ror are largely higher on the dominant side. Conversely, FEF is largely lower on the dominant side compared to the non-dominant side. Finally, an interaction between the condition and the side considered was found for $\text{Ftot}_{\text{peak}}$ (p < 0.001) and FEF (p < 0.001).

Unilateral Analysis

The results of the unilateral analysis of the data are presented in **Table 4**. When we compare the same dominant hand with and without racket, we note that P_{peak} (p = 0.032) and Mz_{peak} (p = 0.010) are slightly higher and Ftot_{peak} (p < 0.001) and Ror (p

< 0.001) are largely higher with racket. While FEF (p < 0.001) is largely lower and PT (p = 0.001), CT (p < 0.001), and PA (p = 0.006) are slightly lower with racket compared to the passage without racket.

DISCUSSION

The design analyzing the impact of holding a badminton racket conducted in this article is, to our knowledge, the first of his kind in Para badminton. The objective of this article was to study the impact of the badminton racket on the amplitude of kinetic and spatiotemporal parameters of wheelchair propulsion. We hypothesized that wheelchair propulsion while holding a badminton racket modifies the kinetics of the athlete's propulsion. This hypothesis has been verified. Indeed, the use of the racket induces a negative impact on propulsion effectiveness when comparing the same hand with and without racket (fraction of effective force, push time, and push angle) and the dominant hand with racket vs. non-dominant hand (fraction of effective force). Although athletes can maintain the imposed constant overall velocity, their propulsion effectiveness is impacted. However, we must mention that only one propulsion effectiveness parameter (fraction of effective force) is impacted by the racket in the bilateral analysis of the data and that maximal propulsive moment increases slightly in the dominant hand with the racket compared to the same hand without the racket, which is positively related to better propulsion effectiveness. Moreover, the use of a badminton racket also seems to increase parameters related to risk of injury when comparing the dominant and nondominant hand (maximal total force and rate of rise) and the same hand with and without the racket (maximal total force, rate of rise increased, and cycle time).

The increase in the maximal propulsive moment in the dominant hand during racket propulsion is accompanied by a moderate decrease in the fraction of the effective force, the push time, and the push angle. These parameters are related to propulsion effectiveness and our results appear to be consistent with a decrease in participant propulsion effectiveness. It is

possible that the difficulty to grab the handrim of the wheelchair with the racket explains these results. Indeed, participant weakly increases their propulsive moment with the racket but with less continuity as evidenced by the push time and the push angle. Therefore, the proportion of forces that is useful for propulsion decreases. It seems that the wheelchair user makes shorter and reduced movements. For push time, de Groot et al. (2017) also looked at it in tennis and their study showed a decrease in push time and push angle, or contact angle as it is written in their study, with a tennis racket. These results are like ours although we do not deal with the same adapted sport. The decreases observed for these two parameters in the study of de Groot et al. (2017), are greater than those of our study. Indeed, the push time and the push angle decrease, respectively, by 18 and 20% in the study of de Groot et al. (2017) while in our study they decrease only by 5 and 8%. These differences may be due to the properties of the rackets. Indeed, a tennis racket is heavier and has a wider handle than a badminton racket. As a result, we can assume that the impact of a tennis racket is greater than that of a badminton racket. Moreover, we must remember that our study was carried out on able-bodied players. They therefore benefit from abdominal capacities that may be absent in people with disabilities. In addition, they have fewer skills than the Para badminton players.

The use of the racket appears to cause an increase in maximal total force when we look at the results of both hand with and without racket and the same dominant hand with and without a racket, resulting in a moderate increase in the rate of rise in the hand carrying the racket. It is possible to assume that the use of the racket hinders participants and prevents them from properly catching the handrim. They will then compensate for this lack of grip by applying more force on the handrim. In addition, the cycle time decreases when using the racket. For the same propulsion velocity, the participant made more and faster pushes, therefore increasing propulsion frequency. These sets of changes are considered to be risk factors for injury (Boninger et al., 2005). This result may be of particular interest for the coaches. Indeed, knowing that the use of the racket can increase the risk of injury, coaches can propose adapted sessions such as longer rest periods or specific active recoveries.

The results of the ANOVA show the existence of significant differences between dominant and non-dominant hand regardless of the propulsion condition. P_{peak} and Mz_{peak} are slightly higher on the dominant hand and Ftot_{peak} and Ror are largely higher on the dominant side. FEF is largely lower on the dominant side compared to the non-dominant side. These differences indicate the existence of an asymmetry between dominant and non-dominant hand for these parameters. Indeed, it seems that participants apply greater forces and powers on the dominant side than on the non-dominant side. These sets of changes are considered to be risk factors for injury (Boninger et al., 2005). Similarly, they appear to slightly produce more force useful for propulsion on the dominant side without this increasing their FEF. This indicates that the participant increases more forces not useful for the propulsion of the wheelchair, which is related to less propulsive effectiveness. It is possible that the participants' sport practice besides the study induced this asymmetry. Indeed, it is the case of asymmetrical sports practices such as racket sports that develop more muscle strength on the side of the limb carrying the racket. Several authors have also shown that one arm is specialized in a task compared to the second arm (Bagesteiro and Sainburg, 2002, 2003; Sainburg and Wang, 2002; Wang and Sainburg, 2003, 2004; Haaland, 2004; Sainburg and Schaefer, 2004; Schaefer et al., 2007). It is possible that the dominant limb is specialized in force production, unlike the non-dominant limb, which would explain this asymmetry.

We believe that the main limitation of this study concerns the group of participants. Indeed, our experiment was conducted on a population of able-bodied participants not experienced in wheelchair propulsion. The study on able-bodied participants provides homogeneous groups (Rice et al., 2010). However, for people who use manual wheelchairs daily, such as individuals with a paraplegia or tetraplegia, abdominal and trunk capabilities may be reduced due to the severity of the disability. Moreover, even though the participants were trained in Para badminton, badminton players have better racket handling technique than not experienced able bodied participants. The propulsion technique will differ from a novice participant to an expert in Para badminton. This influences propulsion, therefore inducing that our results will not be completely transferable to a population of people with disabilities. In addition to this limitation, we also studied wheelchair propulsion at constant velocity with and without a racket. However, this discipline mainly requires players to perform short sprints forward and backward. Our study being one of the first to look at the impact of the badminton racket on propulsion, we chose to carry out the tests in submaximal condition. This allows us to make a general assessment before being able to study the impact of the badminton racket in various conditions, to be sure that our results are the consequence of the addition of a condition (here the racket). Finally, the use of instrumented wheels increased the weight of the wheels, which may increase the rolling resistance of the wheelchair and its inertia. However, we believe that our results remain valid since the measurements are taken under the same conditions: we use two instrumented wheels that increase the rolling resistance in the same way on each side.

The objective of this study was to analyze the impact of the badminton racket on the kinetic parameters of wheelchair propulsion. We have highlighted that its use agrees with a modification of the kinetics of the participants related to a decrease of the propulsive effectiveness and an increase of the risks of injuries. To complete this analysis and to better understand the impact of the racket, future studies should be conducted under conditions encountered in playing Para badminton, such as consecutive forward and backward propulsion tests that approximate the movements encountered during practice. Moreover, an interesting aspect would also be to work on the comparison of the different possibilities of holding the badminton racket during propulsion. In the field of Para tennis, Koopman et al. (2016), have already been interested in testing different racket holding techniques. We could do the same in the field of Para badminton to complete the analysis of the impact of the racket on propulsion. Finally, proposing new handrim designs could be a

solution to the difficulties encountered during propulsion with a badminton racket.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité d'Ethique pour la Recherche en Sciences et Techniques des Activités Physiques et Sportives. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication

REFERENCES

- Bagesteiro, L. B., and Sainburg, R. L. (2002). Handedness: dominant arm advantages in control of limb dynamics. J. Neurophysiol. 88, 2408–2421. doi: 10.1152/jn.00901.2001
- Bagesteiro, L. B., and Sainburg, R. L. (2003). Nondominant arm advantages in load compensation during rapid elbow joint movements. *J. Neurophysiol.* 90, 1503–1513. doi: 10.1152/jn.00189.2003
- Bloxham, L. A., Bell, G. J., Bhambhani, Y., and Steadward, R. D. (2001). Time motion analysis and physiological profile of canadian world cup wheelchair basketball players. *Sports Med. Train. Rehabil.* 10, 183–198. doi: 10.1080/10578310210398
- Boninger, M. L., Baldwin, M., Cooper, R. A., Koontz, A., and Chan, L. (2000). Manual wheelchair pushrim biomechanics and axle position. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 81, 608–613. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(00)90043-1
- Boninger, M. L., Koontz, A. M., Sisto, S. A., Dyson-Hudson, T. A., Chang, M., Price, R., et al. (2005). Pushrim biomechanics and injury prevention in spinal cord injury: Recommendations based on CULP-SCI investigations. J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. 42, 9–19. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2004.08.0103
- Chénier, F. (2021). Kinetics toolkit: an open-source python package to facilitate research in biomechanics. J. Open Source Softw. 6:3714. doi: 10.21105/joss.03714
- Chénier, F., Aissaoui, R., Gauthier, C., and Gagnon, D. H. (2017). Wheelchair pushrim kinetics measurement: a method to cancel inaccuracies due to pushrim weight and wheel camber. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 40, 75–86. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2016.12.002
- Chénier, F., Bigras, P., and Aissaoui, R. (2015). A new dynamic model of the wheelchair propulsion on straight and curvilinear level-ground paths. *Comput. Methods Biomech. Biomed. Engin.* 18, 1031–1043. doi: 10.1080/10255842.2013.869318
- Chow, J. W., Millikan, T. A., Carlton, L. G., Morse, M. I., and Chae, W.-S. (2001). Biomechanical comparison of two racing wheelchair propulsion techniques. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, 476–484. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200103000-00022
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd Edn). New York, NY: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Coutts, K. D. (1992). Dynamics of wheelchair basketball. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 24, 231–234. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199202000-00012
- de Groot, S., Bos, F., Koopman, J., Hoekstra, A. E., and Vegter, R. J. K. (2017). Effect of holding a racket on propulsion technique of wheelchair tennis players. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 27, 918–924. doi: 10.1111/sms.12701
- de Groot, S., de Bruin, M., Noomen, S. P., and van der Woude, L. H. V. (2008). Mechanical efficiency and propulsion technique after 7 weeks of low-intensity wheelchair training. *Clin. Biomech.* 23, 434–441. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2007.11.001

of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IA: data curation, formal analysis, and writing—original draft. FC: data curation and writing—review and editing. MA and MC: funding acquisition and methodology. SB and FB: funding acquisition and writing—review and editing. J-MV: project administration and validation. DP: data curation. AF: methodology, project administration, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants in the study as well as the laboratory of the IAPS.

- de Groot, S., Veeger, D. H. E. J., Hollander, A. P., and Van der Woude, L. H. V. (2002). Wheelchair propulsion technique and mechanical efficiency after 3 wk of practice. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 34, 756–766. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200205000-00005
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V., Castle, P., and Webborn, N. (2006). Aerobic capacity and peak power output of elite quadriplegic games players. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 40, 684–687. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.026815
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V., and Moss, A. (2005). Wheelchair velocity of tennis players during propulsion with and without the use of racquets. *Adapt. Phys. Act. Q.* 22, 291–301. doi: 10.1123/apaq.22.3.291
- Haaland, K. Y. (2004). Hemispheric asymmetries for kinematic and positional aspects of reaching. *Brain* 127, 1145–1158. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh133
- Koopman, J., Berger, M., Hoekstra, A., and de Groot, S. (2016). Exploring different technical solutions of the interface between the hand, racket and the rim in wheelchair tennis. *Procedia Eng.* 147, 484–489. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2016.06.225
- Mota, R., and Almeida, D. (2020). Performance Analysis in Wheelchair Para-Badminton Matches (No. 1). 2, 22–31.
- Rice, I., Gagnon, D., Gallagher, J., and Boninger, M. (2010). Hand rim wheelchair propulsion training using biomechanical real-time visual feedback based on motor learning theory principles. *J. Spinal Cord Med.* 33, 33–42. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2010.11689672
- Roy, J. L. P., Menear, K. S., Schmid, M. M. A., Hunter, G. R., and Malone, L. A. (2006). *Physiological Responses of Skilled Players During a Competitive Wheelchair Tennis Match* (No. 3). 20, 665–671. doi: 10.1519/00124278-200608000-00031
- Sainburg, R. L., and Schaefer, S. Y. (2004). Interlimb differences in control of movement extent. J. Neurophysiol. 92, 1374–1383. doi: 10.1152/jn.00181.2004
- Sainburg, R. L., and Wang, J. (2002). Interlimb transfer of visuomotor rotations: independence of direction and final position information. *Exp. Brain Res.* 145, 437–447. doi: 10.1007/s00221-002-1140-7
- Schaefer, S. Y., Haaland, K. Y., and Sainburg, R. L. (2007). Ipsilesional motor deficits following stroke reflect hemispheric specializations for movement control. *Brain* 130, 2146–2158. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm145
- Sindall, P., Lenton, J. P., Tolfrey, K., Cooper, R. A., Oyster, M., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2013). Wheelchair tennis match-play demands: effect of player rank and result. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 8, 28–37. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.8.1.28
- Sprigle, S., Huang, M., and Lin, J.-T. (2016). Inertial and frictional influences of instrumented wheelchair wheels. J. Rehabil. Assist. Technol. Eng. 3:2055668316649892. doi: 10.1177/2055668316649892
- Wang, J., and Sainburg, R. L. (2003). Mechanisms underlying interlimb transfer of visuomotor rotations. *Exp. Brain Res.* 149, 520–526. doi: 10.1007/s00221-003-1392-x

- Wang, J., and Sainburg, R. L. (2004). Interlimb transfer of novel inertial dynamics is asymmetrical. J. Neurophysiol. 92, 349–360. doi: 10.1152/jn.0096 0.2003
- Yüksel, M. F. (2018a). Effects of badminton on physical developments of males with physical disability. Universal J. Educ. Res. 6, 701–709. doi: 10.13189/ujer.2018.060413
- Yüksel, M. F. (2018b). Examination of the physical profiles physically handicapped female of badminton players. 10.15314/tsed.3 Turk. Sport Exerc. 20, 1 - 8.doi: J. 64194

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Alberca, Chénier, Astier, Combet, Bakatchina, Brassart, Vallier, Pradon, Watier and Faupin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Case Report: Training Monitoring and Performance Development of a Triathlete With Spinal Cord Injury and Chronic Myeloid Leukemia During a Paralympic Cycle

Oliver J. Quittmann^{1,2*}, Benjamin Lenatz¹, Patrick Bartsch³, Frauke Lenatz¹, Tina Foitschik¹ and Thomas Abel^{1,2}

¹ Department IV: Movement Rehabilitation, Neuromechanics and Paralympic Sport, Institute of Movement and Neurosciences, German Sport University Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ² European Research Group in Disability Sport (ERGiDS), Bonn, Germany, ³ Gesundheitszentrum Gektis, Radevormwald, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christof A. Leicht, Loughborough University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Ben Thomas Stephenson, Loughborough University, United Kingdom Julia Kathrin Baumgart, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway

> ***Correspondence:** Oliver J. Quittmann o.quittmann@dshs-koeln.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 20 May 2022 Published: 30 June 2022

Citation:

Quittmann OJ, Lenatz B, Bartsch P, Lenatz F, Foitschik T and Abel T (2022) Case Report: Training Monitoring and Performance Development of a Triathlete With Spinal Cord Injury and Chronic Myeloid Leukemia During a Paralympic Cycle. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:867089. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.867089 **Introduction:** Paratriathlon allows competition for athletes with various physical impairments. The wheelchair category stands out from other paratriathlon categories, since competing in swimming, handcycling, and wheelchair racing entails substantial demands on the upper extremity. Therefore, knowledge about exercise testing and training is needed to improve performance and avoid overuse injuries. We described the training monitoring and performance development throughout a Paralympic cycle of an elite triathlete with spinal cord injury (SCI) and a recent diagnosis of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML).

Case Presentation/Methods: A 30-year-old wheelchair athlete with 10-years experience in wheelchair basketball contacted us for guidance regarding testing and training in paratriathlon. Laboratory and field tests were modified from protocols used for testing non-disabled athletes to examine their physical abilities. In handcycling, incremental tests were used to monitor performance development by means of lactate threshold (P_{OBLA}) and define heart rate-based training zones. All-out sprint tests were applied to calculate maximal lactate accumulation rate (\dot{V}_{Lamax}) as a measure of glycolytic capabilities in all disciplines. From 2017 to 2020, training was monitored to quantify training load (TL) and training intensity distribution (TID).

Results: From 2016 to 2019, the athlete was ranked within the top ten at the European and World Championships. From 2017 to 2019, annual TL increased from 414 to 604 h and demonstrated a shift in TID from 77-17-6% to 88-8-4%. In this period, P_{OBLA} increased from 101 to 158 W and $\dot{V}_{La_{max}}$ decreased from 0.56 to 0.36 mmol·l⁻¹·s⁻¹. TL was highest during training camps. In 2020, after he received his CML diagnosis, TL, TID, and P_{OBLA} were 317 h, 94-5-1%, and 108 W, respectively.

Discussion: TL and TID demonstrated similar values when compared with previous studies in para-swimming and long-distance paratriathlon, respectively. In contrast, relative TL during training camps exceeded those described in the literature and was accompanied by physical stress. Increased volumes at low intensity are assumed

to increase P_{OBLA} and decrease VLa_{max} over time. CML treatment and side effects drastically decreased TL, intensity, and performance, which ultimately hindered a qualification for Tokyo 2020/21. In conclusion, there is a need for careful training prescription and monitoring in wheelchair triathletes to improve performance and avoid non-functional overreaching.

Keywords: spinal cord injury (SCI), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), case report, paratriathlon, training, TRIMP, sRPE, performance

INTRODUCTION

Paratriathlon is an endurance sport for people with a physical impairment that made its Paralympic debut in 2016 and is increasingly featured in newspaper articles (1). The athletes compete in various sports classes covering the ambulant/standing, visually impaired, and wheelchair (PTWC) categories (2). Within the PTWC, there are two sports classes for most (PTWC1) and least (PTWC2) impaired wheelchair users. During the competition, the PTWC1 starts with a time advantage before PTWC2 athletes (3). Although the ambulant/standing and visually impaired categories appear to be rather similar to conventional triathlon, the locomotion in PTWC is substantially different. Since these athletes purely rely on their upper extremities, handcycling and wheelchair racing are used as equivalent to leg cycling and running, respectively.

Previous case studies already reported training characteristics in para-swimming (4), handcycling (5, 6), wheelchair racing (7), and long-distance amputee paratriathlon (8). Training characteristics and performance development of a paratriathlon long-distance world champion (with unilateral below-the-knee amputation) were described over a period of 19 months (8). Mean training volumes were found to be lower when compared with non-disabled Olympic-distance triathletes and attained values of 8 ± 3 , 6 ± 4 , and 2 ± 1 h/w in swimming, cycling, and running, respectively (8). However, training practices may have changed from 2011/2012 (when the data of this case study were recorded) to the present and do not necessarily apply to triathletes with spinal cord injury (SCI).

Traumatic SCIs are defined as damage to the spinal cord due to a mechanical trauma "that temporarily or permanently causes changes in its function" (9). Depending on the level and (in)completeness of the lesion, afferent and efferent neurons as well as autonomic function are affected to a certain extent. Although paraplegia indicates that two limbs are affected (predominantly damage to thoracic, lumbar, and sacral regions), tetraplegia refers to impairment in all four limbs. The incidence of traumatic SCI was found to differ among age groups (10) and regions and is \sim 1 case per 100,000 individuals in Germany (11). The major causes of traumatic SCIs are accidents in motor vehicles (11). As a treatment of traumatic SCIs, surgical decompression in an early state and neuroprotective and/or regenerative strategies in the follow-up may help to reduce symptoms and side effects (12). Besides, habitual exercise was highlighted as "an effective countermeasure for addressing physical deconditioning after SCI" (13). However, since wheelchair athletes purely rely on their upper extremities, a high prevalence of upper extremity injuries was highlighted (14).

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is a myeloproliferative neoplasm that accounts for approximately 15% of newly diagnosed cases of leukemia in adults (15). The incidence of CML is stated to be 1-2 cases per 100,000 adults with a mortality of 1-2% (15). The genetic origin of CML is assumed to be a fusion oncogene (BCR-ABL1) on the so-called "Philadelphia chromosome" (22q11.2) (15). The first-line treatment of CML in the chronic phase is different types of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) that lead to a normal life expectancy for most patients (16). It was recently shown that the majority of patients with CML receiving TKI therapy experience severe fatigue that causes an increased need for sleep, a reduction of physical activity, and consequently an impaired quality of life (17). However, alternative treatments to TKIs indicated promising results in terms of molecular response and side effects (18). Besides a stable deep molecular response, CML therapy aims for treatmentfree remission (16). While moderate exercise was found to be a promising tool in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (19), findings regarding the interaction of CML and exercise are still lacking.

This case report addresses several research gaps. First, longitudinal studies on the training and development of Paralympic athletes are generally sparse—especially over several years. Second, evidence on how paratriathletes prepare for the Paralympic Games is lacking. Third, the PTWC category demonstrates the highest difference from conventional triathlon when compared with other categories and as such requires the implementation of modified tools in exercise testing and training. Finally, to the best of our knowledge, there is no study that analyzed the acute reaction to and side effects of CML and its treatment on performance, training, and wellbeing in a highly trained athlete.

CASE DESCRIPTION

In November 2014, a 30-year-old male wheelchair athlete (ID: BL) with SCI classified as ASIA C (20) contacted our university and asked for support regarding his athletic orientation toward

Abbreviations: BLC, blood lactate concentration (mmol·l⁻¹); CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; CSS, critical swim speed; CV, critical velocity; P_{OBLA} , power according to a lactate concentration of 4 mmol·l⁻¹; PTWC, wheelchair category in paratriathlon; sRPE, session ratings of perceived exertion (scale from 1 to 10); TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitors; TLI, Total load index [sRPE × training duration (min)]; TRIMP₃, training impulse (based on three-zone model); TRIMP₅, training impulse (based on five-zone model); VLa_{max} , maximal lactate accumulation rate (mmol·l⁻¹·s⁻¹); VO_{2max} , maximal oxygen uptake (ml·min⁻¹·kg⁻¹); VO_{2peak} , peak oxygen uptake (ml·min⁻¹·kg⁻¹).

paratriathlon (Figure 1). BL had participated in professional wheelchair basketball for a decade and had already finished several triathlons including national championships. He wanted to have guidance in sport-specific training and testing to achieve his ultimate goal: participating in the Paralympic Games in either Rio de Janeiro (2016) or Tokyo (2020). The athlete gave written informed consent to take part in this study. Standardized guidelines for reporting were used (refer to Supplementary Material 1).

From 1990 to 2003, BL participated in motocross races. In March 2003, at the age of 18 years, he was involved in a quad bike accident that caused lumbar spine compression (ICD10-S32.01), kidney contusion (ICD10-S37.01), and incomplete paraplegia (ICD10-S34.71) with neurogenic bladder dysfunction (ICD10-N31.1) that required the permanent use of a wheelchair (ICD10-Z99.3). Immediate surgery stabilized the spine by internal fixation of the thoracolumbar junction. BL received physiotherapy, ergotherapy, and medical care during acute rehabilitation up to June 2004. He started wheelchair basketball soon after rehabilitation and played for several teams at the national level. Regular medical check-ups remained unsuspicious. In August 2013, he participated in his first sprint-distance paratriathlon.

METHODS

Due to the unique demands (focus on an upper extremity) of PTWC, we modified laboratory and field tests that are commonly performed by non-disabled athletes to assess BL's physical abilities in swimming, handcycling, and wheelchair racing. Depending on his performance in paratriathlon events (discipline-specific ranking and split times) and the outcomes of the exercise tests, the training prescription focused on disciplines and/or physiological parameters that seemed to provide particular performance gains. As such, handcycling was identified as the discipline with the highest potential for improvement. Moreover, the applied training concept was oriented toward similar case studies and the international literature that highlighted the value of high training volumes performed at low intensity (5, 6, 8, 21). In our study, low intensity is oriented toward maximal fat oxidation rate (Fat_{max}) (22). Training camps of a 2-weeks duration were performed 2-3 times a year during the preparation period (typically between October and March). Procedures to systematically quantify his training in every discipline were applied (23).

Exercise Testing

Prior to any testing, the participant received a medical check-up following the guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology, which includes the individuals' own medical, family, and personal history, a physical examination, and a resting electrocardiogram (24). The frequency of exercise tests increased from once per year in 2015–2016 (performed in May) to 4 times per year in 2018–2019 (performed at the beginning of the preparation and competition period as well as preceding the training camps). Also, the number of procedures increased over the years and finally required one testing day for swimming, handcycling, and

wheelchair racing, respectively. Test days were separated by 1–2 rest days with (at most) low-intensity training at (Fat_{max}). Besides rather common procedures in exercise testing which target maximal oxygen uptake (\dot{VO}_{2max}) and/or lactate threshold (25), we developed procedures to determine maximal lactate accumulation rate (\dot{VL}_{amax}) as a measure of the glycolytic metabolism. These procedures demonstrated sufficient reliability, were associated to physical performance in handcycling (26, 27) and running (28, 29), and were modified for this case study accordingly. \dot{VL}_{amax} is derived from short sprint tests and calculated by dividing the increase in postexercise blood lactate concentration (BLC) by the assumed lactic period (in this study 3 s) (30, 31). Discipline-specific procedures to determine \dot{VL}_{amax} are described below.

The high number of tests was physically and mentally challenging for BL and led to a trade-off between testing and training. Testing required access to various sports facilities and was dependent on weather conditions and temperature for wheelchair racing field tests. For tests including exhaustion in the laboratory, a medical doctor was on on-call duty which complicated scheduling. Procedures focused on aerobic as well as anaerobic parameters to create a holistic physiological profile of the athlete in all disciplines (30, 32). Furthermore, we wanted to supplement the ease of field testing with the standardization and reliability of lab tests.

In swimming, critical swim speed (CSS) was determined by performing 200-m and 400-m time trials in a 50-m pool (33). Later, testing was expanded by an initial 25-m sprint test and a closing 750-m time trial. The 750-m trial was requested and consequently performed by the athlete since this is the swimming distance in standard paratriathlon events and approximates his performance in competition. Immediately before and after the time trials, blood samples were collected from the earlobe and analyzed using an enzymatic-amperometric sensor chip system (Biosen C-Line, EKF-diagnostic GmbH, Barleben, Germany) to assess the net lactate production. Postexercise BLC of the 25-m sprint test was recorded every minute for 10 min to estimate VLa_{max}.

In handcycling, an incremental test on an ergometer (Cyclus 2, RMB electronic automation GmbH, Leipzig, Germany) was performed to determine the power corresponding to a BLC of 4 mmol·l⁻¹ (P_{OBLA}) (25) and the peak oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}) which was measured by a spirograph (ZAN 600, nSpire Health, Inc., Longmont, CO, United States), as these parameters are significantly associated with handcycling performance (34-36). The incremental test started with an initial load of 20 W and increased intensity by 20 W every 5 min until the athlete attained subjective exhaustion (26). Furthermore, an isokinetic 15-s all-out sprint test was performed on the same ergometer to determine VLa_{max} (26, 27). Since VO_{2peak} may depend on the used protocol (37, 38), an additional ramp test (80 W, 5 W, 15 s) was performed on some occasions to determine VO_{2max} , which "is defined as the highest rate at which oxygen can be taken up and utilized by the body during severe exercise" (39).

In wheelchair racing, an initial 110-m sprint test on an outdoor track was performed to calculate $\dot{V}La_{max}$ analogously to previous studies in running (28). Later, time trials over 1,500 and



3,000 m were applied to determine performance, critical velocity (CV), and immediate post-exercise BLC. These trials were used to determine discipline-specific performance and use CV as an indicator of the high-intensity domain (40).

Training Monitoring

The training was quantified by methods already applied in conventional triathlon (23). External (e.g., time, velocity, power, and cadence) and internal (e.g., heart rate) training measures were recorded by a sports watch or bike computer that was (even in swimming) connected with a heart rate monitor (Forerunner 920XT, Edge 20, HRM-Tri and HRM-Swim, Garmin International, Inc., Olathe, KS, United States). Although all these measures were used to schedule the training, heart rate was found to be most suitable for quantifying the training and comparing between the disciplines. Discipline-specific heart rate intensity zones (T5-T1) were determined as percentages of maximum heart rate with thresholds of 93, 85, 75, and 60%, respectively. These thresholds were found to fit well with training zones from physiological exercise testing (21) and attain stable results. Despite differences in power over time, the heart rate corresponding to a BLC of 2 and 4 $mmol{\cdot}l^{-1}$ was always 131 \pm 1 and 158 \pm 1 bpm which corresponded to ~70 and ~80% maximal heart rate, respectively. Although the maximal heart rate was 179 bpm in swimming, handcycling and wheelchair racing attained values up to 188 bpm. Training load (TL) was quantified by several parameters to assess their comparability. The training impulse of a five-zone model (TRIMP₅) was calculated by multiplying the minutes spent in each zone by their identifier (23). For a three-zone model (TRIMP₃), the highest (T4–T5) and lowest zones (T1–T2) were combined and multiplied analogously by 1–3 (41). The polarization index was calculated according to the literature (42). Besides these scientific procedures of quantification, the athlete's sensation of acute fatigue ("heavy arms") was subjectively recorded. This type of sensation indicates that a typical feeling of soreness following training is exceeded and may affect the following training sessions.

As a subjective measure of TL, session ratings of perceived exertion (sRPE) were recorded (43). The total load index (TLI) was calculated by multiplying training duration (min) and sRPE. Training sessions were synchronized *via* the Garmin-Connect-App and entered in an EXCEL spreadsheet to calculate TL for a whole Paralympic cycle (2017–2020). Data are expressed as a sum of 4-weeks blocks.

Strength Training and Physiotherapy

Additional strength training and physiotherapy were assumed to be crucial for meeting the high demands on the upper extremities in PTWC, improving performance, and minimizing the risk of overuse injuries (14, 44, 45). Every strength training session was preceded by a movement preparation that included stretching and activating exercises for the upper extremity and trunk. Additionally, exercises targeting the external shoulder rotators were performed with elastic bands to improve stability and avoid muscular imbalance (46).

Stationary strength training was performed on automatically guided and software-controlled devices (Milon Industries GmbH, Emersacker, Germany) that monitored the eccentric and concentric loads of rowing, bench press, trunk flexion/extension, and pull-down exercises. Concentric failure was attained after a desired number of reps (± 2) that decreased during the preparation period (starting annually in October/November). After 4–8 weeks of 2 × 20 reps (30 s rest) and 3–6 weeks of 2 × 12 reps (45 s rest), a high-intensity block of 4 × 6 reps (70 s rest) was applied for 2 weeks. Maintenance (moderate) training once a week was applied during the rest of the year. Since *M. deltoideus*, *M. biceps* brachii, and *M. trapezius* are highly activated in handcycling and are assumed to be major contributors to tonicity/discomfort (47), preventive manual therapy was applied 1–2× per week.

Changes in the Intervention

Training contents and periodization were largely influenced by the athlete's work duration, the access to sports facilities (e.g., swimming pool), the short-term announcements of paratriathlon starting lists, and perceived discomfort/fatigue. Therefore, flexibility and trade-offs were common practices during the intervention. In June/July 2017, severe physical complaints caused by neurogenic bladder dysfunction led to a mandatory break in training. Consequently, M. detrusor vesicae were inhibited by annual injections of Botulinum toxin (Botox[®]). During a training camp in August 2019, BL attained a stress fracture of two of his ribs (ICD 10-S22.42, 6th and 7th), which resulted in a reduced TL for several weeks and rescheduling of international paratriathlon events. In 2020, the coronavirus pandemic caused several restrictions like the first lockdown (in Germany from April to May) or the closure of sports facilities that significantly affected psychological variables in amateur and recreational athletes (48). Although this also applied to BL, CML diagnosis and treatment overshadowed pandemic effects. Accordingly, vigorous training especially at high intensity had to be avoided for several months.

Chronic Myeloid Leukemia

The most crucial challenge of this exposure was caused in February 2020. A training camp on Lanzarote had to be canceled after a few days due to spontaneous and sustained nausea, discomfort, and remarkably reduced physical performance. Initial white blood cell differentiation showed elevated myelocytes (9.0%), metamyelocytes (3%), and promyelocytes (2%). On 14 February, BCR-ABL1 transcripts (Type e13a2) of 56.8% confirmed CML (ICD10-C92.1). BL started treatment

right away with the second generation TKI Nilotinib (Tasigna, 150 mg, 2-0-2). In the following months, BL started experiencing thoracic pain-especially during exercise. In October 2020, an electrocardiogram during incremental handcycling exercise demonstrated an exercise-induced left bundle branch block (ICD10-I44.7). Since this was interpreted as a side effect of Nilotinib, BL continued treatment with Dasatinib (Sprycel, 100 mg, 1-0-0). However, due to intense headache and vertigo, treatment was continued with Imatinib (Glivec, 400 mg, 1-0-0) and prescribed from November 2020 onward. In July 2021, the Imatinib dosage was reduced to 300 mg due to gastrointestinal complaints and increasing anemia (Hemoglobin toward 13 g/day). In November 2021, BL started participating in a clinical study that examines the effects of Asciminib medication (40 mg/day, 1-0-1) on BCR-ABL1 development and side effects in patients who have previously been treated with ≥ 2 ATP-binding site TKIs. The development of BCR-ABL1 levels over time is illustrated in Supplementary Material 2.

RESULTS

Physical Exercise Tests

In accordance with his ranking at international paratriathlon events (Figure 1), exercise tests demonstrated an increase in physical performance. In handcycling, POBLA increased from 101 W in 2017 to 158 W in 2020 (Figure 2A). In this period, VLa_{max} decreased from 0.56 to 0.36 mmol·l⁻¹·s⁻¹. VO_{2peak} showed the highest annual values following the preparation period and tended to decrease during the competition (March to July/August) and the transition period (August/September to October). Figure 2B illustrates performance development in swimming. From 2015 to 2020, CSS increased from 1:34 to 1:27 min·100 m⁻¹. From 2018 to 2020, the sport-specific 750-m pace improved from 1:47 to 1:41 min·100 m⁻¹ while the sprint pace demonstrated an annual pattern. In wheelchair racing, CV increased from 2:55 min·km⁻¹ in June 2018 to 2:19 in July 2019 (Figure 2C). Overall, postexercise BLC was found to be highest in swimming and lowest in wheelchair racing.

TL and Training Intensity Distribution

Annual training duration increased from 414 h in 2017 to 604 h in 2019 (Table 1). In this period, the proportion of handcycling and wheelchair racing increased, while swimming was maintained and strength training was decreased. BL reduced his office work by 50% in 2018 and started full-time training in 2019. The distribution of TL between disciplines was similar for all measures. In 2020, the annual training duration decreased to 317h and demonstrated a relatively high proportion of handcycling and strength training and a considerably low amount of swimming. Figure 3A illustrates overall TL and time spent in various intensity zones from 2017 to 2020. The least variation in overall TL occurred in 2019. TLI distribution among disciplines over time is illustrated in Figure 3B. Periods of increased training volume seemed to primarily result from handcycling exercise, whereas the strength TL was high during preparation and low during the competition period. During training camps, daily TLI and



TRIMP₃ were found to be around 2,000 and 350, respectively, and were separated by rest days on a 2:1 to 3:1 basis. An example training camp from February 2019 is illustrated in **Supplementary Material 3**. Weekly training duration during the camps attained values of 20–30 h with an overall TID of ~ (84-13-3%). TLI, TRIMP₃, and TRIMP₅ demonstrated high correlations on a weekly ($R^2 = 92-98\%$) and monthly ($R^2 = 90-97\%$) basis, with the highest correlation between TRIMP₃ and TRIMP₅ (refer to **Supplementary Material 4**). Sensations of acute fatigue ("heavy arms") were frequently reported (~once per month) and were highest during a high-intensity block periodization (December 2018).

The TID showed a pyramidal periodization and a shift toward high volume training from 2017 (77-17-6%) to 2019 (88-8-4%) (refer to **Supplementary Material 5**). In 2020, overall TID was found to be 94-5-1%. The highest

percentage of high-intensity was found in wheelchair racing (\sim 10%), followed by swimming/handcycling (\sim 5%) and strength training (<0.5%). Training intensity of stationary strength training demonstrated an increase during preparation periods as well as over the years (**Supplementary Material 6**).

BCL-ABL1 Transcripts

From an initial value of 56.8 in February 2020, BCL-ABL1 transcripts decreased substantially after 41, 91, and 248 days to values of 5.65, 0.0416, and 0.008, respectively (**Supplementary Material 2**). Reduced BCL-ABL1 transcripts imply a reduced tumor load indicating that a patient is positively responding to the applied therapy.

TABLE 1 Yearly and discipline-specific training lo	bad (TL) during the Olympiad.
--	-------------------------------

Parameter	Discipline	2017	2018	2019	2020
Duration (h)	Overall	414	557	604	317
	Swimming	83 (20%)	110 (20%)	136 (22%)	24 (8%)
	Handcycling	161 (39%)	258 (46%)	271 (45%)	182 (57%)
	Wheelchair racing	54 (13%)	82 (15%)	116 (19%)	46 (15%)
	Strength training	91 (22%)	97 (17%)	79 (13%)	59 (19%)
TRIMP ₃	Overall	32,279	40,744	42,289	20,406
	Swimming	6,832 (21%)	8,670 (21%)	9,650 (23%)	1,556 (8%)
	Handcycling	12,266 (38%)	18,238 (45%)	18,830 (45%)	11,200 (55%)
	Wheelchair racing	4,715 (15%)	6,643 (16%)	8,909 (21%)	3,215 (16%)
	Strength training	5,573 (17%)	5,898 (14%)	4,783 (11%)	3,526 (17%)
TRIMP ₅	Overall	44,731	59,604	67,487	33,337
	Swimming	9,778 (22%)	13,021 (22%)	15,382 (23%)	2,567 (8%)
	Handcycling	17,486 (39%)	28,103 (47%)	31,910 (47%)	20,064 (60%)
	Wheelchair racing	6,896 (15%)	10,092 (17%)	14,820 (22%)	5,626 (17%)
	Strength training	6,229 (14%)	6,445 (11%)	5,200 (8%)	3,716 (11%)
TLI	Overall	107,083	188,383	198,002	82,423
	Swimming	22,951 (21%)	39,678 (21%)	43,059 (22%)	6,247 (8%)
	Handcycling	46,408 (43%)	94,084 (50%)	93,294 (47%)	48,028 (58%)
	Wheelchair racing	13,133 (12%)	28,486 (15%)	39,910 (20%)	13,355 (16%)
	Strength training	24,593 (23%)	26,348 (14%)	21,749 (11%)	14,794 (18%)

DISCUSSION

This case report represents one of the most extensive descriptions of complex exercise testing and long-term training monitoring in Paralympic sports. We demonstrated that the physical abilities of a paratriathlete in the wheelchair category improved with increasing TL and reductions in office work duration. Training intensity distribution (TID) showed a pyramidal periodization and shift toward low-intensity training. However POBLA increased and VLa_{max} decreased over the years, VO_{2peak} indicated an annual pattern and attained the highest values following the preparation period. With CML diagnosis and its treatment, TL (especially with respect to high intensities) and physical abilities substantially decreased. This hindered the athlete from competing in international events and ultimately from qualifying for the Paralympic Games in Tokyo.

A similar description was recently provided for a female paraswimmer during a Paralympic cycle (4). Although annual training hours and their development over the years were similar to this case study, the TID of the paraswimmer demonstrated an even higher percentage of low-intensity training. This is influenced by the fact that the authors used a session goal approach to determine TID, whereas a time-in-zone approach was used in this case study (49). When compared with previous studies in handcycling (5, 6), the performance gains were lower, and TID was less polarized in this study. However, these authors used time in power zones rather than heart rate zones to calculate TID, which was shown to differ between methods (50) especially during high-intensity sessions (51). Future studies need to examine these differences in handcycling.

Training load was quantified by means of separate internal measures (TLI and TRIMP) in order to ensure comparability and standardization between paratriathlon disciplines. The high correlation between these parameters indicates an overall agreement between objective and subjective measures of TL. However, we noticed that the discrepancy between subjective and objective TL (Supplementary Material 3) coincided with acute fatigue ("heavy arms"), especially when subjective TL was substantially higher when compared with measures of objective TL. Thus, considering both types of loads and their discrepancy could be helpful for carefully monitoring daily TL and preventing acute fatigue and non-functional overreaching, especially during training camps. Despite the assumptions of previous research (52), recent findings indicate that ratios between subjective and objective measures (sRPE:TRIMP) do not provide additional information to monitor fatigue in cyclists (53). Furthermore, it was shown that TLI is not associated with alterations in physical capacity, whereas the time attained in heart rate zone 2 of 3 significantly correlated with improvements in VO_{2peak} during the preparation for the HandbikeBattle (54). This is in line with the initially high VO_{2peak} values (relative to his development) of BL (when a lot of zone 2 training was performed) and the fact that VO_{2peak} only slightly increased with high-volume low-intensity training (2018-2019).

A similar TID as in this case study was reported for a male long-distance paratriathlete with below-the-knee-amputation (8). The increase in low-intensity percentages over time might be due to the mere increase in training volume and/or the fact that the BL became increasingly patient about performing his training sessions in the prescribed training zones. However,



FIGURE 3 | Training monitoring from 2017 to 2020. (A) Total training duration in every exercise zone (T1–T5) over time in 4-week blocks (13 for each year). TRIMP and total load index (TLI) over time in 4-week blocks (13 for each year). (TRIMP₃), training impulse based on a three-zone model; TRIMP₅, training impulse based on a five-zone model; TLI, total load index; sRPE × training duration [min]. (B) TLI in every discipline over time in 4-week blocks (13 for each year). TLI, total load index; sRPE × training duration [min].

this might also indicate that the training prescription of BL is overly focused on high-volume rather than high-intensity training. In fact, we tried to apply high-intensity training in a block periodization, which has been shown to be an adequate training strategy to improve VO_{2max} (55). However, the athlete did not tolerate more than three high-intensity interval sessions in a week due to acute fatigue. This might be due to the fact that wheelchair triathletes purely rely on their upper extremities during training and activities of daily living. Therefore, the overall higher load applied on the upper extremities increases the risk for acute fatigue, which is less severe in conventional triathletes. We experienced that the duration at a high intensity (heart rate zones 4 and 5) was higher and more easily triggered by performing wheelchair racing rather than handcycling. However, this discipline comes along with a substantially higher shoulder load (56). Due to the BL's medical complaints, the fluctuations of TL between training blocks were higher compared with previous studies (4, 6, 8), which affected training consistency, which is observed in "full-time, year-round athletes" (57).

In our case study, reducing employment increased the athlete's amount of available time and energy which allowed for more (intense) training. This increase in training duration is accompanied by an enhanced training adaptation as documented by the exercise tests. This increase in training and recovery duration is facilitated by corresponding sponsorship that was not constantly available for this athlete. Therefore, at first, training camps were tightly scheduled due to restricted training time. Although previous studies reported an average training volume during training camps of $137 \pm 33\%$ of preceding (regular) TL in the absence of acute fatigue or excessive stress (58), BL experienced a considerably higher load during the initial training camps (>200%) when he frequently reached his physical limits. From 2018 onward, we provided a less extensive and more flexible schedule in the following camps, performed daily (objective and subjective) monitoring, and implemented more (relaxing) rest days that substantially improved the feasibility, recovery, and mood. In future projects, the latter might be complemented by the Profile of Mood States Questionnaire that was successfully applied to wheelchair marathoners (7) and elite paratriathletes (58). To prevent acute fatigue and improve training quality during training camps, suitable strategies of micro-periodization were established. For example, combining high-intensity wheelchair racing in the morning followed by lowintensity handcycling was appropriate to properly exercise and recover on intensified days. Rest days consisted of an easy swim session and moderate strength training.

The characteristic pattern of VO_{2peak} development within each season (with the highest values observed after the preparation period) is similar to those reported in a world-class middle-distance runner (59). We assumed that the observed pattern shows a typical build-up, followed by a plateau and subsequent decline in performance during detraining. However, the athlete's paratriathlon performance in the competition was less affected over the respective years in terms of overall and split times. Jones demonstrated that world-class endurance performance can improve over several years despite a decrease/stagnation of \dot{VO}_{2max} as long as submaximal parameters improve (60, 61). In our case, improvements in maximal fat oxidation and/or movement economy might be the reason for the less severe decline in sport-specific performance. Especially during long rides, an improved "durability" in terms of an improved tolerance and less severe increase in heart rate during prolonged exercise were observed over the years which might be due to the high volumes of low-intensity training (62).

According to previous simulation approaches of glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation, VLamax and VO2max interact to determine lactate threshold (32). In simple terms, it is assumed that net lactate production results from the difference between the rate of lactate formation (as a percentage usage of VLa_{max}) and the rate of lactate removal (which is assumed to be proportional to oxygen uptake). As such, maximal lactate steady state demonstrates the highest equilibrium of lactate formation and removal (net lactate production = 0) (63). This relationship is indicated by following the development of POBLA in Figure 2A. If we assume that POBLA is improved by an increase in VO_{2peak} and/or decrease in VLa_{max} (and vice versa), we can qualitatively estimate the alterations in POBLA. For example, P_{OBLA} decreased from 135 to 129 W despite a constant VO_{2peak} (probably) due to a huge increase in VLamax immediately after a training camp. This is in line with a previous study highlighting that VLamax significantly decreased after only 2 weeks of sprint interval training in trained cyclists (64). However, research on VLamax adaptations is generally sparse. The reduced VLamax values in our study are in accordance with previous research in ultra-endurance cycling, demonstrating a decrease in VLamax during a prolonged period of high-volume low-intensity training (65). Since VLamax was found to be increased by various forms of resistance exercise (66), an intensified fine-tuning of strength and sport-specific training contents was applied. Our preliminary findings demonstrated that VLamax is affected by exercise modality, highest in swimming and lowest in wheelchair racing, which might be due to the usage of muscle mass. Although the reliability of VLamax has been sufficiently assessed in handcycling (26, 27), future studies need to examine VLamax in swimming and wheelchair racing.

There are several limitations of this case report that need to be mentioned. Given the high number of contextual variables (e.g., medical, logistical, nutritional, and social), training was frequently adapted to the acute circumstances, which makes it challenging to highlight causations. In PTWC triathlon, the need for various materials (handcycling and racing wheelchair), dependence on barrier-free facilities, and the pure focus on upper extremity locomotion demonstrate substantial constraints that the athletes have to overcome in order to be competitive. Especially as far as side effects of CML and its treatment are concerned, it is likely that experienced fatigue and reduced physical activity interact to ultimately decrease performance (17). Furthermore, TID is purely based on heart rate zones and as such hardly comparable with studies using session goals or time in power zone approaches.

In conclusion, this case report illustrates the training monitoring and performance development of a triathlete with SCI and CML during a Paralympic cycle. We demonstrated the need for careful training prescription in PTWC triathletes
to improve performance in the absence of acute fatigue, overuse injuries, and non-functional overreaching. We encouraged athletes and coaches to refrain from overly extensive and/or intense training schedules and recommend the application of objective and subjective monitoring tools. This is stressed by the high demands on the upper extremities in wheelchair triathletes, who require special support, sponsors, and training prescriptions.

ATHLETE PERSPECTIVE

"In my opinion, having a great team of coaches and supporters was essential for gaining the last boost during the highs and lows of this journey. The same applies to those who gave medical assistance, which was highly important—especially in my case. Health complaints (e.g., bladder infections) kept me from performing in training and competitions, which was also mentally challenging. Accepting CML diagnosis and its consequences for fulfilling my goal took some time, even though my SCI-background helped to cope. I would like to share my experiences with sports and diseases to inspire others in the future."

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Wolbring G, Martin B. Analysis of the coverage of paratriathlon and paratriathletes in Canadian newspapers. Sports. (2018) 6:87. doi: 10.3390/sports6030087
- 2. British Triathlon. *Classification*. (2022). Available online at: https://www. britishtriathlon.org/gb-teams/performance/paratriathlon/classification
- 3. World Triathlon. *Sport Classes*. (2022). Available online at: https://triathlon. org/paratriathlon/categories
- Baumgart JK, Tønnessen E, Eklund M, Sandbakk Ø. Training distribution during a paralympic cycle for a multiple swimming champion with paraplegia: a case report. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2021) 16:1888– 94. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2020-0686
- Abel T, Burkett B, Schneider S, Lindschulten R, Strüder HK. The exercise profile of an ultra-long handcycling race: the Styrkeproven experience. *Spinal Cord.* (2010) 48:894–8. doi: 10.1038/sc.2010.40
- Zeller S, Abel T, Strüder HK. Monitoring training load in handcycling: a case study. J Strength Cond Res. (2017) 31:3094– 100. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001786

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OJQ planned the triathlon-specific training, participated in training camps, collected and analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. BL volunteered in this study, performed the training and exercise tests, and provided insights into his perspective. FL and PB were handlers at competitions and participated in training camps. FL provided logistical planning. PB planned and coached strength and conditioning contents and advised BL on aspects of nutrition and supplements. TF provided medical check-ups and supervised medical aspects of the project. All authors reviewed, edited, and approved the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all colleagues, students, and friends for supporting this project in various ways over all these years. Without the athlete's individual sponsors, financial, material, and logistical constraints would have impeded professionalization. We have to thank deeply registered associations that includes (but are not limited to) Deutsche Triathlon Union, Deutscher Behindertensportverband, and Behinderten- und Rehabilitationssportverband Nordrhein-Westfalen. We thank Daniel Kezele from the Ocean and Sports GmbH (www.triathlonschule.de) for outstanding support during several training camps. Last but not least, we are grateful for the medical support and assistance from Dr. med. Christoph Horch, Dr. René Drouven, Dr. med. Stefan Redlin, Dr. med. Robert Weindel, Prof. Dr. med. Arndt van Ophoven, Prof. Dr. med. Michael Hallek, and Prof. Dr. med. Andreas Hochhaus.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2022.867089/full#supplementary-material

- Sanz-Quinto S, Brizuela G, Lopez-Grueso R, Rice I, Moya-Ramon M. Influence of training load on mood disturbance at sea level and 3900 m altitude: a case study of a wheelchair athlete. Sports (Basel). (2018) 6:122. doi: 10.3390/sports60 40122
- Mujika I, Orbananos J, Salazar H. Physiology and training of a worldchampion paratriathlete. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2015) 10:927– 30. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0487
- Ahuja CS, Wilson JR, Nori S, Kotter MRN, Druschel C, Curt A, et al. Traumatic spinal cord injury. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17018. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.18
- Devivo MJ. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury: trends and future implications. *Spinal Cord.* (2012) 50:365–72. doi: 10.1038/sc.2011.178
- Cripps RA, Lee BB, Wing P, Weerts E, Mackay J, Brown D, et al. global map for traumatic spinal cord injury epidemiology: towards a living data repository for injury prevention. *Spinal Cord.* (2011) 49:493–501. doi: 10.1038/sc.2010.146
- Rouanet C, Reges D, Rocha E, Gagliardi V, Silva GS. Traumatic spinal cord injury: current concepts and treatment update. *ARQ Neuropsiquiatr.* (2017) 75:387–93. doi: 10.1590/0004-282x20170048

- Maher JL, McMillan DW, Nash MS. Exercise and health-related risks of physical deconditioning after spinal cord injury. *Top Spinal Cord Injury Rehabil.* (2017) 23:175–87. doi: 10.1310/sci2303-175
- Fagher K, Lexell J. Sports-related injuries in athletes with disabilities. Scand J Med Sci Sports. (2014) 24:e320–31. doi: 10.1111/sms.12175
- Jabbour E, Kantarjian H. Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2020 update on diagnosis, therapy and monitoring. Am J Hematol. (2020) 95:691– 709. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25792
- Hochhaus A, Baccarani M, Silver RT, Schiffer C, Apperley JF, Cervantes F, et al. European LeukemiaNet 2020 recommendations for treating chronic myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2020) 34:966–84. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0776-2
- Janssen L, Blijlevens NMA, Drissen M, Bakker EA, Nuijten MAH, Janssen J, et al. Fatigue in chronic myeloid leukemia patients on tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy: predictors and the relationship with physical activity. *Haematologica*. (2021) 106:1876–82. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2020.247767
- Hughes TP, Mauro MJ, Cortes JE, Minami H, Rea D, DeAngelo DJ, et al. Asciminib in chronic myeloid leukemia after ABL kinase inhibitor failure. N Engl J Med. (2019) 381:2315–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1902328
- Gheyasi F, Baraz S, Malehi A, Ahmadzadeh A, Salehi R, Vaismoradi M. Effect of the walking exercise program on cancer-related fatigue in patients with acute myeloid leukemia undergoing chemotherapy. *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev.* (2019) 20:1661–6. doi: 10.31557/APJCP.2019.20.6.1661
- International Standards for Neurological Classification of Spinal Cord Injury (ISNCSCI): American Spinal Cord Association. (2019). Available online at: https://asia-spinalinjury.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ASIA-ISCOS-IntlWorksheet_2019.pdf
- Seiler S. What is best practice for training intensity and duration distribution in endurance athletes? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2010) 5:276– 91. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.5.3.276
- Maunder E, Plews DJ, Kilding AE. Contextualising maximal fat oxidation during exercise: determinants and normative values. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:599. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00599
- Anta RC, Esteve-Lanao JE. Training load quantification in triathlon. J Hum Sport Exerc. (2011) 6:218–32. doi: 10.4100/jhse.2011.62.03
- 24. Corrado D, Pelliccia A, Bjornstad HH, Vanhees L, Biffi A, Borjesson M, et al. Cardiovascular pre-participation screening of young competitive athletes for prevention of sudden death: proposal for a common European protocol. Consensus statement of the study group of sport cardiology of the working group of cardiac rehabilitation and exercise physiology and the working group of myocardial and pericardial diseases of the european society of cardiology. *Eur Heart J.* (2005) 26:516–24. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi108
- Stangier C, Abel T, Zeller S, Quittmann OJ, Perret C, Struder HK. Comparison of different blood lactate threshold concepts for constant load performance prediction in spinal cord injured handcyclists. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:1054. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01054
- Quittmann OJ, Abel T, Zeller S, Foitschik T, Struder HK. Lactate kinetics in handcycling under various exercise modalities and their relationship to performance measures in able-bodied participants. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2018) 118:1493–505. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-3879-y
- Quittmann OJ, Abel T, Vafa R, Mester J, Schwarz YM, Struder HK. Maximal lactate accumulation rate and post-exercise lactate kinetics in handcycling and cycling. *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2021) 21:539–51. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2020.1756420
- Quittmann OJ, Appelhans D, Abel T, Struder HK. Evaluation of a sportspecific field test to determine maximal lactate accumulation rate and sprint performance parameters in running. J Sci Med Sport. (2020) 23:27– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.08.013
- Quittmann OJ, Schwarz YM, Mester J, Foitschik T, Abel T, Struder HK. Maximal lactate accumulation rate in all-out exercise differs between cycling and running. *Int J Sports Med.* (2021) 42:314–22. doi: 10.1055/a-1273-7589
- Heck H, Schulz H, Bartmus U. Diagnostics of anaerobic power and capacity. Eur J Sport Sci. (2003) 3:1–23. doi: 10.1080/17461390300073302
- Zwingmann L, Hoppstock M, Wahl P. Power profile, physiological characteristics and their correlation in elite canoe polo players. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. (2020) 60:1194–201. doi: 10.23736/S0022-4707.20.10801-6
- Mader A. Glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation as a function of cytosolic phosphorylation state and power output of the muscle cell. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2003) 88:317–38. doi: 10.1007/s00421-002-0676-3

- Zacca R, Castro FA.. Critical swimming speed obtained by the 200-400 meters model in young swimmers. In: Kjendlie P-LS, RK, Cabri J, editors. *Biomechanics and Medicine in Swimming XI; Oslo.* Oslo: Norwegian School of Sport Sciences (2010). p. 307–9.
- Nevin J, Smith PM. The anthropometric, physiological, and strength-related determinants of handcycling 15-km time-trial performance. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2020) 16:259–66. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2019-0861
- Stephenson BT, Stone B, Mason BS, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Physiology of handcycling: a current sports perspective. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2021) 31:4–20. doi: 10.1111/sms.13835
- Nevin J, Kouwijzer I, Stone B, Quittmann OJ, Hettinga F, Abel T, et al. The science of handcycling: a narrative review. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2022) 17:335–42. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2021-0458
- Astorino TA, Bediamol N, Cotoia S, Ines K, Koeu N, Menard N, et al. Verification testing to confirm VO_{2max} attainment in persons with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. (2019) 42:494–501. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2017.1422890
- Baumgart JK, Brurok B, Sandbakk O. Peak oxygen uptake in Paralympic sitting sports: a systematic literature review, meta- and pooled-data analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0192903. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192903
- Bassett DR, Howley ET. Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2000) 32:70– 84. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200001000-00012
- Jones AM, Vanhatalo A, Burnley M, Morton RH, Poole DC. Critical power: implications for determination of VO2max and exercise tolerance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2010) 42:1876–90. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181d9cf7f
- Lucia A, Hoyos J, Carvajal A, Chicharro JL. Heart rate response to professional road cycling: the Tour de France. *Int J Sports Med.* (1999) 20:167–72. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971112
- Treff G, Winkert K, Sareban M, Steinacker JM, Sperlich B. The polarization-index: a simple calculation to distinguish polarized from non-polarized training intensity distributions. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:707. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00707
- Foster C, Florhaug JA, Franklin J, Gottschall L, Hrovatin LA, Parker S, et al. A new approach to monitoring exercise training. J Strength Cond Res. (2001) 15:109–15. doi: 10.1519/00124278-200102000-00019
- Crowley E, Harrison AJ, Lyons M. The impact of resistance training on swimming performance: a systematic review. Sports Med. (2017) 47:2285– 307. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0730-2
- Nevin J, Smith PM. The relationship between absolute and relative upperbody strength and handcycling performance capabilities. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2021) 16:1311–8. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2020-0580
- Batalha N, Raimundo A, Tomas-Carus P, Paulo J, Simao R, Silva AJ. Does a land-based compensatory strength-training programme influences the rotator cuff balance of young competitive swimmers? *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2015) 15:764– 72. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2015.1051132
- 47. Quittmann OJ, Abel T, Albracht K, Meskemper J, Foitschik T, Struder HK. Biomechanics of handcycling propulsion in a 30-min continuous load test at lactate threshold: kinetics, kinematics, and muscular activity in able-bodied participants. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2020) 120:1403–15. doi: 10.1007/s00421-020-04373-x
- Lautenbach F, Leisterer S, Walter N, Kronenberg L, Manges T, Leis O, et al. Amateur and recreational athletes' motivation to exercise, stress, and coping during the corona crisis. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:611658. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.611658
- Ieno C, Baldassarre R, Pennacchi M, La Torre A, Bonifazi M, Piacentini MF. Monitoring rating of perceived exertion time in zone: a novel method to quantify training load in elite open-water swimmers? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2021) 16:1551–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2020-0707
- Sanders D, Myers T, Akubat I. Training-intensity distribution in road cyclists: objective versus subjective measures. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2017) 12:1232–7. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0523
- Nimmerichter A, Eston RG, Bachl N, Williams C. Longitudinal monitoring of power output and heart rate profiles in elite cyclists. J Sports Sci. (2011) 29:831–40. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.561869
- Sanders D, Heijboer M, Hesselink MKC, Myers T, Akubat I. Analysing a cycling grand tour: can we monitor fatigue with intensity or load ratios? J Sports Sci. (2018) 36:1385–91. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2017.1388669

- Wahl Y, Achtzehn S, Schafer Olstad D, Mester J, Wahl P. Training load measures and biomarker responses during a 7-day training camp in young cyclists-a pilot study. *Medicina*. (2021) 57:673. doi: 10.3390/medicina57070673
- 54. Kouwijzer I, Valent LJM, van Bennekom CAM, Handbike Battle Group, Post MWM, van der Woude LHV, et al. Training for the handbike battle: an explorative analysis of training load and handcycling physical capacity in recreationally active wheelchair users. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2020). doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1839974. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mølmen KS, Øfsteng SJ, Rønnestad BR. Block periodization of endurance training—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Open Access J Sports Med. (2019) 10:145–60. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S180408
- Arnet U, van Drongelen S, Scheel-Sailer A, van der Woude LH, Veeger DH. Shoulder load during synchronous handcycling and handrim wheelchair propulsion in persons with paraplegia. J Rehabil Med. (2012) 44:222– 8. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0929
- 57. Foster C, Barroso R, Beneke R, Bok D, Boullosa D, Casado A, et al. How to succeed as an athlete: what we know, what we need to know. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2022) 17:333–4. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2021-0541
- Stephenson BT, Leicht CA, Tolfrey K, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, A. multi-factorial assessment of elite paratriathletes' response to two weeks of intensified training. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14:911–7. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0838
- Ingham SA, Fudge BW, Pringle JS. Training distribution, physiological profile, and performance for a male international 1500-m runner. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2012) 7:193–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.7.2.193
- Jones AM. A five year physiological case study of an Olympic runner. Br J Sports Med. (1998) 32:39–43. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.32.1.39
- Jones AM. The physiology of the world record holder for the women's marathon. Int J Sports Sci Coach. (2006) 1:101– 16. doi: 10.1260/174795406777641258
- Maunder E, Seiler S, Mildenhall MJ, Kilding AE, Plews DJ. The importance of 'durability' in the physiological profiling of endurance athletes. *Sports Med.* (2021) 51:1619–28. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01459-0

- 63. Beneke R. Maximal lactate steady concentration state experimental approaches. (MLSS): and modelling Eur Appl Physiol. (2003)88:361-9. doi: 10.1007/s00421-002-0713-2
- Hommel J, Ohmichen S, Rudolph UM, Hauser T, Schulz H. Effects of sixweek sprint interval or endurance training on calculated power in maximal lactate steady state. *Biol Sport.* (2019) 36:47–54. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2018. 78906
- 65. Manunzio C, Mester J, Kaiser W, Wahl P. Training intensity distribution and changes in performance and physiology of a 2nd place finisher team of the race across America over a 6 month preparation period. *Front Physiol.* (2016) 7:642. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00642
- Nitzsche N, Lenz JC, Voronoi P, Schulz H. Adaption of maximal glycolysis rate after resistance exercise with different volume load. *Sports Med Int Open*. (2020) 4:E39–44. doi: 10.1055/a-1146-4236

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Quittmann, Lenatz, Bartsch, Lenatz, Foitschik and Abel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Development of Tests for Arm Coordination Impairment in Paralympic Classification

Viola C. Altmann^{1,2,3*}, Nadine Hendriks^{1,4}, Eline A. Lammens¹ and Mariska Janssen^{1,4}

¹ Expertise Centrum, Klimmendaal Rehabilitation Centre, Arnhem, Netherlands, ² Peter Harrison Centre of Disability Sport, School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ³ World Wheelchair Rugby, Sheffield, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Rehabilitation, Radboud University Medical Center, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Nijmegen, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dirkjan Veeger, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Claudia Quaresma, New University of Lisbon, Portugal Michael Hutchinson, Loughborough University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Viola C. Altmann research@altmannen.nl orcid.org/0000-0002-0671-8115

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 29 January 2022 Accepted: 16 June 2022 Published: 06 July 2022

Citation:

Altmann VC, Hendriks N, Lammens EA and Janssen M (2022) Development of Tests for Arm Coordination Impairment in Paralympic Classification. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:865133. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.865133 **Background:** In Paralympic sport, classification of impairment with the ability to detect misrepresentation of abilities is mandatory. In wheelchair rugby, there is currently no objective method to classify arm coordination impairment. In previous research, sufficient correlation between the spiral test (ST) and activity in wheelchair rugby was found in athletes with coordination impairment. However, the ST depends on maximum voluntary effort.

Purpose: To assess if the ST is an objective test for arm coordination impairment, in which maximum voluntary effort can be distinguished from intentional misrepresentation. The aims of this study were to (1) assess the test-retest reliability of the ST and (2) assess if Fitts's law is applicable to the ST.

Methods: Nineteen volunteers without impairments performed two sessions with three STs per arm. The STs were projected and measured on a tablet and had three different indices of difficulty based on differences in spiral width. The time to complete the spiral was measured and a penalty time was added for each time the borderline of the spiral was touched (3 s) or crossed (5 s).

Results: Test-retest reliability was assessed using a Bland-Altman analysis and showed limits of agreement that were wider than the margins of 2SD from the group mean. Repeated measurement correlation coefficients between the index of difficulty according to Fitts's law and the movement time were > 0.95 (*p*-value < 0.001) for both test and retest. A *post-hoc* optimisation of penalty times revealed an optimum penalty time of 2.0 s for the dominant arm and 2.5 for the non-dominant arm for any contact with the margins of the spiral.

Conclusions: The ST has sufficient test-retest reliability and Fitts's law is applicable. Therefore, it is a promising option for classification of arm coordination impairment with the option to distinguish intentional misrepresentation from maximum voluntary effort.

Keywords: wheelchair, coordination, impairment test, wheelchair sports, Paralympic

INTRODUCTION

The Paralympic Games were founded in Great Britain after the Second World War as a sport event with the goal to enhance participation of wounded veterans in society. Over the years, sports for veterans became an international event and were connected to the Olympic Games in 1956 (1). Nowadays, the Paralympic Games are the world's third largest sports event, with athletes competing from all over the world. In 2016, broadcasting of the Paralympic Games was covered in 154 countries, with 4.1 billion people watching (2). In the early days, patients were competing against other patients with the same health condition, like Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) or amputations, in only a few sports (1). Nowadays in the Paralympic summer games, over 4,000 professional athletes compete in 22 sports and earn their daily living by it (2).

To guarantee an attractive and fair competition, the best athlete should win, and not the one who is the least impaired, and there should be enough athletes to compete against. To achieve this, athletes compete in categories (classes) in which the impact of impairment on the ability to perform should be similar. The process that leads to categorizing athletes is called classification. The aim of classification is that winning or losing the competition is based on training, motivation, talent and skills rather than the severity of impairments (3). To determine the optimal class for each athlete, testing of impairment is mandatory. However, there is a risk that athletes will try to misrepresent their abilities, to try to compete in a class with athletes with more severe impairments than their own. This is called Intentional Misrepresentation (IM). In an impairment test for classification, it should be possible to distinguish IM from Maximum Voluntary Effort (MVE). Currently, most classification systems are based on expert opinion of experienced classifiers. However, with the increasing professionalism of Paralympic sports, the International Paralympic Committee stated that classification should develop toward Evidence-Based Classification, in which the number and the borderlines of the classes per sport should be supported by empirical data (3, 4).

One of the Paralympic Sports is Wheelchair Rugby (WR). It was developed by and for athletes with tetraplegia due to spinal cord injury (SCI) in 1977. Since 2000, WR is a full medal sport in the Paralympic Games. There are more than forty countries that actively participate in WR, or who are developing WR programmes within their nation. WR was developed for athletes with SCI, but athletes with other health conditions, such as neuromuscular diseases, cerebral palsy (CP) and limb deficiencies are also allowed to compete. WR as a Paralympic sport is a mixed gender team sport with the age of elite players varying on average between 20 and 35 years. In classification in WR, athletes can be grouped in one of the seven classes: 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, 3.0, and 3.5 points, based on arm and trunk impairment. During competition, four athletes are on the court and the total points for one team cannot exceed eight points (5). At this moment, the impairment tests to allocate scores for arm impairment are based on muscle strength, because WR was developed for athletes with SCI. However, the number of WR athletes with coordination impairment is expected to be much higher in the future since the incidence of CP is 39-150 times as high as the incidence of SCI (6, 7). In contrast to classification of arm strength impairment and trunk impairment (including all neuromusculoskeletal impairment types), which are largely evidence based (8-13), there is very limited evidence to support the classification of arm coordination impairment (14).

None of the current classification systems in Paralympic Sports include objective, Evidence Based impairment tests for arm coordination impairment (15, 16). The spiral test (ST) is a multilevel, parsimonious tests that may be suitable for classifying arm coordination impairment in WR. In previous research, a moderate-strong correlation between the ST and activities in WR was found. Furthermore, athletes with coordination impairment could be distinguished from individuals without impairments, so that minimum impairment criteria for eligibility of arm coordination impairment could be established (14). However, the results of the ST depend on MVE and so far, it has not been assessed if IM can be distinguished from MVE in the ST. IM The next step that needs to be taken in the development of Evidence Based Classification is to assess if this distinction can be made in the ST.

In general, a method for differentiating between MVE and IM must satisfy two main criteria: (a) sufficient test-retest reliability and (b) detectable differences between the results achieved under the presence and absence of MVE. The test-retest reliability of the ST has not been assessed so far (14). To detect differences between the presence and absence of MVE, Fitts's law is a promising option (17, 18). Coordination affects both movement accuracy and movement speed. Faster movements are less accurate and higher accuracy is achieved at lower speeds (19). In Fitts's law the relationship between the movement accuracy and precision is reflected in the index of difficulty (ID). Movement time and different IDs show a significant linear relationship in tests with movements between two targets in which several target sizes and target widths result in different IDs (20). If a movement time is significantly different from that line in a minimum of three tests, this is a sign that there was no MVE in one of the tests (17). At this moment, it is not clear if Fitts's law is also applicable to the ST that was used in previous classification research in WR.

In this study we further investigated the ST as a possible objective test for arm coordination impairment in WR athletes. To elaborate the options for distinguishing MVE from IM, the aims of this study were to (1) assess the test-retest reliability of the ST and (2) assess if Fitts's law is applicable to the ST.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A convenience sample of nineteen adults without impairments in the same age range as athletes in Paralympic sports, (mean age of 27 years; range: 19–33), participated in this cross-sectional study. Eighty-nine percent were male (n = 17) and eleven percent were female (n = 2) similar to the ratio of men and women in wheelchair rugby (21). We selected this population with similar age and gender to WR athletes, because in previous studies there appeared to be an impact of age and gender



on coordination (22). Three of the nineteen participants were left dominant, one participant was ambidextrous and fifteen participants were right dominant. Because an ambidextrous person is expected to use his right arm more than his left arm in a society with a majority of right handed persons, the ambidextrous participant's data were analyzed as right dominant. All participants gave written informed consent prior to participating, and the study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (2013) developed by The World Medical Association (32). The study has been assessed by the Medical Ethical Committee of the Netherlands, region Arnhem and Nijmegen, (registration number 2021-13107) and received local approval of the scientific committee of Klimmendaal rehabilitation center.

Spiral Test

All participants performed six spiral tests (STs) with a pen, three spirals with different levels of difficulty with the dominant arm and three spirals with the same, different levels of difficulty with the non-dominant arm. The level of difficulty was determined by the widths of the spirals, i.e., 3.528, 5.291, and 7.056 mm. Each spiral had seven turns with a length of 2,204,771 mm, resulting in three different IDs, i.e., difficult: 901.6, moderate: 601.1 and easy: 450.8. For each version there was a right-handed and a mirrored left-handed spiral. The right-handed spiral was completed clock-wise and the left handed counter clock-wise, see **Figure 1**. Spiral lengths were calculated using the function "arclength.m" in Matlab, which calculates the length of a path based on its x and y coordinates. IDs were calculated using

Formula 1, where A is the length of the spiral and W is the spiral width (23).

Formula 1:
$$ID\infty = \frac{A}{W \ln 2}$$
 (1)

This formula differs a little for the original formula for Fitts's law which was developed for a movement with only a fixed start and finish target, but a free movement trajectory between the start and the finish target. In the ST, participants had to stay the entire task with the pen within the white spiral. So besides the start and the finish, the whole movement trajectory was fixed. **Figure 1** shows an example of the right- and left-handed spirals. Real size spirals are available in **Supplementary Material 1**.

The STs were performed on a digitized graphic tablet (Wacom Cintig 16, model nr: DTK1660K0B, 2019) (24). Calibration of the pen was performed before the start of every measurement. Participants were asked to draw a line within the spiral as quickly and accurately as possible from the arrow to the center (Figure 1). The primary outcome measure for this test was the total time in which the spiral was completed, indicated as movement time. A 3s penalty was added for each time the borderline between the spiral and the black area was touched with the pen, and 5 s penalty was added for each time the pen was in the black area (22). However, the spirals we used had a different lay-out with a white trajectory on a black background, compared to the original research in which the windings were in between two black lines on a white paper. Touching the lines was similar in the two layouts. However, crossing the line to end up in another winding was possible in the original test, but was unlikely in the lay-out



FIGURE 2 | Bland-Altman plots for test-retest reliability. (A) ST difficult dominant side, (B) ST difficult non-dominant side, (C) ST moderate dominant side, (D) ST moderate non-dominant side, (E) ST easy dominant side and (F) ST easy non-dominant side. The horizontal lines represent the mean difference (Bias) and two standard deviations, i.e., LOA (dashed lines) of the differences between the movement time (s) at test and the movement time (s) at retest.

we used. Therefore, we decided to use the original penalty times, but to also perform an optimisation of the penalty times for this new lay-out used in the present research.

Test Protocol

All participants were seated in an everyday wheelchair without armrests with the brakes on while testing (Summit Benelux BV, Deventer, the Netherlands). The tablet was positioned on a height adjustable table, so the shoulder was in a neutral position and the elbow was in 90° flexion. Participants performed the three STs per arm in one session per day. The same STs were repeated

on another day, 1–2 weeks apart. The order of the ST was randomized per arm and per day, so the order could be different for each arm and on each testing day. STs were recorded with a video camera and execution time was measured with a stopwatch in s.

Data Analysis

Test-retest reliability was assessed using a Bland-Altman analysis to determine mean bias, limits of agreement (LOA) and 95%confidence intervals (CI) of the STs. Bland-Altman analysis was used as it gives insight in both reliability and agreement of

the ST which is important when the ST is going to be used in paralympic classification (25). No standard cut-off values for sufficient reliability exist in the literature for the difference between test and retest values (26). In previous research, it was possible to distinguish athletes with coordination impairment from volunteers without impairment, with a test accuracy of 93.5% using 2 standard deviations from the mean (14). Therefore, in this study STs were deemed reliable, if differences between test and retest times (i.e., limits of agreement) were within two standard deviations from the group mean. In addition, linear regression analyses were performed to examine if there was proportional bias in the data.

To test if Fitts's law was applicable to the data, we calculated repeated measure correlation coefficients (Rmcorr) between ID and movement time (27, 28).

There did not appear to be significant restriction of range or gross violations of normality based on Shapiro-Wilk test for normality and inspection of the histograms. A post-hoc optimisation of the penalty times was done, using a range of penalty times from 0s to 3s with 0.5s intervals for both touching and crossing the lines. For this *post-hoc* optimization of we recalculated the Rmcorr for the data corrected for different penalty times for both test and retest. The penalty time with the highest Rmcorr was selected as the optimal penalty time.

RESULTS

Figure 2 shows the Bland-Altman plots of all STs. On average the large spirals have the narrowest LOA. Table 1 shows the average times of test and retest per spiral, the difference between test and retest and the LOA. Most spiral tests showed no significant fixed bias, except for the difficult spiral with the non-dominant arm. That spiral had a fixed bias of 9.2 s. Furthermore, none of the spiral tests showed proportional bias. Finally, for most spiral tests the LOA were wider than the margins of 2SD of the group mean, indicating sufficient test-retest reliability, except for the most difficult spiral test with the non-dominant arm. For that test the LOA were smaller than 2SD of the group mean Table 2 shows the absolute movement time, nr. of penalties and corrected movement time for test and retest per condition. Although, on average the differences in movement time and the nr. of penalties between test and retest were small. Individually, there could large differences in (corrected) movement times and nr. of penalties, which can be seen in the outliers displayed in Figures 2A,C,D.

Regarding the applicability of Fitts law to the spiral test, the Rmcorr between ID and movement time was 0.97 (p-value < 0.001) for the test at the dominant side and 0.96 (*p*-value < 0.001) for the retest at the dominant side. For the non-dominant side Rmcor was 0.95 (*p*-value < 0.001) for the test and 0.95 (*p*-value < 0.001) for the retest. Indicating that Fitts' law is applicable to the data. Figure 3 shows the relationship between ID and movement time for the dominant and non-dominant side. Both individual data and the average are shown.

Table 3 shows the *post-hoc* optimisation of the penalty times, which showed the best fit to Fitts's law for 2.5 s for the dominant

TABLE 1	1 Bland-Altman a	nalysis for te	TABLE 1 Bland-Altman analysis for test-retest reliability.									
ST	Side	N-valid	Test Mean (Sd)	Retest Mean (SD)	Group mean (test + retest)/2 Mean (SD)	Mean difference (LOA)	95% CI	Fixed bias	Fixed bias Regression <i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	Proportinal bias	LOA < 2 SD group mean
Difficult	Difficult Dominant	19	119.8 (18.6)	110.6 (18.3)	115.2 (18.8)	9.2 (–28.5 to 47.0)	(—0.1 to 18.5)	No	0.018	0.940	oZ	Yes
Difficult	Difficult Non-dominant	19	163.1 (22.5)	153.9 (21.2)	158.5 (22.1)	9.2 (-17.0 to 35.4)	(2.8 to 15.6)	Yes	0.103	0.676	N	No
Average	Average Dominant	19	64.1 (11.7)	60.7 (10.1)	62.4 (10.9)	3.4 (21.6 to 28.5)	(-2.7 to 9.6)	No	0.159	0.516	No	Yes
Average	Average Non-dominant	19	86.3 (17.3)	86.6 (16.9)	86.4 (16.9)	-0.3 (-47.3 to 46.7)	(-11.9 to 11.2)	No	0.028	0.910	No	Yes
Easy	Dominant	19	39.2 (6.4)	40.8 (8.8)	40.0 (7.7)	-1.7 (-17.2 to 13.9)	(-5.5 to 2.2)	No	-0.349	0.143	No	Yes
Easy	Non-dominant	19	64.0 (12.1)	57.9 (9.8)	60.9 (11.3)	6.1 (–21.7 to 33.9)	(-0.7 to 13.0)	No	0.207	0.395	No	Yes

TABLE 2 | Absolute movement time, nr. of penalties and corrected movement time for test and retest per condition.

			Test				Retest			
ST	Side	<i>N</i> -valid	Movement time	Nr. Penalties line touched (3 s penalty)	Nr. Penalties line crossed (5 s penalty)	Corrected movement time	Movement time	Nr. Penalties line touched (3 s penalty)	Nr. Penalties line crossed (5 s penalty)	Corrected movement time
			Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Difficul	t Dominant	19	53.2 (18.9)	15 (6)	4 (4)	119.8 (18.6)	47.9 (13.7)	15 (4)	4 (3)	110.6 (18.3)
Difficul	t Non-dominant	19	61.5 (24.2)	16 (5)	10 (5)	163.1 (22.5)	57.2 (18.4)	18 (5)	9 (4)	153.9 (21.2)
Averaç	geDominant	19	37.8 (12.2)	6 (4)	2 (1)	64.1 (11.7)	36.4 (9.2)	6 (2)	1 (2)	60.7 (10.1)
Averag	geNon-dominant	19	46.3 (17.4)	6 (4)	4 (3)	86.3 (17.3)	42.8 (11.9)	7 (3)	5 (3)	86.6 (16.9)
Easy	Dominant	19	30.1 (7.8)	2 (1)	1 (1)	39.2 (6.4)	30.4 (7.5)	2 (2)	1 (1)	40.8 (8.8)
Easy	Non-dominant	19	36.3 (10.9)	5 (2)	3 (2)	64.0 (12.1)	35.6 (8.0)	4 (3)	2 (2)	57.9 (9.8)



FIGURE 3 | Line graph of movement time relative to index of difficulty. (A) dominant side and (B) non-dominant side. The thin lines show the participants individual results and the thick line shows the average over all participants. The dashed lines show the *x*-position of the measured indices of difficulty.

arm and 2 s for the non-dominant arm for both touching and crossing the black area with the pen.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we assessed if the ST is an objective test that can be used in classification of arm coordination impairment in WR in which MVE can be distinguished from IM. To make this distinction, the ST should have sufficient test-retest reliability and Fitts's law should apply to a minimum of three spirals with different IDs. We found sufficient test-retest reliability, using a Bland-Altman analysis with a cut-off in the limits of agreement of 2 SD from the group mean between the two individual attempts for each spiral width. Only the difficult spiral test with the nondominant arm did not meet this criterion, which was caused by the large variation in number of penalties (SD for combined 3 and 5 s. penalties more than 9) that resulted in a large variation in movement times between two attempts (SD = 22,5 s. for the test and 21.2 s for the retest). Furthermore, Fitts's law could be applied if three spirals with different IDs were used. Optimisation of the penalty times that were added to the movement time in case the borderlines of the spiral were hit or crossed, resulted in a better fit to Fitts's law.

Although the test-retest reliability was sufficient, there was a tendency for a larger variation between the two attempts if the ID was higher, except for the small spiral width (highest ID) for the non-dominant arm. This was reflected in more variation (i.e., larger limits of agreement) between the two attempts in the small spiral width (higher ID), than in the spiral with the large spiral width (lower ID). The exception for the ST with the highest ID in the non-dominant arm was caused by a combination of a slow movement and a high number of penalties, which resulted in some trade-off in the total movement time between the test and the retest. In athletes with coordination

TABLE 3 Post-hoc analysis for penalty time optimization.

	Test	Retest
Penalty time (s)	Rmcorr	Rmcorr
Dominant		
0	0.83	0.85
0.5	0.92	0.92
1	0.96	0.95
1.5	0.97	0.96
2	0.98	0.96
2.5	0.98*	0.96
3	0.98	0.96*
Original [†]	0.97	0.96
Non-dominant		
0	0.86	0.85
0.5	0.92	0.92
1	0.95	0.94
1.5	0.95	0.95
2	0.98*	0.96*
2.5	0.96	0.95
3	0.95	0.96
Original [†]	0.95	0.95

^{\dagger} Original penalty time of 3 s for touching the line and 5 s for crossing the line.

* Highest Rmcorr between index of difficulty and movement time.

impairment, we expect a longer movement time and more penalties, which could potentially result in a decrease of the test-retest reliability which is not acceptable. However, all spirals used had a very high ID (450.8–901.6) compared to previous research in arm coordination impairment using Fitts's law (3– 5) in which tapping tests were used (17). So there is more than enough room to decrease the ID by decreasing the number of windings, which will increase the test-retest reliability, so it will also be acceptable in athletes with coordination impairment. Therefore, we advise to use spirals with fewer windings than the current seven turns to increase test-retest reliability. The optimum number of windings still needs to be determined in additional research.

In the spirals with the highest IDs, the longer movement time and the variation in movement time was not only caused by slower movements, but also by more often touching or crossing the black area resulting in more penalty time. This may be a sign that the penalty time used in the original research of the ST is too long (22). This was one of the reasons we performed a post-hoc optimisation of the penalty times. There was also a difference in variation between the two attempts in the dominant vs. the non-dominant arm, in which it took generally longer to complete the spiral with the non-dominant arm and there was more variation in movement time with the non-dominant arm. Again, the longer movement times were for a large part determined by the penalty times that were the same for the dominant and the non-dominant arm. In previous research, the final position accuracy of the movement in a reaching task was similar in the dominant and the non-dominant arm. However,

the movement trajectory was different, with a longer trajectory for the non-dominant arm (29). In the ST in which the trajectory is restricted, this can result in a longer movement time and/or more penalty time for the non-dominant arm than for the dominant arm. This was a second reason to optimize the penalty times and to consider a difference in penalty time between the dominant and the non-dominant arm. The final reason for posthoc optimisation of the penalty times was the difference in layout of the ST used in the present research, compared to the ST in the original research. In the present research, the difference in penalty time between touching and crossing the line of the spiral width seemed less relevant, because crossing the black area with the pen to end up in the next winding did not occur. Based on the *post-hoc* optimisation of the penalty times, we found the highest Rmcorr with a penalty time of 2.5 s for the dominant arm and 2.0s for the non-dominant arm for any contact with the black surface. In addition to lowering the number of spiral widths, we advise to optimize the penalty time into one penalty time for any contact with the black surface, but separately for the arms, 2.5 s for the dominant arm and 2.0 s for the nondominant arm.

The applicability of Fitts's law for the ST is promising to detect IM. But to be a valid method for differentiating between MVE and IM two main criteria must be met: (1) there must be significant differences between the results achieved under MVE and IM conditions; and (2) there must be acceptable sensitivity and specificity (17). The penalties for IM during classification are severe, ranging from banning from the competition where the IM occurred to a lifetime ban for all Paralympic sports. Besides, there are potential substantial ethical and legal consequences for labeling an athlete as a cheat (30). Therefore, maximum specificity for detecting IM is crucial, to avoid false accusations. However, sensitivity must be high enough, to discourage athletes to attempt IM (31). A threshold for deviation from the line of Fitts's law to label the test result as IM with close to perfect specificity and optimal sensitivity still needs to be determined.

Strengths and Limitations

The strength of this study is that the participants were volunteers with the same age and gender as WR athletes. This match was chosen, because there is an impact of age and gender on coordination (22). Because of the match, the study results can be used as a reference/normal values for future research in athletes with coordination impairment. Another strength is that the ST was performed on a tablet instead of on paper like in previous research (14). It will be easier to make more than the minimum of three STs with different IDs to increase the precision of the application of Fitts's law, which can enhance the sensitivity and the specificity for IM.

More difficult versions of the ST with longer movement times, resulted in more variation of the MT. We anticipate that athletes with arm coordination impairment will need longer MT to complete even easier versions of the ST. In future research in the ST in athletes with arm coordination impairments the optimal ID (spiral length/number of windings and spiral width) need to be determined for maximum reliability and the applicability of Fitts's law. In addition, we would like to collect objective tracking data from the pen and tablet (i.e., movement time, x- and y-coordinates and pen pressure) for better accuracy of the movement time and to determine if these parameters could give additional insight in intentional misrepresentation.

The present study is only focussing on developing optimal tests for arm coordination impairment. If the spiral test is an optimal and parsimonious test for arm coordination impairment, assessment in athletes with an underlying health condition that leads to coordination impairment will be the next step. This research should include the assessment of the relationship between test outcomes and performance in standardized activities that determine proficiency in WR. Only after finalizing these additional steps, evidence-based classification can be achieved.

CONCLUSIONS

The ST is a parsimonious test that provides an objective, reliable, compound measure for coordination impairment at all joint levels of the arm. Furthermore, it is a feasible test that requires minimum equipment (14). The current research provides supporting evidence that IM may also be detected successfully using the ST. These features are promising for future use in classification of arm coordination impairment in Paralympic sports such as WR.

REFERENCES

- Bailey S. A showcase of ability. In: Bailey S, editor. Athlete First. A history of the Paralympic Movement. Chisester: Wiley (2008). p. 1–12.
- International Paralympic Committee (2021). Retrieved from: https://www. paralympic.org/paralympic-games/summer-overview (accessed January 28, 2022).
- Tweedy SM, Vanlandewijck YC. International Paralympic Committee Position Stand- background and scientific rationale for classification in Paralympic sport. Br J Sports Med. (2009) 6:S11–7. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2009.065060
- Tweedy SM, Beckman EM, Connick MJ. Paralympic classification: conceptual basis, current methods, and research updates. *PM&R*. (2014) 6:S11– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2014.04.013
- 5. World Wheelchair Rugby (2021). Retrieved from: https://worldwheelchair. rugby/the-game-classifications/ (accessed January 28, 2022).
- Spinal Cord Injury, Facts and Figures at a Glance. National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center (2019). Retrieved from: https://www.nscisc.uab.edu/Public/ Facts%20and%20Figures%20-%202021.pdf (accessed January 28, 2022).
- Oskoui M, Coutinho F, Dykeman J, Jetté N, Pringsheim T. An update on the prevalence of cerebral palsy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2013) 55:509–19. doi: 10.1111/ dmcn.12080
- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Groenen KHJ, Vanlandewijck YC, van Limbeek J, Keijsers NLW. Construct validity of the trunk impairment classification system in relation to objective measures of trunk impairment. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2016) 97:437–44. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.10.096
- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Hart AL, Vanlandewijck YC, van Limbeek J, Keijsers NL. The impact of trunk impairment on performance-determining activities in wheelchair rugby. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2017) 27:1005– 14. doi: 10.1111/sms.12720
- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Hart AL, Vanlandewijck YC, Keijsers NLW. Classifying trunk strength impairment according to the activity limitation

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethical Committee of the Netherlands, region Arnhem and Nijmegen. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VA, NH, EL, and MJ formulated the research question and they established the study design and discussed the study results and contributed to the manuscript. NH, MJ, and VA performed the measurements and the data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2022.865133/full#supplementary-material

caused in wheelchair rugby performance. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* (2018) 28:649–57. doi: 10.1111/sms.12921

- Mason BS, Altmann VC, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Understanding the impact of trunk and arm impairments on wheelchair rugby performance during competition. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2019) 14:612–9. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2018-0204
- Mason BS, Altmann VC, Hutchinson MJ, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Validity and reliability of isometric tests for the evidence-based assessment of arm strength impairment in wheelchair rugby classification. J Sci Med Sport. (2020) 23:559– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.12.022
- Mason BS, Altmann VC, Hutchinson MJ, Petrone N, Betella F, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Optimising classification of proximal arm strength impairment in wheelchair rugby: a proof of concept study. *J Sports Sci.* (2021) 39(sup1):132–9. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2021. 1883291
- Altmann VC, Groen BE, Groeneweg S, van der Weijde G, Keijsers NLW. Validation of new measures of arm coordination impairment in wheelchair rugby. J Sports Sci. (2021) 39:91–8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2021. 1882731
- World Boccia (2021). Retrieved from: https://www.worldboccia.com/ wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Boccia-Classification-Rules-5th-Edition-September-2021287.pdf (accessed January 28, 2022).
- World Para Athletics. Retrieved from: https://www.paralympic.org/ sites/default/files/document/180305152713114_2017_12_20++WPA+ Classification+Rules+and+Regulations_Edition+2018+online+version+. pdf (accessed January 28, 2022).
- Deuble RL, Connick MJ, Beckman EM, Abernethy B, Tweedy SM. Using Fitts' Law to detect intentional misrepresentation. J Mot Behav. (2016) 48:164– 71. doi: 10.1080/00222895.2015.1058744
- Groen BE, Altmann VC, Verhagen RW, Vanlandewijck YC, Keijsers NLW. Fitts' law is applicable to trunk coordination measurements in a sitting position. J Mot Behav. (2019) 51:43–8. doi: 10.1080/00222895.2017. 1415199

- Duarte M, Freitas SMS. Speed-accuracy trade-off in voluntary postural movements. *Motor Control.* (2005) 9:180–96. doi: 10.1123/mcj.9.2.180
- Fitts PM. The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. J Exp Psychol. (1954) 47:381– 91. doi: 10.1037/h0055392
- Altmann VC, Hart A, Parkinson A. Wheelchair rugby classification database: aid to the improvement of classification. In: 4th IPC Vista conference 2006. Classification: Solutions for the Future. Paper Presented at the Meeting of the International Paralympic Committee. Bonn (2006).
- Verkerk PH, Schouten JP, Oosterhuis HJ. Measurement of the hand coordination. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (1990) 92:105– 9. doi: 10.1016/0303-8467(90)90084-I
- Accot J, Zhai S. Beyond Fitts' law: models for trajectory-based HCI tasks. In: CHI '97: Proceedings of the ACM SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Atlanta, GA). (1997). p. 295–300.
- 24. Isenkul ME, Sakar BE, Kursun O. Improved spiral test using digitized graphics tablet for monitoring Parkinson's disease. In: *The 2nd International Conference on e-Health and Telemedicine, Conference Paper* (Istanbul) (2014).
- Berchthold A. Test- retest agreement or reliability? *Methodol Innovat.* (2016) 9:1–7. doi: 10.1177/2059799116672875
- Giavarina. Understanding bland altman analysis. Biochem Med. (2015) 25:141–51. doi: 10.11613/BM.2015.015
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Calculating correlation coefficients with repeated observations: Part 2—Correlation between subjects. *BMJ*. (1995) 310:633. doi: 10.1136/bmj.310.6980.633
- Bakdash JZ, Marusich LR. Repeated measures correlation. Front Psychol. (2017) 8:456. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00456
- Sainburg RL, Kalakanis D. Differences in control of limb dynamics during dominant and nondominant arm reaching. J Neurophys. (2000) 83:2661– 75. doi: 10.1152/jn.2000.83.5.2661

- IPC classification Code 2015. p. 8–10. Retrieved from: https://www. paralympic.org/sites/default/files/document/151218123255973_2015_12_ 17+Classification+Code_FINAL.pdf (accessed January 4, 2022).
- Ellingson JE, McFarland LA. Understanding faking behavior through the lens of motivation: an application of VIE theory. *Hum Perform*. (2011) 24:322–37. doi: 10.1080/08959285.2011.597477
- WMA. WMA Declaration of Helsinki-Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. (2013). Available online at: https://www.wma.net/ policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medicalresearch-involving-human-subjects/

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer MH declared a shared affiliation with the author VA to the handling editor at time of review.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Altmann, Hendriks, Lammens and Janssen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

155



Prediction of Propulsion Kinematics and Performance in Wheelchair Rugby

David S. Haydon^{1,2*}, Ross A. Pinder^{2,3}, Paul N. Grimshaw^{2,4}, William S. P. Robertson² and Connor J. M. Holdback^{2,3}

¹ South Australian Sports Institute, Kidman Park, SA, Australia, ² Faculty of Sciences, Engineering, and Technology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ³ Paralympic Innovation, Paralympics Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁴ College of Health and Life Sciences, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Victoria Louise Goosey-Tolfrey, Loughborough University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Nicola Petrone, University of Padua, Italy Arnaud Faupin, Université de Toulon, France Kerri Morgan, Washington University in St. Louis, United States

> *Correspondence: David S. Haydon

david.haydon@sa.gov.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Biomechanics and Control of Human Movement, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

> Received: 17 January 2022 Accepted: 15 June 2022 Published: 07 July 2022

Citation:

Haydon DS, Pinder RA, Grimshaw PN, Robertson WSP and Holdback CJM (2022) Prediction of Propulsion Kinematics and Performance in Wheelchair Rugby. Front. Sports Act. Living 4:856934. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2022.856934 Prediction of propulsion kinematics and performance in wheelchair sports has the potential to improve capabilities of individual wheelchair prescription while minimizing testing requirements. While propulsion predictions have been developed for daily propulsion, these have not been extended for maximal effort in wheelchair sports. A two step-approach to predicting the effects of changing set-up in wheelchair rugby was developed, consisting of: (One) predicting propulsion kinematics during a 5 m sprint by adapting an existing linkage model; and (Two) applying partial least-squares regression to wheelchair set-up, propulsion kinematics, and performance. Eight elite wheelchair rugby players completed 5 m sprints in nine wheelchair set-ups while varying seat height, seat depth, seat angle, and tire pressure. Propulsion kinematics (contact and release angles) and performance (sprint time) were measured during each sprint and used for training and assessment for both models. Results were assessed through comparison of predicted and experimental propulsion kinematics (degree differences) for Step One and performance times (seconds differences) for Step Two. Kinematic measures, in particular contact angles, were identified with mean prediction errors less than 5 degrees for 43 of 48 predictions. Performance predictions were found to reflect on-court trends for some players, while others showed weaker prediction accuracy. More detailed modeling approaches that can account for individual athlete activity limitations would likely result in improved accuracy in propulsion and performance predictions across a range of wheelchair sports. Although this would come at an increased cost, developments would provide opportunities for more suitable set-ups earlier in an athlete's career, increasing performance and reducing injury risk.

Keywords: paralympic sport, wheelchair propulsion, wheelchair configuration, regression, modeling

INTRODUCTION

Current procedures for prescribing wheelchair set-up parameters such as seat height and seat angle are limited in wheelchair sport, relying on previous coach and player experience (Mason et al., 2013), optimizing parameters in isolation (Vanlandewijck et al., 2011; Mason et al., 2012, 2015), or requiring substantial amounts of testing (Usma-Alvarez et al., 2014; Haydon et al., 2019). These issues stem from difficulties in: monitoring on-court performance, where inertial measurement

units (IMUs) only recently provide a reliable solution (Pansiot et al., 2011; van der Slikke et al., 2015, 2016; Shepherd et al., 2016); the substantial cost associated with wheelchair purchase (often \$5,000-\$10,000 USD); adjusting wheelchair set-ups on current wheelchairs; and optimization that varies for individual players, where a greater focus on individual impairments could potentially improve the ability to quickly achieve near optimal set-ups.

In wheelchair rugby (WCR), players are assigned point classification scores ranging from 0.5 to 3.5 points depending on their sport specific activity limitation (the ability to perform key tasks within the sport with regards to their impairment) where a lower score indicates greater limitation (International Paralympic Committee, 2020). The classification process considers trunk, arm, and hand function [where "function" includes strength, range of motion and co-ordination (Haydon et al., 2018a)] and hence players with varying impairment types [i.e., impaired muscle power-potentially due to spinal cord injuries (SCI)-or limb deficiencies which can be congenital or due to amputation] can be assigned the same classification scores. Optimizing wheelchair set-up based on either classification or impairment type is therefore not viable (Haydon et al., 2019; International Wheelchair Rugby Federation, 2021). Hence methods are needed that can provide detailed quantitative (and individualized) insights into the effects of set-up parameters on performance factors, while also minimizing the amount of time and effort of oncourt testing.

Ideally, on-court testing would be used for optimizing wheelchair configurations, where athletes can be tested under conditions that are representative of competition demands as far as practically possible (Goosey-Tolfrey and Leicht, 2013). This testing can reveal significant differences in performance for setup parameters such as wheel camber angle (Mason et al., 2012), seat angle and depth (Haydon et al., 2019), and even glove type (Mason et al., 2009). Small changes to some parameters can have substantial impacts on performance and on-court results, with the difference between executing or missing blocks on opposition dependent on just centimeters of position (Haydon et al., 2018a). However, despite the use of improved sensor technology and algorithms (combined with high-speed video) to identify key features of performance (Haydon et al., 2018a), oncourt assessments remain difficult. This is due to the number of possible set-up parameters and combinations, with each of these having various effects on acceleration, agility, and ballhandling (Mason et al., 2010, 2013). Achieving a balance across the range of set-up parameters (seat height, seat angle, etc.) and performance measures (acceleration, agility, etc.) becomes even more difficult when considering the trade-off for various parameters on performance, as well as the interaction between various parameters (Mason et al., 2010, 2013). To address this problem, a substantial time commitment is required from athletes and coaches for both testing and results interpretation (van der Slikke et al., 2016; Haydon et al., 2019) which also has limitations due to skill adaptation and preferences of athletes based on their previous experiences (Haydon et al., 2018b, 2019). Further developments are therefore desired in maximizing efficiency in optimizing wheelchair set-ups at an individual level; propulsion modeling provides a potential method to achieve this.

Most current wheelchair propulsion modeling approaches have focused on musculoskeletal models attempting to quantify shoulder loads in daily propulsion to assess or reduce the likelihood of shoulder injuries (Morrow et al., 2010; Rankin et al., 2012; Slowik and Neptune, 2013; Hybois et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2018). This is clearly a crucial area for improving the well-being of wheelchair users, but it is unable to address performance aspects such as sprint or agility times. Due to the complexity of musculoskeletal models, creating valid individual representations of anthropometrics and muscular function is also an extensive process (Dembia et al., 2020; McErlain-Naylor et al., 2021). To address this, a linkage model has previously been developed that is able to predict changes in propulsion kinematics (contact and release positions) for changing seat height [the vertical distance from the rear of the seat to main (rear) wheel axle] and seat depth (often referred to as foreaft position, the horizontal distance from rear of the seat to main (rear) wheel axle) during daily propulsion (Richter, 2001; Leary et al., 2012). It should be noted that these terms are used as they were clearly understood by the coach and participants involved, as well as aligning with previous literature, but in some cases do not conform to ISO standards (Waugh and Crane, 2013)—care should be taken to interpret these measures correctly. This method appears to be a more realistic solution for optimizing wheelchair set-up for performance due to the reduced time requirements and ease of adjusting for individual players. However, assessing the relationship between kinematics and on-court performance measure is difficult, particularly when this relationship with performance varies across players (Fletcher et al., 2021).

The development of regression approaches, such as partial least squares (PLS), provide a potential method for quantifying the relationship between wheelchair set-up, propulsion kinematics, and performance. These regression approaches consider several predictor variables (such as wheelchair set-up, or propulsion kinematics) and construct new predictor variables or components. These predictor components can then be used to estimate performance factors such as sprint time. Regression approaches attempt to find a relationship between the predictor variables and the predicted variable by minimizing the error across all conditions (Schumann et al., 2013). The PLS approach does this by linking the variability of predictors with the response through a simultaneous decomposition of all variables (Schumann et al., 2013). Such approaches have been used across a range of areas, including the design of running shoes and emotional reaction of consumers (Shieh and Yeh, 2013), pelvic shape prediction (Schumann et al., 2013), determination of sport rock climbing performance (Mermier et al., 2000), and technique analysis in sports (Federolf et al., 2014; Gløersen et al., 2018).

The aim of the current study was to investigate the ability of a PLS approach to predict sprint performance based on individual wheelchair set-up and predicted propulsion approaches. A subsequent aim was to assess the prediction accuracies of propulsion kinematics of a linkage model in comparison to measured propulsion kinematics. To achieve these aims, a linkage model was implemented to predict alterations in propulsion kinematics with changing wheelchair set-up for elite WCR players, and then use a PLS approach to predict the effect of these alterations on sprint performance. This work is intended as an exploration to determine if there is scope to expand research in this area rather than a validation of this approach. Using this simplified model (in comparison with musculoskeletal modeling), it was expected that prediction of propulsion kinematics with changing wheelchair set-up would be successful, and subsequently be able to infer performance measures (sprint time). The ability to predict performance measures is expected to link closely with the ability to predict propulsion kinematics.

METHOD

Participants

Eight elite WCR players were recruited and provided informed, written consent before completing testing. All players were members of the Australian WCR team, were classified by the International Wheelchair Rugby Federation (IWRF) and completed testing in an adjustable wheelchair using 25-inch wheels. Individual player details are summarized in **Table 1**.

Testing

Testing consisted of an orthogonal design approach using an adjustable wheelchair. Orthogonal design is a robust design approach that reduces the time and cost associated with optimizing parameters in real-world applications (Mori and Tsai, 2011). Using an orthogonal array reduces the number of tests required by systematically varying the combinations of parameters and levels while maintaining the ability to identify the effects of specific parameter levels. After testing has been completed, level averages from each parameter (e.g., reduced seat height) are compared against the grand average to determine the effect of each parameter level (Mori and Tsai, 2011). This approach allowed for the variation of four set-up parameters (seat height, seat depth, seat angle, and tire pressure) at three levels (player's current level, an increase, and a decrease) using an L9 orthogonal array (9 total set-ups). Seat height and seat depth used the definitions described above, while seat angle as the sagittal angle of the seat above the horizontal-these are shown in Figure 1. Seat height and seat depth were adjusted by ± 15 mm, seat angle by ± 5 degrees, and tire pressure by ± 15 psi. An example of the orthogonal design is provided in Supplementary Material. Players completed a warm-up and familiarization process in each set-up before completing two sprints while monitoring performance measures and propulsion kinematics. The 5 m sprint which was conducted from standstill in the athlete's own time with sprint time recorded using laser timing gates (SpeedLight, Swift Performance). All testing (including the athlete's current set-up) was performed in an adjustable wheelchair (mass of 14 kg), with the athlete using their own wheels and gloves, and strapping was consistent across trials. The set-ups were tested in a randomized order, including a set-up that replicated the players typical set-up. For more details on testing implementation and analysis, see Haydon et al. (2016).

Propulsion kinematics (contact and release angles) and performance time for the 5 m sprints, along with the set-up information, were monitored for the first three strokes due to their importance on WCR performance (West et al., 2014). Angles projected in the sagittal plane were calculated from digital footage (120 Hz, Go Pro Hero 3+, California, U.S.) that was analyzed as part of a custom Matlab (Mathworks, 2017b) script. The points of contact and release were identified by acceleration spikes from inertial measurement units (IMUs) located on each wheel (recording at 500 Hz, IMeasureU, NZ). The IMUs were secured to the outside of the disc wheel using tape in a location that avoided any interference during the stroke, with this resulting in the distance from the axle varying for each player. When these acceleration spikes were selected, the corresponding GoPro video frame (and ± 2 frames either side) were prompted, with the user then visually confirming the contact or release moment. The propulsion kinematics were then measured in the sagittal plane view by selecting: (i) the center of the wheel as a reference point, (ii) a point directly superior to this in the digital video frame to attain the vertical direction, and (iii) the position of the hand on the pushrim/wheel. Hand landmarks differed between athletes due to limb impairments and variations in propulsion technique. Additionally, as seat angle has previously been linked to trunk motion (Vanlandewijck et al., 2011), trunk angles at contact and release for each of the first three strokes were investigated for the various seat angle levels. Trunk angle was determined using a similar method by selecting: (a) an approximate hip position (identification of hip position varied across players due to wheelchair design resulting in occlusion; landmarks specific to each player were used) as a local reference point, (b) a point directly superior to this in the digital video frame, and (c) the acromion to determine the trunk angle. Refer to Figure 1 for model representation of the hip and acromion positions. Note, the flexed trunk position was defined as a positive trunk angle. These results were then used as the input for each player's trunk angle in the linkage model, depending on the seat angle level. The intra- and interevaluator reliability of kinematic analysis was assessed across 20 trials by the lead researcher 2 weeks after initial analysis, and by an additional researcher, with good-to-moderate results of 2.6-9.7% technical error of measurement across all variables (Duthie et al., 2003).

Modeling

Performance predictions for various wheelchair set-ups from on-court testing results occurs in two main steps: (One) predicting propulsion changes when altering wheelchair set-up, and (Two) predicting performance for inputs of wheelchair set-up and propulsion kinematics. Step Two relies on propulsion prediction inputs from Step One and regression equations developed from on-court testing to predict the performance measure of sprint time. The outline of this procedure is displayed in **Figure 2** and is detailed in the following sections.

Player	Impairment	Classification score	International experience (years)	Contact prediction method
1	Limb deficiency	3.5	14	Altered
2	Limb deficiency	3.5	6	Original
3	Limb deficiency	3.5	3	Altered
4	Impaired muscle power	2.0	3	Original
5	Limb deficiency	2.0	1	Altered
6	Impaired muscle power	2.0	10	Original
7	Impaired muscle power	2.0	12	Original
8	Impaired muscle power	1.0	8	Original

TABLE 1 | Player information, including impairment, classification, and experience information. Contact Prediction Method refers to whether these players required an alteration to the equations for calculating their kinematics (see Section Propulsion Prediction).



FIGURE 1 | The propulsion model consisted of a trunk, upper arm, and forearm segments with a fixed hip position and variable seat height [the vertical distance from the rear of the seat to main (rear) wheel axle], seat depth [often referred to as fore-aft position, the horizontal distance from rear of the seat to main (rear) wheel axle], and seat angle (angle of the seat above the horizontal). Contact angle estimation varied between the previous assumption of the forearm being perpendicular to the wheel tangent at contact (A), and an altered propulsion method where the forearm is close to parallel with the wheel tangent (B) at contact (Leary et al., 2012) for the added assumption. Release angle (C) is also presented for comparison with the contact positions, with assumption that release occurs when the forearm is parallel to the wheel tangent when the trunk is in its most flexed position. The propulsion kinematic angles (contact and release) are measured with respect to the location about top dead center of the wheel. The hip position visually presented here does not intend to represent the actual hip position for athletes in wheelchair rugby, with the model assuming that hip location is coincident with the rear corner of the seat*.

Propulsion Prediction

A sub-maximal linkage model (Richter, 2001; Leary et al., 2012) was adapted that calculated hand contact and release angles [relative to top dead center (TDC) location, with in-front of TDC positive and behind TDC negative] based on individual anthropometrics and chair set-up. In advancing previous models to predict maximal effort propulsion (Vanlandewijck et al., 2011), the model included an additional trunk segment with trunk angular rotation (flexion) occurring about the hip position, which was assumed to be coincident with the rear of the seat and subsequently changed with seat depth and seat height. The equations for contact and release were derived to use shoulder position based on the trunk angular velocity (i.e.,

rate of progression from trunk angle at contact to trunk angle at release) was assumed to be constant throughout the stroke phase. The assumption of contact occurring when the forearm is perpendicular to the tangent of the wheel (Leary et al., 2012) was not valid for some players due to various propulsion techniques as seen in **Figure 1**. Players with greater trunk range of motion (in this participant group, some players with limb impairments) generally utilized an approach with a greater proportion of "push" [see Haydon et al., 2018a, where "push" is the phase of the stroke that occurs during elbow extension (Vanlandewijck et al., 2001)]. This approach requires the trunk to be in a flexed position at contact, and the forearm segment approximately parallel to the wheel tangent. For these players (detailed in **Table 1** as Altered), a 90-degree addition was included for the prediction of the contact



angle (Equation 1).

$$\theta_{c} = \beta \left(\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{X_{hs} - L_{ua} \sin \theta_{TI} + L_{fa} \sin (90^{\circ} - \theta_{TI})}{Y_{hs} - L_{ua} \cos \theta_{TI} + L_{fa} \cos (90^{\circ} - \theta_{TI})} \right) \right)$$
(1)

Where β is a contact coefficient varied from -0.5 to 1.5 [a coefficient of 1 means the assumption of hand contact (perpendicular/parallel) is true; discussed in more detail below]; θ_c is the hand contact angle; X_{hs} is the horizontal position of the shoulder relative to the wheel axle; Y_{hs} is the vertical position of the shoulder relative to the wheel axle; L_{ua} and L_{fa} are the length of the upper arm and forearm, respectively; and θ_{TI} is the initial trunk angle. Anthropometric measures were completed with the support of a physiotherapist familiar with the athletes and adapted to suit the needs of each individual as per their impairment. This enabled the prediction of contact and release angles based on an individual player's anthropometrics and chair parameters (seat height, seat depth, and seat angle). As mentioned above, the seat angle setting influenced the trunk position at contact and release for each of the first three strokes and hence the trunk angles were linked with corresponding seat angle measures from testing.

The contact coefficient accounts for variation from the assumption that contact occurs when the forearm segment is perpendicular (or parallel for some players), with the coefficient being 1 when the assumption is true. This allows individual propulsion approaches to be accounted for within the overarching assumptions. During analysis of the nine setups tested, a contact coefficient was determined (to two decimal places) for an individual for each of the first three strokes that minimized the error between measured and predicted angles from the above equation. A contact coefficient for each of the first three strokes was then set for future predictions by averaging across the nine set-ups. A similar process was used to determine release angle coefficient for each of the three strokes using the prediction equation from previous work (Leary et al., 2012), with release angle defined as when the forearm is parallel to the wheel tangent and the trunk at most flexed position; this differs to the altered contact angle as the shoulder is now at the most forward position (due to trunk flexion). This approach not only accounts for differences across individuals, but also across the first three strokes within a sprint which have been shown to differ in accelerations from standstill (Haydon et al., 2018a). Despite the potential asymmetry present in WCR propulsion (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018), this process combined left and right propulsion kinematics to reduce the impact of any outliers in coefficient calculations. The use of a single coefficient for each stroke also assumes that a player would not substantially alter their propulsion technique across wheelchair set-ups.

Performance Prediction

The experimental data was analyzed using a Partial Least Squares (PLS) regression. These included thirteen input variables: seat height, seat depth, seat angle, tire pressure, contact angles for

Prediction in Wheelchair Rugby

the first three strokes, releases angle for the first three strokes, and the push angles for the first three strokes. The predicted variable was the sprint time. These regression approaches were trained independently in Matlab (using the plsregress function, Mathworks, 2017b), with the first seven of the nine set-ups from experimental testing used to train the prediction methods (within typical training-test ratios of 70-30% and 80-20%). The number of PLS components typically used in the function was set at five based on assessments of explained variance, with selection made once explained variance appeared to plateau. The number of components was adapted for each athlete depending on these results (an exemplar plot of PLS components and explained variance for Player 4 is provided in Supplementary Material, as well as the number of components and explained variances for all athletes). The performance of the prediction method was then assessed using the final two set-ups from experimental testing for each athlete. While set-up parameter values (i.e., seat height, seat depth) were matched with those from experimental testing, the prediction approach was implemented using the predicted propulsion kinematics rather than measured kinematics to ensure a true prediction from set-up to performance. The method of progression from on-court testing to performance prediction is outlined in Figure 2.

Statistics

Mean (and standard deviations) were calculated for the difference between experimental and modeling kinematic results for each player (n = 8) and each stroke (n = 3), resulting in 24 strokes for contact and release. The ability to predict propulsion kinematics and performance was typically investigated at an individual level, with results focusing on obvious trends within these. To support this, Welch's *t*-test (for unequal variance) using an alpha of 0.05 before a Bonferroni correction (alpha adjusted to 0.008 due to six comparisons—contact angles compared with other contact angles, release angles compared with other release angles) were completed across contact and release angle differences for each stroke.

For modeling assessment, no statistical analysis was completed due to the small sample size (only two comparisons for each player) and interest in how the modeling performed at an individual level. Assessments were made from the magnitude and direction of difference between experimental and modeling performance measures.

RESULTS

Propulsion Prediction

For each player, kinematic data was recorded for the first three strokes with two successful trials per player (eight participants, hence 24 mean stroke results). The kinematics for each stroke were calculated and summary statistics determined for the differences between measured and predicted contact and release angles (**Figure 3**). Mean values suggest contact angles could be predicted with differences less than 0.5° for 18 of 24 (75%) contacts. However, the maximum differences between a measured and predicted contact angle varied by greater than 10° for 9 of 24 (37.5%) of these contacts. There were no significant

differences in contact angle prediction between the three strokes. Furthermore, mean release angle prediction differences increase during later strokes after the sprint start, with significantly less error between experimental and modeling release angle prediction for stroke one compared with strokes two (release angle one: $0.05 \pm 5.29^{\circ}$; release angle two: $-3.07 \pm 4.80^{\circ}$; p < 0.001) and three (release angle three: $-4.55 \pm 5.46^{\circ}$; p < 0.001). Maximum differences were also greater for the release angles compared with contact angles for the majority of players. There were no obvious trends for contact predictions when considering the altered contact equation (Players 1, 3, and 5 as noted in **Table 1**) compared with the contact prediction from previous linkage models. Specific experimental and modeling propulsion kinematic results are provided in **Supplementary Material**.

Performance Prediction

Sprint time predictions were calculated using chair set-up parameters and predicted propulsion angles as inputs to the PLS regression approach. Comparisons with actual (measured) sprint time for the two set-ups that were not included during training of the regression model are presented in **Figure 4**. Mean (\pm SD) sprint performance prediction error for both set-ups across all players was 0.04 (\pm 0.25) seconds; with a minimum difference of 0.01 s (Player 4) and a maximum of 0.87 s (Player 7, set-up 2). All players, excluding Players 5 and 7, had average prediction errors of less than 0.1 s.

DISCUSSION

Modeling of wheelchair propulsion has the potential to minimize the amount of testing required whilst maintaining the ability to detect changes in propulsion and performance. This study investigated the ability of a linkage model to predict propulsion kinematics for a range of WCR players and use these results to predict performance using PLS regression. On-court testing captured propulsion kinematics and performance across nine set-ups using an adjustable wheelchair. Propulsion prediction equations were developed using all nine on-court testing set-ups to allow for contact and release angles for the first three strokes to be predicted for any wheelchair set-up for an individual player. A PLS regression approach was trained using seven on-court testing set-ups, leaving two for assessment of the performance prediction method. For these final two set-ups, the propulsion prediction equations were applied to provide "predicted" rather than on-court kinematics, with the PLS regression model then producing a performance time that could be compared with on-court results.

Mean values for contact angle predictions were typically similar to on-court testing results (75% within 0.5°); however, maximum differences for each player can vary substantially with the mean results impacted by the casual summation of positive and negative errors. These large differences likely occur due to the assumption that a player will attempt to employ the same propulsion technique regardless of their wheelchair set-up evident by using an average coefficient from all nine set-ups. This assumption was a limitation of this work as players can be expected to adapt their propulsion to the specific set-up; however,



it was unclear how players would adapt their technique, hence the use of the average coefficient. Changes in propulsion approach between set-ups were therefore not accounted for which likely resulted in the large differences. Mean prediction error for release angle increases after the first stroke following a sprint start for most of the players (release angle one: $0.05 \pm 5.29^{\circ}$; release angle two: $-3.07 \pm 4.80^{\circ}$; release angle three: $-4.55 \pm 5.46^{\circ}$; p < 0.01when comparing release angle one with release angle two and three). For stroke one, mean prediction error is less than 0.51° for all players and less than 0.16° for 7 of 8 players. However, for the third stroke, only 2 players had an absolute mean prediction error less than 4.27°, with a maximum error of 8.25°. This likely occurs as the magnitudes or release angles are typically larger than those of the contact angles (i.e., contact angles can vary from -45° to $+15^{\circ}$, compared with release angles which often vary from $+70^{\circ}$ to +105°; Haydon et al., 2018a). Using an average coefficient in the calculation is therefore troublesome as slight changes to propulsion technique result in larger differences in the predicted release angle. For example, Player 8 had the smallest error for release angle estimation for the third stroke, and this player displayed the smallest release angles. This is potentially due to the variations in the coefficient value having less of an effect on the magnitude of the error-although this case does not confirm the hypothesis across the wider group. Both experimental and modeled kinematics were considered in the sagittal plane only, which is a simplification of the real-world behavior.

Regression prediction results varied between players; predicted results matched on-court testing results for some

players (Vanlandewijck et al., 2011; Mason et al., 2013; Haydon et al., 2019) but were inconsistent for others (Players 2, 3, 5, 7). Player 4's results display the most potential for continued use of this approach. Despite large differences in on-court performance time in set-ups eight and nine, these changes in performance are predicted within 0.01 s by the model. This is likely influenced by a consistent relationship between wheelchair set-up, propulsion kinematics, and performance. These relationships refer to the influence changing parameters has on sprint time: in a consistent relationship, increasing contact angle is likely to have the same effect on sprint time in all set-ups. The development of this relationship occurs in the regression training (on the first seven set-ups), with the impact of wheelchair set-up and propulsion likely consistent in the tested (final two) set-ups. Player 4 regression was able to explain a high percentage of the variance, hence the ability of the model to predict performance. However, this is one case out of eight from testing; this alone does not support continued use of this approach. Although predicted performance times for Players 1 and 6 do not match as accurately, the trend is of comparable magnitude and direction. As this approach is proposed as a method to assess the effect of various wheelchair set-ups, the ability to detect changes in performance is critical. Players 2 and 3 show occasions where the regression model was poor in predicting changes in performance despite supposedly showing a high percentage of explained variance based on training for the first seven set-ups. The PLS regression approach predicted improved performance for Player 2's set-up nine, but decreased performance was evident in on-court testing.

Similarly, Player 3 had similar performances in set-ups eight and nine, but regression predictions expected performance to vary by 0.13 s. Player 5 prediction did not align with performance times (average prediction error across two set-ups of 0.24 s), with performance underestimated substantially-although a slight change in prediction and on-court performance is evident. As above, this is likely due to changing relationships between wheelchair set-up and propulsion, which is emphasized for this athlete due to their lack of experience in comparison with other players. Player 7 predicted results showed minimal relationship with on-court results. Both predictions substantially overestimated the performance time, with set-up nine out by 0.87 s. For the on-court performance times for Player 7 (\sim 2.3 s), this amount of error is clearly unacceptable. These prediction variations likely relate to regression training approaches not aligning with the relationships for tested set-ups. Greater variation in these relationships (i.e., increasing contact angle does not consistently improve/decrease sprint performance) makes performance predictions difficult; this training phase can be improved by including greater amounts of relevant data, such as individual activity limitation, however this is often difficult to achieve in practice. While propulsion prediction shows potential for some athletes, developing regression relationships that translate to on-court performance is difficult due to changing propulsion techniques. Increasing data capture would allow for stronger relationships to be determined, improving this capability, however this would require substantial time and effort. An activity that allows for simpler data capture and has clearer translation to performance measures may provide a valuable tool to further investigate the capabilities of this approach.

This wheelchair performance assessment relies on two distinct sections of prediction for changing wheelchair set-ups: (i) propulsion kinematics and (ii) sprint time performance. Propulsion kinematics were predicted based on a linkage model, with fixation about the hip an extension on previous models (Richter, 2001; Leary et al., 2012). Assessment of maximal effort propulsion from standstill in WCR requires consideration of trunk motion-due to trunk motion accompanying force generation (Vanlandewijck et al., 2011)-and player specific approaches due to the substantial variations in activity limitation across classifications (Haydon et al., 2018a). The PLS regression approach can then be trained using on-court testing to produce a prediction method based on inputs of wheelchair configuration and propulsion kinematics-allowing a greater number of potential set-ups to be investigated for players with reduced amounts of on-court testing. For this to be effective, both propulsion kinematics and performance times should be considered and be able to consistently identify small, meaningful changes. After completing on-court testing, this modeling approach can be implemented to identify set-ups of further interest. These set-ups could be replicated on-court to confirm findings, giving the player more detailed information on the effect of altering their wheelchair set-up prior to making chair modifications which can be expensive in both cost and time commitment (Haydon et al., 2019). This improves upon current implemented approaches, where small adjustments to wheelchair



approach for all players. Most predictions follow the testing data closely, with largest differences seen in Players 5 and 7.

parameters are often made over long periods of time, which can result in players only achieving set-ups they are comfortable with (and are nearer to optimal for performance) after many years in the sport (Fletcher et al., 2021).

The linkage model used in this study was investigated as it simplifies the model of an individual (particularly with a focus on 2D kinematics, rather than more realistic 3D kinematics), resulting in a reduction in time for development and processing. The model presented in this study is an adaption to a previous model that has been successfully used to link measured kinematics with propulsion measures (Richter, 2001; Leary et al., 2012). This adaption has been added to account for atypical variations in technique exhibited by the athletes, particularly those with trunk function who are able to lean forward and "push" on the wheel/pushrim during maximal effort propulsion. While an important adaption to include for these athletes, the added features of the new model should be considered a minor addition to the original model. The results show that whilst this linkage model approach might be appropriate for some cases, it is unlikely to be suitable for all athletes; some are likely to require more detailed models that greater reflect their activity limitation (McErlain-Naylor et al., 2021). This may be the case for athletes with greater activity limitation (lower classification scores), who are less able to adapt technique to wheelchair set-up. Due to limitations in wheelchair design, lower classification scores were under-represented in this work as the majority used a smaller wheel size than was possible with the adjustable wheelchair (lower classifications often use 24-inch wheels (Goosey-Tolfrey et al., 2018) compared with 25-inch wheels for the adjustable wheelchair). Musculoskeletal models can potentially account for

specific muscle functions of an individual and perform more detailed propulsion assessment through incorporation of threedimensional motion throughout multiple strokes (Lewis et al., 2018), with the ability to develop and customize musculoskeletal models improving rapidly (Dembia et al., 2020). Individual customization of the musculoskeletal models would require further processing time and more detailed on-court testing assessment including motion capture and electromyography, which is more suited to elite level athletes initially. By constraining joint ranges of motion and adapting the level of muscle activation for an individual [both of which are possible through software such as OpenSim (SimTK, 2021)], more realistic propulsion approaches can be determined for a range of set-ups. This would likely result in greater accuracy when attempting to predict performance, particularly as the user can define specific cost functions for performance and optimize for these. However, musculoskeletal models currently find it difficult to independently scale individual body segments which would limit their applicability to amputees. The selection of modeling approach should therefore consider the ability to accurately measure and replicate individual capabilities (Lewis, 2018; McErlain-Naylor et al., 2021) as well as time restraints around any prescription approach.

An additional benefit of the modeling approaches outlined is they may allow for the reduction of experience related effects on performance. Athletes may have developed a propulsion technique that is either (i) not in fact optimal for maximal sprint performance, or (ii) is highly specific to maximizing their sprint performance in their current chair set-up (Haydon et al., 2018b). A small amount of on-court testing (i.e., a familiarization period in each testing set-up prior to data capture) is unlikely to promote adaptation to a new set-up quickly enough to get a true indication of likely performance once the athlete has adapted to the new set-up. Alternatively, changes to chair set-up may perturb the propulsion coordination and increase movement variability for a short period, again impacting the testing results (Fletcher et al., 2021). Modeling, when accounting for athlete activity limitation, could remove this concern and give a greater prediction of final performance outcomes should an alternative (i.e., predicted optimal) propulsion technique be considered. Specialists in motor control and learning (i.e., skill acquisition specialists) would then be best placed to support coaches and athletes with targeted technical (learning) interventions.

Currently, this approach requires 2- to 3-h of on-court testing with various set-ups for each individual in order to measure propulsion approaches and performance. With further progression of this method, there is the possibility to markedly reduce the amount of on-court testing required, particularly if musculoskeletal models can be developed. This progression relies on increasing the number of players and therefore data on how particular classifications and impairments respond to changes in wheelchair set-up. For players of similar impairments and anthropometry there is a greater likelihood their response to changing set-ups will be similar. As regression approaches require increases in data to build their relationships and improve reliability, international collaborations are recommended to increase the pool of elite wheelchair sport athletes.

CONCLUSION

The process of wheelchair prescription is currently a timeconsuming process that relies heavily on player and coach experience. This study presents a method to predict propulsion kinematics based on changing wheelchair set-ups for maximal effort sprinting. To account for maximal propulsion, an equation to predict contact angle while accounting for trunk motion was developed, improving on previous methods. Regression approaches (such as PLS) can be trained using on-court testing results, and then applied with propulsion predictions to estimate sprinting performance for WCR. Results for propulsion prediction found that the assumption of a consistent propulsion approach by using an adapted linkage model may not be appropriate, particularly for release angles. Improved understanding of wheelchair prescription impact on propulsion kinematics will support further development of accurate predictions. This scoping project suggests that while the linkage model prediction of propulsion kinematics may be suitable for some athletes, others may require more detailed models (e.g., musculoskeletal) that more accurately reflect their function. Regression approaches were inconsistent in their ability to accurately predict performance changes. Player 4's performance was predicted almost exactly despite the large variations (relative to other players) present in sprint time across set-ups eight and nine, likely due to the consistent relationship between wheelchair set-up, propulsion kinematics, and performance. However, other results were unable to achieve the same accuracy, with the expected cause being the inconsistent propulsion predictions and regression relationships. Substantial further work is required in this area to improve the process of wheelchair prescription for performance, with a greater understanding of these relationships likely to have a substantial impact on wheelchair prescription and subsequent performance.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Adelaide Ethics Committee. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DH, RP, PG, and WR contributed to study design and data collection. DH completed primary analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript, with RP, PG, WR, and CH all contributing to analysis, review and writing sections of the

manuscript. All authors have reviewed the manuscript and approved its submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the Australian Wheelchair Rugby Team throughout study design and testing. Work of a similar focus has been presented previously

REFERENCES

- Dembia, C. L., Bianco, N. A., Falisse, A., Hicks, J. L., and Delp, S. L. (2020). OpenSim Moco: musculoskeletal optimal control. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 16, 1–21. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008493
- Duthie, G., Pyne, D., and Hooper, S. (2003). The reliability of video based time motion analysis. J. Hum. Movement Stud. 44, 259-272.
- Federolf, P., Reid, R., Gilgien, M., Haugen, P., and Smith, G. (2014). The application of principal component analysis to quantify technique in sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 24, 491–499. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2012.01455.x
- Fletcher, J. R., Gallinger, T., and Prince, F. (2021). How can biomechanics improve physical preparation and performance in paralympic athletes? A narrative review. Sports 9, 89. doi: 10.3390/sports9070089
- Gløersen, Ø., Myklebust, H., Hallén, J., and Federolf, P. (2018). Technique analysis in elite athletes using principal component analysis. J. Sports Sci. 36, 229–237. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2017.1298826
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., and Leicht, C. A. (2013). Field-based physiological testing of wheelchair athletes. *Sports Med.* 43, 77–91. doi: 10.1007/s40279-012-0009-6
- Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., Vegter, R. J. K., Mason, B. S., Paulson, T. A. W., Lenton, J. P., van der Scheer, J. W., et al. (2018). Sprint performance and propulsion asymmetries on an ergometer in trained high- and low-point wheelchair rugby players. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 28, 1586–1593. doi: 10.1111/sms.13056
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2016). Elite wheelchair rugby: a quantitative analysis of chair configuration in Australia. *Sports Eng.* 19, 177–184. doi: 10.1007/s12283-016-0203-0
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2018a). Overground-propulsion kinematics and acceleration in elite wheelchair Rugby. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 2, 156–162. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0802
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2018b). Test design and individual analysis in wheelchair Rugby. J. Sci. Med. Sport 21, 1262–1267. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.04.001
- Haydon, D. S., Pinder, R. A., Grimshaw, P. N., and Robertson, W. S. P. (2019). Wheelchair Rugby chair configurations: an individual, robust design approach. *Sports Biomech.* 21, 104–119. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2019.1649451
- Hybois, S., Siegel, A., Bascou, J., Eydieux, N., Vaslin, P., Pillet, H., et al. (2018). Shoulder kinetics during start-up and propulsion with a manual wheelchair within the initial phase of uninstructed training. *Disabil. Rehabil. Assist. Technol.* 13, 40–46. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2016.1278471
- International Paralympic Committee (2020). *Explanatory Guide to Paralympic Classification.*
- International Wheelchair Rugby Federation (2021). IWRF Classification Rules.
- Leary, M., Gruijters, J., Mazur, M., Subic, A., Burton, M., and Fuss, F. K. (2012). A fundamental model of quasi-static wheelchair biomechanics. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 34, 1278–1286. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2011.12.018
- Lewis, A. (2018). Performance Benefits of Customised Seating Interfaces for Elite Wheelchair Racing Athletes. Adelaide, SA.
- Lewis, A. R., Phillips, E. J., Robertson, W. S. P., Grimshaw, P. N., and Portus, M. (2018). Injury prevention of elite wheelchair racing athletes using simulation approaches. *Proc. West Mark Ed. Assoc. Conf.* 2, 255. doi: 10.3390/proceedings2060255
- Mason, B., van der Woude, L., Tolfrey, K., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. (2012). The effects of rear-wheel camber on maximal effort mobility performance in wheelchair athletes. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 33, 199–204. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1295443
- Mason, B. S., Lemstra, M., van der Woude, L. H., Vegter, R., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2015). Influence of wheel configuration on wheelchair basketball

in the thesis titled Optimisation of the Rugby Wheelchair for Performance by DH.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fspor. 2022.856934/full#supplementary-material

performance: wheel stiffness, tyre type and tyre orientation. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 37, 392–399. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2015.02.001

- Mason, B. S., Porcellato, L. A., van der Woude, L. H., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2010). A qualitative examination of wheelchair configuration for optimal mobility performance in wheelchair sports: a pilot study. J. Rehabil. Med. 2, 141–149. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0490
- Mason, B. S., van der Woude, L. H., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2009). Influence of glove type on mobility performance for wheelchair Rugby players. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 88:559–570. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181aa41c5
- Mason, B. S., van der Woude, L. H., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2013). The ergonomics of wheelchair configuration for optimal performance in the wheelchair court sports. *Sports Med.* 43, 23–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-012-0005-x Mathworks. (2017b). *Matlab, Version R2017b*. Natick, MA: Mathworks, Inc.
- McErlain-Naylor, S. A., King, M. A., and Felton, P. J. (2021). A review of forwarddynamics simulation models for predicting optimal technique in maximal effort sporting movements. *Appl. Sci.* 11, 1–20. doi: 10.3390/app11041450
- Mermier, C. M., Janot, J. M., Parker, D. L., and Swan, J. G. (2000). Physiological and anthropometric determinants of sport climbing performance. *Brit. J. Sports Med.* 34, 359. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.34.5.359
- Mori, T., and Tsai, S. C. (2011). Taguchi Methods: Benefits, Impacts, Mathematics, Statistics, and Applications. Fairfield, CT: American Society of Mechanical Engineers, U.S. doi: 10.1115/1.859698
- Morrow, M. M. B., Kaufman, K. R., and An, K. N. (2010). Shoulder model validation and joint contact forces during wheelchair activities. J. Biomech. 43, 2487–2492. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.05.026
- Pansiot, J., Zhang, Z., Lo, B., and Yang, G. Z. (2011). WISDOM: wheelchair inertial sensors for displacement and orientation monitoring. *Meas. Sci. Technol.* 22, 105801. doi: 10.1088/0957-0233/22/10/105801
- Rankin, J. W., Kwarciak, A. M., Richter, W. M., and Neptune, R. R. (2012). The influence of wheelchair propulsion technique on upper extremity muscle demand: a simulation study. *Clin. Biomech.* 9, 879–886. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2012.07.002
- Richter, W. M. (2001). The effect of seat position on manual wheelchair propulsion biomechanics: a quasi-static model-based approach. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 23, 707–712. doi: 10.1016/S1350-4533(01)00074-1
- Schumann, S., Nolte, L. P., and Zheng, G. (2013). Comparison of partial least squares regression and principal component regression for pelvic shape prediction. J. Biomech. 46, 197–199. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.11.005
- Shepherd, J. B., Wada, T., Rowlands, D. D., and James, D. A. (2016). A novel AHRS inertial sensor-based algorithm for wheelchair propulsion performance analysis. *Algorithms* 9, 55. doi: 10.3390/a9030055
- Shieh, M. D., and Yeh, Y. E. (2013). Developing a design support system for the exterior form of running shoes using partial least squares and neural networks. *Comput. Indus. Eng.* 65, 704–718. doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2013. 05.008

SimTK. (2021). OpenSim. Available online at: https://simtk.org/projects/opensim

- Slowik, J. S., and Neptune, R. R. (2013). A theoretical analysis of the influence of wheelchair seat position on upper extremity demand. *Clin. Biomech.* 28, 378–385. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2013.03.004
- Usma-Alvarez, C. C., Fuss, F. K., and Subic, A. (2014). User-centered design customization of rugby wheelchairs based on the Taguchi method. J. Mech. Design 136:041001-1–041001-13. doi: 10.1115/1.4026029
- van der Slikke, R. M. A., Berger, M. A. M., Bregman, D. J. J., Lagerberg, A. H., and Veeger, H. E. J. (2015). Opportunities for measuring wheelchair kinematics in match settings; reliability of a three inertial sensor configuration. *J. Biomech.* 48, 3398–3405. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.06.001

- van der Slikke, R. M. A., Berger, M. A. M., Bregman, D. J. J., and Veeger, H. E. J. (2016). From big data to rich data: the key features of athlete wheelchair mobility performance. *J. Biomech.* 49, 3340–3346. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.08.022
- Vanlandewijck, Y., Theisen, D., and Daly, D. (2001). Wheelchair propulsion biomechanics. Sports Med. 31, 339–367. doi: 10.2165/ 00007256-200131050-00005
- Vanlandewijck, Y. C., Verellen, J., and Tweedy, S. (2011). Towards evidence-based classification in wheelchair sports: impact of seating position on wheelchair acceleration. J. Sports Sci. 29, 1089–1096. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011. 576694
- Waugh, K., and Crane, B. (2013). A Clinical Application Guide to Standardized Wheelchair Seating Measures of the Body and Seating Support Surfaces. Denver, Co, USA.
- West, C. R., Campbell, I. G., Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., Mason, B. S., and Romer, L. M. (2014). Effects of abdominal binding on field-based exercise responses in Paralympic athletes with cervical spinal cord injury. J. Sci. Med. Sport 17, 351–355. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.06.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Haydon, Pinder, Grimshaw, Robertson and Holdback. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

Innovations in optimizing functioning for people who experience disability

An innovative journal which investigates new ways to optimize the functioning and wellbeing of people who experience disability, focusing on rehabilitation as the health strategy of the 21st century.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Swizerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in **Rehabilitation Sciences**



